# SCHEDULE AND IMPORTANT REMINDERS

### Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

#### SCHEDULE

I. Bids are due at 6:00 P.M. EDT on Wednesday, September 24, 2008.

Fax bids to: (703) 465-4324

Mail originals to:

)

)

3

4

1

Ken Blincow Manager, Franchise Marketing Division of Resolutions and Receiverships Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 1601 Bryan Street Dallas, Texas 75201

II. Please remember that your <u>Bid Form, a Board Resolution, and a Purchaser</u> <u>Eligibility Certification</u> must be completed and available for submission at Bid Acceptance.

#### REMINDERS

- 1. If you intend to bid, please <u>make certain that two (2) people</u> (one of whom is authorized to sign on behalf of the board) <u>representing the bank</u> are present to sign documents should you be the successful bidder. Please verify the <u>exact</u> name of your bank by referring to your charter.
- II. The successful Assuming Bank should be ready sign documents possibly as early as the day after bids are received. The FDIC Closing Team will be ready to meet with the Assuming Bank at the document signing meeting and with other Assuming Bank functional managers the following day to review the closing process.
- III. Please contact the appropriate chartering agency and primary federal regulator as soon as possible. Notify them that you are filing an application for the acquisition of a failing financial institution so that the approval process can be expedited. Also notify the FDIC, Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection. Contact information and application instructions are available in the Regulatory Application Information folder.

Confidential

**Confidential Information** 

### Confidential Information

# Transaction Recap Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

In all the transactions offered by the FDIC, the Whole Bank Purchase and Assumption Agreement will be tailored to the winning bid. In all transactions, all assets are purchased by the acquirer and the preferred stock is excluded from the transaction. The legal documents will be the governing documents for this transaction.

# The FDIC is offering five alternative transaction structures:

- 1. All liabilities are assumed except the preferred stock.
- 2. All liabilities are assumed, except the preferred stock and the subordinated debt.
- 3. All liabilities are assumed except the preferred stock, the subordinated debt and the senior debt.
- 4. All deposits and secured liabilities are assumed by the acquirer.
- 5. All insured deposits and secured liabilities are assumed.

The bid for alternatives 1, 2, or 3 must be at least the FDIC's administrative costs of the closing equal to \$\_\_\_\_\_. (amount to be provided).

<u>Assets Purchased</u>: The Assuming Bank will purchase all assets whether or not on the books of the Bank, except for those that are specifically excluded under Article III of the Whole Bank agreement. In general, all assets are acquired at <u>book value</u> with the exception of securities which are purchased at fair market value.

<u>Leased Premises</u>: The Assuming Bank has a 90 day option to cause the Receiver to assign to the Assuming Bank any or all leased Bank Premises which have been continuously occupied by the Assuming Bank from the closing date to the date assignment is elected.

Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment: The Assuming Bank shall purchase all FF&E located on premises purchased, leased or subleased.

Notice to Vacate Leased Premises: If the Assuming Bank elects not to accept an assignment of the lease or sublease any leased Bank Premises, the Assuming Bank must provide notice specifying the date of occupancy termination, which will be no more than 90 days after date of notice.

10. <u>Excluded Assets:</u> Assets listed in Section 3.5 of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement are specifically excluded, but not limited to:

0

0

3

)

)

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV **Transaction Recap** 

- (1) Any financial institution bonds, banker's blanket bonds, or public liability, fire, or extended coverage insurance policy or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank, or premium refund, unearned premium derived from cancellation, or any proceeds payable with respect to any of the foregoing;
- (2) Any interest, right, action, claim, or judgment against (i) any officer, director, employee, accountant, attorney, or any other Person employed or retained by the Failed Bank or any Subsidiary of the Failed Bank on or prior to Bank Closing arising out of any act or omission of such Person in such capacity, (ii) any underwriter of financial institution bonds, banker's blanket bonds or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank, (iii) any shareholder or holding company of the Failed Bank, or (iv) any other Person whose action or inaction may be related to any loss (exclusive of any loss resulting from such Person's failure to pay on a Loan made by the Failed Bank) incurred by the Failed Bank; provided, that for the purposes hereof, the acts, omissions or other events giving rise to any such claim shall have occurred on or before Bank Closing, regardless of when any such claim is discovered and regardless of whether any such claim is made with respect to a financial institution bond, banker's blanket bond, or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank in force as of Bank Closing;
- (3) Any criminal/restitution orders issued in favor of the Failed Bank:
- 11. Deposits: Assumed deposits will include accrued, but unpaid interest and other liabilities as appropriate under the provisions of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement.
- 12. Employee Benefit Plans: all employee benefit plans transfer to the acquirer.
- 13. Litigation: The Receiver will retain all non-asset related defensive litigation and the Assuming Bank will keep all offensive litigation.
- 14. Contracts: The Assuming Bank will be given a 120-day option to identify and notify the Receiver of the contracts to be repudiated.

**Confidential Information** 

2

0

0

0

(1

(I

Û

C

(

(

(

#### LEGAL DIVISION LEGAL INFORMATION OUTLINE

### I. Introduction

)

)

)

)

3

З

This is a brief outline of the Legal Documents and certain other aspects of the proposed transactions.

# II. Identification of Legal Documents in Information Package

In the information on this website, you should find copies of various form documents, including:

- A. Confidentiality Agreement
- B. Purchaser Eligibility Certification
- C. Bid Instructions
- D. Bid Form
- E. Whole Bank Purchase and Assumption Agreement
- F. Escrow Agreement

### III. Purchase and Assumption Agreement

The basic terms of the various transactions being offered are dealt with elsewhere on this website, although this is certainly no substitute for your own detailed review of the transactional documents. This will focus on certain ancillary issues and frequently asked questions concerning the transaction documents and their implementation.

- A. <u>Bracketed Provisions</u>. Certain bracketed provisions within each form of Purchase and Assumption Agreement represent alternative provisions that may be included, stricken or modified depending on the type of transaction reflected in the winning bid. The winning bidder should note that the form agreement will be modified to conform to the actual transaction to be consummated. For example, each form of Purchase and Assumption Agreement contains alternative provisions depending on whether all deposits or only insured deposits are to be assumed by the assuming institution.
- B. Notices to Depositors. Each form of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement requires the assuming institution to provide both published and mailed notices to depositors within 7 days following institution closing. Such notices must contain the following information: (1) that the assuming institution has accepted the transfer of either all or only the insured portion of the failed institution's deposits; (2) any adjustments to interest rates to be made by the assuming institution; and

### JPMCD 000001550.00004

(3) notification of the depositor's right to withdraw funds without penalty at any time prior to entering into a new deposit agreement with the assuming institution.

- C. <u>No Representations or Warranties</u>. Each form of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement basically contains no representations or warranties regarding the assets acquired thereunder. There is a very limited put-back provision for "New Loans" (i.e., loans made after the Information Package date) and "true" overdrafts, and a separate put-back provision for assets discovered to be evidenced by forged or stolen instruments. Each put-back provision has a limited time frame.
- D. <u>Receiver's Right to Repurchase</u>. Each form of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement contains limited rights for the Receiver to repurchase certain assets under certain circumstances (i.e., to consolidate related lines or in connection with a Director and Officer liability or bond claim).
- E. <u>Acquisition of Certain Businesses Required</u>. Each form of Purchase and Assumption Agreement requires the assuming institution to assume certain businesses of the failed institution, including the safekeeping business, safe deposit box business, trust business, and credit card business, all as may be applicable.
- F. <u>Space for Receiver</u>. Each form of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement requires the assuming institution to provide the Receiver with adequate space to conduct the receivership's affairs for a period of up to 180 days following institution closing at no cost to the Receiver.
- G. <u>Records Retention</u>. Each form of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement requires the assuming institution to retain all failed institution records transferred to it for so long as the FDIC, in its sole discretion, may require.
- H. <u>Initial Payment and Adjustments</u>. The initial settlement payment (reflecting the difference between liabilities assumed, assets purchased and the bid amount) will generally be made on the first business day following institution closing. Other adjustments based on errors, omissions, lack of information or the exercise of options, put-back or repurchase rights will be made periodically or at the final settlement date and interest will be paid on such settlements as provided in the Purchase and Assumption Agreement.
- I. <u>Indemnification</u>. Each form of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement contains indemnification provisions designed generally to protect the assuming institution against liabilities created by the failed institution prior to closing that are not being assumed by the assuming institution under the Purchase and Assumption Agreement. These provisions should be reviewed carefully since various qualifications and limitations also are set forth.

(]

Ø

G

ą

G

G

ti

; <sup>1</sup>

Ċ

í,

### IV. Escrow Agreement

)

3

3

3

3

З

)

- A. <u>Conditions Precedent</u>. The Escrow Agreement is used to place all applicable executed resolution agreements in escrow pending the failure of the subject institution and the successful bidder obtaining all necessary regulatory approvals. The only time that the Escrow Agreement would not be used is in the highly unlikely event that the resolution agreements are not executed until after institution closing.
- B. <u>Distribution of Executed Agreements</u>. No executed agreements or copies thereof will be distributed until after institution closing. Unexecuted copies will be available for use.

### V. Bid Instructions and Bid Form

- A. <u>Bid Instructions</u>. The Bid Instructions provide a summary of the transactions being offered and specific directions for filling out the bid form.
- B. <u>Bid Form</u>. The Bid Form should be completed in its entirety, including required information concerning the resulting institution. When submitting your bid, you should submit all pages of the Bid Form, regardless of the inapplicability of certain pages. Alternative bids must be submitted on separate Bid Forms that have each been completed in their entirety. Within a single Bid Form, you may link items as indicated in the Bid Instructions.
- C. <u>Bid Submission</u>. Bid Forms must be accompanied by a <u>certified copy of a</u> <u>corporate board resolution</u> authorizing submission of the bid(s). The FDIC reserves the right to accept any bid or combination of bids and/or to reject any and all bids.

### VI. Document Signing Issues

- A. <u>Signatories</u>. An authorized representative of the winning bidder (with a certified copy of a board resolution authorizing execution of the resolution agreements) and a witness must attend the scheduled document signing.
- B. <u>Documents required to be signed.</u>
  - 1. <u>Whole Bank Purchase and Assumption Agreement</u>. If you are the successful bidder with respect to a whole bank purchase and assumption

transaction, you will be expected to execute the Whole Bank Purchase and Assumption Agreement and the Escrow Agreement.

Ċ

G

G

2

G

6

6

C. <u>Changes to Agreements</u>. At document signing, the FDIC <u>will not</u> engage in discussions concerning desired changes to the applicable resolution agreements.

### VII. Closing Related Issues

- A. <u>Insurance Binder</u>. At or before institution closing, the assuming institution must provide the FDIC with an insurance binder covering institution premises (and related fixtures, furniture and equipment) that are to be occupied by the assuming institution. Such binder must name the FDIC as receiver as an additional insured.
- B. <u>Receipting for Assets</u>. At or before institution closing, the assuming institution must provide the FDIC with a certified copy of a board resolution authorizing certain representatives of the assuming institution to "receipt" for all assets and liabilities to be transferred to the assuming institution under the applicable resolution agreements.
- C. <u>Notices and Advertisements</u>. The assuming institution must obtain the Receiver's prior approval of all proposed advertisements, publications and mailings relating to the subject transaction, including those specifically required under the applicable Purchase and Assumption Agreement with regard to depositors.

### INSTRUCTIONS FOR POTENTIAL ACQUIRERS

#### WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK

#### HENDERSON, NV

\_\_\_\_\_, 2008

It is anticipated that the Chartering Authority may close WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK, Henderson, NV (the "Bank") and appoint the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") as receiver ("Receiver"). The FDIC in its corporate capacity ("Corporation") is providing these Instructions for Potential Acquirers ("Instructions") to potential acquirers ("Potential Acquirers") of the Bank in the event the Bank is closed.

1. <u>Introduction</u>. The Corporation is seeking bids from Potential Acquirers with respect to the transactions in the information materials. Potential Acquirers may submit a completed Bid Form (Exhibit "A") with respect to any or all of the transactions presented. <u>Multiple Bids, if made, must be submitted on separate Bid Forms.</u>

It is anticipated the Potential Acquirer, whose Bid Form is received and approved by the Corporation ("Acquirer"), will enter into an agreement which will be consummated effective simultaneously with the Bank Closing. The form agreement provided will be changed as necessary to reflect the assets to be purchased and the deposits and certain other liabilities to be assumed by the Acquirer. The form agreement, as so altered and as otherwise altered as necessary to conform to the transaction, and as may be modified after notice to the Potential Acquirers, are the "Legal Documents".

The transactions offered include: (i) a Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank, excluding the preferred stock and non-asset related defensive litigation)-All Deposits; (ii) a Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank, excluding the preferred stock, non-asset related defensive litigation and subordinated debt)-All Deposits; (iii) a Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank, excluding the preferred stock, non-asset related defensive litigation, subordinated debt and senior debt)-All Deposits; (iv) a Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank, assuming only certain liabilities)-All Deposits; (iv) a Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank, assuming only certain liabilities)-All Deposits; and (v) a Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank, assuming only certain liabilities)-Insured Deposits Only. The Purchase and Assumption transactions, as more fully described in the Legal Documents, contemplate that the Acquirer will purchase loans and other assets on the books of the Bank as of Bank Closing.

The Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank) form agreement for transactions (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) provides that the Acquirer must assume <u>all</u> deposits. The Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank) form agreement for transactions (v) provides that the Acquirer will assume only the insured deposits and secured public deposits, each as determined by the Corporation and subject to the provisions of the Legal Documents ("Assumed Deposits") and certain other liabilities of the Bank.

Capitalized terms not defined herein have the meaning as specified in the Legal Documents. BI 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:17 AM Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

Confidential

3

)

3

3

JPMCD\_000001550.00008

2. <u>Premium or Discount Bids</u>. A premium is a positive dollar amount paid by the Potential Acquirer to the FDIC for the purchase of assets and/or to assume certain liabilities of the Bank, and a discount is a negative dollar amount to be paid by the FDIC to the Potential Acquirer for the purchase of assets and/or to assume certain liabilities of the Bank. When completing the Bid Form, Potential Acquirers <u>must</u> indicate a discount bid by placing parenthesis "()" around the dollar amount. All amounts will be considered positive (i.e., a premium) if not in parenthesis. If no bid is made for a transaction or option, leave the space blank or write "no bid". <u>A bid of zero in any form will be treated as a a live bid of \$0</u>.

#### 3. Overview of the Transactions.

A. <u>Transaction # 1 Whole Bank, All Deposits</u>. Under this transaction, the Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank), the Potential Acquirer whose Bid is accepted by the Corporation assumes the Assumed Deposits of the Bank and all other liabilities but specifically excluding the preferred stock and non-asset related defensive litigation, and purchases all of the assets of the Bank, excluding those assets identified as excluded assets in the Legal Documents and subject to the provisions thereof. Any Assets paid off or not owned at Bank Closing will not be sold or transferred and will be deleted from the transaction and any schedules and exhibits. Assumed Deposits are defined to be all deposits.

**B.** <u>Transaction # 2 Whole Bank, All Deposits</u>. Under this transaction, the Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank), the Potential Acquirer whose Bid is accepted by the Corporation assumes the Assumed Deposits of the Bank and all other liabilities but specifically excluding the preferred stock, non-asset related defensive litigation and subordinated debt, and purchases all of the assets of the Bank, excluding those assets identified as excluded assets in the Legal Documents and subject to the provisions thereof. Any Assets paid off or not owned at Bank Closing will not be sold or transferred and will be deleted from the transaction and any schedules and exhibits. Assumed Deposits are defined to be all deposits.</u>

C. <u>Transaction # 3 Whole Bank, All Deposits</u>. Under this transaction, the Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank), the Potential Acquirer whose Bid is accepted by the Corporation assumes the Assumed Deposits of the Bank and all other liabilities but specifically excluding the preferred stock, non-asset related defensive litigation, subordinated debt and senior debt, and purchases all of the assets of the Bank, excluding those assets identified as excluded assets in the Legal Documents and subject to the provisions thereof. Any Assets paid off or not owned at Bank Closing will not be sold or transferred and will be deleted from the transaction and any schedules and exhibits. Assumed Deposits are defined to be all deposits.

**D.** <u>Transaction # 4 Whole Bank Transaction – All Deposits</u>. Under this transaction, the Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank), the Potential Acquirer whose Bid is accepted by the Corporation assumes the Assumed Deposits of the Bank and only certain other liabilities, and purchases all of the assets of the Bank, excluding those assets identified as excluded assets in the Legal Documents and subject to the provisions thereof</u>. Any Assets paid off or not owned at Bank Closing will not be sold or transferred and will be deleted from the transaction and any schedules and exhibits</u>. Assumed Deposits are defined to be all deposits.

BI 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:17 AM 2

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV 6

Ĉ

j.

4

G

**E.** <u>Whole Bank Transaction – Insured Deposit Only</u>. Under this transaction, the Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank), the Potential Acquirer whose Bid is accepted by the Corporation assumes the Assumed Deposits of the Bank and only certain other liabilities, and purchases all of the assets of the Bank, excluding those assets identified as excluded assets in the Legal Documents and subject to the provisions thereof. Any Assets paid off or not owned at Bank Closing will not be sold or transferred and will be deleted from the transaction and any schedules and exhibits. Assumed Deposits are defined to be Insured Deposits, including secured public deposits.

4. <u>Multiple Bids</u>. Potential Acquirers are permitted and encouraged to submit multiple bids. The Corporation will select the most cost effective Bid(s) for the FDIC.

5. <u>Definitive Documents</u>. Each Potential Acquirer's bid(s) should be based upon the relevant transactions described in the Legal Documents and these Instructions. <u>Each should note that the transactions are merely summarized herein and the Legal Documents are much more detailed.</u> <u>The Legal Documents will govern the transaction regardless of the contents of these Instructions and any other written or oral material or communication.</u>

6. <u>Submission of Bids</u>. All bids must be submitted in accordance with these instructions, on the Bid Form without modification and executed by an authorized representative of the Potential Acquirer. <u>Each representative must provide evidence of his/her authority at the time bids are submitted (i.e., a copy of the Board Resolution authorizing this party to conduct business on behalf of the Potential Acquirer). Each Potential Acquirer is responsible for all costs, fees and expenses that it incurs in connection with the process and consummation of the transaction.</u>

# ALL BIDS MUST BE SUBMITTED TO OR SENT BY FACSIMILE TRANSMISSION ("FAX") TO:

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 1601 Bryan St. - Suite 32128 Dallas, Texas 75201 FAX Number: (703) 465-4324

Attention: Manager - Franchise Marketing Division of Resolutions & Receiverships

All bids must be received by the Corporation at the address specified above or by FAX no later than the date and time to be provided later. Any bid received by the Corporation after the time specified and/or at a location other than that specified may not be considered by the Corporation. If a bid is sent via FAX, the signed original of the FAXed Bid Form also must be sent to the Corporation at the address specified above for delivery no later than the next business day.

7. <u>Evaluations of Bids</u>. All bids submitted in accordance with these Instructions and the Bid Form will be compared to one another and against alternative resolution strategies available to the Corporation. The Corporation, in its sole discretion, reserves the right to extend the bid submission date, to approve any bid submitted, to waive any technical or formal defect in any bid, to extend deadlines, to

BI 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:17 AM 3

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

)

3

)

## JPMCD\_000001550.00010

negotiate with some but not all Potential Acquirers submitting bids, to reject any bid that is conditioned upon any change (whether by way of addition or deletion) in the terms of the relevant form agreement or the Bid Form, and without in any way limiting the foregoing, to reject any or all bids.

8. <u>Consummation of Transaction</u>. The Acquirer will be notified through its designated contact person as soon as possible that its bid has been approved by the Corporation. Such notification may be verbal. Upon notification, the Acquirer agrees, as specified in the Bid Form, to execute the appropriate agreement necessary to consummate the transaction(s) selected. Such consummation shall occur at such time and place as the Corporation in its sole discretion determines.

9. <u>Regulatory Approvals</u>. Any transaction contemplated by a Potential Acquirer with respect to the Bank must be approved in advance by the appropriate Federal and/or State supervisory authorities. Prior to the submission of a bid, the Potential Acquirer must contact such authorities and make certain that the approval(s) necessary to accomplish the transaction with respect to the Bank can be obtained prior to Bank Closing. In the event any necessary approval(s) will not be timely granted to a Potential Acquirer, the Corporation, in its discretion, may reject such Potential Acquirer's bid, accept another bid, or reopen or close the selection process.

10. <u>Confidentiality</u>. All aspects of the bid process, up to and including approval of a bid, these Instructions, the form agreements, information obtained during any due diligence inspection and review of the books and records of the Bank, and all information concerning the Bank provided to a Potential Acquirer must be held in strict confidence in accordance with the Confidentiality Agreement. Each Potential Acquirer or its agents, if any, receiving these Instructions and/or any other documents or information concerning the Bank must execute the Confidentiality Agreement.

11. <u>Press Release</u>. Following the closing of the Bank, the Corporation will issue a press release describing the transaction with respect to the Bank, including the Acquirer's name and the terms of the transaction. The names of other Potential Acquirers, and the amount of their bids, may be made public under the Freedom of Information Act, subsequent to the selection of the Acquirer(s). The relevant agreement and other documents to effect the transaction also may be available under such Act. The Corporation reserves the right to review and approve the Acquirer's(s') initial press release(s).

12. <u>Prohibition on Contacts Among Potential Acquirers</u>. In order to ensure a competitive process, Potential Acquirers are strictly prohibited from contacting other Potential Acquirers concerning any aspect of the process, the acquisition of the Bank or any information relating to the Bank without the written permission of the Corporation. Unauthorized contacts may cause Potential Acquirers to be disqualified from the selection process.

Attachment: Exhibit A - Bid Form

BI 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:17 AM 4

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV ć

G

đ

1

ġ

G

4

Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00011

#### EXHIBIT "A" BID FORM

TO:

¢

)

)

)

Y

)

)

)

2

Ĵ

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation 1601 Bryan St. - Suite 32128 Dallas, Texas 75201

Attention: Manager - Franchise Marketing Division of Resolutions and Receiverships

FROM:

### BID FOR: WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK Henderson, NV (the "Bank")

The undersigned Potential Acquirer submits this Bid Form ("Bid"), in accordance with the Instructions to Potential Acquirers ("Instructions") and instructions contained on this Form, to acquire certain assets and liabilities pursuant to a Purchase and Assumption (Whole Bank).

 $\langle c \rangle$ 

Ę

ę

Ę

 $\tilde{Q}$ 

đ

đ

### I. Transaction # 1

The Potential Acquirer is: \_\_\_\_

(Name, City, State)

Bids may be stated as a premium or as a discount. A premium is a positive dollar amount paid by the acquirer to the FDIC for the purchase of assets and to assume certain liabilities of the Institution. A discount is a negative dollar amount to be paid by the FDIC to the acquirer for the purchase of assets and to assume certain liabilities of the Institution. Discount bids <u>must</u> be included in parenthesis "()".

\$

The bid amount is:

**All Deposits** 

Bid Form 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:18 AM 2

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

## Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00013

#### II. Transaction # 2

)

)

à

)

>

)

3

)

)

1

The Potential Acquirer is:

(Name, City, State)

Bids may be stated as a premium or as a discount. A premium is a positive dollar amount paid by the acquirer to the FDIC for the purchase of assets and to assume certain liabilities of the Institution. A discount is a negative dollar amount to be paid by the FDIC to the acquirer for the purchase of assets and to assume certain liabilities of the Institution. Discount bids <u>must</u> be included in parenthesis "()".

\$\_\_\_\_

3

### The bid amount is:

All Deposits

Bid Form 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:18 AM

4

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

Confidential

# JPMCD\_000001550.00014

.

.

Ç

Q

¥. ¥

4

ġ.

Ç

G

(2

Ç,

, **\*** 

### III. Transaction # 3

The Potential Acquirer is:

(Name, City, State)

Bids may be stated as a premium or as a discount. A premium is a positive dollar amount paid by the acquirer to the FDIC for the purchase of assets and to assume certain liabilities of the Institution. A discount is a negative dollar amount to be paid by the FDIC to the acquirer for the purchase of assets and to assume certain liabilities of the Institution. Discount bids <u>must</u> be included in parenthesis "()".

\$\_\_\_\_\_

The bid amount is:

All Deposits

Bid Form 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:18 AM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

Confidential

# JPMCD\_000001550.00015

.

#### IV. Transaction #4

2

)

Ņ

)

3

)

)

)

•

The Potential Acquirer is: \_\_\_\_

(Name, City, State)

Bids may be stated as a premium or as a discount. A premium is a positive dollar amount paid by the acquirer to the FDIC for the purchase of assets and to assume certain liabilities of the Institution. A discount is a negative dollar amount to be paid by the FDIC to the acquirer for the purchase of assets and to assume certain liabilities of the Institution. Discount bids <u>must</u> be included in parenthesis "()".

5

### The bid amount is:

All Deposits

\$\_\_\_\_\_<u>.</u>

Bid Form 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:18 AM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

### Confidential

Ę

Ģ

Ç

ę

ł

G

 $\zeta$ 

a

C

•

#### V. Transaction # 5

# The Potential Acquirer is: \_\_\_\_\_

(Name, City, State)

Bids may be stated as a premium or as a discount. A premium is a positive dollar amount paid by the acquirer to the FDIC for the purchase of assets and to assume certain liabilities of the Institution. A discount is a negative dollar amount to be paid by the FDIC to the acquirer for the purchase of assets and to assume certain liabilities of the Institution. Discount bids <u>must</u> be included in parenthesis "()".

\$\_\_\_\_

The bid amount is:

**Insured Deposits Only** 

Bid Form 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:18 AM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

## Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00017

# VI. <u>Resulting Institution Information</u> (Place "Xs" where and as appropriate)

- A. If the Potential Acquirer's Bid is accepted:
  - (i) the resulting financial institution will be a

\_\_\_\_\_ bank \_\_\_\_\_ thrift

(ii) the resulting financial institution

| <br>will     |
|--------------|
| <br>will not |

involve a de novo institution

(iii) the resulting financial institution

\_\_\_\_ will \_\_\_\_ will not

be operated as a branch of the Acquirer

B. Upon consummation of any transaction contemplated in this Bid, the name of the resulting financial institution involved in the transaction will be

and such institution will be a:

- \_\_\_\_\_ national bank
- \_\_\_\_\_ state member bank
- \_\_\_\_\_ state non member bank
- \_\_\_\_\_ federal savings bank
- \_\_\_\_\_ state savings bank
- \_\_\_\_\_ federal savings and loan association
- state savings and loan association
- \_\_\_\_\_ other (please explain)
- C. To be completed **only** if a holding company is involved:

Name of holding company:

Bid Form 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:18 AM 7

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

)

)

)

)

)

)

Ø

ſ

ģ

ç

G

Ğ

Ĝ

÷Ť.

The holding company will be a:

Address of holding company:\_\_\_\_\_

bank holding company thrift holding company

### VII. Contact

The following person is the designated contact person for the Potential Acquirer:

| Name:      |        |    |  |
|------------|--------|----|--|
| Title:     |        |    |  |
| Address:   |        |    |  |
| Telephone: | (offic | e) |  |
|            | (othe  | ;) |  |
| Facsimile: |        |    |  |
| cc: Name:  |        |    |  |

#### VIII. Consummation of Transaction

The Potential Acquirer agrees that upon notification (which may be verbal) from the Corporation that the Potential Acquirer's Bid with respect to one of the transactions contemplated herein has been accepted, the Potential Acquirer will execute the appropriate agreement(s) and work diligently to consummate the transaction. Such consummation shall occur at such time and place as the Corporation in its sole discretion determines.

The Potential Acquirer represents and warrants that it has executed and delivered to the Corporation a Confidentiality Agreement, is eligible to purchase assets and able to execute a Purchaser Eligibility Certification ("Certification") and that all information provided and

Bid Form 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:18 AM 8

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

| This | is bid number   |
|------|-----------------|
| of_  | bids submitted. |

representations made by or on behalf of the Potential Acquirer in connection with this transaction and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, but not limited to, the Confidentiality Agreement and its eligibility to purchase assets and ability to execute a Certification, are and remain true and correct in all material respects and do not fail to state any fact required to make the information contained therein not misleading. The Potential Acquirer agrees that if it is a successful bidder that on notification it will execute and immediately deliver to the FDIC a Certification via fax and overnight delivery.

The undersigned, on behalf of the Potential Acquirer, hereby certifies that (i) the Potential Acquirer has full power and authority to submit this Bid and has taken all corporate action necessary with respect thereto, and (ii) the undersigned has been duly authorized to execute and submit this Bid on behalf of the Potential Acquirer.

<u>A Board resolution authorizing the submission of the bid and authorizing this representative to sign on behalf of the institution or group has been submitted with each bid form.</u>

| Printed Name of Potential Acquirer |             |  |  |
|------------------------------------|-------------|--|--|
|                                    |             |  |  |
| By:                                | (signature) |  |  |
| Name                               | e:          |  |  |
| Title:                             |             |  |  |
| Date:                              |             |  |  |

Bid Form 022131 September 23, 2008, 10:18 AM 9

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

## Confidential

)

)

)

2

3

)

3

)

3

## JPMCD\_000001550.00020

OMB Number: 3064-0135

#### PURCHASER ELIGIBILITY CERTIFICATION

The purpose of the Purchaser Eligibility Certification is to identify Prospective Purchasers who are not eligible to purchase assets of failed financial institutions from the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation under the laws, regulations and policies governing such sales. Completion of the Purchaser Eligibility Certification, without modification, is a prerequisite to any such purchase.

#### DEFINITIONS

)

3

)

)

)

3

<u>Affiliated Business Entity</u>. An Affiliated Business Entity of a Prospective Purchaser means its spouse, dependent child or any member of its household; or any entity that directly or indirectly is under the control of the Prospective Purchaser, controls the Prospective Purchaser or is under common control with the Prospective Purchaser.

<u>Associated Person</u>. An Associated Person of a Prospective Purchaser who is an individual is (1) the Prospective Purchaser's spouse or dependent child or any member of the household, (2) a partnership in which the Prospective Purchaser is or was a general or limited partner, or (3) a corporation of which the Prospective Purchaser is or was an officer or director. An Associated Person of a Prospective Purchaser that is an entity is (1) any individual or entity that, acting individually or in concert with one or more individuals or entities, owns or controls 25 percent or more of the Prospective Purchaser; or (2) a managing or general partner of the Prospective Purchaser.

<u>Contractor</u>. A Contractor is any individual or entity that has submitted an offer to the FDIC to perform services or has a contractual arrangement with the FDIC to perform services.

<u>Delinquent Obligation</u>. A Delinquent Obligation is any debt or duty to pay money to the FDIC in excess of \$50,000 (in the aggregate for all such debts or duties) that is more than 60 days delinquent, or any other failure to comply with the terms and conditions of a written agreement with the FDIC that continues for more than sixty (60) days following notice. A Delinquent Obligation does not include any debt that has been settled, nor any debt that has been sold or transferred by the FDIC, nor any debt for which the FDIC has reported forgiveness of debt through the issuance of an IRS form 1099, nor any debt discharged in bankruptcy.

<u>Failed Institution</u>. A Failed Institution is any bank or savings association that has been under the conservatorship or receivership of the FDIC or of the Resolution Trust Corporation. It includes any entity owned and controlled by such a bank or savings association.

<u>FDIC</u>. FDIC means the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, whether acting in its corporate capacity or as conservator or receiver of a Failed Institution.

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Purchaser Eligibility Certification

<u>Prospective Purchaser</u>. A Prospective Purchaser is any individual or entity that intends to make an offer to purchase assets of a Failed Institution from the FDIC. For all purposes of this Certification, an "entity" includes any entity with a legally independent existence, including, without limitation, a trustee; the beneficiary of at least a 25% share of the proceeds of a trust; a partnership; a corporation; an association; or any other organization or society.

<u>Substantial Loss</u>. A Substantial Loss is (i) any debt or duty to pay money to the FDIC or a Failed Institution that has an outstanding balance of more than \$50,000 and that is more than 90 days past due; (ii) an unpaid final judgment of more than \$50,000 regardless of whether it is forgiven in a bankruptcy proceeding; (iii) a deficiency balance following a foreclosure sale of more than \$50,000 regardless of whether it is forgiven in a bankruptcy proceeding; or (iv) any loss of more than \$50,000 reported on an IRS Form 1099-C (Information Reporting for Discharge of Indebtedness).

#### **ELIGIBILITY CERTIFICATION**

The undersigned hereby certifies that all of the following statements are true, correct and complete when made and will be true at closing of the sale.

- A. **FDIC Employees.** Neither the Prospective Purchaser nor any member of the Prospective Purchaser's immediate family (spouse, dependent child, or member of the household) is an employee of the FDIC.
- **B.** <u>Delinquent Obligors</u>. Neither the Prospective Purchaser nor any of its Affiliated Business Entities has a Delinquent Obligation. Under certain circumstances, the certification required in this paragraph may be waived. For more information about the waiver process and criteria, contact the FDIC sales representative. Note: If the sale is for FDIC real estate owned or items such as furniture, fixtures or equipment, artwork, automobiles or other tangible items, and the bid price will be less than \$250,000 (per item or per pool), then the certification set forth in this paragraph B is not required.
- C. <u>FDIC Contractors.</u> Neither the Prospective Purchaser nor any of its Affiliated Business Entities is a Contractor that has performed services relating to any of the assets that the Prospective Purchaser might buy. Under certain circumstances, the certification required in this paragraph may be waived. For more information about the waiver process and criteria contact the FDIC sales representative.
- D. Officers or Directors of Failed Institutions. Neither the Prospective Purchaser nor its Associated Person has ever been an officer or director of a Failed Institution who (1) has participated in a material way in one or more transactions that caused a Substantial Loss to any such Failed Institution; and (2) in connection with such Substantial Loss has been found by a court or administrative tribunal, or alleged in a judicial or administrative action brought by the FDIC or any federal or state governmental entity to have (i) violated any law, regulation or order issued by a federal or state banking agency; (ii) breached a written agreement with a federal or state banking agency or with a Failed

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Purchaser Eligibility Certification

2

ć

Ć

¢

đ

Ç

6

ų,

: ]

Institution; (iii) engaged in an unsafe or unsound practice in conducting the affairs of a Failed Institution; or (iv) breached a fiduciary duty owed to a Failed Institution.

- E. <u>Debarment from Participation in the Affairs of a Failed Institution</u>. Neither the Prospective Purchaser nor any of its Associated Person(s) has been removed from, or prohibited from participating in the affairs of a Failed Institution by a final enforcement action by the FDIC or any other federal banking agency (Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, Office of Thrift Supervision, or the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System).
- F. <u>Pattern or Practice of Defalcation</u>. Neither the Prospective Purchaser nor any of its Associated Person(s) has borrowed money or guaranteed loans in more than one transaction with the intent to cause a loss or with reckless disregard for whether such transactions would cause a loss to any financial institution insured by the FDIC, where these loans, in the aggregate, caused a Substantial Loss to one or more Failed Institutions.
- G. <u>Convicted of Certain Crimes</u>. Neither the Prospective Purchaser nor any of its Associated Person(s) (1) has been convicted of committing or conspiring to commit any offense under Section 215, 656, 657, 1005, 1006, 1007, 1014, 1032, 1341, 1343 or 1344 of Title 18 of the United States Code affecting any Failed Institution; *and* (2) has defaulted on any debt or duty to pay money (including any guaranty) owed to the FDIC or any Failed Institution to such an extent that a judgment has been rendered in favor of the FDIC or the property securing the debt has been foreclosed on.
- H. <u>If Seller Financing Is Used</u>. Neither the Prospective Purchaser nor any of its Associated Persons (1) has defaulted on any debts or duties to pay money (including any guaranty) to the FDIC or a Failed Institution that, in the aggregate, exceed \$1,000,000, to such an extent that a judgment has been rendered in favor of the FDIC or the property securing the debt has been foreclosed on; *and* (2) has made any fraudulent misrepresentations in connection with any of these debts or duties. *This representation is not required, and has no effect, if the Prospective Purchaser does not finance any portion of the purchase price through financing offered by the FDIC.*
- I. <u>Transactions Structured to Circumvent this Certification</u>. Neither the identity nor form of the Prospective Purchaser, nor any aspect of the contemplated transaction, has been created or altered with the intent, in whole or in part, to allow an individual or entity who otherwise would be ineligible to purchase assets from the FDIC to benefit directly or indirectly from the proposed transaction.

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Purchaser Eligibility Certification

3

)

)

)

)

)

Confidential

# PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER INFORMATION

| Name of Prospective Pur                          |          | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | IndividualPartnership<br>Corporation Trust |
|--|----------|---------------------------------------|--|
| Physical Street Address (For Overnight Delivery) |          | Tax Identification Number or SSN      |  |
| City   | State    | Zip                                   | E-Mail Address                             |
| Contact Person and Title                         | <u> </u> | <u> </u>                              |  |
| Telephone Number of Co<br>Person<br>( )          | ontact   | Fax Num<br>( )                        | ber of Contact Person                      |

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has executed this Certification as of this \_\_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_\_.

### PROSPECTIVE PURCHASER

[Print Name of Prospective Purchaser]

4

 $\epsilon_{\rm c}$ 

G

9

ĝ

1

By: \_\_\_\_\_ [Signature]

# [Print Name and Title of Authorized Signatory]

Any period who knowingly or willfully makes talse or fizudalent statements or disclosures to connection with this Certification will be referred to the office of inspector General and/or the appropriate law enforcement officials for investigation and legal enforcement and may be subject to the and/or imprisonment (188 U.S.C. §§ 1001, 1007 and 1014)

4

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Purchaser Eligibility Certification

JPMCD\_000001550.00024

Confidential

#### **PRIVACY ACT STATEMENT**

Collection of this information is authorized by the Federal Deposit Insurance Act (12 U.S.C. §§1819, 1821, and 1823) and Executive Order 9397. The requested information will be used by the FDIC as a prerequisite to selling assets to Prospective Purchasers to determine if a Prospective Purchaser is ineligible to purchase assets under the laws, regulations and policies of the FDIC. (12 C.F.R. § 340.7; see also 5 C.F.R. Part 366; 5 C.F.R. Part 3201).

Disclosure of information on this form may be made to other federal, state or local agencies if a violation of a civil or criminal law is apparent; to individuals involved in the conduct of judicial or administrative proceedings; and to a Congressional office in response to an inquiry made at the request of the individual or in accordance with other "routine uses of records."

### **ESTIMATED REPORTING BURDEN**

Public reporting burden for this collection is estimated to average 30 minutes per response, including the time for reviewing instructions, searching existing data sources, gathering and maintaining the data needed, and completing and reviewing the collection of information. Send comments regarding the burden estimate or any other aspect of this collection of information, including suggestions for reducing this burden, to the Assistant Executive Secretary (Regulatory Analysis), Office of the Executive Secretary, Room F-4001, FDIC, Washington, D.C. 20429; and to the Office of Management and Budget, Paperwork Reduction Project (3064-0089), Washington, D.C. 20503. Respondents need not respond to this request for information unless it displays a currently valid OMB Control Number.

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Purchaser Eligibility Certification

5

)

)

)

)

)

3

)

)

# PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

#### WHOLE BANK

#### AMONG

### FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, RECEIVER OF WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK, HENDERSON, NEVADA

# FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

and

#### **DATED AS OF**

\_\_\_\_\_, 2008

ATTENTION PROSPECTIVE ACQUIRERS: Certain words, clauses and Sections within bold brackets and which may be accompanied by "[NOTE TO ACQUIRER]" in this form Agreement are alternative provisions which will be included, stricken or modified in the final agreement to conform to the transaction consummated.

Ì)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ARTICLE I   | DEFINITIONS5                                    |
|-------------|---|
| ARTICLE II  | ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES11                     |
| 2.1         | Liabilities Assumed by Assuming Bank11          |
| 2.2         | Interest on Deposit Liabilities                 |
| 2.3         | Unclaimed Deposits                              |
| 2.4         | Omitted   |
| 2.5         | Borrower Claims                                 |
| ARTICLE III | PURCHASE OF ASSETS12                            |
| 3.1         | Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank               |
| 3.2         | Asset Purchase Price                            |
| 3.3         | Manner of Conveyance; Limited Warranty;         |
|             | Nonrecourse; Etc                                |
| 3.4         | Puts of Assets to the Receiver                  |
| 3.5         | Assets Not Purchased by Assuming Bank           |
| 3.6         | Assets Essential to Receiver                    |
| ARTICLE IV  | ASSUMPTION OF CERTAIN DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS16  |
| 4.1         | Continuation of Banking Business16              |
| 4.2         | Agreement with Respect to Credit Card Business  |
| 4.3         | Agreement with Respect to Safe Deposit Business |
| 4.4         | Agreement with Respect to Safekeeping Business  |
| 4.5         | Agreement with Respect to Trust Business        |
| 4.6         | Agreement with Respect to Bank Premises         |
| 4.7         | Agreement with Respect to Leased Data           |
|             | Processing Equipment                            |
| 4.8         | Agreement with Respect to Certain               |
|             | Existing Agreements                             |
| 4.9         | Informational Tax Reporting                     |
| 4.10        | Insurance 20                                    |
| 4.11        | Office Space for Receiver and Corporation       |
| 4.12        | Omitted   |
| 4.13        | Omitted Error! Bookmark not defined.            |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 1

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

•

2

:

-

1

Confidential

Э

3

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

| ARTICLE V    | DUTIES WITH RESPECT TO DEPOSITORS<br>OF THE FAILED BANK       | 21       |
|--------------|---|----------|
| 5.1          | Payment of Checks, Drafts and Orders                          | 21       |
| 5.2          | Certain Agreements Related to Deposits                        |          |
| 5.3          | Notice to Depositors  | 21<br>21 |
| ARTICLE VI   | RECORDS   |          |
| 6.1          | Transfer of Records   | 22       |
| 6.2          | Delivery of Assigned Records                                  | 22       |
| 6.3          | Preservation of Records                                       | 22       |
| 6.4          | Access to Records; Copies                                     | 23       |
| ARTICLE VII  | BID; INITIAL PAYMENT  |          |
| ARTICLE VIII | PRO FORMA   |          |
| ARTICLE IX   | CONTINUING COOPERATION  |          |
| 9.1          | General Matters   | 24       |
| 9.2          | Additional Title Documents                                    | 24<br>24 |
| 9.3          | Claims and Suits  | 24<br>74 |
| 9.4          | Payment of Deposits   | 25       |
| 9.5          | Withheld Payments   |          |
| 9.6          | Proceedings with Respect to Certain Assets<br>and Liabilities |          |
| 9.7          | Information   | 25<br>26 |
| ARTICLE X    | CONDITION PRECEDENT   | 26       |
| ARTICLE XI   | REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE                         |          |
|              | ASSUMING BANK   | 26       |
| ARTICLE XII  | INDEMNIFICATION   | 27       |
| 12.1         | Indemnification of Indemnitees                                | 26       |
| 12.2         | Conditions Precedent to Indemnification                       | 20       |
| 12.3         | No Additional Warranty  | 31       |
| 12.4         | Indemnification of Corporation and Receiver                   | 31       |
| 12.5         | Obligations Supplemental                                      | 32       |
| 12.6         | Criminal Claims   | 32       |
| 12.7         | Limited Guaranty of the Corporation                           | 32       |
| 12.8         | Subrogation   |          |
|              |   |          |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 2

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

| ARTICLE XIII | MISCELLANEOUS               |  |  |
|--------------|-----------------------------|--|--|
| 13.1         | Entire Agreement            |  |  |
| 13.2         | Headings                    |  |  |
| 13.3         | Counterparts                |  |  |
| 13.4         | Governing Law               |  |  |
| 13.5         | Successors                  |  |  |
| 13.6         | Modification; Assignment    |  |  |
| 13.7         | Notice                      |  |  |
| 13.8         | Manner of Payment           |  |  |
| 13.9         | Costs, Fees and Expenses    |  |  |
| 13.10        | Waiver                      |  |  |
| 13.11        | Severability                |  |  |
| 13.12        | Term of Agreement           |  |  |
| 13.13        | Survival of Covenants, Etc. |  |  |

### SCHEDULES

| 2.1     | Certain Liabilities Not Assumed    | Error! Bookmark not defined. |
|---------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| 3.1 Cer | tain Assets Purchased              |                              |
| 3.2     | Purchase Price of Assets or Assets |                              |
| 3.5     | Certain Assets Not Purchased       | Error! Bookmark not defined. |

### EXHIBIT

| 3.2(c) | Valuation of Certain Qualified Financial Contracts | 42 |
|--------|--|----|
|--------|--|----|

3

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada )

1

.....

, j

4

# PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

#### WHOLE BANK

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of the \_\_day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2008, by and among the FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, RECEIVER of WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK, HENDERSON, NEVADA (the "Receiver"), [Assuming Bank]\_\_\_\_, organized under the laws of \_\_[the United States of America] [State]\_, and having its principal place of business in [City], [State] (the "Assuming Bank"), and the FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, organized under the laws of the United States of America and having its principal office in Washington, D.C., acting in its corporate capacity (the "Corporation").

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, on Bank Closing, the Chartering Authority closed Washington Mutual Bank (the "Failed Bank") pursuant to applicable law and the Corporation was appointed Receiver thereof; and

WHEREAS, the Assuming Bank desires to purchase substantially all of the assets and assume all deposit and substantially all other liabilities of the Failed Bank on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to 12 U.S.C. Section 1823(c)(2)(A), the Corporation may provide assistance to the Assuming Bank to facilitate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, which assistance may include indemnification pursuant to Article XII; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the "Board") has determined to provide assistance to the Assuming Bank on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined pursuant to 12 U.S.C. Section 1823(c)(4)(A) that such assistance is necessary to meet the obligation of the Corporation to provide insurance coverage for the insured deposits in the Failed Bank and is the least costly to the deposit insurance fund of all possible methods for meeting such obligation.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein set forth and other valuable consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 4

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

)

3

3

### JPMCD\_000001550.00030

#### ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

Capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in this Article I, or elsewhere in this Agreement. As used herein, words imparting the singular include the plural and vice versa.

"<u>Accounting Records</u>" means the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers and supporting schedules which support the general ledger balances.

"<u>Acquired Subsidiaries</u>" means Subsidiaries of the Failed Bank acquired pursuant to Section 3.1.

"<u>Adversely Classified</u>" means, with respect to any Loan or security, a Loan or security which has been designated in the most recent report of examination as "Substandard," "Doubtful" or "Loss" by the Failed Bank's appropriate Federal or State Chartering Authority or regulator.

"<u>Affiliate</u>" of any Person means any director, officer, or employee of that Person and any other Person (i) who is directly or indirectly controlling, or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such Person, or (ii) who is an affiliate of such Person as the term "affiliate" is defined in Section 2 of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, 12 U.S.C. Section 1841.

"<u>Agreement</u>" means this Purchase and Assumption Agreement by and among the Assuming Bank, the Corporation and the Receiver, as amended or otherwise modified from time to time.

"<u>Assets</u>" means all assets of the Failed Bank purchased pursuant to Section 3.1. Assets owned by Subsidiaries of the Failed Bank are not "Assets" within the meaning of this definition.

"Assumed Deposits" means Deposits.

"<u>Bank Closing</u>" means the close of business of the Failed Bank on the date on which the Chartering Authority closed such institution.

"<u>Bank Premises</u>" means the banking houses, drive-in banking facilities, and teller facilities (staffed or automated) together with appurtenant parking, storage and service facilities and structures connecting remote facilities to banking houses, and land on which the foregoing are located, that are owned or leased by the Failed Bank and that are occupied by the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing.

"Bid Amount" has the meaning provided in Article VII.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 5

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

1

à

1

1

đ.

1

Confidential

"Book Value" means, with respect to any Asset and any Liability Assumed, the dollar amount thereof stated on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank. The Book Value of any item shall be determined as of Bank Closing after adjustments made by the Receiver for differences in accounts, suspense items, unposted debits and credits, and other similar adjustments or corrections and for setoffs, whether voluntary or involuntary. The Book Value of a Subsidiary of the Failed Bank acquired by the Assuming Bank shall be determined from the investment in subsidiary and related accounts on the "bank only" (unconsolidated) balance sheet of the Failed Bank based on the equity method of accounting. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) the Book Value of a Liability Assumed shall include all accrued and unpaid interest thereon as of Bank Closing, and (ii) the Book Value of a Loan shall reflect adjustments for earned interest, or unearned interest (as it relates to the "rule of 78s" or add-on-interest loans, as applicable), if any, as of Bank Closing, adjustments for the portion of earned or unearned loan-related credit life and/or disability insurance premiums, if any, attributable to the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, and adjustments for Failed Bank Advances, if any, in each case as determined for financial reporting purposes. The Book Value of an Asset shall not include any adjustment for loan premiums, discounts or any related deferred income or fees, or general or specific reserves on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank.

"<u>Business Day</u>" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, Federal legal holiday or legal holiday under the laws of the State where the Failed Bank is located, or a day on which the principal office of the Corporation is closed.

"<u>Chartering Authority</u>" means (i) with respect to a national bank, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, (ii) with respect to a Federal savings association or savings bank, the Office of Thrift Supervision, (iii) with respect to a bank or savings institution chartered by a State, the agency of such State charged with primary responsibility for regulating and/or closing banks or savings institutions, as the case may be, (iv) the Corporation in accordance with 12 U.S.C. Section 1821(c), with regard to self appointment, or (v) the appropriate Federal banking agency in accordance with 12 U.S.C. 1821(c)(9).

"<u>Commitment</u>" means the unfunded portion of a line of credit or other commitment reflected on the books and records of the Failed Bank to make an extension of credit (or additional advances with respect to a Loan) that was legally binding on the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, other than extensions of credit pursuant to the credit card business and overdraft protection plans of the Failed Bank, if any.

"<u>Credit Documents</u>" mean the agreements, instruments, certificates or other documents at any time evidencing or otherwise relating to, governing or executed in connection with or as security for, a Loan, including without limitation notes, bonds, loan agreements, letter of credit applications, lease financing contracts, banker's acceptances, drafts, interest protection agreements, currency exchange agreements, repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agreements, guarantees, deeds of trust, mortgages, assignments, security agreements, pledges, subordination or priority agreements, lien priority agreements, undertakings, security instruments, certificates, documents, legal opinions, participation agreements and intercreditor

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 6

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

3

Э

3

`

)

agreements, and all amendments, modifications, renewals, extensions, rearrangements, and substitutions with respect to any of the foregoing.

"<u>Credit File</u>" means all Credit Documents and all other credit, collateral, or insurance documents in the possession or custody of the Assuming Bank, or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates, relating to an Asset or a Loan included in a Put Notice, or copies of any thereof.

"Data Processing Lease" means any lease or licensing agreement, binding on the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, the subject of which is data processing equipment or computer hardware or software used in connection with data processing activities. A lease or licensing agreement for computer software used in connection with data processing activities shall constitute a Data Processing Lease regardless of whether such lease or licensing agreement also covers data processing equipment.

"Deposit" means a deposit as defined in 12 U.S.C. Section 1813(1), including without limitation, outstanding cashier's checks and other official checks and all uncollected items included in the depositors' balances and credited on the books and records of the Failed Bank; provided, that the term "Deposit" shall not include all or any portion of those deposit balances which, in the discretion of the Receiver or the Corporation, (i) may be required to satisfy it for any liquidated or contingent liability of any depositor arising from an unauthorized or unlawful transaction, or (ii) may be needed to provide payment of any liability of any depositor as a director or officer of the Failed Bank, whether or not the amount of the liability is or can be determined as of Bank Closing.

"<u>Failed Bank Advances</u>" means the total sums paid by the Failed Bank to (i) protect its lien position, (ii) pay ad valorem taxes and hazard insurance, and (iii) pay credit life insurance, accident and health insurance, and vendor's single interest insurance.

"<u>Fixtures</u>" means those leasehold improvements, additions, alterations and installations constituting all or a part of Bank Premises and which were acquired, added, built, installed or purchased at the expense of the Failed Bank, regardless of the holder of legal title thereto as of Bank Closing.

"<u>Furniture and Equipment</u>" means the furniture and equipment (other than Safe Deposit Boxes, motor vehicles, and leased data processing equipment, including hardware and software), leased or owned by the Failed Bank and reflected on the books of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, including without limitation automated teller machines, carpeting, furniture, office machinery (including personal computers), shelving, office supplies, telephone, surveillance and security systems, and artwork.

"Indemnitees" means, except as provided in paragraph (11) of Section 12.1(b), (i) the Assuming Bank, (ii) the Subsidiaries and Affiliates of the Assuming Bank <u>other than</u> any Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Failed Bank that are or become Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Assuming Bank, and (iii) the directors, officers, employees and agents of the Assuming Bank

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 7

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

1

-

1

4

Confidential

and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates who are <u>not</u> also present or former directors, officers, employees or agents of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank.

"Initial Payment" means the payment made pursuant to Article VII, the amount of which shall be either (i) if the Bid Amount is positive, the Bid Amount plus the Required Payment or (ii) if the Bid Amount is negative, the Required Payment minus the Bid Amount. The Initial Payment shall be payable by the Corporation to the Assuming Bank if the Initial Payment is a negative amount. The Initial Payment shall be payable by the Assuming Bank to the Corporation if the Initial Payment is positive.

"Legal Balance" means the amount of indebtedness legally owed by an Obligor with respect to a Loan, including principal and accrued and unpaid interest, late fees, attorneys' fees and expenses, taxes, insurance premiums, and similar charges, if any.

"Liabilities Assumed" has the meaning provided in Section 2.1.

"Lien" means any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, assignment for security purposes, security interest, or encumbrance of any kind with respect to an Asset, including any conditional sale agreement or capital lease or other title retention agreement relating to such Asset.

"Loans" means all of the following owed to or held by the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing:

(i) loans (including loans which have been charged off the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank in whole or in part prior to Bank Closing), participation agreements, interests in participations, overdrafts of customers (including but not limited to overdrafts made pursuant to an overdraft protection plan or similar extensions of credit in connection with a deposit account), revolving commercial lines of credit, home equity lines of credit, Commitments, United States and/or State-guaranteed student loans, and lease financing contracts;

(ii) all Liens, rights (including rights of set-off), remedies, powers, privileges, demands, claims, priorities, equities and benefits owned or held by, or accruing or to accrue to or for the benefit of, the holder of the obligations or instruments referred to in clause (i) above, including but not limited to those arising under or based upon Credit Documents, casualty insurance policies and binders, standby letters of credit, mortgagee title insurance policies and binders, payment bonds and performance bonds at any time and from time to time existing with respect to any of the obligations or instruments referred to in clause (i) above; and

(iii) all amendments, modifications, renewals, extensions, refinancings, and refundings of or for any of the foregoing;

provided, that there shall be excluded from the definition of "Loans" amounts owing under Qualified Financial Contracts.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 8

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

З

3

)

У

٦,

"<u>Obligor</u>" means each Person liable for the full or partial payment or performance of any Loan, whether such Person is obligated directly, indirectly, primarily, secondarily, jointly, or severally.

"<u>Other Real Estate</u>" means all interests in real estate (other than Bank Premises and Fixtures), including but not limited to mineral rights, leasehold rights, condominium and cooperative interests, air rights and development rights that are owned by the Failed Bank.

"Payment Date" means the first Business Day after Bank Closing.

"<u>Person</u>" means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof, excluding the Corporation.

"<u>Primary Indemnitor</u>" means any Person (other than the Assuming Bank or any of its Affiliates) who is obligated to indemnify or insure, or otherwise make payments (including payments on account of claims made against) to or on behalf of any Person in connection with the claims covered under Article XII, including without limitation any insurer issuing any directors and officers liability policy or any Person issuing a financial institution bond or banker's blanket bond.

"<u>Put Date</u>" has the meaning provided in Section 3.4.

"Put Notice" has the meaning provided in Section 3.4.

"<u>Qualified Financial Contract</u>" means a qualified financial contract as defined in 12 U.S.C. Section 1821(e)(8)(D).

"<u>Record</u>" means any document, microfiche, microfilm and computer records (including but not limited to magnetic tape, disc storage, card forms and printed copy) of the Failed Bank generated or maintained by the Failed Bank that is owned by or in the possession of the Receiver at Bank Closing.

"<u>Related Liability</u>" with respect to any Asset means any liability existing and reflected on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing for (i) indebtedness secured by mortgages, deeds of trust, chattel mortgages, security interests or other liens on or affecting such Asset, (ii) ad valorem taxes applicable to such Asset, and (iii) any other obligation determined by the Receiver to be directly related to such Asset.

"<u>Related Liability Amount</u>" with respect to any Related Liability on the books of the Assuming Bank, means the amount of such Related Liability as stated on the Accounting Records of the Assuming Bank (as maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles) as of the date as of which the Related Liability Amount is being determined. With respect to a liability that relates to more than one asset, the amount of such Related Liability shall be allocated among such assets for the purpose of determining the Related Liability Amount with respect to any one of such assets. Such allocation shall be made by specific

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 9

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada J

1

7

-

14

Ċ

Confidential

allocation, where determinable, and otherwise shall be pro rata based upon the dollar amount of such assets stated on the Accounting Records of the entity that owns such asset.

"Required Payment" means \$

"<u>Repurchase Price</u>" means with respect to any Asset or asset, which shall be determined by the Receiver, the <u>lesser</u> of (a) or (b):

(a) (i) in the event of a negative Bid Amount, the amount paid by the Assuming Bank, discounted by a percentage equal to the quotient produced by dividing the Assuming Bank's Bid Amount by the aggregate Book Value of the Risk Assets of the Failed Bank;

(ii) in the event of a negative Bid Amount, the amount resulting from (a)(i), above, or in the event of a positive Bid Amount, the amount paid by the Assuming Bank, (x) for a Loan, shall be decreased by any portion of the Loan classified "loss" and by one-half of any portion of the Loan classified "doubtful" as of the date of Bank Closing, and (y) for any Asset or asset, including a Loan, decreased by the amount of any money received with respect thereto since Bank Closing and, if the Asset is a Loan or other interest bearing or earning asset, the resulting amount shall then be increased or decreased, as the case may be, by interest or discount (whichever is applicable) accrued from and after Bank Closing at the lower of: (i) the contract rate with respect to such Asset, or (ii) the Settlement Interest Rate; net proceeds received by or due to the Assuming Bank from the sale of collateral, any forgiveness of debt, or otherwise shall be deemed money received by the Assuming Bank; or

(b) the dollar amount thereof stated on the Accounting Records of the Assuming Bank as of the date as of which the Repurchase Price is being determined, as maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and, if the asset is a Loan, regardless of the Legal Balance thereof and adjusted in the same manner as the Book Value of a Failed Bank Loan would be adjusted hereunder.

Provided, however, (b), above, shall not be applicable and the Bid Amount shall be considered to have been positive for Loans repurchased pursuant to Section 3.4(a).

"<u>Risk Assets</u>" means (i) all Loans purchased hereunder, excluding (a) New Loans and (b) Loans to the extent secured by Assumed Deposits (and not included in (i)(a)), plus (ii) the Accrued Interest Receivable, Prepaid Expense, and Other Assets.

"<u>Safe Deposit Boxes</u>" means the safe deposit boxes of the Failed Bank, if any, including the removable safe deposit boxes and safe deposit stacks in the Failed Bank's vault(s), all rights and benefits (other than fees collected prior to Bank Closing) under rental agreements with respect to such safe deposit boxes, and all keys and combinations thereto.

"Settlement Date" means the first Business Day immediately prior to the day which is one hundred eighty (180) days after Bank Closing, or such other date prior thereto as

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 10

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Э

Э

3

٦

)

may be agreed upon by the Receiver and the Assuming Bank. The Receiver, in its discretion, may extend the Settlement Date.

"<u>Settlement Interest Rate</u>" means, for the first calendar quarter or portion thereof during which interest accrues, the rate determined by the Receiver to be equal to the equivalent coupon issue yield on twenty-six (26)-week United States Treasury Bills in effect as of Bank Closing as published in <u>The Wall Street Journal</u>; provided, that if no such equivalent coupon issue yield is available as of Bank Closing, the equivalent coupon issue yield for such Treasury Bills most recently published in <u>The Wall Street Journal</u> prior to Bank Closing shall be used. Thereafter, the rate shall be adjusted to the rate determined by the Receiver to be equal to the equivalent coupon issue yield on such Treasury Bills in effect as of the first day of each succeeding calendar quarter during which interest accrues as published in <u>The Wall Street</u> <u>Journal</u>.

"Subsidiary" has the meaning set forth in Section 3(w)(4) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. Section 1813(w)(4), as amended.

#### ARTICLE II ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES

2.1 <u>Liabilities Assumed by Assuming Bank</u>. Subject to Section 2.5, the Assuming Bank expressly assumes at Book Value (subject to adjustment pursuant to Article VIII) and agrees to pay, perform, and discharge, all of the liabilities of the Failed Bank which are reflected on the Books and Records of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, including the Assumed Deposits and all liabilities associated with any and all employee benefit plans, except as listed on the attached Schedule 2.1, and as otherwise provided in this Agreement (such liabilities referred to as "Liabilities Assumed").

2.2 Interest on Deposit Liabilities. The Assuming Bank agrees that, from and after Bank Closing, it will accrue and pay interest on Deposit liabilities assumed pursuant to Section 2.1 at a rate(s) it shall determine; provided, that for nontransaction Deposit liabilities such rate(s) shall not be less than the lowest rate offered by the Assuming Bank to its depositors for nontransaction deposit accounts. The Assuming Bank shall permit each depositor to withdraw, without penalty for early withdrawal, all or any portion of such depositor's Deposit, whether or not the Assuming Bank elects to pay interest in accordance with any deposit agreement formerly existing between the Failed Bank and such depositor; and further provided, that if such Deposit has been pledged to secure an obligation of the depositor or other party, any withdrawal thereof shall be subject to the terms of the agreement governing such pledge. The Assuming Bank shall give notice to such depositors as provided in Section 5.3 of the rate(s) of interest which it has determined to pay and of such withdrawal rights.

2.3 <u>Unclaimed Deposits</u>. If, within eighteen (18) months after Bank Closing, any depositor of the Failed Bank does not claim or arrange to continue such depositor's Deposit assumed pursuant to Section 2.1 at the Assuming Bank, the Assuming Bank shall, within fifteen (15) Business Days after the end of such eighteen (18)-month period, (i) refund to the Corporation the full amount of each such Deposit (without reduction for service charges), (ii)

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 11

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ì

1

\*

4

1

provide to the Corporation a schedule of all such refunded Deposits in such form as may be prescribed by the Corporation, and (iii) assign, transfer, convey and deliver to the Receiver all right, title and interest of the Assuming Bank in and to Records previously transferred to the Assuming Bank and other records generated or maintained by the Assuming Bank pertaining to such Deposits. During such eighteen (18)-month period, at the request of the Corporation, the Assuming Bank promptly shall provide to the Corporation schedules of unclaimed deposits in such form as may be prescribed by the Corporation.

#### 2.4 <u>Omitted</u>.

)

3

)

Ъ

ì

)

2.5 <u>Borrower Claims</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any liability associated with borrower claims for payment of or liability to any borrower for monetary relief, or that provide for any other form of relief to any borrower, whether or not such liability is reduced to judgment, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed or undisputed, legal or equitable, judicial or extra-judicial, secured or unsecured, whether asserted affirmatively or defensively, related in any way to any loan or commitment to lend made by the Failed Bank prior to failure, or to any loan made by a third party in connection with a loan which is or was held by the Failed Bank, or otherwise arising in connection with the Failed Bank's lending or loan purchase activities are specifically not assumed by the Assuming Bank.

#### ARTICLE III PURCHASE OF ASSETS

3.1 Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank. Subject to Sections 3.5 and 3.6, the Assuming Bank hereby purchases from the Receiver, and the Receiver hereby sells, assigns, transfers, conveys, and delivers to the Assuming Bank, all right, title, and interest of the Receiver in and to all of the assets (real, personal and mixed, wherever located and however acquired) of the Failed Bank whether or not reflected on the books of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, as set forth in Schedule 3.1 attached hereto and incorporated herein. Schedule 3.1 sets forth certain categories of Assets. Such schedule is based upon the best information available to the Receiver and may be adjusted as provided in Article VIII. Assets are purchased hereunder by the Assuming Bank subject to all liabilities for indebtedness collateralized by Liens affecting such Assets to the extent provided in Section 2.1.

#### 3.2 Asset Purchase Price.

(a) All Assets and assets of the Failed Bank subject to an option to purchase by the Assuming Bank shall be purchased for the amount, or the amount resulting from the method specified for determining the amount, as specified on Schedule 3.2, except as otherwise may be provided herein. Any Asset, asset of the Failed Bank subject to an option to purchase or other asset purchased for which no purchase price is specified on Schedule 3.2 or otherwise herein shall be purchased at its Book Value. Loans or other assets charged off the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank prior to the date of Bank Closing shall be purchased at a price of zero.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 12

(b) The purchase price for securities (other than the capital stock of any Acquired Subsidiary) purchased under Section 3.1 by the Assuming Bank shall be the market value thereof as of Bank Closing, which market value shall be (i) the "Mid/Last", or "Trade" (as applicable), market price for each such security quoted at the close of the trading day effective on Bank Closing as published electronically by <u>Bloomberg, L.P.</u>; (ii) <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> if such market price is not available for any such security, the Assuming Bank will submit a bid for each such security within three days of notification/bid request by the Receiver (unless a different time period is agreed to by the Assuming Bank and the Receiver) and the Receiver, in its sole discretion will accept or reject each such bid; and (iii) <u>further provided</u> in the absence of an acceptable bid from the Assuming Bank, each such security shall not pass to the Assuming Bank and shall be deemed to be an excluded asset hereunder.

(c) Qualified Financial Contracts shall be purchased at market value determined in accordance with the terms of Exhibit 3.2(c). Any costs associated with such valuation shall be shared equally by the Receiver and the Assuming Bank.

3.3 Manner of Conveyance; Limited Warranty; Nonrecourse; Etc. THE CONVEYANCE OF ALL ASSETS, INCLUDING REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY INTERESTS, PURCHASED BY THE ASSUMING BANK UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE MADE, AS NECESSARY, BY RECEIVER'S DEED OR RECEIVER'S BILL OF SALE, "AS IS", "WHERE IS", WITHOUT RECOURSE AND, EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, WITHOUT ANY WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER WITH RESPECT TO SUCH ASSETS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO TITLE, ENFORCEABILITY, COLLECTIBILITY, DOCUMENTATION OR FREEDOM FROM LIENS OR ENCUMBRANCES (IN WHOLE OR IN PART), OR ANY OTHER MATTERS.

- 3.4 <u>Puts of Assets to the Receiver</u>.
- (a) <u>Omitted</u>.

(b) <u>Puts Prior to the Settlement Date</u>. During the period from Bank Closing to and including the Business Day immediately preceding the Settlement Date, the Assuming Bank shall be entitled to require the Receiver to purchase any Asset which the Assuming Bank can establish is evidenced by forged or stolen instruments as of Bank Closing. The Assuming Bank shall transfer all such Assets to the Receiver without recourse, and shall indemnify the Receiver against any and all claims of any Person claiming by, through or under the Assuming Bank with respect to any such Asset, as provided in Section 12.4.

(c) <u>Notices to the Receiver</u>. In the event that the Assuming Bank elects to require the Receiver to purchase one or more Assets, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver a notice (a "Put Notice") which shall include:

(i) a list of all Assets that the Assuming Bank requires the Receiver to purchase;

13

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ł

, 4

j

Ť.

1

1

ę

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM

- (ii) a list of all Related Liabilities with respect to the Assets identified pursuant to (i) above; and
- (iii) a statement of the estimated Repurchase Price of each Asset identified pursuant to (i) above as of the applicable Put Date.

Such notice shall be in the form prescribed by the Receiver or such other form to which the Receiver shall consent. As provided in Section 9.6, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver such documents, Credit Files and such additional information relating to the subject matter of the Put Notice as the Receiver may request and shall provide to the Receiver full access to all other relevant books and records.

(d) <u>Purchase by Receiver</u>. The Receiver shall purchase Loans that are specified in the Put Notice and shall assume Related Liabilities with respect to such Loans, and the transfer of such Loans and Related Liabilities shall be effective as of a date determined by the Receiver which date shall not be later than thirty (30) days after receipt by the Receiver of the Credit Files with respect to such Loans (the "Put Date").

(e) <u>Purchase Price and Payment Date</u>. Each Loan purchased by the Receiver pursuant to this Section 3.4 shall be purchased at a price equal to the Repurchase Price of such Loan less the Related Liability Amount applicable to such Loan, in each case determined as of the applicable Put Date. If the difference between such Repurchase Price and such Related Liability Amount is positive, then the Receiver shall pay to the Assuming Bank the amount of such difference; if the difference between such amounts is negative, then the Assuming Bank shall pay to the Receiver the amount of such difference. The Assuming Bank or the Receiver, as the case may be, shall pay the purchase price determined pursuant to this Section 3.4(e) not later than the twentieth (20th) Business Day following the applicable Put Date, together with interest on such amount at the Settlement Interest Rate for the period from and including such Put Date to and including the day preceding the date upon which payment is made.

(f) <u>Servicing</u>. The Assuming Bank shall administer and manage any Asset subject to purchase by the Receiver in accordance with usual and prudent banking standards and business practices until such time as such Asset is purchased by the Receiver.

(g) <u>Reversals</u>. In the event that the Receiver purchases an Asset (and assumes the Related Liability) that it is not required to purchase pursuant to this Section 3.4, the Assuming Bank shall repurchase such Asset (and assume such Related Liability) from the Receiver at a price computed so as to achieve the same economic result as would apply if the Receiver had never purchased such Asset pursuant to this Section 3.4.

3.5 <u>Assets Not Purchased by Assuming Bank</u>. The Assuming Bank does not purchase, acquire or assume, or (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement) obtain an option to purchase, acquire or assume under this Agreement the assets or Assets listed on the attached Schedule 3.5.

#### 3.6 Assets Essential to Receiver.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 14

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

3

)

)

3

(a) The Receiver may refuse to sell to the Assuming Bank, or the Assuming Bank agrees, at the request of the Receiver set forth in a written notice to the Assuming Bank, to assign, transfer, convey, and deliver to the Receiver all of the Assuming Bank's right, title and interest in and to, any Asset or asset essential to the Receiver as determined by the Receiver in its discretion (together with all Credit Documents evidencing or pertaining thereto), which may include any Asset or asset that the Receiver determines to be:

- made to an officer, director, or other Person engaging in the affairs of the Failed Bank, its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any related entities of any of the foregoing;
- the subject of any investigation relating to any claim with respect to any item described in Section 3.5(a) or (b), or the subject of, or potentially the subject of, any legal proceedings;
- (iii) made to a Person who is an Obligor on a loan owned by the Receiver or the Corporation in its corporate capacity or its capacity as receiver of any institution;
- (iv) secured by collateral which also secures any asset owned by the Receiver; or
- (v) related to any asset of the Failed Bank not purchased by the Assuming Bank under this Article III or any liability of the Failed Bank not assumed by the Assuming Bank under Article II.

(b) Each such Asset or asset purchased by the Receiver shall be purchased at a price equal to the Repurchase Price thereof less the Related Liability Amount with respect to any Related Liabilities related to such Asset or asset, in each case determined as of the date of the notice provided by the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.6(a). The Receiver shall pay the Assuming Bank not later than the twentieth (20th) Business Day following receipt of related Credit Documents and Credit Files together with interest on such amount at the Settlement Interest Rate for the period from and including the date of receipt of such documents to and including the day preceding the day on which payment is made. The Assuming Bank agrees to administer and manage each such Asset or asset in accordance with usual and prudent banking standards and business practices until each such Asset or asset is purchased by the Receiver. All transfers with respect to Asset or assets under this Section 3.6 shall be made as provided in Section 9.6. The Assuming Bank shall transfer all such Asset or assets and Related Liabilities to the Receiver without recourse, and shall indemnify the Receiver against any and all claims of any Person claiming by, through or under the Assuming Bank with respect to any such Asset or asset, as provided in Section 12.4.

#### **ARTICLE IV**

15

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

1

-

111

÷ŧ

(

## ASSUMPTION OF CERTAIN DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS

The Assuming Bank agrees with the Receiver and the Corporation as follows:

4.1 <u>Continuation of Banking Business</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to provide full service banking in the trade area of the Failed Bank commencing on the first banking business day (including a Saturday) after Bank Closing. At the option of the Assuming Bank, such banking services may be provided at any or all of the Bank Premises, or at other premises within such trade area.

4.2 <u>Agreement with Respect to Debit and Credit Card Business</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to honor and perform, from and after Bank Closing, all duties and obligations with respect to the Failed Bank's debit and credit card business, and/or processing related to debit and credit cards, if any, and assumes all outstanding extensions of credit with respect thereto. Fees related to the debit and credit card business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

4.3 <u>Agreement with Respect to Safe Deposit Business</u>. The Assuming Bank assumes and agrees to discharge, from and after Bank Closing, in the usual course of conducting a banking business, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to all Safe Deposit Boxes, if any, of the Failed Bank and to maintain all of the necessary facilities for the use of such boxes by the renters thereof during the period for which such boxes have been rented and the rent therefor paid to the Failed Bank, subject to the provisions of the rental agreements between the Failed Bank and the respective renters of such boxes; provided, that the Assuming Bank may relocate the Safe Deposit Boxes of the Failed Bank to any office of the Assuming Bank located in the trade area of the Failed Bank. Fees related to the safe deposit business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

4.4 <u>Agreement with Respect to Safekeeping Business</u>. The Receiver transfers, conveys and delivers to the Assuming Bank and the Assuming Bank accepts all securities and other items, if any, held by the Failed Bank in safekeeping for its customers as of Bank Closing. The Assuming Bank assumes and agrees to honor and discharge, from and after Bank Closing, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to such securities and items held in safekeeping. The Assuming Bank shall be entitled to all rights and benefits heretofore accrued or hereafter accruing with respect thereto; provided, that, fees related to the safe keeping business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall provide to the Receiver written verification of all assets held by the Failed Bank for safekeeping within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing.

## 4.5 Agreement with Respect to Trust Business.

(a) The Assuming Bank shall, without further transfer, substitution, act or deed, to the full extent permitted by law, succeed to the rights, obligations, properties, assets,

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 16

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

3

3

)

)

investments, deposits, agreements, and trusts of the Failed Bank under trusts, executorships, administrations, guardianships, and agencies, and other fiduciary or representative capacities, all to the same extent as though the Assuming Bank had assumed the same from the Failed Bank prior to Bank Closing; provided, that any liability based on the misfeasance, malfeasance or nonfeasance of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents with respect to the trust business is not assumed hereunder. Fees related to the trust business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall, to the full extent permitted by law, succeed to, and be entitled to take and execute, the appointment to all executorships, trusteeships, guardianships and other fiduciary or representative capacities to which the Failed Bank is or may be named in wills, whenever probated, or to which the Failed Bank is or may be named or appointed by any other instrument.

(c) In the event additional proceedings of any kind are necessary to accomplish the transfer of such trust business, the Assuming Bank agrees that, at its own expense, it will take whatever action is necessary to accomplish such transfer. The Receiver agrees to use reasonable efforts to assist the Assuming Bank in accomplishing such transfer.

(d) The Assuming Bank shall provide to the Receiver written verification of the assets held in connection with the Failed Bank's trust business within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing.

#### 4.6 Agreement with Respect to Bank Premises.

(a) <u>Option to Lease</u>. The Receiver hereby grants to the Assuming Bank an exclusive option for the period of ninety (90) days commencing the day after Bank Closing to cause the Receiver to assign to the Assuming Bank any or all leases for leased Bank Premises, if any, which have been continuously occupied by the Assuming Bank from Bank Closing to the date it elects to accept an assignment of the leases with respect thereto to the extent such leases can be assigned; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the exercise of this option with respect to any lease must be as to all premises or other property subject to the lease. If an assignment cannot be made of any such leases, the Receiver may, in its discretion, enter into subleases with the Assuming Bank containing the same terms and conditions provided under such existing leases for such leased Bank Premises or other property. The Assuming Bank shall give notice to the Receiver within the option period of its election to accept or not to accept an assignment of any or all leases (or enter into subleases or new leases in lieu thereof). The Assuming Bank agrees to assume all leases assigned (or enter into subleases in lieu thereof) pursuant to this Section 4.6.

(b) <u>Facilitation</u>. The Receiver agrees to facilitate the assumption, assignment or sublease of leases or the negotiation of new leases by the Assuming Bank; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> neither the Receiver nor the Corporation shall be obligated to engage in litigation, make payments to the Assuming Bank or to any third party in connection with facilitating any such assumption, assignment, sublease or negotiation or commit to any other obligations to third parties.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 17

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada •

1

3

1

4

i

ć

(c) <u>Occupancy</u>. The Assuming Bank shall give the Receiver fifteen (15) days' prior written notice of its intention to vacate prior to vacating any leased Bank Premises with respect to which the Assuming Bank has not exercised the option provided in Section 4.6(a). Any such notice shall be deemed to terminate the Assuming Bank's option with respect to such leased Bank Premises.

#### (d) Occupancy Costs.

()

)

)

3

)

>

(i) The Assuming Bank agrees, during the period of any occupancy by it of leased Bank Premises, to pay to the Receiver, or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver, all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of applicable leases entered into by the Failed Bank, including without limitation the timely payment of all rent, taxes, fees, charges, utilities, insurance and assessments.

(ii) The Assuming Bank agrees during the period of occupancy by it of leased Bank Premises to pay to the Receiver rent for the use of all leased Furniture and Equipment and all owned or leased Fixtures located on such Bank Premises for the period of such occupancy. Rent for such property owned by the Failed Bank shall be the market rental value thereof, as determined by the Receiver within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing. Rent for such leased property shall be an amount equal to any and all rent and other amounts which the Receiver incurs or accrues as an obligation or is obligated to pay for such period of occupancy pursuant to all leases and contracts with respect to such property. If the Assuming Bank purchases any owned Fixtures in accordance with Section 4.6(e), the amount of any rents paid by the Assuming Bank with respect thereto shall be applied as an offset against the purchase price thereof.

(e) <u>Certain Requirements as to Furniture, Equipment and Fixtures</u>. If the Assuming Bank accepts an assignment of the lease (or enters into a sublease or a new lease in lieu thereof) for leased Bank Premises, or if the Assuming Bank does not exercise such option but within twelve (12) months following Bank Closing obtains the right to occupy such premises (whether by assignment, lease, sublease, purchase or otherwise), other than in accordance with Section 4.6(a), the Assuming Bank shall (i) accept an assignment or a sublease of the leases or negotiate new leases for all Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures leased by the Failed Bank and located thereon, and (ii) if applicable, accept an assignment or a sublease of any ground lease or negotiate a new ground lease with respect to any land on which such Bank Premises are located; <u>provided</u>, that the Receiver shall not have disposed of such Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures or repudiated the leases specified in clause (i) or (ii).

(f) <u>Vacating Premises</u>. If the Assuming Bank elects not to accept an assignment of the lease or sublease any leased Bank Premises, the notice of such election in accordance with Section 4.6(a) shall specify the date upon which the Assuming Bank's occupancy of such leased Bank Premises shall terminate, which date shall not be later than the date which is one hundred eighty (180) days after Bank Closing. Upon vacating such premises, the Assuming Bank shall relinquish and release to the Receiver such premises and the Fixtures located thereon in the same condition as at Bank Closing, normal wear and tear excepted. By failing to provide notice of its intention to vacate such premises prior to the expiration of the option period specified in Section 4.6(a), or by occupying such premises after the one hundred eighty (180)-day period specified

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 18

above in this paragraph, the Assuming Bank shall, at the Receiver's option, (x) be deemed to have assumed all leases, obligations and liabilities with respect to such premises (including any ground lease with respect to the land on which premises are located), and leased Furniture and Equipment and leased Fixtures located thereon in accordance with this Section 4.6 (unless the Receiver previously repudiated any such lease), and (y) be required to purchase all Fixtures owned by the Failed Bank and located on such premises as of Bank Closing.

#### (g) <u>Omitted</u>.

#### 4.7 Agreement with Respect to Leased Data Processing Equipment

(a) The Receiver hereby grants to the Assuming Bank an exclusive option for the period of ninety (90) days commencing the day after Bank Closing to accept an assignment from the Receiver of any or all Data Processing Leases to the extent that such Data Processing Leases can be assigned.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall (i) give written notice to the Receiver within the option period specified in Section 4.7(a) of its intent to accept an assignment or sublease of any or all Data Processing Leases and promptly accept an assignment or sublease of such Data Processing Leases, and (ii) give written notice to the appropriate lessor(s) that it has accepted an assignment or sublease of any such Data Processing Leases.

(c) The Receiver agrees to facilitate the assignment or sublease of Data Processing Leases or the negotiation of new leases or license agreements by the Assuming Bank; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> neither the Receiver nor the Corporation shall be obligated to engage in litigation or make payments to the Assuming Bank or to any third party in connection with facilitating any such assumption, assignment, sublease or negotiation.

(d) The Assuming Bank agrees, during its period of use of any property subject to a Data Processing Lease, to pay to the Receiver or to appropriate third parties at the direction of  $\cdot$  the Receiver all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of the applicable Data Processing Leases entered into by the Failed Bank, including without limitation the timely payment of all rent, taxes, fees, charges, utilities, insurance and assessments.

(e) The Assuming Bank shall, not later than fifty (50) days after giving the notice provided in Section 4.7(b), (i) relinquish and release to the Receiver all property subject to the relevant Data Processing Lease, in the same condition as at Bank Closing, normal wear and tear excepted, or (ii) accept an assignment or a sublease thereof or negotiate a new lease or license agreement under this Section 4.7.

#### 4.8 Agreement with Respect to Certain Existing Agreements.

(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 4.8(b), with respect to agreements existing as of Bank Closing which provide for the rendering of services by or to the Failed Bank, within one hundred twenty (120) days after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank shall give the Receiver written notice specifying whether it elects to assume or not to assume each such agreement.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 19

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada )

1

1

4

1

1

(

Except as may be otherwise provided in this Article IV, the Assuming Bank agrees to comply with the terms of each such agreement for a period commencing on the day after Bank Closing and ending on: (i) in the case of an agreement that provides for the rendering of services by the Failed Bank, the date which is ninety (90) days after Bank Closing, and (ii) in the case of an agreement that provides for the rendering of services to the Failed Bank, the date which is thirty (30) days after the Assuming Bank has given notice to the Receiver of its election not to assume such agreement; provided, that the Receiver can reasonably make such service agreements available to the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall be deemed by the Receiver to have assumed agreements for which no notification is timely given. The Receiver agrees to assign, transfer, convey, and deliver to the Assuming Bank all right, title and interest of the Receiver, if any, in and to agreements the Assuming Bank assumes hereunder. In the event the Assuming Bank elects not to accept an assignment of any lease (or sublease) or negotiate a new lease for leased Bank Premises under Section 4.6 and does not otherwise occupy such premises, the provisions of this Section 4.8(a) shall not apply to service agreements related to such premises. The Assuming Bank agrees, during the period it has the use or benefit of any such agreement, promptly to pay to the Receiver or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of such agreement.

(b) The provisions of Section 4.8(a) shall not apply to (i) agreements pursuant to which the Failed Bank provides mortgage servicing for others or mortgage servicing is provided to the Failed Bank by others, (ii) agreements that are subject to Sections 4.1 through 4.7 and any insurance policy or bond referred to in Section 3.5(a) or other agreement specified in Section 3.5, and (iii) consulting, management or employment agreements, if any, between the Failed Bank and its employees or other Persons. Except as otherwise expressly set forth elsewhere in this Agreement, the Assuming Bank does not assume any liabilities or acquire any rights under any of the agreements described in this Section 4.8(b).

**4.9** Informational Tax Reporting. The Assuming Bank agrees to perform all obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to Federal and State income tax informational reporting related to (i) the Assets and the Liabilities Assumed, (ii) deposit accounts that were closed and loans that were paid off or collateral obtained with respect thereto prior to Bank Closing, (iii) miscellaneous payments made to vendors of the Failed Bank, and (iv) any other asset or liability of the Failed Bank, including, without limitation, loans not purchased and Deposits not assumed by the Assuming Bank, as may be required by the Receiver.

4.10 <u>Insurance</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to obtain insurance coverage effective from and after Bank Closing, including public liability, fire and extended coverage insurance acceptable to the Receiver with respect to owned or leased Bank Premises that it occupies, and all owned or leased Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures and leased data processing equipment (including hardware and software) located thereon, in the event such insurance coverage is not already in force and effect with respect to the Assuming Bank as the insured as of Bank Closing. All such insurance shall, where appropriate (as determined by the Receiver), name the Receiver as an additional insured.

4.11 <u>Office Space for Receiver and Corporation</u>. For the period commencing on the day following Bank Closing and ending on the one hundred eightieth (180th) day thereafter, the

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 20

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

0

3

3

3

)

3

)

)

Assuming Bank agrees to provide to the Receiver and the Corporation, without charge, adequate and suitable office space (including parking facilities and vault space), furniture, equipment (including photocopying and telecopying machines) and utilities (including local telephone service) at the Bank Premises occupied by the Assuming Bank for their use in the discharge of their respective functions with respect to the Failed Bank. In the event the Receiver and the Corporation determine that the space provided is inadequate or unsuitable, the Receiver and the Corporation may relocate to other quarters having adequate and suitable space and the costs of relocation and any rental and utility costs for the balance of the period of occupancy by the Receiver and the Corporation shall be borne by the Assuming Bank.

#### 4.12 <u>Omitted</u>.

#### 4.13 <u>Omitted</u>.

#### **ARTICLE V**

#### DUTIES WITH RESPECT TO DEPOSITORS OF THE FAILED BANK

5.1 Payment of Checks, Drafts and Orders. Subject to Section 9.5, the Assuming Bank agrees to pay all properly drawn checks, drafts and withdrawal orders of depositors of the Failed Bank presented for payment, whether drawn on the check or draft forms provided by the Failed Bank or by the Assuming Bank, to the extent that the Deposit balances to the credit of the respective makers or drawers assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement are sufficient to permit the payment thereof, and in all other respects to discharge, in the usual course of conducting a banking business, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to the Deposit balances due and owing to the depositors of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement.

5.2 <u>Certain Agreements Related to Deposits</u>. Subject to Section 2.2, the Assuming Bank agrees to honor the terms and conditions of any written escrow or mortgage servicing agreement or other similar agreement relating to a Deposit liability assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement.

#### 5.3 <u>Notice to Depositors</u>.

(a) Within seven (7) days after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank shall give (i) notice to depositors of the Failed Bank of its assumption of the Deposit liabilities of the Failed Bank, and (ii) any notice required under Section 2.2, by mailing to each such depositor a notice with respect to such assumption and by advertising in a newspaper of general circulation in the county or counties in which the Failed Bank was located. The Assuming Bank agrees that it will obtain prior approval of all such notices and advertisements from counsel for the Receiver and that such notices and advertisements shall not be mailed or published until such approval is received.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall give notice by mail to depositors of the Failed Bank concerning the procedures to claim their deposits, which notice shall be provided to the

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 21

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 3

.

.

3

in the

1

£

Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00047

Assuming Bank by the Receiver or the Corporation. Such notice shall be included with the notice to depositors to be mailed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to Section 5.3(a).

(c) If the Assuming Bank proposes to charge fees different from those charged by the Failed Bank before it establishes new deposit account relationships with the depositors of the Failed Bank, the Assuming Bank shall give notice by mail of such changed fees to such depositors.

#### ARTICLE VI RECORDS

#### 6.1 Transfer of Records.

)

З

3

3

3

)

Э

(a) In accordance with Section 3.1, the Receiver assigns, transfers, conveys and delivers to the Assuming Bank the following Records pertaining to the Deposit liabilities of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement, except as provided in Section 6.4:

- (i) signature cards, orders, contracts between the Failed Bank and its depositors and Records of similar character;
- (ii) passbooks of depositors held by the Failed Bank, deposit slips, cancelled checks and withdrawal orders representing charges to accounts of depositors;

and the following Records pertaining to the Assets:

- (iii) records of deposit balances carried with other banks, bankers or trust companies;
- (iv) Loan and collateral records and Credit Files and other documents;
- deeds, mortgages, abstracts, surveys, and other instruments or records of title pertaining to real estate or real estate mortgages;
- (vi) signature cards, agreements and records pertaining to Safe Deposit Boxes, if any; and
- (vii) records pertaining to the credit card business, trust business or safekeeping business of the Failed Bank, if any.

(b) The Receiver, at its option, may assign and transfer to the Assuming Bank by a single blanket assignment or otherwise, as soon as practicable after Bank Closing, any other Records not assigned and transferred to the Assuming Bank as provided in this Agreement, including but not limited to loan disbursement checks, general ledger tickets, official bank checks, proof transactions (including proof tapes) and paid out loan files.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 22

6.2 <u>Delivery of Assigned Records</u>. The Receiver shall deliver to the Assuming Bank all Records described in (i) Section 6.1(a) as soon as practicable on or after the date of this Agreement, and (ii) Section 6.1(b) as soon as practicable after making any assignment described therein.

6.3 <u>Preservation of Records</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees that it will preserve and maintain for the joint benefit of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank, all Records of which it has custody for such period as either the Receiver or the Corporation in its discretion may require, until directed otherwise, <u>in writing</u>, by the Receiver or Corporation. The Assuming Bank shall have the primary responsibility to respond to subpoenas, discovery requests, and other similar official inquiries with respect to the Records of which it has custody.

6.4 <u>Access to Records; Copies</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to permit the Receiver and the Corporation access to all Records of which the Assuming Bank has custody, and to use, inspect, make extracts from or request copies of any such Records in the manner and to the extent requested, and to duplicate, in the discretion of the Receiver or the Corporation, any Record in the form of microfilm or microfiche pertaining to Deposit account relationships; <u>provided, that</u> in the event that the Failed Bank maintained one or more duplicate copies of such microfilm or microfiche Records, the Assuming Bank hereby assigns, transfers, and conveys to the Corporation one such duplicate copy of each such Record without cost to the Corporation, and agrees to deliver to the Corporation all Records assigned and transferred to the Corporation under this Article VI as soon as practicable on or after the date of this Agreement. The party requesting a copy of any Record shall bear the cost (based on standard accepted industry charges to the extent applicable, as determined by the Receiver) for providing such duplicate Records. A copy of each Record requested shall be provided as soon as practicable by the party having custody thereof.

#### ARTICLE VII BID; INITIAL PAYMENT

## [\*\*\*NOTE TO ACQUIRER: The following will be modified to reflect the transaction consummated.]

The Assuming Bank has submitted to the Receiver a [positive] [negative] bid of \$[\_\_\_\_\_] for the Assets purchased and Liabilities Assumed hereunder (the "Bid Amount"). On the Payment Date, the Assuming Bank will pay to the Corporation, or the Corporation will pay to the Assuming Bank, as the case may be, the Initial Payment, together with interest on such amount (if the Payment Date is not the day following the day of Bank Closing) from and including the day following Bank Closing to and including the day preceding the Payment Date at the Settlement Interest Rate.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 23

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 12

1

Ĩ

-

ARTICLE VIII PRO FORMA

The Assuming Bank, as soon as practical after Bank Closing, in accordance with the best information then available, shall provide to the Receiver a pro forma balance sheer statement indicating all assets and liabilities of the Failed Bank as shown on the Failed Bank's books and records as of Bank Closing and reflecting which assets and liabilities are passing to the Assuming Bank and which assets and liabilities are to be retained by the Receiver. In addition, the Assuming Bank is to provide to the Receiver, in a form acceptable to the Receiver, an electronic database of all loans and deposits of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing.

#### ARTICLE IX CONTINUING COOPERATION

9.1 <u>General Matters</u>. The parties hereto agree that they will, in good faith and with their best efforts, cooperate with each other to carry out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to effect the purposes hereof.

**9.2** <u>Additional Title Documents</u>. The Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank each agree, at any time, and from time to time, upon the request of any party hereto, to execute and deliver such additional instruments and documents of conveyance as shall be reasonably necessary to vest in the appropriate party its full legal or equitable title in and to the property transferred pursuant to this Agreement or to be transferred in accordance herewith. The Assuming Bank shall prepare such instruments and documents of conveyance (in form and substance satisfactory to the Receiver) as shall be necessary to vest title to the Assets in the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall be responsible for recording such instruments and documents of conveyance at its own expense.

#### 9.3 Claims and Suits.

(a) The Receiver shall have the right, in its discretion, to (i) defend or settle any claim or suit against the Assuming Bank with respect to which the Receiver has indemnified the Assuming Bank in the same manner and to the same extent as provided in Article XII, and (ii) defend or settle any claim or suit against the Assuming Bank with respect to any Liability Assumed, which claim or suit may result in a loss to the Receiver arising out of or related to this Agreement, or which existed against the Failed Bank on or before Bank Closing. The exercise by the Receiver of any rights under this Section 9.3(a) shall not release the Assuming Bank with respect to any of its obligations under this Agreement.

(b) In the event any action at law or in equity shall be instituted by any Person against the Receiver and the Corporation as codefendants with respect to any asset of the Failed Bank retained or acquired pursuant to this Agreement by the Receiver, the Receiver agrees, at the request of the Corporation, to join with the Corporation in a petition to remove the action to the United States District Court for the proper district. The Receiver agrees to institute, with or without joinder of the Corporation as coplaintiff, any action with respect to any such retained or

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 24

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

)

5

3

Э

acquired asset or any matter connected therewith whenever notice requiring such action shall be given by the Corporation to the Receiver.

9.4 <u>Payment of Deposits</u>. In the event any depositor does not accept the obligation of the Assuming Bank to pay any Deposit liability of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement and asserts a claim against the Receiver for all or any portion of any such Deposit liability, the Assuming Bank agrees on demand to provide to the Receiver funds sufficient to pay such claim in an amount not in excess of the Deposit liability reflected on the books of the Assuming Bank at the time such claim is made. Upon payment by the Assuming Bank to the Receiver of such amount, the Assuming Bank shall be discharged from any further obligation under this Agreement to pay to any such depositor the amount of such Deposit liability paid to the Receiver.

Withheld Payments. At any time, the Receiver or the Corporation may, in its 9.5 discretion, determine that all or any portion of any deposit balance assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement does not constitute a "Deposit" (or otherwise, in its discretion, determine that it is the best interest of the Receiver or Corporation to withhold all or any portion of any deposit), and may direct the Assuming Bank to withhold payment of all or any portion of any such deposit balance. Upon such direction, the Assuming Bank agrees to hold such deposit and not to make any payment of such deposit balance to or on behalf of the depositor, or to itself, whether by way of transfer, set-off, or otherwise. The Assuming Bank agrees to maintain the "withheld payment" status of any such deposit balance until directed in writing by the Receiver or the Corporation as to its disposition. At the direction of the Receiver or the Corporation, the Assuming Bank shall return all or any portion of such deposit balance to the Receiver or the Corporation, as appropriate, and thereupon the Assuming Bank shall be discharged from any further liability to such depositor with respect to such returned deposit balance. If such deposit balance has been paid to the depositor prior to a demand for return by the Corporation or the Receiver, and payment of such deposit balance had not been previously withheld pursuant to this Section, the Assuming Bank shall not be obligated to return such deposit balance to the Receiver or the Corporation. The Assuming Bank shall be obligated to reimburse the Corporation or the Receiver, as the case may be, for the amount of any deposit balance or portion thereof paid by the Assuming Bank in contravention of any previous direction to withhold payment of such deposit balance or return such deposit balance the payment of which was withheld pursuant to this Section.

#### 9.6 <u>Proceedings with Respect to Certain Assets and Liabilities</u>.

(a) In connection with any investigation, proceeding or other matter with respect to any asset or liability of the Failed Bank retained by the Receiver, or any asset of the Failed Bank acquired by the Receiver pursuant to this Agreement, the Assuming Bank shall cooperate to the extent reasonably required by the Receiver.

(b) In addition to its obligations under Section 6.4, the Assuming Bank shall provide representatives of the Receiver access at reasonable times and locations without other limitation or qualification to (i) its directors, officers, employees and agents and those of the Subsidiaries acquired by the Assuming Bank, and (ii) its books and records, the books and records of such

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 25

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada J

1

1

1

10.0

.....

 $l_4^2$ 

Subsidiaries and all Credit Files, and copies thereof. Copies of books, records and Credit Files shall be provided by the Assuming Bank as requested by the Receiver and the costs of duplication thereof shall be borne by the Receiver.

(c) Not later than ten (10) days after the Put Notice pursuant to Section 3.4 or the date of the notice of transfer of any Loan by the Assuming Bank to the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.6, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver such documents with respect to such Loan as the Receiver may request, including without limitation the following: (i) all related Credit Documents (other than certificates, notices and other ancillary documents), (ii) a certificate setting forth the principal amount on the date of the transfer and the amount of interest, fees and other charges then accrued and unpaid thereon, and any restrictions on transfer to which any such Loan is subject, and (iii) all Credit Files, and all documents, microfiche, microfilm and computer records (including but not limited to magnetic tape, disc storage, card forms and printed copy) maintained by, owned by, or in the possession of the Assuming Bank or any Affiliate of the Assuming Bank relating to the transferred Loan.

9.7 Information. The Assuming Bank promptly shall provide to the Corporation such other information, including financial statements and computations, relating to the performance of the provisions of this Agreement as the Corporation or the Receiver may request from time to time, and, at the request of the Receiver, make available employees of the Failed Bank employed or retained by the Assuming Bank to assist in preparation of the pro forma statement pursuant to Section 8.1.

#### ARTICLE X CONDITION PRECEDENT

The obligations of the parties to this Agreement are subject to the Receiver and the Corporation having received at or before Bank Closing evidence reasonably satisfactory to each of any necessary approval, waiver, or other action by any governmental authority, the board of directors of the Assuming Bank, or other third party, with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, the closing of the Failed Bank and the appointment of the Receiver, the chartering of the Assuming Bank, and any agreements, documents, matters or proceedings contemplated hereby or thereby.

#### ARTICLE XI REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE ASSUMING BANK

The Assuming Bank represents and warrants to the Corporation and the Receiver as follows:

(a) <u>Corporate Existence and Authority</u>. The Assuming Bank (i) is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its Chartering Authority and has full power and authority to own and operate its properties and to conduct its business as now conducted by it, and (ii) has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. The Assuming Bank has taken all necessary corporate

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 26

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

3

3

)

Э

3

>

action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) <u>Third Party Consents</u>. No governmental authority or other third party consents (including but not limited to approvals, licenses, registrations or declarations) are required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Assuming Bank of this Agreement, other than such consents as have been duly obtained and are in full force and effect.

(c) <u>Execution and Enforceability</u>. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Assuming Bank and when this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Corporation and the Receiver, this Agreement will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Assuming Bank, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

#### (d) <u>Compliance with Law</u>.

(i) Neither the Assuming Bank nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any statute, regulation, order, decision, judgment or decree of, or any restriction imposed by, the United States of America, any State, municipality or other political subdivision or any agency of any of the foregoing, or any court or other tribunal having jurisdiction over the Assuming Bank or any of its Subsidiaries or any assets of any such Person, or any foreign government or agency thereof having such jurisdiction, with respect to the conduct of the business of the Assuming Bank or of any of its Subsidiaries, or the ownership of the properties of the Assuming Bank or any of its Subsidiaries, which, either individually or in the aggregate with all other such violations, would materially and adversely affect the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Assuming Bank or the ability of the Assuming Bank to perform, satisfy or observe any obligation or condition under this Agreement.

(ii) Neither the execution and delivery nor the performance by the Assuming Bank of this Agreement will result in any violation by the Assuming Bank of, or be in conflict with, any provision of any applicable law or regulation, or any order, writ or decree of any court or governmental authority.

e) <u>Representations Remain True</u>. The Assuming Bank represents and warrants that it has executed and delivered to the Corporation a Purchaser Eligibility Certification and Confidentiality Agreement and that all information provided and representations made by or on behalf of the Assuming Bank in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, but not limited to, the Purchaser Eligibility Certification and Confidentiality Agreement (which are affirmed and ratified hereby) are and remain true and correct in all material respects and do not fail to state any fact required to make the information contained therein not misleading.

#### ARTICLE XII INDEMNIFICATION

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 27

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada : ]

]

1

1

弄

ł

Ĉ.

Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00053

12.1 Indemnification of Indemnitees. From and after Bank Closing and subject to the limitations set forth in this Section and Section 12.6 and compliance by the Indemnitees with Section 12.2, the Receiver agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnitees against any and all costs, losses, liabilities, expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred prior to the assumption of defense by the Receiver pursuant to paragraph (d) of Section 12.2, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with claims against any Indemnitee based on liabilities of the Failed Bank that are not assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank for which indemnification is provided hereunder in (a) of this Section 12.1, subject to certain exclusions as provided in (b) of this Section 12.1:

(a)

ز

3

)

)

)

3

(1) claims based on the rights of any shareholder or former shareholder as such of (x) the Failed Bank, or (y) any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank;

(2) claims based on the rights of any creditor as such of the Failed Bank, or any creditor as such of any director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank, with respect to any indebtedness or other obligation of the Failed Bank arising prior to Bank Closing;

(3) claims based on the rights of any present or former director, officer, employee or agent as such of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank;

(4) claims based on any action or inaction prior to Bank Closing of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as such, or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, or the directors, officers, employees or agents as such of such Subsidiary or Affiliate;

(5) claims based on any malfeasance, misfeasance or nonfeasance of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents with respect to the trust business of the Failed Bank, if any;

(6) claims based on any failure or alleged failure (not in violation of law) by the Assuming Bank to continue to perform any service or activity previously performed by the Failed Bank which the Assuming Bank is not required to perform pursuant to this Agreement or which arise under any contract to which the Failed Bank was a party which the Assuming Bank elected not to assume in accordance with this Agreement and which neither the Assuming Bank nor any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank has assumed subsequent to the execution hereof;

(7) claims arising from any action or inaction of any Indemnitee, including for purposes of this Section 12.1(a)(7) the former officers or employees of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank that is taken upon the specific written direction of the Corporation or the Receiver, <u>other than</u> any action or inaction taken in a manner constituting bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct; and

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 28

(8) claims based on the rights of any depositor of the Failed Bank whose deposit has been accorded "withheld payment" status and/or returned to the Receiver or Corporation in accordance with Section 9.5 and/or has become an "unclaimed deposit" or has been returned to the Corporation or the Receiver in accordance with Section 2.3;

(b) <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u>, with respect to this Agreement, except for paragraphs (7) and (8) of Section 12.1(a), no indemnification will be provided under this Agreement for any:

(1) judgment or fine against, or any amount paid in settlement (without the written approval of the Receiver) by, any Indemnitee in connection with any action that seeks damages against any Indemnitee (a "counterclaim") arising with respect to any Asset and based on any action or inaction of either the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as such prior to Bank Closing, unless any such judgment, fine or amount paid in settlement exceeds the greater of (i) the Repurchase Price of such Asset, or (ii) the monetary recovery sought on such Asset by the Assuming Bank in the cause of action from which the counterclaim arises; and in such event the Receiver will provide indemnification only in the amount of such excess; and no indemnification will be provided for any costs or expenses other than any costs or expenses (including attorneys' fees) which, in the determination of the Receiver, have been actually and reasonably incurred by such Indemnitee in connection with the defense of any such counterclaim; and it is expressly agreed that the Receiver reserves the right to intervene, in its discretion, on its behalf and/or on behalf of the Receiver, in the defense of any such counterclaim;

(2) claims with respect to any liability or obligation of the Failed Bank that is expressly assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(3) claims with respect to any liability of the Failed Bank to any present or former employee as such of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, which liability is expressly assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(4) claims based on the failure of any Indemnitee to seek recovery of damages from the Receiver for any claims based upon any action or inaction of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as fiduciary, agent or custodian prior to Bank Closing;

(5) claims based on any violation or alleged violation by any Indemnitee of the antitrust, branching, banking or bank holding company or securities laws of the United States of America or any State thereof;

(6) claims based on the rights of any present or former creditor, customer, or supplier as such of the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 29

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ţ

.

. .

6

ſ

Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00055

(7) claims based on the rights of any present or former shareholder as such of the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank regardless of whether any such present or former shareholder is also a present or former shareholder of the Failed Bank;

(8) claims, if the Receiver determines that the effect of providing such indemnification would be to (i) expand or alter the provisions of any warranty or disclaimer thereof provided in Section 3.3 or any other provision of this Agreement, or (ii) create any warranty not expressly provided under this Agreement;

(9) claims which could have been enforced against any Indemnitee had the Assuming Bank not entered into this Agreement;

(10) claims based on any liability for taxes or fees assessed with respect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including without limitation any subsequent transfer of any Assets or Liabilities Assumed to any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(11) except as expressly provided in this Article XII, claims based on any action or inaction of any Indemnitee, and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to provide indemnification for (i) the Failed Bank, (ii) any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, or (iii) any present or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver, in its discretion, may provide indemnification hereunder for any present or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates who is also or becomes a director, officer, employee or agent of the Assuming Bank or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates;

(12) claims or actions which constitute a breach by the Assuming Bank of the representations and warranties contained in Article XI;

(13) claims arising out of or relating to the condition of or generated by an Asset arising from or relating to the presence, storage or release of any hazardous or toxic substance, or any pollutant or contaminant, or condition of such Asset which violate any applicable Federal, State or local law or regulation concerning environmental protection;

(14) claims based on, related to or arising from any asset, including a loan, acquired or liability assumed by the Assuming Bank, other than pursuant to this Agreement; and

(15) claims based on, related to or arising from any liability specifically not assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to Section 2.5 of this Agreement.

12.2 <u>Conditions Precedent to Indemnification</u>. It shall be a condition precedent to the obligation of the Receiver to indemnify any Person pursuant to this Article XII that such Person shall, with respect to any claim made or threatened against such Person for which such Person is or may be entitled to indemnification hereunder:

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 30

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Ć

3

З

)

7

3

JPMCD\_000001550.00056

(a) give written notice to the Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch) of the Corporation in the manner and at the address provided in Section 13.7 of such claim as soon as practicable after such claim is made or threatened; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> notice must be given on or before the date which is six (6) years from the date of this Agreement;

(b) provide to the Receiver such information and cooperation with respect to such claim as the Receiver may reasonably require;

(c) cooperate and take all steps, as the Receiver may reasonably require, to preserve and protect any defense to such claim;

(d) in the event suit is brought with respect to such claim, upon reasonable prior notice, afford to the Receiver the right, which the Receiver may exercise in its sole discretion, to conduct the investigation, control the defense and effect settlement of such claim, including without limitation the right to designate counsel and to control all negotiations, litigation, arbitration, settlements, compromises and appeals of any such claim, all of which shall be at the expense of the Receiver; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver shall have notified the Person claiming indemnification in writing that such claim is a claim with respect to which the Person claiming indemnification is entitled to indemnification under this Article XII;

(e) not incur any costs or expenses in connection with any response or suit with respect to such claim, unless such costs or expenses were incurred upon the written direction of the Receiver; provided, that the Receiver shall not be obligated to reimburse the amount of any such costs or expenses unless such costs or expenses were incurred upon the written direction of the Receiver;

(f) not release or settle such claim or make any payment or admission with respect thereto, unless the Receiver consents in writing thereto, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver shall not be obligated to reimburse the amount of any such settlement or payment unless such settlement or payment was effected upon the written direction of the Receiver; and

(g) take reasonable action as the Receiver may request in writing as necessary to preserve, protect or enforce the rights of the indemnified Person against any Primary Indemnitor.

12.3 <u>No Additional Warranty</u>. Nothing in this Article XII shall be construed or deemed to (i) expand or otherwise alter any warranty or disclaimer thereof provided under Section 3.3 or any other provision of this Agreement with respect to, among other matters, the title, value, collectibility, genuineness, enforceability or condition of any (x) Asset, or (y) asset of the Failed Bank purchased by the Assuming Bank subsequent to the execution of this Agreement by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank, or (ii) create any warranty not expressly provided under this Agreement with respect thereto.

12.4 Indemnification of Receiver and Corporation. From and after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Corporation and the Receiver and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents from and against any and all costs,

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 31

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

. 4

ł

1

Ą.

4

ł

Č.

losses, liabilities, expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any of the following:

(a) claims based on any and all liabilities or obligations of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank, whether or not any such liabilities subsequently are sold and/or transferred, other than any claim based upon any action or inaction of any Indemnitee as provided in paragraph (7) or (8) of Section 12.1(a); and

(b) claims based on any act or omission of any Indemnitee (including but not limited to claims of any Person claiming any right or title by or through the Assuming Bank with respect to Assets transferred to the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.4 or 3.6), other than any action or inaction of any Indemnitee as provided in paragraph (7) or (8) of Section 12.1(a).

12.5 <u>Obligations Supplemental</u>. The obligations of the Receiver, and the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, to provide indemnification under this Article XII are to supplement any amount payable by any Primary Indemnitor to the Person indemnified under this Article XII. Consistent with that intent, the Receiver agrees only to make payments pursuant to such indemnification to the extent not payable by a Primary Indemnitor. If the aggregate amount of payments by the Receiver, or the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, and all Primary Indemnitors with respect to any item of indemnification under this Article XII exceeds the amount payable with respect to such item, such Person being indemnified shall notify the Receiver thereof and, upon the request of the Receiver, shall promptly pay to the Receiver, or the Corporation as appropriate, the amount of the Receiver's (or Corporation's) payments to the extent of such excess.

12.6 <u>Criminal Claims</u>. Notwithstanding any provision of this Article XII to the contrary, in the event that any Person being indemnified under this Article XII shall become involved in any criminal action, suit or proceeding, whether judicial, administrative or investigative, the Receiver shall have no obligation hereunder to indemnify such Person for liability with respect to any criminal act or to the extent any costs or expenses are attributable to the defense against the allegation of any criminal act, unless (i) the Person is successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense against any such action, suit or proceeding, or (ii) such action, suit or proceeding is terminated without the imposition of liability on such Person.

12.7 Limited Guaranty of the Corporation. The Corporation hereby guarantees performance of the Receiver's obligation to indemnify the Assuming Bank as set forth in this Article XII. It is a condition to the Corporation's obligation hereunder that the Assuming Bank shall comply in all respects with the applicable provisions of this Article XII. The Corporation shall be liable hereunder only for such amounts, if any, as the Receiver is obligated to pay under the terms of this Article XII but shall fail to pay. Except as otherwise provided above in this Section 12.7, nothing in this Article XII is intended or shall be construed to create any liability or obligation on the part of the Corporation, the United States of America or any department or agency thereof under or with respect to this Article XII, or any provision hereof, it being the intention of the parties hereto that the obligations undertaken by the Receiver under this Article XII are the sole and exclusive responsibility of the Receiver and no other Person or entity.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 32

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

3

)

)

3

)

ì

)

12.8 <u>Subrogation</u>. Upon payment by the Receiver, or the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, to any Indemnitee for any claims indemnified by the Receiver under this Article XII, the Receiver, or the Corporation as appropriate, shall become subrogated to all rights of the Indemnitee against any other Person to the extent of such payment.

#### ARTICLE XIII MISCELLANEOUS

13.1 <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement embodies the entire agreement of the parties hereto in relation to the subject matter herein and supersedes all prior understandings or agreements, oral or written, between the parties.

13.2 <u>Headings</u>. The headings and subheadings of the Table of Contents, Articles and Sections contained in this Agreement, except the terms identified for definition in Article I and elsewhere in this Agreement, are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

13.3 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the duly authorized representative of a different party hereto on separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.

13.4 <u>GOVERNING LAW</u>. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FEDERAL LAW OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, AND IN THE ABSENCE OF CONTROLLING FEDERAL LAW, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE IN WHICH THE MAIN OFFICE OF THE FAILED BANK IS LOCATED.

13.5 <u>Successors</u>. All terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding on the successors and assigns of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, nothing expressed or referred to in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give any Person other than the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to this Agreement or any provisions contained herein, it being the intention of the parties hereto that this Agreement, the obligations and statements of responsibilities hereunder, and all other conditions and provisions hereof are for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank and for the benefit of no other Person.

13.6 <u>Modification: Assignment</u>. No amendment or other modification, rescission, release, or assignment of any part of this Agreement shall be effective except pursuant to a written agreement subscribed by the duly authorized representatives of the parties hereto.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 33

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ŝ

14

1

-

14

i

Ļ

13.7 <u>Notice</u>. Any notice, request, demand, consent, approval or other communication to any party hereto shall be effective when received and shall be given in writing, and delivered in person against receipt therefor, or sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, courier service, telex or facsimile transmission to such party (with copies as indicated below) at its address set forth below or at such other address as it shall hereafter furnish in writing to the other parties. All such notices and other communications shall be deemed given on the date received by the addressee.

#### Assuming Bank

3

Э

)

3

3

)

1

3

1

.

Attention:

| with a copy to: |  |  |
|-----------------|--|--|
|                 |  |  |

#### **Receiver and Corporation**

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Receiver of Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada 1601 Bryan St., Suite 1700 Dallas, Texas 75201

Attention: Deputy Director (DRR-Field Operations Branch)

with copy to: Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch)

## and with respect to notice under Article XII:

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Receiver of Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada 1601 Bryan St., Suite 1700 Dallas, Texas 75201 Attention: Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch)

13.8 <u>Manner of Payment</u>. All payments due under this Agreement shall be in lawful money of the United States of America in immediately available funds as each party hereto may specify to the other parties; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> in the event the Receiver or the Corporation is obligated to make any payment hereunder in the amount of \$25,000.00 or less, such payment may be made by check.

13.9 <u>Costs, Fees and Expenses</u>. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, each party hereto agrees to pay all costs, fees and expenses which it has incurred in connection

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 34

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

with or incidental to the matters contained in this Agreement, including without limitation any fees and disbursements to its accountants and counsel; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Assuming Bank shall pay all fees, costs and expenses (other than attorneys' fees incurred by the Receiver) incurred in connection with the transfer to it of any Assets or Liabilities Assumed hereunder or in accordance herewith.

13.10 <u>Waiver</u>. Each of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank may waive its respective rights, powers or privileges under this Agreement; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> such waiver shall be in writing; <u>and further provided</u>, <u>that</u> no failure or delay on the part of the Receiver, the Corporation or the Assuming Bank to exercise any right, power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor will any single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege by the Receiver, the Corporation, or the Assuming Bank under this Agreement, nor will any such waiver operate or be construed as a future waiver of such right, power or privilege under this Agreement.

13.11 <u>Severability</u>. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid or unenforceable, then, to the extent possible, all of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall be binding upon the parties hereto.

13.12 <u>Term of Agreement</u>. This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until the sixth (6th) anniversary of Bank Closing; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the provisions of Section 6.3 and 6.4 shall survive the expiration of the term of this Agreement. Provided, however, the receivership of the Failed Bank may be terminated prior to the expiration of the term of this Agreement; in such event, the guaranty of the Corporation, as provided in and in accordance with the provisions of Section 12.7 shall be in effect for the remainder of the term. Expiration of the term of this Agreement shall not affect any claim or liability of any party with respect to any (i) amount which is owing at the time of such expiration, regardless of when such amount becomes payable, and (ii) breach of this Agreement occurring prior to such expiration, regardless of when such breach is discovered.

13.13 <u>Survival of Covenants, Etc.</u> The covenants, representations, and warranties in this Agreement shall survive the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder.

[Signature Page Follows]

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 35

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

11

1

Q

4

ŕ

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the date first above written.

FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, RECEIVER OF:

WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK,

#### HENDERSON, NEVADA

| BY | : |
|----|---|
|    |   |

NAME:\_\_\_\_\_

TITLE:\_\_\_\_

## FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

| BY:    | <br>                                      |  |
|--------|---|--|
| NAME:  | <br>· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |  |
| TITLE: |   |  |

Attest:

Ì

3

)

)

)

7

)

7

## [ASSUMING BANK - INSERT NAME]

BY:\_\_\_\_\_

NAME:\_\_\_\_\_

Attest:

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 36

#### SCHEDULE 2.1 - Certain Liabilities Not Assumed

•

| 1. | Preferred stock and all litigation pending against the Failed Bank related to liabilities retained by the receiver.   | 1          |
|----|---|------------|
| 2. | Subordinated debt.  |            |
| 3. | Senior debt.  | 1          |
|    | Transaction #1, the only liabilities to be excluded will be # 1 above.  |            |
|    | Transaction #2, the only liabilities to be excluded will be ## 1 and 2 above.<br>Transaction #3, the only liabilities to be excluded will be ## 1, 2 and 3 above. | <b>, a</b> |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 37

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada . .

1

e,

C

,

## SCHEDULE 3.1 - Certain Assets Purchased

#### SEE ATTACHED LIST

THE LIST(S) ATTACHED TO THIS SCHEDULE (OR SUBSCHEDULE(S)) AND THE INFORMATION THEREIN, IS AS OF BANK CLOSING. IT WILL BE ADJUSTED TO REFLECT THE COMPOSITION AND BOOK VALUE OF THE LOANS AND ASSETS AS OF THE DATE OF BANK CLOSING. THE LIST(S) MAY NOT INCLUDE ALL LOANS AND ASSETS (E.G., CHARGED OFF LOANS). THE LIST(S) MAY BE REPLACED WITH A MORE ACCURATE LIST POST CLOSING.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

.

## Confidential

0

Э

2

)

)

)

)

)

A.Y. .

JPMCD\_000001550.00064

## SCHEDULE 3.2 - Purchase Price of Assets or assets

# [[\*\*\*NOTE TO ACQUIRER: The following will be modified to reflect the transaction consummated.]]

| (a) | cash and receivables from depository<br>institutions, including cash items in the<br>process of collection, plus<br>interest thereon: | Book Value                                  |
|-----|---|---|
| (b) | securities (exclusive of the capital stock of Acquired Subsidiaries), plus interest thereon:  | As provided in Section 3.2(b)               |
| (c) | federal funds sold and repurchase<br>agreements, if any, including interest<br>thereon:   | Book Value                                  |
| (d) | Loans:  | Book Value                                  |
| (e) | Other Real Estate:  | Book Value                                  |
| (f) | credit card business, if any, including all outstanding extensions of credit:   | Book Value                                  |
| (g) | Safe Deposit Boxes and related business,<br>safekeeping business and trust business, if<br>any:                                       | Book Value                                  |
| (h) | Records and other documents:  | Book Value                                  |
| (i) | capital stock of any Acquired Subsidiaries:   | Book Value                                  |
| (j) | amounts owed to the Failed Bank by any Acquired Subsidiary:   | Book Value                                  |
| (k) | assets securing Deposits of public money,<br>to the extent not otherwise purchased<br>hereunder:                                      | Book Value                                  |
| (l) | Overdrafts of customers:  | Book Value                                  |
| (m) | rights, if any, with respect to Qualified   | As provided in Section 3.2(c)               |
|     | 39  |   |
|     | 2 & A 991022<br>per 23, 2008; 2:46 PM   | Washington Mutual Bank<br>Henderson, Nevada |

3

J

.

. 1

Ą

ų,

Ś

ţ

ŧ

Confidential

٠

JPMCD\_000001550.00065

#### Financial Contracts.

)

)

)

r

)

)

)

2

| (n) | rights of the Failed Bank to provide<br>mortgage servicing for others and to have<br>mortgage servicing provided to the Failed<br>Bank by others and related contracts. | Book Value |
|-----|---|------------|
| (0) | Bank Premises:  | Book Value |
| (p) | Furniture and Equipment:  | Book Value |
| (q) | Fixtures:   | Book Value |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 40

.

.

#### SCHEDULE 3.5 - Certain Assets Not Purchased

(1) Any financial institution bonds, banker's blanket bonds, or public liability, fire, or extended coverage insurance policy or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank, or premium refund, unearned premium derived from cancellation, or any proceeds payable with respect to any of the foregoing;

(2) any interest, right, action, claim, or judgment against (i) any officer, director, employee, accountant, attorney, or any other Person employed or retained by the Failed Bank or any Subsidiary of the Failed Bank on or prior to Bank Closing arising out of any act or omission of such Person in such capacity, (ii) any underwriter of financial institution bonds, banker's blanket bonds or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank, (iii) any shareholder or holding company of the Failed Bank, or (iv) any other Person whose action or inaction may be related to any loss (exclusive of any loss resulting from such Person's failure to pay on a Loan made by the Failed Bank) incurred by the Failed Bank; provided, that for the purposes hereof, the acts, omissions or other events giving rise to any such claim shall have occurred on or before Bank Closing, regardless of when any such claim is discovered and regardless of whether any such claim is made with respect to a financial institution bond, banker's blanket's blanket bond, or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank Closing;

(3) leased Bank Premises and leased Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures and data processing equipment (including hardware and software) located on leased or owned Bank Premises, if any; <u>provided</u>, that the Assuming Bank does obtain an option under Section 4.6, Section 4.7 or Section 4.8, as the case may be, with respect thereto; and

(4) any criminal/restitution orders issued in favor of the Failed Bank;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

Ę.

1-4-4

## Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00067

## EXHIBIT 3.2(c) -- VALUATION OF CERTAIN QUALIFIED FINANCIAL CONTRACTS

#### A. <u>Scope</u>

)

Э

1

)

)

 $\hat{I}$ 

>

Interest Rate Contracts - All interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, interest rate futures, caps, collars and floors, whether purchased or written.

Option Contracts - All put and call option contracts, whether purchased or written, on marketable securities, financial futures, foreign currencies, foreign exchange or foreign exchange futures contracts.

Foreign Exchange Contracts - All contracts for future purchase or sale of foreign currencies, foreign currency or cross currency swap contracts, or foreign exchange futures contracts.

#### B. <u>Exclusions</u>

All financial contracts used to hedge assets and liabilities that are acquired by the Assuming Bank but are not subject to adjustment from Book Value.

#### C. Adjustment

The difference between the Book Value and market value as of Bank Closing.

#### D. <u>Methodology</u>

- 1. The price at which the Assuming Bank sells or disposes of Qualified Financial Contracts will be deemed to be the fair market value of such contracts, if such sale or disposition occurs at prevailing market rates within a predefined timetable as agreed upon by the Assuming Bank and the Receiver.
- 2. In valuing all other Qualified Financial Contracts, the following principles will apply:
  - (i) All known cash flows under swaps or forward exchange contracts shall be present valued to the swap zero coupon interest rate curve.
  - (ii) All valuations shall employ prices and interest rates based on the actual frequency of rate reset or payment.
  - (iii) Each tranche of amortizing contracts shall be separately valued. The total value of such amortizing contract shall be the sum of the values of its component tranches.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:46 PM 42

- (iv) For regularly traded contracts, valuations shall be at the midpoint of the bid and ask prices quoted by customary sources (e.g., <u>The Wall Street</u> <u>Journal</u>, Telerate, Reuters or other similar source) or regularly traded exchanges.
- (v) For all other Qualified Financial Contracts where published market quotes are unavailable, the adjusted price shall be the average of the bid and ask price quotes from three (3) securities dealers acceptable to the Receiver and Assuming Bank as of Bank Closing. If quotes from securities dealers cannot be obtained, an appraiser acceptable to the Receiver and the Assuming Bank will perform a valuation based on modeling, correlation analysis, interpolation or other techniques, as appropriate.

<sup>r</sup>ri

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada - )

3

1

( ]

1

Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00069

hautsed 1/213

## PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

#### WHOLE BANK

#### AMONG

#### FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, RECEIVER OF WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK, HENDERSON, NEVADA

## FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

and

#### DATED AS OF

\_\_\_\_\_, 2008

ATTENTION PROSPECTIVE ACQUIRERS: Certain words, clauses and Sections within bold brackets and which may be accompanied by "[NOTE TO ACQUIRER]" in this form Agreement are alternative provisions which will be included, stricken or modified in the final agreement to conform to the transaction consummated.

()

3

3

)

)

)

)

#### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

| ARTICLE I   | DEFINITIONS5                                      | () |
|-------------|---|----|
| ARTICLE II  | ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES11                       |    |
| 2.1         | Liabilities Assumed by Assuming Bank11            |    |
| 2.2         | Interest on Deposit Liabilities11                 | ġ. |
| 2.3         | Unclaimed Deposits11                              |    |
| 2.4         | Omitted Error! Bookmark not defined.              |    |
| 2.5         | Borrower Claims                                   |    |
| ARTICLE III | PURCHASE OF ASSETS12                              | (I |
| 3.1         | Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank                 |    |
| 3.2         | Asset Purchase Price                              |    |
| 3.3         | Manner of Conveyance; Limited Warranty;           |    |
|             | Nonrecourse; Etc13                                | 1  |
| 3.4         | Puts of Assets to the Receiver                    |    |
| 3.5         | Assets Not Purchased by Assuming Bank14           |    |
| 3.6         | Assets Essential to Receiver15                    | •  |
| ARTICLE IV  | ASSUMPTION OF CERTAIN DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS16    | ų  |
| 4.1         | Continuation of Banking Business16                |    |
| 4.2         | Agreement with Respect to Credit Card Business16  |    |
| 4.3         | Agreement with Respect to Safe Deposit Business16 |    |
| 4.4         | Agreement with Respect to Safekeeping Business17  |    |
| 4.5         | Agreement with Respect to Trust Business17        | á  |
| 4.6         | Agreement with Respect to Bank Premises           |    |
| 4.7         | Agreement with Respect to Leased Data             |    |
|             | Processing Equipment                              |    |
| 4.8         | Agreement with Respect to Certain                 |    |
|             | Existing Agreements                               | Ç  |
| 4.9         | Informational Tax Reporting20                     |    |
| 4.10        | Insurance   |    |
| 4.11        | Office Space for Receiver and Corporation         |    |
| 4.12        | Omitted   |    |
| 4.13        | Omitted Error! Bookmark not defined.              | (  |
|             |   | (  |

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM

1

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

.)

ŧ

Confidential

.

()

3

3

)

)

Э

)

Ì

>

•

| DUTIES WITH RESPECT TO DEPOSITORS<br>OF THE FAILED BANK | 21                 |
|---|--------------------|
| Payment of Checks, Drafts and Orders                    | 21                 |
| Certain Agreements Related to Deposits                  |                    |
| Notice to Depositors                                    |                    |
| RECORDS   | 22                 |
| Transfer of Records                                     |                    |
| Delivery of Assigned Records                            |                    |
| Preservation of Records                                 | 23                 |
| Access to Records; Copies                               | 23                 |
| BID; INITIAL PAYMENT                                    |                    |
| PROFORMA  | 24                 |
| CONTINUING COOPERATION                                  | 24                 |
| General Matters   | 24                 |
| Additional Title Documents                              | 24<br>24           |
| Claims and Suits  |                    |
| Payment of Deposits                                     | 24<br>25           |
| Withheld Payments                                       | 23<br>25           |
| Proceedings with Respect to Certain Assets              |                    |
| Information   | 25                 |
| CONDITION PRECEDENT                                     | 26                 |
| REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE                   |                    |
|   |                    |
| INDEMNIFICATION   |                    |
| Indemnification of Indemnitees                          | 28                 |
| Conditions Precedent to Indemnification                 | 31                 |
| No Additional Warranty                                  | 31                 |
| Indemnification of Corporation and Receiver             | 32                 |
| Obligations Supplemental                                | 32                 |
|   |                    |
| Criminal Claims   | 27                 |
| Criminal Claims<br>Limited Guaranty of the Corporation  |                    |
|   | OF THE FAILED BANK |

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 2

| ARTICLE XIII | MISCELLANEOUS               |  |
|--------------|-----------------------------|--|
| 13.1         | Entire Agreement            |  |
| 13.2         | Headings                    |  |
| 13.3         | Counterparts                |  |
| 13.4         | Governing Law               |  |
| 13.5         | Successors                  |  |
| 13.6         | Modification; Assignment    |  |
| 13.7         | Notice                      |  |
| 13.8         | Manner of Payment           |  |
| 13.9         | Costs, Fees and Expenses    |  |
| 13.10        | Waiver                      |  |
| 13.11        | Severability                |  |
| 13.12        | Term of Agreement           |  |
| 13.13        | Survival of Covenants, Etc. |  |

# SCHEDULES

| 2.1 | Certain Liabilities Not Assumed    | Error! Bookmark not defined. |
|-----|------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| 3.1 | Certain Assets Purchased           |                              |
| 3.2 | Purchase Price of Assets or Assets |                              |
| 3.5 | Certain Assets Not Purchased       | Error! Bookmark not defined. |
|     |                                    |                              |

# EXHIBIT

| 3.2(c) | Valuation of Certain Qualified Financial Contracts | 43 |
|--------|--|----|
|--------|--|----|

3

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

3

6. Abi

đ

-

Ç

a

P.

ł,

,

.

.

JPMCD\_000001550.00073

Confidential

# PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

# WHOLE BANK

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of the \_\_\_\_\_\_day of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2008, by and among the FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, RECEIVER of WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK, HENDERSON, NEVADA (the "Receiver"), [Assuming Bank]\_\_\_\_\_, organized under the laws of \_\_[the United States of America] [State]\_, and having its principal place of business in [City]\_, [State]\_ (the "Assuming Bank"), and the FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, organized under the laws of the United States of America and having its principal office in Washington, D.C., acting in its corporate capacity (the "Corporation").

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, on Bank Closing, the Chartering Authority closed Washington Mutual Bank (the "Failed Bank") pursuant to applicable law and the Corporation was appointed Receiver thereof; and

WHEREAS, the Assuming Bank desires to purchase substantially all of the assets and assume all deposit and substantially all other liabilities of the Failed Bank on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to 12 U.S.C. Section 1823(c)(2)(A), the Corporation may provide assistance to the Assuming Bank to facilitate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, which assistance may include indemnification pursuant to Article XII; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the "Board") has determined to provide assistance to the Assuming Bank on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined pursuant to 12 U.S.C. Section 1823(c)(4)(A) that such assistance is necessary to meet the obligation of the Corporation to provide insurance coverage for the insured deposits in the Failed Bank and is the least costly to the deposit insurance fund of all possible methods for meeting such obligation.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises herein set forth and other valuable consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 4

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

 $\odot$ 

Э

)

3

)

1

#### ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

Capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in this Article I, or elsewhere in this Agreement. As used herein, words imparting the singular include the plural and vice versa.

"<u>Accounting Records</u>" means the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers and supporting schedules which support the general ledger balances.

"<u>Acquired Subsidiaries</u>" means Subsidiaries of the Failed Bank acquired pursuant to Section 3.1.

"<u>Adversely Classified</u>" means, with respect to any Loan or security, a Loan or security which has been designated in the most recent report of examination as "Substandard," "Doubtful" or "Loss" by the Failed Bank's appropriate Federal or State Chartering Authority or regulator.

"<u>Affiliate</u>" of any Person means any director, officer, or employee of that Person and any other Person (i) who is directly or indirectly controlling, or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such Person, or (ii) who is an affiliate of such Person as the term "affiliate" is defined in Section 2 of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, 12 U.S.C. Section 1841.

"<u>Agreement</u>" means this Purchase and Assumption Agreement by and among the Assuming Bank, the Corporation and the Receiver, as amended or otherwise modified from time to time.

"<u>Assets</u>" means all assets of the Failed Bank purchased pursuant to Section 3.1. Assets owned by Subsidiaries of the Failed Bank are not "Assets" within the meaning of this definition.

"Assumed Deposits" means Deposits.

"<u>Bank Closing</u>" means the close of business of the Failed Bank on the date on which the Chartering Authority closed such institution.

"<u>Bank Premises</u>" means the banking houses, drive-in banking facilities, and teller facilities (staffed or automated) together with appurtenant parking, storage and service facilities and structures connecting remote facilities to banking houses, and land on which the foregoing are located, that are owned or leased by the Failed Bank and that are occupied by the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing.

"Bid Amount" has the meaning provided in Article VII.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 5

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

11

(

4

ð

6

ţ

ć

"Book Value" means, with respect to any Asset and any Liability Assumed, the dollar amount thereof stated on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank. The Book Value of any item shall be determined as of Bank Closing after adjustments made by the Assuming Bank for normal operational and timing differences in accounts, suspense items, unposted debits and credits, and other similar adjustments or corrections and for setoffs, whether voluntary or involuntary. The Book Value of a Subsidiary of the Failed Bank acquired by the Assuming Bank shall be determined from the investment in subsidiary and related accounts on the "bank only" (unconsolidated) balance sheet of the Failed Bank based on the equity method of accounting. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) the Book Value of a Liability Assumed shall include all accrued and unpaid interest thereon as of Bank Closing, and (ii) the Book Value of a Loan shall reflect adjustments for earned interest, or unearned interest (as it relates to the "rule of 78s" or add-on-interest loans, as applicable), if any, as of Bank Closing, adjustments for the portion of earned or unearned loan-related credit life and/or disability insurance premiums, if any, attributable to the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, and adjustments for Failed Bank Advances, if any, in each case as determined for financial reporting purposes. The Book Value of an Asset shall not include any adjustment for loan premiums, discounts or any related deferred income or fees, or general or specific reserves on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank.

"<u>Business Day</u>" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, Federal legal holiday or legal holiday under the laws of the State where the Failed Bank is located, or a day on which the principal office of the Corporation is closed.

"<u>Chartering Authority</u>" means (i) with respect to a national bank, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, (ii) with respect to a Federal savings association or savings bank, the Office of Thrift Supervision, (iii) with respect to a bank or savings institution chartered by a State, the agency of such State charged with primary responsibility for regulating and/or closing banks or savings institutions, as the case may be, (iv) the Corporation in accordance with 12 U.S.C. Section 1821(c), with regard to self appointment, or (v) the appropriate Federal banking agency in accordance with 12 U.S.C. 1821(c)(9).

"<u>Commitment</u>" means the unfunded portion of a line of credit or other commitment reflected on the books and records of the Failed Bank to make an extension of credit (or additional advances with respect to a Loan) that was legally binding on the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, other than extensions of credit pursuant to the credit card business and overdraft protection plans of the Failed Bank, if any.

"<u>Credit Documents</u>" mean the agreements, instruments, certificates or other documents at any time evidencing or otherwise relating to, governing or executed in connection with or as security for, a Loan, including without limitation notes, bonds, loan agreements, letter of credit applications, lease financing contracts, banker's acceptances, drafts, interest protection agreements, currency exchange agreements, repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agreements, guarantees, deeds of trust, mortgages, assignments, security agreements, pledges, subordination or priority agreements, lien priority agreements, undertakings, security instruments, certificates, documents, legal opinions, participation agreements and intercreditor

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 6

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

 $\mathbf{O}$ 

0

)

Э

Э

)

3

agreements, and all amendments, modifications, renewals, extensions, rearrangements, and substitutions with respect to any of the foregoing.

"<u>Credit File</u>" means all Credit Documents and all other credit, collateral, or insurance documents in the possession or custody of the Assuming Bank, or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates, relating to an Asset or a Loan included in a Put Notice, or copies of any thereof.

"Data Processing Lease" means any lease or licensing agreement, binding on the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, the subject of which is data processing equipment or computer hardware or software used in connection with data processing activities. A lease or licensing agreement for computer software used in connection with data processing activities shall constitute a Data Processing Lease regardless of whether such lease or licensing agreement also covers data processing equipment.

"Deposit" means a deposit as defined in 12 U.S.C. Section 1813(1), including without limitation, outstanding cashier's checks and other official checks and all uncollected items included in the depositors' balances and credited on the books and records of the Failed Bank; provided, that the term "Deposit" shall not include all or any portion of those deposit balances which, in the discretion of the Receiver or the Corporation, (i) may be required to satisfy it for any liquidated or contingent liability of any depositor arising from an unauthorized or unlawful transaction, or (ii) may be needed to provide payment of any liability of any depositor as a director or officer of the Failed Bank, whether or not the amount of the liability is or can be determined as of Bank Closing.

"<u>Failed Bank Advances</u>" means the total sums paid by the Failed Bank to (i) protect its lien position, (ii) pay ad valorem taxes and hazard insurance, and (iii) pay credit life insurance, accident and health insurance, and vendor's single interest insurance.

"<u>Fixtures</u>" means those leasehold improvements, additions, alterations and installations constituting all or a part of Bank Premises and which were acquired, added, built, installed or purchased at the expense of the Failed Bank, regardless of the holder of legal title thereto as of Bank Closing.

"<u>Furniture and Equipment</u>" means the furniture and equipment (other than leased data processing equipment, including hardware and software), leased or owned by the Failed Bank and reflected on the books of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, including without limitation automated teller machines, carpeting, furniture, office machinery (including personal computers), shelving, office supplies, telephone, surveillance and security systems, and artwork.

"Indemnitees" means, except as provided in paragraph (11) of Section 12.1(b), (i) the Assuming Bank, (ii) the Subsidiaries and Affiliates of the Assuming Bank <u>other than</u> any Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Failed Bank that are or become Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Assuming Bank, and (iii) the directors, officers, employees and agents of the Assuming Bank

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 7

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

1

Į.

1

á

ť

Confidential

**JPMCD\_000001550.00077** 

and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates who are <u>not</u> also present or former directors, officers, employees or agents of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank.

"Initial Payment" means the payment made pursuant to Article VII, the amount of which shall be either (i) if the Bid Amount is positive, the Bid Amount plus the Required Payment or (ii) if the Bid Amount is negative, the Required Payment minus the Bid Amount. The Initial Payment shall be payable by the Corporation to the Assuming Bank if the Initial Payment is a negative amount. The Initial Payment shall be payable by the Assuming Bank to the Corporation if the Initial Payment is positive.

"Legal Balance" means the amount of indebtedness legally owed by an Obligor with respect to a Loan, including principal and accrued and unpaid interest, late fees, attorneys' fees and expenses, taxes, insurance premiums, and similar charges, if any.

"Liabilities Assumed" has the meaning provided in Section 2.1.

"Lien" means any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, assignment for security purposes, security interest, or encumbrance of any kind with respect to an Asset, including any conditional sale agreement or capital lease or other title retention agreement relating to such Asset.

"Loans" means all of the following owed to or held by the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing:

(i) loans (including loans which have been charged off the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank in whole or in part prior to Bank Closing), participation agreements, interests in participations, overdrafts of customers (including but not limited to overdrafts made pursuant to an overdraft protection plan or similar extensions of credit in connection with a deposit account), revolving commercial lines of credit, home equity lines of credit, Commitments, United States and/or State-guaranteed student loans, and lease financing contracts;

(ii) all Liens, rights (including rights of set-off), remedies, powers, privileges, demands, claims, priorities, equities and benefits owned or held by, or accruing or to accrue to or for the benefit of, the holder of the obligations or instruments referred to in clause (i) above, including but not limited to those arising under or based upon Credit Documents, casualty insurance policies and binders, standby letters of credit, mortgagee title insurance policies and binders, payment bonds and performance bonds at any time and from time to time existing with respect to any of the obligations or instruments referred to in clause (i) above; and

(iii) all amendments, modifications, renewals, extensions, refinancings, and refundings of or for any of the foregoing;

provided, that there shall be excluded from the definition of "Loans" amounts owing under Qualified Financial Contracts.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 8

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

0

0

3

Э

7

)

"<u>Obligor</u>" means each Person liable for the full or partial payment or performance of any Loan, whether such Person is obligated directly, indirectly, primarily, secondarily, jointly, or severally.

"Other Real Estate" means all interests in real estate (other than Bank Premises and Fixtures), including but not limited to mineral rights, leasehold rights, condominium and cooperative interests, air rights and development rights that are owned by the Failed Bank.

"Payment Date" means the first Business Day after Bank Closing.

"<u>Person</u>" means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof, excluding the Corporation.

"<u>Primary Indemnitor</u>" means any Person (other than the Assuming Bank or any of its Affiliates) who is obligated to indemnify or insure, or otherwise make payments (including payments on account of claims made against) to or on behalf of any Person in connection with the claims covered under Article XII, including without limitation any insurer issuing any directors and officers liability policy or any Person issuing a financial institution bond or banker's blanket bond.

<u>"Proforma"</u> means producing a balance sheet that reflects a reasonably accurate financial statement of the Failed Bank through the date of closing. The Proforma financial statements serve as a basis for the opening entries of both the Assuming Bank and the Receiver.

"Put Date" has the meaning provided in Section 3.4.

"Put Notice" has the meaning provided in Section 3.4.

"<u>Qualified Financial Contract</u>" means a qualified financial contract as defined in 12 U.S.C. Section 1821(e)(8)(D).

"<u>Record</u>" means any document, microfiche, microfilm and computer records (including but not limited to magnetic tape, disc storage, card forms and printed copy) of the Failed Bank generated or maintained by the Failed Bank that is owned by or in the possession of the Receiver at Bank Closing.

"<u>Related Liability</u>" with respect to any Asset means any liability existing and reflected on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing for (i) indebtedness secured by mortgages, deeds of trust, chattel mortgages, security interests or other liens on or affecting such Asset, (ii) ad valorem taxes applicable to such Asset, and (iii) any other obligation determined by the Receiver to be directly related to such Asset.

"<u>Related Liability Amount</u>" with respect to any Related Liability on the books of the Assuming Bank, means the amount of such Related Liability as stated on the Accounting Records of the Assuming Bank (as maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 9

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada )

.)

]

ſ

Ģ

Ć

Ċ

ſ

ć.

principles) as of the date as of which the Related Liability Amount is being determined. With respect to a liability that relates to more than one asset, the amount of such Related Liability shall be allocated among such assets for the purpose of determining the Related Liability Amount with respect to any one of such assets. Such allocation shall be made by specific allocation, where determinable, and otherwise shall be pro rata based upon the dollar amount of such assets stated on the Accounting Records of the entity that owns such asset.

"Required Payment" means \$\_\_\_\_\_

"<u>Repurchase Price</u>" means with respect to any Asset or asset, which shall be determined by the Receiver, the <u>lesser</u> of (a) or (b):

(a) (i) in the event of a negative Bid Amount, the amount paid by the Assuming Bank, discounted by a percentage equal to the quotient produced by dividing the Assuming Bank's Bid Amount by the aggregate Book Value of the Risk Assets of the Failed Bank;

(ii) in the event of a negative Bid Amount, the amount resulting from (a)(i), above, or in the event of a positive Bid Amount, the amount paid by the Assuming Bank, (x) for a Loan, shall be decreased by any portion of the Loan classified "loss" and by one-half of any portion of the Loan classified "doubtful" as of the date of Bank Closing, and (y) for any Asset or asset, including a Loan, decreased by the amount of any money received with respect thereto since Bank Closing and, if the Asset is a Loan or other interest bearing or earning asset, the resulting amount shall then be increased or decreased, as the case may be, by interest or discount (whichever is applicable) accrued from and after Bank Closing at the lower of: (i) the contract rate with respect to such Asset, or (ii) the Settlement Interest Rate; net proceeds received by or due to the Assuming Bank from the sale of collateral, any forgiveness of debt, or otherwise shall be deemed money received by the Assuming Bank; or

(b) the dollar amount thereof stated on the Accounting Records of the Assuming Bank as of the date as of which the Repurchase Price is being determined, as maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and, if the asset is a Loan, regardless of the Legal Balance thereof and adjusted in the same manner as the Book Value of a Failed Bank Loan would be adjusted hereunder.

Provided, however, (b), above, shall not be applicable and the Bid Amount shall be considered to have been positive for Loans repurchased pursuant to Section 3.4(a).

"<u>Risk Assets</u>" means (i) all Loans purchased hereunder, excluding (a) New Loans and (b) Loans to the extent secured by Assumed Deposits (and not included in (i)(a)), plus (ii) the Accrued Interest Receivable, Prepaid Expense, and Other Assets.

"<u>Safe Deposit Boxes</u>" means the safe deposit boxes of the Failed Bank, if any, including the removable safe deposit boxes and safe deposit stacks in the Failed Bank's vault(s), all rights and benefits (other than fees collected prior to Bank Closing) under rental agreements with respect to such safe deposit boxes, and all keys and combinations thereto.

Whole P & A 991022 . September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 10

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

()

 $^{\circ}$ 

Э

Э

)

"<u>Settlement Date</u>" means the first Business Day immediately prior to the day which is one hundred eighty (180) days after Bank Closing, or such other date prior thereto as may be agreed upon by the Receiver and the Assuming Bank. The Receiver, in its discretion, may extend the Settlement Date.

"<u>Settlement Interest Rate</u>" means, for the first calendar quarter or portion thereof during which interest accrues, the rate determined by the Receiver to be equal to the equivalent coupon issue yield on twenty-six (26)-week United States Treasury Bills in effect as of Bank Closing as published in <u>The Wall Street Journal</u>; provided, that if no such equivalent coupon issue yield is available as of Bank Closing, the equivalent coupon issue yield for such Treasury Bills most recently published in <u>The Wall Street Journal</u> prior to Bank Closing shall be used. Thereafter, the rate shall be adjusted to the rate determined by the Receiver to be equal to the equivalent coupon issue yield on such Treasury Bills in effect as of the first day of each succeeding calendar quarter during which interest accrues as published in <u>The Wall Street</u> <u>Journal</u>.

"Subsidiary" has the meaning set forth in Section 3(w)(4) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. Section 1813(w)(4), as amended.

#### ARTICLE II ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES

2.1 <u>Liabilities Assumed by Assuming Bank</u>. Subject to Sections 2.5 and 4.8, the Assuming Bank expressly assumes at Book Value (subject to adjustment pursuant to Article VIII) and agrees to pay, perform, and discharge, all of the liabilities of the Failed Bank which are reflected on the Books and Records of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, including the Assumed Deposits and all liabilities associated with any and all employee benefit plans, except as listed on the attached Schedule 2.1, and as otherwise provided in this Agreement (such liabilities referred to as "Liabilities Assumed"). Notwithstanding Section 4.8, the Assuming Bank specifically assumes all mortgage servicing rights and obligations of the Failed Bank.

2.2 Interest on Deposit Liabilities. The Assuming Bank agrees that, from and after Bank Closing, it will accrue and pay interest on Deposit liabilities assumed pursuant to Section 2.1 at the same rate(s) and on the same terms as agreed to by the Failed Bank as existed as of Bank Closing. If such Deposit has been pledged to secure an obligation of the depositor or other party, any withdrawal thereof shall be subject to the terms of the agreement governing such pledge.

2.3 <u>Unclaimed Deposits</u>. If, within eighteen (18) months after Bank Closing, any depositor of the Failed Bank does not claim or arrange to continue such depositor's Deposit assumed pursuant to Section 2.1 at the Assuming Bank, the Assuming Bank shall, within fifteen (15) Business Days after the end of such eighteen (18)-month period, (i) refund to the Corporation the full amount of each such Deposit (without reduction for service charges), (ii) provide to the Corporation an electronic schedule of all such refunded Deposits in such form as may be prescribed by the Corporation, and (iii) assign, transfer, convey and deliver to the

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 11

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada : ]

1

1

G

Q

· @

¢

Ç

(

Receiver all right, title and interest of the Assuming Bank in and to Records previously transferred to the Assuming Bank and other records generated or maintained by the Assuming Bank pertaining to such Deposits. During such eighteen (18)-month period, at the request of the Corporation, the Assuming Bank promptly shall provide to the Corporation schedules of unclaimed deposits in such form as may be prescribed by the Corporation.

#### 2.4 <u>Omitted</u>.

.)

Э

9

``)

)

)

)

2.5 Borrower Claims. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any liability associated with borrower claims for payment of or liability to any borrower for monetary relief, or that provide for any other form of relief to any borrower, whether or not such liability is reduced to judgment, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed or undisputed, legal or equitable, judicial or extra-judicial, secured or unsecured, whether asserted affirmatively or defensively, related in any way to any loan or commitment to lend made by the Failed Bank prior to failure, or to any loan made by a third party in connection with a loan which is or was held by the Failed Bank, or otherwise arising in connection with the Failed Bank's lending or loan purchase activities are specifically not assumed by the Assuming Bank.

# ARTICLE III PURCHASE OF ASSETS

3.1 Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank. Subject to Sections 3.5, 3.6 and 4.8, the Assuming Bank hereby purchases from the Receiver, and the Receiver hereby sells, assigns, transfers, conveys, and delivers to the Assuming Bank, all right, title, and interest of the Receiver in and to all of the assets (real, personal and mixed, wherever located and however acquired) including all subsidiaries, joint ventures, partnerships, and any and all other business combinations or arrangements, whether active, inactive, dissolved or terminated, of the Failed Bank whether or not reflected on the books of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, as set forth in Schedules 3.1 and 3.1a attached hereto and incorporated herein. Schedule 3.1 sets forth certain categories of Assets. Such schedule is based upon the best information available to the Receiver and may be adjusted as provided in Article VIII. Assets are purchased hereunder by the Assuming Bank subject to all liabilities for indebtedness collateralized by Liens affecting such Assets to the extent provided in Section 2.1. The subsidiaries, joint ventures, partnerships, and any and all other business combinations or arrangements, whether active, inactive, dissolved or terminated being purchased by the Assuming Bank includes, but is not limited to, the entities listed on Schedule 3.1a. Notwithstanding Section 4.8, the Assuming Bank specifically purchases all mortgage servicing rights and obligations of the Failed Bank.

# 3.2 Asset Purchase Price.

(a) All Assets and assets of the Failed Bank subject to an option to purchase by the Assuming Bank shall be purchased for the amount, or the amount resulting from the method specified for determining the amount, as specified on Schedule 3.2, except as otherwise may be provided herein. Any Asset, asset of the Failed Bank subject to an option to purchase or other

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 12

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson; Nevada asset purchased for which no purchase price is specified on Schedule 3.2 or otherwise herein shall be purchased at its Book Value. Loans or other assets charged off the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank prior to the date of Bank Closing shall be purchased at a price of zero.

(b) The purchase price for securities (other than the capital stock of any Acquired Subsidiary) purchased under Section 3.1 by the Assuming Bank shall be the market value thereof as of Bank Closing, which market value shall be (i) the "Mid/Last", or "Trade" (as applicable), market price for each such security quoted at the close of the trading day effective on Bank Closing as published electronically by <u>Bloomberg, L.P.</u>; (ii) <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> if such market price is not available for any such security, the Assuming Bank will submit a bid for each such security within three days of notification/bid request by the Receiver (unless a different time period is agreed to by the Assuming Bank and the Receiver) and the Receiver, in its sole discretion will accept or reject each such bid; and (iii) <u>further provided</u> in the absence of an acceptable bid from the Assuming Bank, each such security shall not pass to the Assuming Bank and shall be deemed to be an excluded asset hereunder.

(c) Qualified Financial Contracts shall be purchased at market value determined in accordance with the terms of Exhibit 3.2(c). Any costs associated with such valuation shall be shared equally by the Receiver and the Assuming Bank.

3.3 Manner of Conveyance; Limited Warranty; Nonrecourse; Etc. THE CONVEYANCE OF ALL ASSETS, INCLUDING REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY INTERESTS, PURCHASED BY THE ASSUMING BANK UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE MADE, AS NECESSARY, BY RECEIVER'S DEED OR RECEIVER'S BILL OF SALE, "AS IS", "WHERE IS", WITHOUT RECOURSE AND, EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, WITHOUT ANY WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER WITH RESPECT TO SUCH ASSETS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO TITLE, ENFORCEABILITY, COLLECTIBILITY, DOCUMENTATION OR FREEDOM FROM LIENS OR ENCUMBRANCES (IN WHOLE OR IN PART), OR ANY OTHER MATTERS.

#### 3.4 <u>Puts of Assets to the Receiver</u>.

#### (a) <u>Omitted</u>.

(b) <u>Puts Prior to the Settlement Date</u>. During the period from Bank Closing to and including the Business Day immediately preceding the Settlement Date, the Assuming Bank shall be entitled to require the Receiver to purchase any Asset which the Assuming Bank can establish is evidenced by forged or stolen instruments as of Bank Closing. The Assuming Bank shall transfer all such Assets to the Receiver without recourse, and shall indemnify the Receiver against any and all claims of any Person claiming by, through or under the Assuming Bank with respect to any such Asset, as provided in Section 12.4.

(c) <u>Notices to the Receiver</u>. In the event that the Assuming Bank elects to require the Receiver to purchase one or more Assets, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver a notice (a "Put Notice") which shall include:

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 13

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

17

1

i i

(j

Ĝ.

- (i) a list of all Assets that the Assuming Bank requires the Receiver to purchase;
- (ii) a list of all Related Liabilities with respect to the Assets identified pursuant to (i) above; and
- (iii) a statement of the estimated Repurchase Price of each Asset identified pursuant to (i) above as of the applicable Put Date.

Such notice shall be in the form prescribed by the Receiver or such other form to which the Receiver shall consent. As provided in Section 9.6, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver such documents, Credit Files and such additional information relating to the subject matter of the Put Notice as the Receiver may request and shall provide to the Receiver full access to all other relevant books and records.

(d) <u>Purchase by Receiver</u>. The Receiver shall purchase Loans that are specified in the Put Notice and shall assume Related Liabilities with respect to such Loans, and the transfer of such Loans and Related Liabilities shall be effective as of a date determined by the Receiver which date shall not be later than thirty (30) days after receipt by the Receiver of the Credit Files with respect to such Loans (the "Put Date").

(e) <u>Purchase Price and Payment Date</u>. Each Loan purchased by the Receiver pursuant to this Section 3.4 shall be purchased at a price equal to the Repurchase Price of such Loan less the Related Liability Amount applicable to such Loan, in each case determined as of the applicable Put Date. If the difference between such Repurchase Price and such Related Liability Amount is positive, then the Receiver shall pay to the Assuming Bank the amount of such difference; if the difference between such amounts is negative, then the Assuming Bank shall pay to the Receiver the amount of such difference. The Assuming Bank or the Receiver, as the case may be, shall pay the purchase price determined pursuant to this Section 3.4(e) not later than the twentieth (20th) Business Day following the applicable Put Date, together with interest on such amount at the Settlement Interest Rate for the period from and including such Put Date to and including the day preceding the date upon which payment is made.

(f) <u>Servicing</u>. The Assuming Bank shall administer and manage any Asset subject to purchase by the Receiver in accordance with usual and prudent banking standards and business practices until such time as such Asset is purchased by the Receiver.

(g) <u>Reversals</u>. In the event that the Receiver purchases an Asset (and assumes the Related Liability) that it is not required to purchase pursuant to this Section 3.4, the Assuming Bank shall repurchase such Asset (and assume such Related Liability) from the Receiver at a price computed so as to achieve the same economic result as would apply if the Receiver had never purchased such Asset pursuant to this Section 3.4.

3.5 <u>Assets Not Purchased by Assuming Bank</u>. The Assuming Bank does not purchase, acquire or assume, or (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement)

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 14

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

3

0

Э

3

٦

Э

3

obtain an option to purchase, acquire or assume under this Agreement the assets or Assets listed on the attached Schedule 3.5.

#### 3.6 Assets Essential to Receiver.

(a) The Receiver may refuse to sell to the Assuming Bank, or the Assuming Bank agrees, at the request of the Receiver set forth in a written notice to the Assuming Bank, to assign, transfer, convey, and deliver to the Receiver all of the Assuming Bank's right, title and interest in and to, any Asset or asset essential to the Receiver as determined by the Receiver in its discretion (together with all Credit Documents evidencing or pertaining thereto), which may include any Asset or asset that the Receiver determines to be:

- made to an officer, director, or other Person engaging in the affairs of the Failed Bank, its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any related entities of any of the foregoing;
- the subject of any investigation relating to any claim with respect to any item described in Section 3.5(a) or (b), or the subject of, or potentially the subject of, any legal proceedings;
- (iii) made to a Person who is an Obligor on a loan owned by the Receiver or the Corporation in its corporate capacity or its capacity as receiver of any institution;
- (iv) secured by collateral which also secures any asset owned by the Receiver; or
- (v) related to any asset of the Failed Bank not purchased by the Assuming Bank under this Article III or any liability of the Failed Bank not assumed by the Assuming Bank under Article II.

Each such Asset or asset purchased by the Receiver shall be purchased at a price (b) equal to the Repurchase Price thereof less the Related Liability Amount with respect to any Related Liabilities related to such Asset or asset, in each case determined as of the date of the notice provided by the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.6(a). The Receiver shall pay the Assuming Bank not later than the twentieth (20th) Business Day following receipt of related Credit Documents and Credit Files together with interest on such amount at the Settlement Interest Rate for the period from and including the date of receipt of such documents to and including the day preceding the day on which payment is made. The Assuming Bank agrees to administer and manage each such Asset or asset in accordance with usual and prudent banking standards and business practices until each such Asset or asset is purchased by the Receiver. All transfers with respect to Asset or assets under this Section 3.6 shall be made as provided in Section 9.6. The Assuming Bank shall transfer all such Asset or assets and Related Liabilities to the Receiver without recourse, and shall indemnify the Receiver against any and all claims of any Person claiming by, through or under the Assuming Bank with respect to any such Asset or asset, as provided in Section 12.4.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 15

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ]

1

(]

(

C

 $r_{\rm f}$ 

(

# ARTICLE IV ASSUMPTION OF CERTAIN DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS

The Assuming Bank agrees with the Receiver and the Corporation as follows:

4.1 <u>Continuation of Banking Business</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to provide full service banking in the trade area of the Failed Bank commencing on the first banking business day (including a Saturday) after Bank Closing. At the option of the Assuming Bank, such banking services may be provided at any or all of the Bank Premises, or at other premises within such trade area.

4.2 <u>Agreement with Respect to Debit and Credit Card Business</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to honor and perform, from and after Bank Closing, all duties and obligations with respect to the Failed Bank's debit and credit card business, and/or processing related to debit and credit cards, if any, and assumes all outstanding extensions of credit with respect thereto. Fees related to the debit and credit card business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

4.3 <u>Agreement with Respect to Safe Deposit Business</u>. The Assuming Bank assumes and agrees to discharge, from and after Bank Closing, in the usual course of conducting a banking business, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to all Safe Deposit Boxes, if any, of the Failed Bank and to maintain all of the necessary facilities for the use of such boxes by the renters thereof during the period for which such boxes have been rented and the rent therefor paid to the Failed Bank, subject to the provisions of the rental agreements between the Failed Bank and the respective renters of such boxes; provided, that the Assuming Bank may relocate the Safe Deposit Boxes of the Failed Bank to any office of the Assuming Bank located in the trade area of the Failed Bank. Fees related to the safe deposit business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

4.4 <u>Agreement with Respect to Safekeeping Business</u>. The Receiver transfers, conveys and delivers to the Assuming Bank and the Assuming Bank accepts all securities and other items, if any, held by the Failed Bank in safekeeping for its customers as of Bank Closing. The Assuming Bank assumes and agrees to honor and discharge, from and after Bank Closing, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to such securities and items held in safekeeping. The Assuming Bank shall be entitled to all rights and benefits heretofore accrued or hereafter accruing with respect thereto; provided, that, fees related to the safe keeping business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall provide to the Receiver written verification of all assets held by the Failed Bank for safekeeping within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 16

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

0

Э

)

)

)

)

# 4.5 Agreement with Respect to Trust Business.

(a) The Assuming Bank shall, without further transfer, substitution, act or deed, to the full extent permitted by law, succeed to the rights, obligations, properties, assets, investments, deposits, agreements, and trusts of the Failed Bank under trusts, executorships, administrations, guardianships, and agencies, and other fiduciary or representative capacities, all to the same extent as though the Assuming Bank had assumed the same from the Failed Bank prior to Bank Closing; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> any liability based on the misfeasance, malfeasance or nonfeasance of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents with respect to the trust business is not assumed hereunder. Fees related to the trust business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall, to the full extent permitted by law, succeed to, and be entitled to take and execute, the appointment to all executorships, trusteeships, guardianships and other fiduciary or representative capacities to which the Failed Bank is or may be named in wills, whenever probated, or to which the Failed Bank is or may be named or appointed by any other instrument.

(c) In the event additional proceedings of any kind are necessary to accomplish the transfer of such trust business, the Assuming Bank agrees that, at its own expense, it will take whatever action is necessary to accomplish such transfer. The Receiver agrees to use reasonable efforts to assist the Assuming Bank in accomplishing such transfer.

(d) The Assuming Bank shall provide to the Receiver written verification of the assets held in connection with the Failed Bank's trust business within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing.

# 4.6 Agreement with Respect to Bank Premises.

(a) **Option to Lease.** The Receiver hereby grants to the Assuming Bank an exclusive option for the period of ninety (90) days commencing the day after Bank Closing to cause the Receiver to assign to the Assuming Bank any or all leases for leased Bank Premises, if any, which have been continuously occupied by the Assuming Bank from Bank Closing to the date it elects to accept an assignment of the leases with respect thereto to the extent such leases can be assigned; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the exercise of this option with respect to any lease must be as to all premises or other property subject to the lease. If an assignment cannot be made of any such leases, the Receiver may, in its discretion, enter into subleases with the Assuming Bank containing the same terms and conditions provided under such existing leases for such leased Bank Premises or other property. The Assuming Bank shall give notice to the Receiver within the option period of its election to accept or not to accept an assignment of any or all leases (or enter into subleases or new leases in lieu thereof). The Assuming Bank agrees to assume all leases assigned (or enter into subleases in lieu thereof) pursuant to this Section 4.6.

(b) <u>Facilitation</u>. The Receiver agrees to facilitate the assumption, assignment or sublease of leases or the negotiation of new leases by the Assuming Bank; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> neither

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 17

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

÷

6

(ř.

ġ

Ć

Confidential

the Receiver nor the Corporation shall be obligated to engage in litigation, make payments to the Assuming Bank or to any third party in connection with facilitating any such assumption, assignment, sublease or negotiation or commit to any other obligations to third parties.

(c) <u>Occupancy</u>. The Assuming Bank shall give the Receiver fifteen (15) days' prior written notice of its intention to vacate prior to vacating any leased Bank Premises with respect to which the Assuming Bank has not exercised the option provided in Section 4.6(a). Any such notice shall be deemed to terminate the Assuming Bank's option with respect to such leased Bank Premises.

# (d) Occupancy Costs.

()

Э

2

)

)

)

)

(i) The Assuming Bank agrees, during the period of any occupancy by it of leased Bank Premises, to pay to the Receiver, or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver, all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of applicable leases entered into by the Failed Bank, including without limitation the timely payment of all rent, taxes, fees, charges, utilities, insurance and assessments.

(ii) The Assuming Bank agrees during the period of occupancy by it of leased Bank Premises to pay to the Receiver rent for the use of all leased Furniture and Equipment and all owned or leased Fixtures located on such Bank Premises for the period of such occupancy. Rent for such property owned by the Failed Bank shall be the market rental value thereof, as determined by the Receiver within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing. Rent for such leased property shall be an amount equal to any and all rent and other amounts which the Receiver incurs or accrues as an obligation or is obligated to pay for such period of occupancy pursuant to all leases and contracts with respect to such property. If the Assuming Bank purchases any owned Fixtures in accordance with Section 4.6(e), the amount of any rents paid by the Assuming Bank with respect thereto shall be applied as an offset against the purchase price thereof.

(e) <u>Certain Requirements as to Furniture, Equipment and Fixtures</u>. If the Assuming Bank accepts an assignment of the lease (or enters into a sublease or a new lease in lieu thereof) for leased Bank Premises, or if the Assuming Bank does not exercise such option but within twelve (12) months following Bank Closing obtains the right to occupy such premises (whether by assignment, lease, sublease, purchase or otherwise), other than in accordance with Section 4.6(a), the Assuming Bank shall (i) accept an assignment or a sublease of the leases or negotiate new leases for all Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures leased by the Failed Bank and located thereon, and (ii) if applicable, accept an assignment or a sublease of any ground lease or negotiate a new ground lease with respect to any land on which such Bank Premises are located; provided, that the Receiver shall not have disposed of such Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures or repudiated the leases specified in clause (i) or (ii).

(f) <u>Vacating Premises</u>. If the Assuming Bank elects not to accept an assignment of the lease or sublease any leased Bank Premises, the notice of such election in accordance with Section 4.6(a) shall specify the date upon which the Assuming Bank's occupancy of such leased Bank Premises shall terminate, which date shall not be later than the date which is one hundred eighty (180) days after Bank Closing. Upon vacating such premises, the Assuming Bank shall

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 18

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada relinquish and release to the Receiver such premises and the Fixtures located thereon in the same condition as at Bank Closing, normal wear and tear excepted. By failing to provide notice of its intention to vacate such premises prior to the expiration of the option period specified in Section 4.6(a), or by occupying such premises after the one hundred eighty (180)-day period specified above in this paragraph, the Assuming Bank shall, at the Receiver's option, (x) be deemed to have assumed all leases, obligations and liabilities with respect to such premises (including any ground lease with respect to the land on which premises are located), and leased Furniture and Equipment and leased Fixtures located thereon in accordance with this Section 4.6 (unless the Receiver previously repudiated any such lease), and (y) be required to purchase all Fixtures owned by the Failed Bank and located on such premises as of Bank Closing.

#### (g) <u>Omitted</u>.

#### 4.7 Agreement with Respect to Leased Data Processing Equipment

(a) The Receiver hereby grants to the Assuming Bank an exclusive option for the period of ninety (90) days commencing the day after Bank Closing to accept an assignment from the Receiver of any or all Data Processing Leases to the extent that such Data Processing Leases can be assigned.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall (i) give written notice to the Receiver within the option period specified in Section 4.7(a) of its intent to accept an assignment or sublease of any or all Data Processing Leases and promptly accept an assignment or sublease of such Data Processing Leases, and (ii) give written notice to the appropriate lessor(s) that it has accepted an assignment or sublease of any such Data Processing Leases.

(c) The Receiver agrees to facilitate the assignment or sublease of Data Processing Leases or the negotiation of new leases or license agreements by the Assuming Bank; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> neither the Receiver nor the Corporation shall be obligated to engage in litigation or make payments to the Assuming Bank or to any third party in connection with facilitating any such assumption, assignment, sublease or negotiation.

(d) The Assuming Bank agrees, during its period of use of any property subject to a Data Processing Lease, to pay to the Receiver or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of the applicable Data Processing Leases entered into by the Failed Bank, including without limitation the timely payment of all rent, taxes, fees, charges, utilities, insurance and assessments.

(e) The Assuming Bank shall, not later than fifty (50) days after giving the notice provided in Section 4.7(b), (i) relinquish and release to the Receiver all property subject to the relevant Data Processing Lease, in the same condition as at Bank Closing, normal wear and tear excepted, or (ii) accept an assignment or a sublease thereof or negotiate a new lease or license agreement under this Section 4.7.

#### 4.8 Agreement with Respect to Certain Existing Agreements.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 19

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 11-11-1 1

1

3

١į.

£

With respect to agreements existing as of Bank Closing which provide for the rendering of services by or to the Failed Bank, within one hundred twenty (120) days after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank shall give the Receiver written notice specifying whether it elects to assume or not to assume each such agreement. Except as may be otherwise provided in this Article IV, the Assuming Bank agrees to comply with the terms of each such agreement for a period commencing on the day after Bank Closing and ending on: (i) in the case of an agreement that provides for the rendering of services by the Failed Bank, the date which is ninety (90) days after Bank Closing, and (ii) in the case of an agreement that provides for the rendering of services to the Failed Bank, the date which is thirty (30) days after the Assuming Bank has given notice to the Receiver of its election not to assume such agreement; provided, that the Receiver can reasonably make such service agreements available to the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall be deemed by the Receiver to have assumed agreements for which no notification is timely given. The Receiver agrees to assign, transfer, convey, and deliver to the Assuming Bank all right, title and interest of the Receiver, if any, in and to agreements the Assuming Bank assumes hereunder. In the event the Assuming Bank elects not to accept an assignment of any lease (or sublease) or negotiate a new lease for leased Bank Premises under Section 4.6 and does not otherwise occupy such premises, the provisions of this Section 4.8(a) shall not apply to service agreements related to such premises. The Assuming Bank agrees, during the period it has the use or benefit of any such agreement, promptly to pay to the Receiver or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of such agreement.

**4.9** Informational Tax Reporting. The Assuming Bank agrees to perform all obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to Federal and State income tax informational reporting related to (i) the Assets and the Liabilities Assumed, (ii) deposit accounts that were closed and loans that were paid off or collateral obtained with respect thereto prior to Bank Closing, (iii) miscellaneous payments made to vendors of the Failed Bank, and (iv) any other asset or liability of the Failed Bank, including, without limitation, loans not purchased and Deposits not assumed by the Assuming Bank, as may be required by the Receiver.

Under a private letter ruling (PLR) issued to the FDIC in January of 1988, the Internal Revenue Service will allow the Assuming Bank to report for the Failed Bank transactions under its own TIN for the entire year 2008; there is no need to dual-report for different payors in pre- v. post-closing date periods.

The Assuming Bank agrees to prepare on behalf of the Receiver all required Federal and State compliance and income/franchise tax returns for the Failed Bank and acquired subsidiary entities as of Bank Closing. The returns will be provided to the Receiver within the statutorily required filing timeframe.

4.10 Insurance. The Assuming Bank agrees to obtain insurance coverage effective from and after Bank Closing, including public liability, fire and extended coverage insurance acceptable to the Receiver with respect to leased Bank Premises that it occupies, and all leased Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures and leased data processing equipment (including hardware and software) located thereon, in the event such insurance coverage is not already in force and effect with respect to the Assuming Bank as the insured as of Bank Closing. All such

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 20

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

3

Э

)

Э

)

)

)

insurance shall, where appropriate (as determined by the Receiver), name the Receiver as an additional insured.

4.11 Office Space for Receiver and Corporation. For the period commencing on the day following Bank Closing and ending on the one hundred eightieth (180th) day thereafter, the Assuming Bank agrees to provide to the Receiver and the Corporation, without charge, adequate and suitable office space (including parking facilities and vault space), furniture, equipment (including photocopying and telecopying machines) and utilities (including local telephone service and a dedicated broadband or T-1 internet service) at the Bank Premises occupied by the Assuming Bank for their use in the discharge of their respective functions with respect to the Failed Bank. In the event the Receiver and the Corporation may relocate to other quarters having adequate and suitable space and the costs of relocation and any rental and utility costs for the balance of the period of occupancy by the Receiver and the Corporation shall be borne by the Assuming Bank.

# 4.12 <u>Omitted</u>.

4.13 <u>Omitted</u>.

#### ARTICLE V DUTIES WITH RESPECT TO DEPOSITORS OF THE FAILED BANK

5.1 <u>Payment of Checks, Drafts and Orders</u>. Subject to Section 9.5, the Assuming Bank agrees to pay all properly drawn checks, drafts and withdrawal orders of depositors of the Failed Bank presented for payment, whether drawn on the check or draft forms provided by the Failed Bank or by the Assuming Bank, to the extent that the Deposit balances to the credit of the respective makers or drawers assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement are sufficient to permit the payment thereof, and in all other respects to discharge, in the usual course of conducting a banking business, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to the Deposit balances due and owing to the depositors of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement.

5.2 <u>Certain Agreements Related to Deposits</u>. Subject to Section 2.2, the Assuming Bank agrees to honor the terms and conditions of any written escrow or mortgage servicing agreement or other similar agreement relating to a Deposit liability assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement.

# 5.3 <u>Notice to Depositors</u>.

(a) Within seven (7) days after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank shall give (i) notice to depositors of the Failed Bank of its assumption of the Deposit liabilities of the Failed Bank, and (ii) any notice required under Section 2.2, by mailing to each such depositor a notice with respect to such assumption and by advertising in a newspaper of general circulation in the county or counties in which the Failed Bank was located. The Assuming Bank agrees that it will

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 21

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada (

1.14

-

obtain prior approval of all such notices and advertisements from counsel for the Receiver and that such notices and advertisements shall not be mailed or published until such approval is received.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall give notice by mail to depositors of the Failed Bank concerning the procedures to claim their deposits, which notice shall be provided to the Assuming Bank by the Receiver or the Corporation. Such notice shall be included with the notice to depositors to be mailed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to Section 5.3(a).

(c) If the Assuming Bank proposes to charge fees different from those charged by the Failed Bank before it establishes new deposit account relationships with the depositors of the Failed Bank, the Assuming Bank shall give notice by mail of such changed fees to such depositors.

#### ARTICLE VI RECORDS

# 6.1 Transfer of Records.

(a) In accordance with Section 3.1, the Receiver assigns, transfers, conveys and delivers to the Assuming Bank the following Records pertaining to the Deposit liabilities of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement, except as provided in Section 6.4:

- (i) signature cards, orders, contracts between the Failed Bank and its depositors and Records of similar character;
- (ii) passbooks of depositors held by the Failed Bank, deposit slips, cancelled checks and withdrawal orders representing charges to accounts of depositors;

and the following Records pertaining to the Assets:

- (iii) records of deposit balances carried with other banks, bankers or trust companies;
- (iv) Loan and collateral records and Credit Files and other documents;
- (v) deeds, mortgages, abstracts, surveys, and other instruments or records of title pertaining to real estate or real estate mortgages;
- (vi) signature cards, agreements and records pertaining to Safe Deposit Boxes, if any; and
- (vii) records pertaining to the credit card business, trust business or safekeeping business of the Failed Bank, if any.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 22

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

0

0

Э

Э

Э

)

)

)

)

(b) The Receiver, at its option, may assign and transfer to the Assuming Bank by a single blanket assignment or otherwise, as soon as practicable after Bank Closing, any other Records not assigned and transferred to the Assuming Bank as provided in this Agreement, including but not limited to loan disbursement checks, general ledger tickets, official bank checks, proof transactions (including proof tapes) and paid out loan files.

6.2 <u>Delivery of Assigned Records</u>. The Receiver shall deliver to the Assuming Bank all Records described in (i) Section 6.1(a) as soon as practicable on or after the date of this Agreement, and (ii) Section 6.1(b) as soon as practicable after making any assignment described therein.

6.3 <u>Preservation of Records</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees that it will preserve and maintain for the joint benefit of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank, all Records of which it has custody for such period as either the Receiver or the Corporation in its discretion may require, until directed otherwise, <u>in writing</u>, by the Receiver or Corporation. The Assuming Bank shall have the primary responsibility to respond to subpoenas, discovery requests, and other similar official inquiries with respect to the Records of which it has custody.

6.4 <u>Access to Records; Copies</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to permit the Receiver and the Corporation access to all Records of which the Assuming Bank has custody, and to use, inspect, make extracts from or request copies of any such Records in the manner and to the extent requested, and to duplicate, in the discretion of the Receiver or the Corporation, any Record in the form of microfilm or microfiche pertaining to Deposit account relationships; <u>provided, that</u> in the event that the Failed Bank maintained one or more duplicate copies of such microfilm or microfiche Records, the Assuming Bank hereby assigns, transfers, and conveys to the Corporation one such duplicate copy of each such Record without cost to the Corporation, and agrees to deliver to the Corporation all Records assigned and transferred to the Corporation under this Article VI as soon as practicable on or after the date of this Agreement. The party requesting a copy of any Record shall bear the cost (based on standard accepted industry charges to the extent applicable, as determined by the Receiver) for providing such duplicate Records. A copy of each Record requested shall be provided as soon as practicable by the party having custody thereof.

#### ARTICLE VII BID; INITIAL PAYMENT

# [\*\*\*NOTE TO ACQUIRER: The following will be modified to reflect the transaction consummated.]

The Assuming Bank has submitted to the Receiver a [positive] [negative] bid of \$[\_\_\_\_\_] for the Assets purchased and Liabilities Assumed hereunder (the "Bid Amount"). On the Payment Date, the Assuming Bank will pay to the Corporation, or the Corporation will pay to the Assuming Bank, as the case may be, the Initial Payment, together with interest on such amount (if the Payment Date is not the day following the day of Bank

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 23

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 7

Į

1

C

Closing) from and including the day following Bank Closing to and including the day preceding the Payment Date at the Settlement Interest Rate.

#### ARTICLE VIII PROFORMA

The Assuming Bank, as soon as practical after Bank Closing, in accordance with the best information then available, shall provide to the Receiver a Proforma Statement of Condition indicating all assets and liabilities of the Failed Bank as shown on the Failed Bank's books and records as of Bank Closing and reflecting which assets and liabilities are passing to the Assuming Bank and which assets and liabilities are to be retained by the Receiver. In addition, the Assuming Bank is to provide to the Receiver, in a standard data request as defined by the Receiver, an electronic database of all loans, deposits, and subsidiaries and other business combinations owned by the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing. See Schedule 3.1a.

# ARTICLE IX CONTINUING COOPERATION

9.1 <u>General Matters</u>. The parties hereto agree that they will, in good faith and with their best efforts, cooperate with each other to carry out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to effect the purposes hereof.

9.2 Additional Title Documents. The Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank each agree, at any time, and from time to time, upon the request of any party hereto, to execute and deliver such additional instruments and documents of conveyance as shall be reasonably necessary to vest in the appropriate party its full legal or equitable title in and to the property transferred pursuant to this Agreement or to be transferred in accordance herewith. The Assuming Bank shall prepare such instruments and documents of conveyance (in form and substance satisfactory to the Receiver) as shall be necessary to vest title to the Assets in the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall be responsible for recording such instruments and documents of conveyance at its own expense.

# 9.3 Claims and Suits.

(a) The Receiver shall have the right, in its discretion, to (i) defend or settle any claim or suit against the Assuming Bank with respect to which the Receiver has indemnified the Assuming Bank in the same manner and to the same extent as provided in Article XII, and (ii) defend or settle any claim or suit against the Assuming Bank with respect to any Liability Assumed, which claim or suit may result in a loss to the Receiver arising out of or related to this Agreement, or which existed against the Failed Bank on or before Bank Closing. The exercise by

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 24

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

:)

0

0

2

Э

)

Э

)

the Receiver of any rights under this Section 9.3(a) shall not release the Assuming Bank with respect to any of its obligations under this Agreement.

(b) In the event any action at law or in equity shall be instituted by any Person against the Receiver and the Corporation as codefendants with respect to any asset of the Failed Bank retained or acquired pursuant to this Agreement by the Receiver, the Receiver agrees, at the request of the Corporation, to join with the Corporation in a petition to remove the action to the United States District Court for the proper district. The Receiver agrees to institute, with or without joinder of the Corporation as coplaintiff, any action with respect to any such retained or acquired asset or any matter connected therewith whenever notice requiring such action shall be given by the Corporation to the Receiver.

9.4 <u>Payment of Deposits</u>. In the event any depositor does not accept the obligation of the Assuming Bank to pay any Deposit liability of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement and asserts a claim against the Receiver for all or any portion of any such Deposit liability, the Assuming Bank agrees on demand to provide to the Receiver funds sufficient to pay such claim in an amount not in excess of the Deposit liability reflected on the books of the Assuming Bank at the time such claim is made. Upon payment by the Assuming Bank to the Receiver of such amount, the Assuming Bank shall be discharged from any further obligation under this Agreement to pay to any such depositor the amount of such Deposit liability paid to the Receiver.

Withheld Payments. At any time, the Receiver or the Corporation may, in its discretion, determine that all or any portion of any deposit balance assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement does not constitute a "Deposit" (or otherwise, in its discretion, determine that it is the best interest of the Receiver or Corporation to withhold all or any portion of any deposit), and may direct the Assuming Bank to withhold payment of all or any portion of any such deposit balance. Upon such direction, the Assuming Bank agrees to hold such deposit and not to make any payment of such deposit balance to or on behalf of the depositor, or to itself, whether by way of transfer, set-off, or otherwise. The Assuming Bank agrees to maintain the "withheld payment" status of any such deposit balance until directed in writing by the Receiver or the Corporation as to its disposition. At the direction of the Receiver or the Corporation, the Assuming Bank shall return all or any portion of such deposit balance to the Receiver or the Corporation, as appropriate, and thereupon the Assuming Bank shall be discharged from any further liability to such depositor with respect to such returned deposit balance. If such deposit balance has been paid to the depositor prior to a demand for return by the Corporation or the Receiver, and payment of such deposit balance had not been previously withheld pursuant to this Section, the Assuming Bank shall not be obligated to return such deposit balance to the Receiver or the Corporation. The Assuming Bank shall be obligated to reimburse the Corporation or the Receiver, as the case may be, for the amount of any deposit balance or portion thereof paid by the Assuming Bank in contravention of any previous direction to withhold payment of such deposit balance or return such deposit balance the payment of which was withheld pursuant to this Section.

#### 9.6 Proceedings with Respect to Certain Assets and Liabilities.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 25

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ]

1

1

(

(a) In connection with any investigation, proceeding or other matter with respect to any asset or liability of the Failed Bank retained by the Receiver, or any asset of the Failed Bank acquired by the Receiver pursuant to this Agreement, the Assuming Bank shall cooperate to the extent reasonably required by the Receiver.

(b) In addition to its obligations under Section 6.4, the Assuming Bank shall provide representatives of the Receiver access at reasonable times and locations without other limitation or qualification to (i) its directors, officers, employees and agents and those of the Subsidiaries acquired by the Assuming Bank, and (ii) its books and records, the books and records of such Subsidiaries and all Credit Files, and copies thereof. Copies of books, records and Credit Files shall be provided by the Assuming Bank as requested by the Receiver and the costs of duplication thereof shall be borne by the Receiver.

(c) Not later than ten (10) days after the Put Notice pursuant to Section 3.4 or the date of the notice of transfer of any Loan by the Assuming Bank to the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.6, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver such documents with respect to such Loan as the Receiver may request, including without limitation the following: (i) all related Credit Documents (other than certificates, notices and other ancillary documents), (ii) a certificate setting forth the principal amount on the date of the transfer and the amount of interest, fees and other charges then accrued and unpaid thereon, and any restrictions on transfer to which any such Loan is subject, and (iii) all Credit Files, and all documents, microfiche, microfilm and computer records (including but not limited to magnetic tape, disc storage, card forms and printed copy) maintained by, owned by, or in the possession of the Assuming Bank or any Affiliate of the Assuming Bank relating to the transferred Loan.

9.7 Information. The Assuming Bank promptly shall provide to the Corporation such other information, including financial statements and computations, relating to the performance of the provisions of this Agreement as the Corporation or the Receiver may request from time to time, and, at the request of the Receiver, make available employees of the Failed Bank employed or retained by the Assuming Bank to assist in preparation of the pro forma statement pursuant to Section 8.1.

#### ARTICLE X CONDITION PRECEDENT

The obligations of the parties to this Agreement are subject to the Receiver and the Corporation having received at or before Bank Closing evidence reasonably satisfactory to each of any necessary approval, waiver, or other action by any governmental authority, the board of directors of the Assuming Bank, or other third party, with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, the closing of the Failed Bank and the appointment of the Receiver, the chartering of the Assuming Bank, and any agreements, documents, matters or proceedings contemplated hereby or thereby.

# ARTICLE XI REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE ASSUMING BANK

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 26

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

)

Э

)

)

3

3

3

JPMCD\_000001550.00096

The Assuming Bank represents and warrants to the Corporation and the Receiver as follows:

(a) <u>Corporate Existence and Authority</u>. The Assuming Bank (i) is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its Chartering Authority and has full power and authority to own and operate its properties and to conduct its business as now conducted by it, and (ii) has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. The Assuming Bank has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) <u>Third Party Consents</u>. No governmental authority or other third party consents (including but not limited to approvals; licenses, registrations or declarations) are required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Assuming Bank of this Agreement, other than such consents as have been duly obtained and are in full force and effect.

(c) <u>Execution and Enforceability</u>. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Assuming Bank and when this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Corporation and the Receiver, this Agreement will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Assuming Bank, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

# (d) <u>Compliance with Law</u>.

(i) Neither the Assuming Bank nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any statute, regulation, order, decision, judgment or decree of, or any restriction imposed by, the United States of America, any State, municipality or other political subdivision or any agency of any of the foregoing, or any court or other tribunal having jurisdiction over the Assuming Bank or any of its Subsidiaries or any assets of any such Person, or any foreign government or agency thereof having such jurisdiction, with respect to the conduct of the business of the Assuming Bank or of any of its Subsidiaries, or the ownership of the properties of the Assuming Bank or any of its Subsidiaries, which, either individually or in the aggregate with all other such violations, would materially and adversely affect the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Assuming Bank or the ability of the Assuming Bank to perform, satisfy or observe any obligation or condition under this Agreement.

(ii) Neither the execution and delivery nor the performance by the Assuming Bank of this Agreement will result in any violation by the Assuming Bank of, or be in conflict with, any provision of any applicable law or regulation, or any order, writ or decree of any court or governmental authority.

e) <u>Representations Remain True</u>. The Assuming Bank represents and warrants that it has executed and delivered to the Corporation a Purchaser Eligibility Certification and Confidentiality Agreement and that all information provided and representations made by or on behalf of the Assuming Bank in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, but not limited to, the Purchaser Eligibility Certification and

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 27

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

÷

Confidentiality Agreement (which are affirmed and ratified hereby) are and remain true and correct in all material respects and do not fail to state any fact required to make the information contained therein not misleading.

# ARTICLE XII INDEMNIFICATION

12.1 Indemnification of Indemnitees. From and after Bank Closing and subject to the limitations set forth in this Section and Section 12.6 and compliance by the Indemnitees with Section 12.2, the Receiver agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnitees against any and all costs, losses, liabilities, expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred prior to the assumption of defense by the Receiver pursuant to paragraph (d) of Section 12.2, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with claims against any Indemnitee based on liabilities of the Failed Bank that are not assumed by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank for which indemnification is provided hereunder in (a) of this Section 12.1, subject to certain exclusions as provided in (b) of this Section 12.1:

(a)

)

0

Э

)

)

)

3

(1) claims based on the rights of any shareholder or former shareholder as such of (x) the Failed Bank, or (y) any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank;

(2) claims based on the rights of any creditor as such of the Failed Bank, or any creditor as such of any director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank, with respect to any indebtedness or other obligation of the Failed Bank arising prior to Bank Closing;

(3) claims based on the rights of any present or former director, officer, employee or agent as such of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank;

(4) claims based on any action or inaction prior to Bank Closing of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as such, or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, or the directors, officers, employees or agents as such of such Subsidiary or Affiliate;

(5) claims based on any malfeasance, misfeasance or nonfeasance of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents with respect to the trust business of the Failed Bank, if any;

(6) claims based on any failure or alleged failure (not in violation of law) by the Assuming Bank to continue to perform any service or activity previously performed by the Failed Bank which the Assuming Bank is not required to perform pursuant to this Agreement or which arise under any contract to which the Failed Bank was a party which the Assuming Bank elected not to assume in accordance with this Agreement and which neither the Assuming Bank

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 28

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada nor any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank has assumed subsequent to the execution hereof;

(7) claims arising from any action or inaction of any Indemnitee, including for purposes of this Section 12.1(a)(7) the former officers or employees of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank that is taken upon the specific written direction of the Corporation or the Receiver, <u>other than</u> any action or inaction taken in a manner constituting bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct; and

(8) claims based on the rights of any depositor of the Failed Bank whose deposit has been accorded "withheld payment" status and/or returned to the Receiver or Corporation in accordance with Section 9.5 and/or has become an "unclaimed deposit" or has been returned to the Corporation or the Receiver in accordance with Section 2.3;

(b) <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u>, with respect to this Agreement, except for paragraphs (7) and (8) of Section 12.1(a), no indemnification will be provided under this Agreement for any:

(1) judgment or fine against, or any amount paid in settlement (without the written approval of the Receiver) by, any Indemnitee in connection with any action that seeks damages against any Indemnitee (a "counterclaim") arising with respect to any Asset and based on any action or inaction of either the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as such prior to Bank Closing, unless any such judgment, fine or amount paid in settlement exceeds the greater of (i) the Repurchase Price of such Asset, or (ii) the monetary recovery sought on such Asset by the Assuming Bank in the cause of action from which the counterclaim arises; and in such event the Receiver will provide indemnification only in the amount of such excess; and no indemnification will be provided for any costs or expenses other than any costs or expenses (including attorneys' fees) which, in the determination of the Receiver, have been actually and reasonably incurred by such Indemnitee in connection with the defense of any such counterclaim; and it is expressly agreed that the Receiver reserves the right to intervene, in its discretion, on its behalf and/or on behalf of the Receiver, in the defense of any such counterclaim;

(2) claims with respect to any liability or obligation of the Failed Bank that is expressly assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(3) claims with respect to any liability of the Failed Bank to any present or former employee as such of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, which liability is expressly assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(4) claims based on the failure of any Indemnitee to seek recovery of damages from the Receiver for any claims based upon any action or inaction of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as fiduciary, agent or custodian prior to Bank Closing;

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 29

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada . 7

]

100

1

1

6

â.

0

Э

3

)

)

٦

Ŋ

(5) claims based on any violation or alleged violation by any Indemnitee of the antitrust, branching, banking or bank holding company or securities laws of the United States of America or any State thereof;

(6) claims based on the rights of any present or former creditor, customer, or supplier as such of the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(7) claims based on the rights of any present or former shareholder as such of the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank regardless of whether any such present or former shareholder is also a present or former shareholder of the Failed Bank;

(8) claims, if the Receiver determines that the effect of providing such indemnification would be to (i) expand or alter the provisions of any warranty or disclaimer thereof provided in Section 3.3 or any other provision of this Agreement, or (ii) create any warranty not expressly provided under this Agreement;

(9) claims which could have been enforced against any Indemnitee had the Assuming Bank not entered into this Agreement;

(10) claims based on any liability for taxes or fees assessed with respect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including without limitation any subsequent transfer of any Assets or Liabilities Assumed to any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(11) except as expressly provided in this Article XII, claims based on any action or inaction of any Indemnitee, and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to provide indemnification for (i) the Failed Bank, (ii) any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, or (iii) any present or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver, in its discretion, may provide indemnification hereunder for any present or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates who is also or becomes a director, officer, employee or agent of the Assuming Bank or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates;

(12) claims or actions which constitute a breach by the Assuming Bank of the representations and warranties contained in Article XI;

(13) claims arising out of or relating to the condition of or generated by an Asset arising from or relating to the presence, storage or release of any hazardous or toxic substance, or any pollutant or contaminant, or condition of such Asset which violate any applicable Federal, State or local law or regulation concerning environmental protection;

(14) claims based on, related to or arising from any asset, including a loan, acquired or liability assumed by the Assuming Bank, other than pursuant to this Agreement; and

(15) claims based on, related to or arising from any liability specifically not assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to Section 2.5 of this Agreement.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 30

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 12.2 <u>Conditions Precedent to Indemnification</u>. It shall be a condition precedent to the obligation of the Receiver to indemnify any Person pursuant to this Article XII that such Person shall, with respect to any claim made or threatened against such Person for which such Person is or may be entitled to indemnification hereunder:

(a) give written notice to the Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch) of the Corporation in the manner and at the address provided in Section 13.7 of such claim as soon as practicable after such claim is made or threatened; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> notice must be given on or before the date which is six (6) years from the date of this Agreement;

(b) provide to the Receiver such information and cooperation with respect to such claim as the Receiver may reasonably require;

(c) cooperate and take all steps, as the Receiver may reasonably require, to preserve and protect any defense to such claim;

(d) in the event suit is brought with respect to such claim, upon reasonable prior notice, afford to the Receiver the right, which the Receiver may exercise in its sole discretion, to conduct the investigation, control the defense and effect settlement of such claim, including without limitation the right to designate counsel and to control all negotiations, litigation, arbitration, settlements, compromises and appeals of any such claim, all of which shall be at the expense of the Receiver; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver shall have notified the Person claiming indemnification in writing that such claim is a claim with respect to which the Person claiming indemnification is entitled to indemnification under this Article XII;

(e) not incur any costs or expenses in connection with any response or suit with respect to such claim, unless such costs or expenses were incurred upon the written direction of the Receiver; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver shall not be obligated to reimburse the amount of any such costs or expenses unless such costs or expenses were incurred upon the written direction of the Receiver;

(f) not release or settle such claim or make any payment or admission with respect thereto, unless the Receiver consents in writing thereto, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver shall not be obligated to reimburse the amount of any such settlement or payment unless such settlement or payment was effected upon the written direction of the Receiver; and

(g) take reasonable action as the Receiver may request in writing as necessary to preserve, protect or enforce the rights of the indemnified Person against any Primary Indemnitor.

12.3 <u>No Additional Warranty</u>. Nothing in this Article XII shall be construed or deemed to (i) expand or otherwise alter any warranty or disclaimer thereof provided under Section 3.3 or any other provision of this Agreement with respect to, among other matters, the title, value, collectibility, genuineness, enforceability or condition of any (x) Asset, or (y) asset of the Failed Bank purchased by the Assuming Bank subsequent to the execution of this

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 31

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ł

Ĩ

1

Ę

Agreement by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank, or (ii) create any warranty not expressly provided under this Agreement with respect thereto.

12.4 <u>Indemnification of Receiver and Corporation</u>. From and after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Corporation and the Receiver and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents from and against any and all costs, losses, liabilities, expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any of the following:

(a) claims based on any and all liabilities or obligations of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank, whether or not any such liabilities subsequently are sold and/or transferred, other than any claim based upon any action or inaction of any Indemnitee as provided in paragraph (7) or (8) of Section 12.1(a); and

(b) claims based on any act or omission of any Indemnitee (including but not limited to claims of any Person claiming any right or title by or through the Assuming Bank with respect to Assets transferred to the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.4 or 3.6), other than any action or inaction of any Indemnitee as provided in paragraph (7) or (8) of Section 12.1(a).

12.5 <u>Obligations Supplemental</u>. The obligations of the Receiver, and the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, to provide indemnification under this Article XII are to supplement any amount payable by any Primary Indemnitor to the Person indemnified under this Article XII. Consistent with that intent, the Receiver agrees only to make payments pursuant to such indemnification to the extent not payable by a Primary Indemnitor. If the aggregate amount of payments by the Receiver, or the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, and all Primary Indemnitors with respect to any item of indemnification under this Article XII exceeds the amount payable with respect to such item, such Person being indemnified shall notify the Receiver thereof and, upon the request of the Receiver, shall promptly pay to the Receiver, or the Corporation as appropriate, the amount of the Receiver's (or Corporation's) payments to the extent of such excess.

**12.6** <u>Criminal Claims</u>. Notwithstanding any provision of this Article XII to the contrary, in the event that any Person being indemnified under this Article XII shall become involved in any criminal action, suit or proceeding, whether judicial, administrative or investigative, the Receiver shall have no obligation hereunder to indemnify such Person for liability with respect to any criminal act or to the extent any costs or expenses are attributable to the defense against the allegation of any criminal act, unless (i) the Person is successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense against any such action, suit or proceeding, or (ii) such action, suit or proceeding is terminated without the imposition of liability on such Person.

12.7 <u>Limited Guaranty of the Corporation</u>. The Corporation hereby guarantees performance of the Receiver's obligation to indemnify the Assuming Bank as set forth in this Article XII. It is a condition to the Corporation's obligation hereunder that the Assuming Bank shall comply in all respects with the applicable provisions of this Article XII. The Corporation shall be liable hereunder only for such amounts, if any, as the Receiver is obligated to pay under

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 32

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

0

Э

)

3

)

)

)

the terms of this Article XII but shall fail to pay. Except as otherwise provided above in this Section 12.7, nothing in this Article XII is intended or shall be construed to create any liability or obligation on the part of the Corporation, the United States of America or any department or agency thereof under or with respect to this Article XII, or any provision hereof, it being the intention of the parties hereto that the obligations undertaken by the Receiver under this Article XII are the sole and exclusive responsibility of the Receiver and no other Person or entity.

12.8 <u>Subrogation</u>. Upon payment by the Receiver, or the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, to any Indemnitee for any claims indemnified by the Receiver under this Article XII, the Receiver, or the Corporation as appropriate, shall become subrogated to all rights of the Indemnitee against any other Person to the extent of such payment.

#### ARTICLE XIII MISCELLANEOUS

13.1 <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement embodies the entire agreement of the parties hereto in relation to the subject matter herein and supersedes all prior understandings or agreements, oral or written, between the parties.

13.2 <u>Headings</u>. The headings and subheadings of the Table of Contents, Articles and Sections contained in this Agreement, except the terms identified for definition in Article I and elsewhere in this Agreement, are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

13.3 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the duly authorized representative of a different party hereto on separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.

13.4 <u>GOVERNING LAW</u>. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FEDERAL LAW OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, AND IN THE ABSENCE OF CONTROLLING FEDERAL LAW, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE IN WHICH THE MAIN OFFICE OF THE FAILED BANK IS LOCATED.

13.5 <u>Successors</u>. All terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding on the successors and assigns of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, nothing expressed or referred to in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give any Person other than the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to this Agreement or any provisions contained herein, it being the intention of the parties hereto that this Agreement, the obligations and statements of responsibilities hereunder, and all other conditions and provisions hereof are for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank and for the benefit of no other Person.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 33

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 3

-

13.6 <u>Modification; Assignment</u>. No amendment or other modification, rescission, release, or assignment of any part of this Agreement shall be effective except pursuant to a written agreement subscribed by the duly authorized representatives of the parties hereto.

13.7 <u>Notice</u>. Any notice, request, demand, consent, approval or other communication to any party hereto shall be effective when received and shall be given in writing, and delivered in person against receipt therefor, or sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, courier service, telex or facsimile transmission to such party (with copies as indicated below) at its address set forth below or at such other address as it shall hereafter furnish in writing to the other parties. All such notices and other communications shall be deemed given on the date received by the addressee.

# Assuming Bank

• )

3

Э

Э

1

)

1

·

Attention:

with a copy to: \_\_\_\_\_

**Receiver and Corporation** 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Receiver of Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada 1601 Bryan St., Suite 1700 Dallas, Texas 75201

Attention: Deputy Director (DRR-Field Operations Branch)

with copy to: Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch)

# and with respect to notice under Article XII:

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Receiver of Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada 1601 Bryan St., Suite 1700 Dallas, Texas 75201 Attention: Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch)

13.8 <u>Manner of Payment</u>. All payments due under this Agreement shall be in lawful money of the United States of America in immediately available funds as each party hereto may specify to the other parties; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> in the event the Receiver or the Corporation is

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 34

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada obligated to make any payment hereunder in the amount of \$25,000.00 or less, such payment may be made by check.

13.9 <u>Costs, Fees and Expenses</u>. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, each party hereto agrees to pay all costs, fees and expenses which it has incurred in connection with or incidental to the matters contained in this Agreement, including without limitation any fees and disbursements to its accountants and counsel; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Assuming Bank shall pay all fees, costs and expenses (other than attorneys' fees incurred by the Receiver) incurred in connection with the transfer to it of any Assets or Liabilities Assumed hereunder or in accordance herewith.

13.10 <u>Waiver</u>. Each of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank may waive its respective rights, powers or privileges under this Agreement; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> such waiver shall be in writing; <u>and further provided</u>, <u>that</u> no failure or delay on the part of the Receiver, the Corporation or the Assuming Bank to exercise any right, power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor will any single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege by the Receiver, the Corporation, or the Assuming Bank under this Agreement, nor will any such waiver operate or be construed as a future waiver of such right, power or privilege under this Agreement.

13.11 <u>Severability</u>. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid or unenforceable, then, to the extent possible, all of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall be binding upon the parties hereto.

13.12 <u>Term of Agreement</u>. This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until the sixth (6th) anniversary of Bank Closing; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the provisions of Section 6.3 and 6.4 shall survive the expiration of the term of this Agreement. Provided, however, the receivership of the Failed Bank may be terminated prior to the expiration of the term of this Agreement; in such event, the guaranty of the Corporation, as provided in and in accordance with the provisions of Section 12.7 shall be in effect for the remainder of the term. Expiration of the term of this Agreement shall not affect any claim or liability of any party with respect to any (i) amount which is owing at the time of such expiration, regardless of when such amount becomes payable, and (ii) breach of this Agreement occurring prior to such expiration, regardless of when such breach is discovered.

13.13 <u>Survival of Covenants, Etc.</u> The covenants, representations, and warranties in this Agreement shall survive the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder.

[Signature Page Follows]

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 35

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada à

ļ

----

4

ų,

ł,

|          | IN WITNESS WHERE<br>executed by their duly authorize | OF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be d representatives as of the date first above written. |
|----------|--|---|
| D        |  | FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION,<br>RECEIVER OF:  |
| Э        |  | WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK,<br>HENDERSON, NEVADA  |
| 3        |  | BY:<br>NAME:<br>TITLE:  |
| )        |  | FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION   |
|          |  | BY:   |
| )        |  | NAME:   |
|          | Attest:  | TITLE:  |
| <b>)</b> |  | -   |
|          |  | [ASSUMING BANK - INSERT NAME]   |
| 3        |  | BY:   |
|          |  | NAME:   |
| *)<br>2  |  | TITLE:  |
|          | Attest:  |   |
|          |  |   |

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 36

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

# **SCHEDULE 2.1 - Certain Liabilities Not Assumed**

| 1.  | Preferred stock and all non-asset defensive litigation and litigation pending against the Failed Bank related to liabilities retained by the receiver. | ,  |
|-----|--|--|
| 2.  | Subordinated debt.   |  |
| 3.  | Senior debt.   | 1  |
| For | Transaction #1, the only liabilities to be excluded will be # 1 above.   |  |
| For | Transaction #2, the only liabilities to be excluded will be ## 1 and 2 above.  | , and a second sec |
| For | Transaction #3, the only liabilities to be excluded will be ## 1, 2 and 3 above.   |  |

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 37

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ]

1

ę.

Ę

# JPMCD\_000001550.00107

# SCHEDULE 3.1 - Certain Assets Purchased

# SEE ATTACHED LIST

THE LIST(S) ATTACHED TO THIS SCHEDULE (OR SUBSCHEDULE(S)) AND THE INFORMATION THEREIN, IS AS OF BANK CLOSING. IT WILL BE ADJUSTED TO REFLECT THE COMPOSITION AND BOOK VALUE OF THE LOANS AND ASSETS AS OF THE DATE OF BANK CLOSING. THE LIST(S) MAY NOT INCLUDE ALL LOANS AND ASSETS (E.G., CHARGED OFF LOANS). THE LIST(S) MAY BE REPLACED WITH A MORE ACCURATE LIST POST CLOSING.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 38

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

0

Э

Э

Э

3

)

)

7

Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00108

# SCHEDULE 3.1 a – Subsidiary and Other Business Combination Entities Acquired

# SEE ATTACHED LIST

# THE LIST(S) ATTACHED TO THIS SCHEDULE (OR SUBSCHEDULE(S)) AND THE INFORMATION THEREIN, IS AS OF BANK CLOSING.

| Name |  |
|------|--|
|------|--|

TIN

Active/Inactive/Dissolved/Terminated

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 39

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada . .

. i.

1

, ż

: :

3

ŧ

I

Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00109

# SCHEDULE 3.2 - Purchase Price of Assets or assets

| (a) | cash and receivables from depository<br>institutions, including cash items in the<br>process of collection, plus<br>interest thereon: | Book Value   |
|-----|---|--------------|
| (b) | securities (exclusive of the capital stock of Acquired Subsidiaries), plus interest thereon:  | Market Value |
| (c) | federal funds sold and repurchase<br>agreements, if any, including interest<br>thereon:   | Book Value   |
| (d) | Loans:  | Book Value   |
| (e) | Other Real Estate:  | Book Value   |
| (f) | credit card business, if any, including all outstanding extensions of credit:   | Book Value   |
| (g) | Safe Deposit Boxes and related business,<br>safekeeping business and trust business, if<br>any:                                       | Book Value   |
| (h) | Records and other documents:  | Book Value   |
| (i) | capital stock of any Acquired Subsidiaries:   | Book Value   |
| (j) | amounts owed to the Failed Bank by any Acquired Subsidiary:   | Book Value   |
| (k) | assets securing Deposits of public money,<br>to the extent not otherwise purchased<br>hereunder:                                      | Book Value   |
| (1) | Overdrafts of customers:  | Book Value   |
| (m) | rights, if any, with respect to Qualified Financial Contracts.  | Market Value |
|     | 40  |              |

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada .

()

0

Э

)

)

)

)

3

| (n) | rights of the Failed Bank to provide<br>mortgage servicing for others and to have<br>mortgage servicing provided to the Failed<br>Bank by others and related contracts. | Book Value |
|-----|---|------------|
| (0) | Bank Premises:  | Book Value |
| (p) | Furniture and Equipment:  | Book Value |
| (q) | Fixtures:   | Book Value |

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 41

.

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada -

.....

i.

7.413

:)

ł

Ę

# JPMCD\_000001550.00111

# SCHEDULE 3.5 - Certain Assets Not Purchased

(1) Any financial institution bonds, banker's blanket bonds, or public liability, fire, or extended coverage insurance policy or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank, or premium refund, unearned premium derived from cancellation, or any proceeds payable with respect to any of the foregoing;

(2) any interest, right, action, claim, or judgment against (i) any officer, director, employee, accountant, attorney, or any other Person employed or retained by the Failed Bank or any Subsidiary of the Failed Bank on or prior to Bank Closing arising out of any act or omission of such Person in such capacity, (ii) any underwriter of financial institution bonds, banker's blanket bonds or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank, (iii) any shareholder or holding company of the Failed Bank, or (iv) any other Person whose action or inaction may be related to any loss (exclusive of any loss resulting from such Person's failure to pay on a Loan made by the Failed Bank) incurred by the Failed Bank; <u>provided</u>, that for the purposes hereof, the acts, omissions or other events giving rise to any such claim shall have occurred on or before Bank Closing, regardless of when any such claim is discovered and regardless of whether any such claim is made with respect to a financial institution bond, banker's blanket bond, or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank Closing;

(3) leased Bank Premises and leased Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures and data processing equipment (including hardware and software) located on leased or owned Bank Premises, if any; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Assuming Bank does obtain an option under Section 4.6, Section 4.7 or Section 4.8, as the case may be, with respect thereto; and

42

(4) any criminal/restitution orders issued in favor of the Failed Bank;

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

( )

Ô

)

Э

7

)

3

3

# EXHIBIT 3.2(c) -- VALUATION OF CERTAIN QUALIFIED FINANCIAL CONTRACTS

#### A. <u>Scope</u>

Interest Rate Contracts - All interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, interest rate futures, caps, collars and floors, whether purchased or written.

Option Contracts - All put and call option contracts, whether purchased or written, on marketable securities, financial futures, foreign currencies, foreign exchange or foreign exchange futures contracts.

Foreign Exchange Contracts - All contracts for future purchase or sale of foreign currencies, foreign currency or cross currency swap contracts, or foreign exchange futures contracts.

# B. <u>Exclusions</u>

All financial contracts used to hedge assets and liabilities that are acquired by the Assuming Bank but are not subject to adjustment from Book Value.

# C. Adjustment

The difference between the Book Value and market value as of Bank Closing.

# D. <u>Methodology</u>

- 1. The price at which the Assuming Bank sells or disposes of Qualified Financial Contracts will be deemed to be the fair market value of such contracts, if such sale or disposition occurs at prevailing market rates within a predefined timetable as agreed upon by the Assuming Bank and the Receiver.
- 2. In valuing all other Qualified Financial Contracts, the following principles will apply:
  - (i) All known cash flows under swaps or forward exchange contracts shall be present valued to the swap zero coupon interest rate curve.
  - (ii) All valuations shall employ prices and interest rates based on the actual frequency of rate reset or payment.
  - (iii) Each tranche of amortizing contracts shall be separately valued. The total value of such amortizing contract shall be the sum of the values of its component tranches.

Whole P & A 991022 September 24, 2008; 12:54 PM 43

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 3

13

3

ţ

- (iv) For regularly traded contracts, valuations shall be at the midpoint of the bid and ask prices quoted by customary sources (e.g., <u>The Wall Street</u> <u>Journal</u>, Telerate, Reuters or other similar source) or regularly traded exchanges.
- (v) For all other Qualified Financial Contracts where published market quotes are unavailable, the adjusted price shall be the average of the bid and ask price quotes from three (3) securities dealers acceptable to the Receiver and Assuming Bank as of Bank Closing. If quotes from securities dealers cannot be obtained, an appraiser acceptable to the Receiver and the Assuming Bank will perform a valuation based on modeling, correlation analysis, interpolation or other techniques, as appropriate.

44

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

i

0

Ì

)

Э

•)

2

# PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

# WHOLE BANK

# AMONG

# FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, RECEIVER OF WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK, HENDERSON, NEVADA

# FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

and

### DATED AS OF

\_\_\_\_\_, 2008

ATTENTION PROSPECTIVE ACQUIRERS: Certain words, clauses and Sections within bold brackets and which may be accompanied by "[NOTE TO ACQUIRER]" in this form Agreement are alternative provisions which will be included, stricken or modified in the final agreement to conform to the transaction consummated.

ŝ

1

)

2

Э

)

)

)

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ARTICLE I   | I DEFINITIONS5   |  |
|-------------|--|--|
| ARTICLE II  | ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES11  |  |
| 2.1         | Liabilities Assumed by Assuming Bank11                               |  |
| 2.2         | Interest on Deposit Liabilities                                      |  |
| 2.3         | Unclaimed Deposits   |  |
| 2.4         | Employee Benefit Plans   |  |
| 2.5         | Borrower Claims  |  |
| ARTICLE III | PURCHASE OF ASSETS13   |  |
| 3.1         | Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank                                    |  |
| 3.2         | Asset Purchase Price   |  |
| 3.3         | Manner of Conveyance; Limited Warranty;                              |  |
|             | Nonrecourse; Etc   |  |
| 3.4         | Puts of Assets to the Receiver                                       |  |
| 3.5         | Assets Not Purchased by Assuming Bank                                |  |
| 3.6         | Assets Essential to Receiver   |  |
| ARTICLE IV  | ASSUMPTION OF CERTAIN DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS17                       |  |
| 4.1         | Continuation of Banking Business17                                   |  |
| 4.2         | Agreement with Respect to Credit Card Business                       |  |
| 4.3         | Agreement with Respect to Safe Deposit Business                      |  |
| 4.4         | Agreement with Respect to Safekeeping Business                       |  |
| 4.5         | Agreement with Respect to Trust Business                             |  |
| 4.6         | Agreement with Respect to Bank Premises                              |  |
| 4.7         | Agreement with Respect to Leased Data                                |  |
|             | Processing Equipment   |  |
| 4.8         | Agreement with Respect to Certain                                    |  |
|             | Existing Agreements  |  |
| 4.9         | Informational Tax Reporting21  |  |
| 4.10        | Insurance21  |  |
| 4.11        | Office Space for Receiver and Corporation                            |  |
| 4.12        | Agreement with Respect to Continuation of Group Health Plan Coverage |  |
|             | for Former Employees of the Failed Bank                              |  |
| 4.13        | Omitted23  |  |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 1

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ţ

 $\mathbf{A}' \geq$ 

é

đ

4

đ

Ç

Ú

Confidential

| <b>ARTICLE V</b> | DUTIES WITH RESPECT TO DEPOSITORS            |               |
|------------------|--|---------------|
|                  | OF THE FAILED BANK                           | 23            |
| 5.1              | Payment of Charles Drofts and O. L.          |               |
| 5.2              | Payment of Checks, Drafts and Orders.        | 23            |
| 5.3              | Certain Agreements Related to Deposits       | 23            |
| 5.5              | Notice to Depositors                         | 23            |
| ARTICLE VI       | RECORDS                                      | 23            |
| 6.1              | Transfer of Records                          | 24            |
| 6.2              | Delivery of Assigned Records                 |               |
| 6.3              | Preservation of Records                      | ····.24<br>24 |
| 6.4              | Access to Records; Copies                    |               |
| ARTICLE VII      | BID; INITIAL PAYMENT                         |               |
|                  |  | •••••••       |
| ARTICLE VIII     | PRO FORMA                                    | 25            |
| ARTICLE IX       | CONTINUING COOPERATION                       | 25            |
| 9.1              | General Matters                              | 26            |
| 9.2              | Additional Title Documents                   |               |
| 9.3              | Claims and Suits                             |               |
| 9.4              | Payment of Deposits                          | 20<br>26      |
| 9.5              | Withheld Payments                            | 20            |
| 9.6              | Proceedings with Respect to Certain Assets   |               |
| 9.7              | and Liabilities<br>Information               |               |
|                  |  | 20            |
| ARTICLE X        | CONDITION PRECEDENT                          | 28            |
| ARTICLE XI       | <b>REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE</b> |               |
|                  | ASSUMING BANK                                |               |
| ARTICLE XII      | INDEMNIFICATION                              | 29            |
| 12.1             | Indemnification of Indemnitees               | 20            |
| 12.2             | Conditions Precedent to Indemnification.     |               |
| 12.3             | No Additional Warranty                       |               |
| 12.4             | Indemnification of Corporation and Receiver  |               |
| 12.5             | Obligations Supplemental                     |               |
| 12.6             | Criminal Claims                              |               |
| 12.7             | Limited Guaranty of the Corporation          |               |
| 12.8             | Subrogation                                  |               |
| ARTICLE XIII     |  |               |
| ANTICLE AIII     | MISCELLANEOUS                                |               |
|                  | 2  |               |

,

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

3

)

; )

)

3

)

9

)

| 13.1  | Entire Agreement            |    |
|-------|-----------------------------|----|
| 13.2  | Headings                    | 34 |
| 13.3  | Counterparts                |    |
| 13.4  | Governing Law               |    |
| 13.5  | Successors                  |    |
| 13.6  | Modification; Assignment    |    |
| 13.7  | Notice                      |    |
| 13.8  | Manner of Payment           |    |
| 13.9  | Costs, Fees and Expenses    |    |
| 13.10 | Waiver                      |    |
| 13.11 | Severability                |    |
| 13.12 | Term of Agreement           |    |
| 13.13 | Survival of Covenants, Etc. |    |

.

# **SCHEDULES**

| 2.1 | Certain Liabilities Assumed        |  |
|-----|------------------------------------|--|
| 3.1 | Certain Assets Purchased           |  |
| 3.2 | Purchase Price of Assets or Assets |  |
| 3.5 | Certain Assets Not Purchased       |  |
|     |                                    |  |

# EXHIBIT

3.2(c)

| Valuation of Certain Qualified Financia | al Contracts44 |
|---|----------------|
|---|----------------|

3

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

.

<u>{</u>

ą

١Į

14

 $\frac{1}{2}$ 

ť

ſ.

### PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

# WHOLE BANK

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of the \_\_\_\_\_\_day of \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2008, by and among the FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, RECEIVER of WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK, HENDERSON, NEVADA (the "Receiver"), [Assuming Bank]\_\_\_\_\_, organized under the laws of \_\_[the United States of America] [State]\_\_, and having its principal place of business in [City]\_, [State]\_\_ (the "Assuming Bank"), and the FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, organized under the laws of the United States of America and having its principal office in Washington, D.C., acting in its corporate capacity (the "Corporation").

## WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, on Bank Closing, the Chartering Authority closed Washington Mutual Bank (the "Failed Bank") pursuant to applicable law and the Corporation was appointed Receiver thereof; and

WHEREAS, the Assuming Bank desires to purchase certain assets and assume certain deposit and other liabilities of the Failed Bank on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to 12 U.S.C. Section 1823(c)(2)(A), the Corporation may provide assistance to the Assuming Bank to facilitate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, which assistance may include indemnification pursuant to Article XII; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the "Board") has determined to provide assistance to the Assuming Bank on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined pursuant to 12 U.S.C. Section 1823(c)(4)(A) that such assistance is necessary to meet the obligation of the Corporation to provide insurance coverage for the insured deposits in the Failed Bank and is the least costly to the deposit insurance fund of all possible methods for meeting such obligation.

**NOW THEREFORE**, in consideration of the mutual promises herein set forth and other valuable consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 4

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

)

Ì

3

3

)

)

)

3

JPMCD\_000001550.00119

# ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

Capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in this Article I, or elsewhere in this Agreement. As used herein, words imparting the singular include the plural and vice versa.

"<u>Accounting Records</u>" means the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers and supporting schedules which support the general ledger balances.

"<u>Acquired Subsidiaries</u>" means Subsidiaries of the Failed Bank acquired pursuant to Section 3.1.

"Adversely Classified" means, with respect to any Loan or security, a Loan or security which has been designated in the most recent report of examination as "Substandard," "Doubtful" or "Loss" by the Failed Bank's appropriate Federal or State Chartering Authority or regulator.

"<u>Affiliate</u>" of any Person means any director, officer, or employee of that Person and any other Person (i) who is directly or indirectly controlling, or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such Person, or (ii) who is an affiliate of such Person as the term "affiliate" is defined in Section 2 of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, 12 U.S.C. Section 1841.

"<u>Agreement</u>" means this Purchase and Assumption Agreement by and among the Assuming Bank, the Corporation and the Receiver, as amended or otherwise modified from time to time.

"<u>Assets</u>" means all assets of the Failed Bank purchased pursuant to Section 3.1. Assets owned by Subsidiaries of the Failed Bank are not "Assets" within the meaning of this definition.

"Assumed Deposits" means Deposits.

"Bank Closing" means the close of business of the Failed Bank on the date on which the Chartering Authority closed such institution.

"<u>Bank Premises</u>" means the banking houses, drive-in banking facilities, and teller facilities (staffed or automated) together with appurtenant parking, storage and service facilities and structures connecting remote facilities to banking houses, and land on which the foregoing are located, that are owned or leased by the Failed Bank and that are occupied by the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing.

"Bid Amount" has the meaning provided in Article VII.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 5

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Ċ

1

í Á

ł

ţ

"Book Value" means, with respect to any Asset and any Liability Assumed, the dollar amount thereof stated on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank. The Book Value of any item shall be determined as of Bank Closing after adjustments made by the Receiver for differences in accounts, suspense items, unposted debits and credits, and other similar adjustments or corrections and for setoffs, whether voluntary or involuntary. The Book Value of a Subsidiary of the Failed Bank acquired by the Assuming Bank shall be determined from the investment in subsidiary and related accounts on the "bank only" (unconsolidated) balance sheet of the Failed Bank based on the equity method of accounting. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) the Book Value of a Liability Assumed shall include all accrued and unpaid interest thereon as of Bank Closing, and (ii) the Book Value of a Loan shall reflect adjustments for earned interest, or unearned interest (as it relates to the "rule of 78s" or add-on-interest loans, as applicable), if any, as of Bank Closing, adjustments for the portion of earned or unearned loan-related credit life and/or disability insurance premiums, if any, attributable to the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, and adjustments for Failed Bank Advances, if any, in each case as determined for financial reporting purposes. The Book Value of an Asset shall not include any adjustment for loan premiums, discounts or any related deferred income or fees, or general or specific reserves on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank.

"<u>Business Day</u>" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, Federal legal holiday or legal holiday under the laws of the State where the Failed Bank is located, or a day on which the principal office of the Corporation is closed.

"<u>Chartering Authority</u>" means (i) with respect to a national bank, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, (ii) with respect to a Federal savings association or savings bank, the Office of Thrift Supervision, (iii) with respect to a bank or savings institution chartered by a State, the agency of such State charged with primary responsibility for regulating and/or closing banks or savings institutions, as the case may be, (iv) the Corporation in accordance with 12 U.S.C. Section 1821(c), with regard to self appointment, or (v) the appropriate Federal banking agency in accordance with 12 U.S.C. 1821(c)(9).

"<u>Commitment</u>" means the unfunded portion of a line of credit or other commitment reflected on the books and records of the Failed Bank to make an extension of credit (or additional advances with respect to a Loan) that was legally binding on the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, other than extensions of credit pursuant to the credit card business and overdraft protection plans of the Failed Bank, if any.

"Credit Documents" mean the agreements, instruments, certificates or other documents at any time evidencing or otherwise relating to, governing or executed in connection with or as security for, a Loan, including without limitation notes, bonds, loan agreements, letter of credit applications, lease financing contracts, banker's acceptances, drafts, interest protection agreements, currency exchange agreements, repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agreements, guarantees, deeds of trust, mortgages, assignments, security agreements, pledges, subordination or priority agreements, lien priority agreements, undertakings, security instruments, certificates, documents, legal opinions, participation agreements and intercreditor agreements, and all amendments, modifications, renewals, extensions, rearrangements, and substitutions with respect to any of the foregoing.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 6

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

1

)

)

٦

>

"<u>Credit File</u>" means all Credit Documents and all other credit, collateral, or insurance documents in the possession or custody of the Assuming Bank, or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates, relating to an Asset or a Loan included in a Put Notice, or copies of any thereof.

"Data Processing Lease" means any lease or licensing agreement, binding on the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, the subject of which is data processing equipment or computer hardware or software used in connection with data processing activities. A lease or licensing agreement for computer software used in connection with data processing activities shall constitute a Data Processing Lease regardless of whether such lease or licensing agreement also covers data processing equipment.

"Deposit" means a deposit as defined in 12 U.S.C. Section 1813(l), including without limitation, outstanding cashier's checks and other official checks and all uncollected items included in the depositors' balances and credited on the books and records of the Failed Bank; provided, that the term "Deposit" shall not include all or any portion of those deposit balances which, in the discretion of the Receiver or the Corporation, (i) may be required to satisfy it for any liquidated or contingent liability of any depositor arising from an unauthorized or unlawful transaction, or (ii) may be needed to provide payment of any liability of any depositor as a director or officer of the Failed Bank, whether or not the amount of the liability is or can be determined as of Bank Closing.

"<u>Failed Bank Advances</u>" means the total sums paid by the Failed Bank to (i) protect its lien position, (ii) pay ad valorem taxes and hazard insurance, and (iii) pay credit life insurance, accident and health insurance, and vendor's single interest insurance.

"<u>Fixtures</u>" means those leasehold improvements, additions, alterations and installations constituting all or a part of Bank Premises and which were acquired, added, built, installed or purchased at the expense of the Failed Bank, regardless of the holder of legal title thereto as of Bank Closing.

"<u>Furniture and Equipment</u>" means the furniture and equipment (other than Safe Deposit Boxes, motor vehicles, and leased data processing equipment, including hardware and software), leased or owned by the Failed Bank and reflected on the books of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, including without limitation automated teller machines, carpeting, furniture, office machinery (including personal computers), shelving, office supplies, telephone, surveillance and security systems, and artwork.

"<u>Indemnitees</u>" means, except as provided in paragraph (11) of Section 12.1(b), (i) the Assuming Bank, (ii) the Subsidiaries and Affiliates of the Assuming Bank <u>other than</u> any Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Failed Bank that are or become Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Assuming Bank, and (iii) the directors, officers, employees and agents of the Assuming Bank and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates who are <u>not</u> also present or former directors, officers, employees or agents of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 7

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada  $l_{i}^{n}$ 

녆

17

ß

ĉ

Ę

í

"Initial Payment" means the payment made pursuant to Article VII (based on the best information available as of Bank Closing), the amount of which shall be either (i) if the Bid Amount is positive, the aggregate Book Value of the Liabilities Assumed <u>minus</u> the sum of the aggregate purchase price of the Assets and assets purchased and the positive Bid Amount, or (ii) if the Bid Amount is negative, the sum of the aggregate Book Value of the Liabilities Assumed and the negative Bid Amount <u>minus</u> the aggregate purchase price of the Assets and assets purchased. The Initial Payment shall be payable by the Corporation to the Assuming Bank if (i) the Liabilities Assumed are greater than the sum of the positive Bid Amount and the Assets and assets purchased, or if (ii) the sum of the Liabilities Assumed and the negative Bid Amount are greater than the Assets and assets purchased. The Initial Payment shall be payable by the Assuming Bank to the Corporation if (i) the Liabilities Assumed are less than the sum of the positive Bid Amount and the Assets and assets purchased, or if (ii) the sum of the Liabilities Assumed and the negative Bid Amount is less than the Assets and assets purchased. Such Initial Payment shall be subject to adjustment as provided in Article VIII.

"Legal Balance" means the amount of indebtedness legally owed by an Obligor with respect to a Loan, including principal and accrued and unpaid interest, late fees, attorneys' fees and expenses, taxes, insurance premiums, and similar charges, if any.

"Liabilities Assumed" has the meaning provided in Section 2.1.

"Lien" means any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, assignment for security purposes, security interest, or encumbrance of any kind with respect to an Asset, including any conditional sale agreement or capital lease or other title retention agreement relating to such Asset.

"Loans" means all of the following owed to or held by the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing:

(i) loans (including loans which have been charged off the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank in whole or in part), participation agreements, interests in participations, overdrafts of customers (including but not limited to overdrafts made pursuant to an overdraft protection plan or similar extensions of credit in connection with a deposit account), revolving commercial lines of credit, home equity lines of credit, Commitments, United States and/or State-guaranteed student loans, and lease financing contracts;

(ii) all Liens, rights (including rights of set-off), remedies, powers, privileges, demands, claims, priorities, equities and benefits owned or held by, or accruing or to accrue to or for the benefit of, the holder of the obligations or instruments referred to in clause (i) above, including but not limited to those arising under or based upon Credit Documents, casualty insurance policies and binders, standby letters of credit, mortgagee title insurance policies and binders, payment bonds and performance bonds at any time and from time to time existing with respect to any of the obligations or instruments referred to in clause (i) above; and

(iii) all amendments, modifications, renewals, extensions, refinancings, and refundings of or for any of the foregoing;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 8

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

)

)

)

3

Y

)

λ

)

}

provided, that there shall be excluded from the definition of "Loans" amounts owing under Qualified Financial Contracts.

"<u>Obligor</u>" means each Person liable for the full or partial payment or performance of any Loan, whether such Person is obligated directly, indirectly, primarily, secondarily, jointly, or severally.

"<u>Other Real Estate</u>" means all interests in real estate (other than Bank Premises and Fixtures), including but not limited to mineral rights, leasehold rights, condominium and cooperative interests, air rights and development rights that are owned by the Failed Bank.

"Payment Date" means the first Business Day after Bank Closing.

"<u>Person</u>" means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof, excluding the Corporation.

"<u>Primary Indemnitor</u>" means any Person (other than the Assuming Bank or any of its Affiliates) who is obligated to indemnify or insure, or otherwise make payments (including payments on account of claims made against) to or on behalf of any Person in connection with the claims covered under Article XII, including without limitation any insurer issuing any directors and officers liability policy or any Person issuing a financial institution bond or banker's blanket bond.

"Put Date" has the meaning provided in Section 3.4.

"Put Notice" has the meaning provided in Section 3.4.

"<u>Qualified Financial Contract</u>" means a qualified financial contract as defined in 12 U.S.C. Section 1821(e)(8)(D).

"<u>Record</u>" means any document, microfiche, microfilm and computer records (including but not limited to magnetic tape, disc storage, card forms and printed copy) of the Failed Bank generated or maintained by the Failed Bank that is owned by or in the possession of the Receiver at Bank Closing.

"<u>Related Liability</u>" with respect to any Asset means any liability existing and reflected on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing for (i) indebtedness secured by mortgages, deeds of trust, chattel mortgages, security interests or other liens on or affecting such Asset, (ii) ad valorem taxes applicable to such Asset, and (iii) any other obligation determined by the Receiver to be directly related to such Asset.

"<u>Related Liability Amount</u>" with respect to any Related Liability on the books of the Assuming Bank, means the amount of such Related Liability as stated on the Accounting Records of the Assuming Bank (as maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles) as of the date as of which the Related Liability Amount is being determined. With respect to a liability that relates to more than one asset, the amount of such Related Liability shall

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 9

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ň.,

VI.

ų.

1

Ç

(

be allocated among such assets for the purpose of determining the Related Liability Amount with respect to any one of such assets. Such allocation shall be made by specific allocation, where determinable, and otherwise shall be pro rata based upon the dollar amount of such assets stated on the Accounting Records of the entity that owns such asset.

"<u>Repurchase Price</u>" means with respect to any Asset or asset, which shall be determined by the Receiver, the <u>lesser</u> of (a) or (b):

(a) (i) in the event of a negative Bid Amount, the amount paid by the Assuming Bank, discounted by a percentage equal to the quotient produced by dividing the Assuming Bank's Bid Amount by the aggregate Book Value of the Risk Assets of the Failed Bank;

(ii) in the event of a negative Bid Amount, the amount resulting from (a)(i), above, or in the event of a positive Bid Amount, the amount paid by the Assuming Bank, (x) for a Loan, shall be decreased by any portion of the Loan classified "loss" and by one-half of any portion of the Loan classified "doubtful" as of the date of Bank Closing, and (y) for any Asset or asset, including a Loan, decreased by the amount of any money received with respect thereto since Bank Closing and, if the Asset is a Loan or other interest bearing or earning asset, the resulting amount shall then be increased or decreased, as the case may be, by interest or discount (whichever is applicable) accrued from and after Bank Closing at the lower of: (i) the contract rate with respect to such Asset, or (ii) the Settlement Interest Rate; net proceeds received by or due to the Assuming Bank from the sale of collateral, any forgiveness of debt, or otherwise shall be deemed money received by the Assuming Bank; or

(b) the dollar amount thereof stated on the Accounting Records of the Assuming Bank as of the date as of which the Repurchase Price is being determined, as maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and, if the asset is a Loan, regardless of the Legal Balance thereof and adjusted in the same manner as the Book Value of a Failed Bank Loan would be adjusted hereunder.

Provided, however, (b), above, shall not be applicable and the Bid Amount shall be considered to have been positive for Loans repurchased pursuant to Section 3.4(a).

"<u>Risk Assets</u>" means (i) all Loans purchased hereunder, excluding (a) New Loans and (b) Loans to the extent secured by Assumed Deposits (and not included in (i)(a)), plus (ii) the Accrued Interest Receivable, Prepaid Expense, and Other Assets.

"<u>Safe Deposit Boxes</u>" means the safe deposit boxes of the Failed Bank, if any, including the removable safe deposit boxes and safe deposit stacks in the Failed Bank's vault(s), all rights and benefits (other than fees collected prior to Bank Closing) under rental agreements with respect to such safe deposit boxes, and all keys and combinations thereto.

"<u>Settlement Date</u>" means the first Business Day immediately prior to the day which is one hundred eighty (180) days after Bank Closing, or such other date prior thereto as may be agreed upon by the Receiver and the Assuming Bank. The Receiver, in its discretion, may extend the Settlement Date.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 10

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

)

1

)

3

3

 $\mathbf{i}$ 

>

"<u>Settlement Interest Rate</u>" means, for the first calendar quarter or portion thereof during which interest accrues, the rate determined by the Receiver to be equal to the equivalent coupon issue yield on twenty-six (26)-week United States Treasury Bills in effect as of Bank Closing as published in <u>The Wall Street Journal</u>; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> if no such equivalent coupon issue yield is available as of Bank Closing, the equivalent coupon issue yield for such Treasury Bills most recently published in <u>The Wall Street Journal</u> prior to Bank Closing shall be used. Thereafter, the rate shall be adjusted to the rate determined by the Receiver to be equal to the equivalent coupon issue yield on such Treasury Bills in effect as of the first day of each succeeding calendar quarter during which interest accrues as published in <u>The Wall Street</u> <u>Journal</u>.

"Subsidiary" has the meaning set forth in Section 3(w)(4) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. Section 1813(w)(4), as amended.

# ARTICLE II ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES

2.1 <u>Liabilities Assumed by Assuming Bank</u>. The Assuming Bank expressly assumes at Book Value (subject to adjustment pursuant to Article VIII) and agrees to pay, perform, and discharge all of the following liabilities of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement (such liabilities referred to as "Liabilities Assumed"):

> (a) Assumed Deposits; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> as to any Deposits of public money which are Assumed Deposits, the Assuming Bank agrees to properly secure such Deposits with such of the Assets as appropriate which, prior to Bank Closing, were pledged as security therefor by the Failed Bank, or with assets of the Assuming Bank, if such securing Assets, if any, are insufficient to properly secure such Deposits;

(b) liabilities for indebtedness secured by mortgages, deeds of trust, chattel mortgages, security interests or other liens on or affecting any Assets, if any; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the assumption of any liability pursuant to this paragraph shall be limited to the market value of the Assets securing such liability as determined by the Receiver;

(c) overdrafts, debit balances, service charges, reclamations, and adjustments to accounts with the Federal Reserve Banks as reflected on the books and records of any such Federal Reserve Bank within ninety (90) days after Bank Closing, if any;

(d) ad valorem taxes applicable to any Asset, if any; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the assumption of any ad valorem taxes pursuant to this paragraph shall be limited to an amount equal to the market value of the Asset to which such taxes apply as determined by the Receiver;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 11

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 4

ú

17

£.

(e) liabilities, if any, for federal funds purchased, repurchase agreements and overdrafts in accounts maintained with other depository institutions (including any accrued and unpaid interest thereon computed to and including Bank Closing); provided, that the assumption of any liability pursuant to this paragraph shall be limited to the market value of the Assets securing such liability as determined by the Receiver;

(f) United States Treasury tax and loan note option accounts, if any;

(g) liabilities for any acceptance or commercial letter of credit (other than "standby letters of credit" as defined in 12 C.F.R. Section 337.2(a)); <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the assumption of any liability pursuant to this paragraph shall be limited to the market value of the Assets securing such liability as determined by the Receiver;

(h) duties and obligations assumed pursuant to this Agreement including without limitation those relating to the Failed Bank's credit card business, overdraft protection plans, safe deposit business, safekeeping business or trust business, if any;

(i) liabilities, if any, for Commitments;

(j) liabilities, if any, for amounts owed to any Subsidiary of the Failed Bank acquired under Section 3.1; and

(k) duties and obligations under any contract pursuant to which the Failed Bank provides mortgage servicing for others, or mortgage servicing is provided to the Failed Bank by others.

Schedule 2.1 attached hereto and incorporated herein sets forth certain categories of Liabilities Assumed and the aggregate Book Value of the Liabilities Assumed in such categories. Such schedule is based upon the best information available to the Receiver and may be adjusted as provided in Article VIII.

2.2 Interest on Deposit Liabilities. The Assuming Bank agrees that, from and after Bank Closing, it will accrue and pay interest on Deposit liabilities assumed pursuant to Section 2.1 at a rate(s) it shall determine; provided, that for nontransaction Deposit liabilities such rate(s) shall not be less than the lowest rate offered by the Assuming Bank to its depositors for nontransaction deposit accounts. The Assuming Bank shall permit each depositor to withdraw, without penalty for early withdrawal, all or any portion of such depositor's Deposit, whether or not the Assuming Bank elects to pay interest in accordance with any deposit agreement formerly existing between the Failed Bank and such depositor; and further provided, that if such Deposit has been pledged to secure an obligation of the depositor or other party, any withdrawal thereof shall be subject to the terms of the agreement governing such pledge. The Assuming Bank shall give notice to such depositors as provided in Section 5.3 of the rate(s) of interest which it has determined to pay and of such withdrawal rights.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 12

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

)

)

7

)

)

à

2.3 <u>Unclaimed Deposits</u>. If, within eighteen (18) months after Bank Closing, any depositor of the Failed Bank does not claim or arrange to continue such depositor's Deposit assumed pursuant to Section 2.1 at the Assuming Bank, the Assuming Bank shall, within fifteen (15) Business Days after the end of such eighteen (18)-month period, (i) refund to the Corporation the full amount of each such Deposit (without reduction for service charges), (ii) provide to the Corporation, and (iii) assign, transfer, convey and deliver to the Receiver all right, title and interest of the Assuming Bank in and to Records previously transferred to the Assuming Bank and other records generated or maintained by the Assuming Bank pertaining to such Deposits. During such eighteen (18)-month period, at the request of the Corporation, the Assuming Bank promptly shall provide to the Corporation schedules of unclaimed deposits in such form as may be prescribed by the to the Corporation.

2.4 <u>Employee Benefit Plans</u>. Except as provided in Section 4.12, the Assuming Bank shall have no liabilities, obligations or responsibilities under the Failed Bank's health care, bonus, vacation, pension, profit sharing or stock purchase plans or similar plans, if any, unless the Receiver and the Assuming Bank agree otherwise subsequent to the date of this Agreement.

2.5 <u>Borrower Claims</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any liability associated with borrower claims for payment of or liability to any borrower for monetary relief, or that provide for any other form of relief to any borrower, whether or not such liability is reduced to judgment, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed or undisputed, legal or equitable, judicial or extra-judicial, secured or unsecured, whether asserted affirmatively or defensively, related in any way to any loan or commitment to lend made by the Failed Bank prior to failure, or to any loan made by a third party in connection with a loan which is or was held by the Failed Bank, or otherwise arising in connection with the Failed Bank's lending or loan purchase activities are specifically not assumed by the Assuming Bank.

# ARTICLE III PURCHASE OF ASSETS

3.1 <u>Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank</u>. Subject to Sections 3.5 and 3.6, the Assuming Bank hereby purchases from the Receiver, and the Receiver hereby sells, assigns, transfers, conveys, and delivers to the Assuming Bank, all right, title, and interest of the Receiver in and to all of the assets (real, personal and mixed, wherever located and however acquired) of the Failed Bank whether or not reflected on the books of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, as set forth in Schedule 3.1 attached hereto and incorporated herein. Schedule 3.1 sets forth certain categories of Assets. Such schedule is based upon the best information available to the Receiver and may be adjusted as provided in Article VIII. Assets are purchased hereunder by the Assuming Bank subject to all liabilities for indebtedness collateralized by Liens affecting such Assets to the extent provided in Section 2.1.

### 3.2 Asset Purchase Price.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 13

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada )

(I

1

ť

(j

(a) All Assets and assets of the Failed Bank subject to an option to purchase by the Assuming Bank shall be purchased for the amount, or the amount resulting from the method specified for determining the amount, as specified on Schedule 3.2, except as otherwise may be provided herein. Any Asset, asset of the Failed Bank subject to an option to purchase or other asset purchased for which no purchase price is specified on Schedule 3.2 or otherwise herein shall be purchased at its Book Value. Loans or other assets charged off the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank prior to the date of Bank Closing shall be purchased at a price of zero.

(b) The purchase price for securities (other than the capital stock of any Acquired Subsidiary) purchased under Section 3.1 by the Assuming Bank shall be the market value thereof as of Bank Closing, which market value shall be (i) the "Mid/Last", or "Trade" (as applicable), market price for each such security quoted at the close of the trading day effective on Bank Closing as published electronically by <u>Bloomberg, L.P.</u>; (ii) <u>provided, that</u> if such market price is not available for any such security, the Assuming Bank will submit a bid for each such security within three days of notification/bid request by the Receiver (unless a different time period is agreed to by the Assuming Bank and the Receiver) and the Receiver, in its sole discretion will accept or reject each such bid; and (iii) <u>further provided</u> in the absence of an acceptable bid from the Assuming Bank, each such security shall not pass to the Assuming Bank and shall be deemed to be an excluded asset hereunder.

(c) Qualified Financial Contracts shall be purchased at market value determined in accordance with the terms of Exhibit 3.2(c). Any costs associated with such valuation shall be shared equally by the Receiver and the Assuming Bank.

3.3 <u>Manner of Conveyance; Limited Warranty; Nonrecourse; Etc</u>. THE CONVEYANCE OF ALL ASSETS, INCLUDING REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY INTERESTS, PURCHASED BY THE ASSUMING BANK UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE MADE, AS NECESSARY, BY RECEIVER'S DEED OR RECEIVER'S BILL OF SALE, "AS IS", "WHERE IS", WITHOUT RECOURSE AND, EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, WITHOUT ANY WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER WITH RESPECT TO SUCH ASSETS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO TITLE, ENFORCEABILITY, COLLECTIBILITY, DOCUMENTATION OR FREEDOM FROM LIENS OR ENCUMBRANCES (IN WHOLE OR IN PART), OR ANY OTHER MATTERS.

- 3.4 Puts of Assets to the Receiver.
- (a) <u>Omitted</u>.

(b) <u>Puts Prior to the Settlement Date</u>. During the period from Bank Closing to and including the Business Day immediately preceding the Settlement Date, the Assuming Bank shall be entitled to require the Receiver to purchase any Asset which the Assuming Bank can establish is evidenced by forged or stolen instruments as of Bank Closing. The Assuming Bank shall transfer all such Assets to the Receiver without recourse, and shall indemnify the Receiver against any and all claims of any Person claiming by, through or under the Assuming Bank with respect to any such Asset, as provided in Section 12.4.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 14

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

)

)

)

3

3

)

(c) <u>Notices to the Receiver</u>. In the event that the Assuming Bank elects to require the Receiver to purchase one or more Assets, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver a notice (a "Put Notice") which shall include:

- (i) a list of all Assets that the Assuming Bank requires the Receiver to purchase;
- (ii) a list of all Related Liabilities with respect to the Assets identified pursuant to (i) above; and
- (iii) a statement of the estimated Repurchase Price of each Asset identified pursuant to (i) above as of the applicable Put Date.

Such notice shall be in the form prescribed by the Receiver or such other form to which the Receiver shall consent. As provided in Section 9.6, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver such documents, Credit Files and such additional information relating to the subject matter of the Put Notice as the Receiver may request and shall provide to the Receiver full access to all other relevant books and records.

(d) <u>Purchase by Receiver</u>. The Receiver shall purchase Loans that are specified in the Put Notice and shall assume Related Liabilities with respect to such Loans, and the transfer of such Loans and Related Liabilities shall be effective as of a date determined by the Receiver which date shall not be later than thirty (30) days after receipt by the Receiver of the Credit Files with respect to such Loans (the "Put Date").

(e) <u>Purchase Price and Payment Date</u>. Each Loan purchased by the Receiver pursuant to this Section 3.4 shall be purchased at a price equal to the Repurchase Price of such Loan less the Related Liability Amount applicable to such Loan, in each case determined as of the applicable Put Date. If the difference between such Repurchase Price and such Related Liability Amount is positive, then the Receiver shall pay to the Assuming Bank the amount of such difference; if the difference between such amounts is negative, then the Assuming Bank shall pay to the Receiver the amount of such difference. The Assuming Bank or the Receiver, as the case may be, shall pay the purchase price determined pursuant to this Section 3.4(e) not later than the twentieth (20th) Business Day following the applicable Put Date, together with interest on such amount at the Settlement Interest Rate for the period from and including such Put Date to and including the day preceding the date upon which payment is made.

(f) <u>Servicing</u>. The Assuming Bank shall administer and manage any Asset subject to purchase by the Receiver in accordance with usual and prudent banking standards and business practices until such time as such Asset is purchased by the Receiver.

(g) <u>Reversals</u>. In the event that the Receiver purchases an Asset (and assumes the Related Liability) that it is not required to purchase pursuant to this Section 3.4, the Assuming Bank shall repurchase such Asset (and assume such Related Liability) from the Receiver at a price computed so as to achieve the same economic result as would apply if the Receiver had never purchased such Asset pursuant to this Section 3.4.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 15

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Q.

£

C

(

3.5 <u>Assets Not Purchased by Assuming Bank</u>. The Assuming Bank does not purchase, acquire or assume, or (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement) obtain an option to purchase, acquire or assume under this Agreement the assets or Assets listed on the attached Schedule 3.5.

# 3.6 Assets Essential to Receiver.

3

Э

)

)

)

3

)

(a) The Receiver may refuse to sell to the Assuming Bank, or the Assuming Bank agrees, at the request of the Receiver set forth in a written notice to the Assuming Bank, to assign, transfer, convey, and deliver to the Receiver all of the Assuming Bank's right, title and interest in and to, any Asset or asset essential to the Receiver as determined by the Receiver in its discretion (together with all Credit Documents evidencing or pertaining thereto), which may include any Asset or asset that the Receiver determines to be:

- made to an officer, director, or other Person engaging in the affairs of the Failed Bank, its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any related entities of any of the foregoing;
- the subject of any investigation relating to any claim with respect to any item described in Section 3.5(a) or (b), or the subject of, or potentially the subject of, any legal proceedings;
- (iii) made to a Person who is an Obligor on a loan owned by the Receiver or the Corporation in its corporate capacity or its capacity as receiver of any institution;
- (iv) secured by collateral which also secures any asset owned by the Receiver; or
- (v) related to any asset of the Failed Bank not purchased by the Assuming Bank under this Article III or any liability of the Failed Bank not assumed by the Assuming Bank under Article II.

(b) Each such Asset or asset purchased by the Receiver shall be purchased at a price equal to the Repurchase Price thereof less the Related Liability Amount with respect to any Related Liabilities related to such Asset or asset, in each case determined as of the date of the notice provided by the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.6(a). The Receiver shall pay the Assuming Bank not later than the twentieth (20th) Business Day following receipt of related Credit Documents and Credit Files together with interest on such amount at the Settlement Interest Rate for the period from and including the date of receipt of such documents to and including the day preceding the day on which payment is made. The Assuming Bank agrees to administer and manage each such Asset or asset in accordance with usual and prudent banking standards and business practices until each such Asset or asset is purchased by the Receiver. All transfers with respect to Asset or assets under this Section 3.6 shall be made as provided in Section 9.6. The Assuming Bank shall transfer all such Asset or assets and Related Liabilities to the Receiver without recourse, and shall indemnify the Receiver against any and all claims of any Person

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 16

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada claiming by, through or under the Assuming Bank with respect to any such Asset or asset, as provided in Section 12.4.

# ARTICLE IV ASSUMPTION OF CERTAIN DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS

The Assuming Bank agrees with the Receiver and the Corporation as follows:

4.1 <u>Continuation of Banking Business</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to provide full service banking in the trade area of the Failed Bank commencing on the first banking business day (including a Saturday) after Bank Closing. At the option of the Assuming Bank, such banking services may be provided at any or all of the Bank Premises, or at other premises within such trade area.

4.2 <u>Agreement with Respect to Debit and Credit Card Business</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to honor and perform, from and after Bank Closing, all duties and obligations with respect to the Failed Bank's debit and credit card business, and/or processing related to debit and credit cards, if any, and assumes all outstanding extensions of credit with respect thereto. Fees related to the debit and credit card business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

4.3 <u>Agreement with Respect to Safe Deposit Business</u>. The Assuming Bank assumes and agrees to discharge, from and after Bank Closing, in the usual course of conducting a banking business, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to all Safe Deposit Boxes, if any, of the Failed Bank and to maintain all of the necessary facilities for the use of such boxes by the renters thereof during the period for which such boxes have been rented and the rent therefor paid to the Failed Bank, subject to the provisions of the rental agreements between the Failed Bank and the respective renters of such boxes; provided, that the Assuming Bank may relocate the Safe Deposit Boxes of the Failed Bank to any office of the Assuming Bank located in the trade area of the Failed Bank. Fees related to the safe deposit business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

4.4 <u>Agreement with Respect to Safekeeping Business</u>. The Receiver transfers, conveys and delivers to the Assuming Bank and the Assuming Bank accepts all securities and other items, if any, held by the Failed Bank in safekeeping for its customers as of Bank Closing. The Assuming Bank assumes and agrees to honor and discharge, from and after Bank Closing, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to such securities and items held in safekeeping. The Assuming Bank shall be entitled to all rights and benefits heretofore accrued or hereafter accruing with respect thereto; provided, that, fees related to the safe keeping business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall provide to the Receiver written verification of all assets held by the Failed Bank for safekeeping within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 17

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Ç

Ų.

Ç

¢.

ſ,

# 4.5 Agreement with Respect to Trust Business.

(a) The Assuming Bank shall, without further transfer, substitution, act or deed, to the full extent permitted by law, succeed to the rights, obligations, properties, assets, investments, deposits, agreements, and trusts of the Failed Bank under trusts, executorships, administrations, guardianships, and agencies, and other fiduciary or representative capacities, all to the same extent as though the Assuming Bank had assumed the same from the Failed Bank prior to Bank Closing; provided, that any liability based on the misfeasance, malfeasance or nonfeasance of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents with respect to the trust business is not assumed hereunder. Fees related to the trust business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall, to the full extent permitted by law, succeed to, and be entitled to take and execute, the appointment to all executorships, trusteeships, guardianships and other fiduciary or representative capacities to which the Failed Bank is or may be named in wills, whenever probated, or to which the Failed Bank is or may be named or appointed by any other instrument.

(c) In the event additional proceedings of any kind are necessary to accomplish the transfer of such trust business, the Assuming Bank agrees that, at its own expense, it will take whatever action is necessary to accomplish such transfer. The Receiver agrees to use reasonable efforts to assist the Assuming Bank in accomplishing such transfer.

(d) The Assuming Bank shall provide to the Receiver written verification of the assets held in connection with the Failed Bank's trust business within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing.

# 4.6 Agreement with Respect to Bank Premises.

(a) Option to Lease. The Receiver hereby grants to the Assuming Bank an exclusive option for the period of ninety (90) days commencing the day after Bank Closing to cause the Receiver to assign to the Assuming Bank any or all leases for leased Bank Premises, if any, which have been continuously occupied by the Assuming Bank from Bank Closing to the date it elects to accept an assignment of the leases with respect thereto to the extent such leases can be assigned; provided, that the exercise of this option with respect to any lease must be as to all premises or other property subject to the lease. If an assignment cannot be made of any such leases, the Receiver may, in its discretion, enter into subleases with the Assuming Bank containing the same terms and conditions provided under such existing leases for such leased Bank Premises or other property. The Assuming Bank shall give notice to the Receiver within the option period of its election to accept or not to accept an assignment of any or all leases (or enter into subleases or new leases in lieu thereof). The Assuming Bank agrees to assume all leases assigned (or enter into subleases in lieu thereof) pursuant to this Section 4.6.

(b) <u>Facilitation</u>. The Receiver agrees to facilitate the assumption, assignment or sublease of leases or the negotiation of new leases by the Assuming Bank; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> neither

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 18

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

C

٤

)

)

)

)

2

)

the Receiver nor the Corporation shall be obligated to engage in litigation, make payments to the Assuming Bank or to any third party in connection with facilitating any such assumption, assignment, sublease or negotiation or commit to any other obligations to third parties.

(c) <u>Occupancy</u>. The Assuming Bank shall give the Receiver fifteen (15) days' prior written notice of its intention to vacate prior to vacating any leased Bank Premises with respect to which the Assuming Bank has not exercised the option provided in Section 4.6(a). Any such notice shall be deemed to terminate the Assuming Bank's option with respect to such leased Bank Premises.

# (d) Occupancy Costs.

(i) The Assuming Bank agrees, during the period of any occupancy by it of leased Bank Premises, to pay to the Receiver, or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver, all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of applicable leases entered into by the Failed Bank, including without limitation the timely payment of all rent, taxes, fees, charges, utilities, insurance and assessments.

(ii) The Assuming Bank agrees during the period of occupancy by it of leased Bank Premises to pay to the Receiver rent for the use of all leased Furniture and Equipment and all owned or leased Fixtures located on such Bank Premises for the period of such occupancy. Rent for such property owned by the Failed Bank shall be the market rental value thereof, as determined by the Receiver within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing. Rent for such leased property shall be an amount equal to any and all rent and other amounts which the Receiver incurs or accrues as an obligation or is obligated to pay for such period of occupancy pursuant to all leases and contracts with respect to such property. If the Assuming Bank purchases any owned Fixtures in accordance with Section 4.6(e), the amount of any rents paid by the Assuming Bank with respect thereto shall be applied as an offset against the purchase price thereof.

(e) <u>Certain Requirements as to Furniture, Equipment and Fixtures</u>. If the Assuming Bank accepts an assignment of the lease (or enters into a sublease or a new lease in lieu thereof) for leased Bank Premises, or if the Assuming Bank does not exercise such option but within twelve (12) months following Bank Closing obtains the right to occupy such premises (whether by assignment, lease, sublease, purchase or otherwise), other than in accordance with Section 4.6(a), the Assuming Bank shall (i) accept an assignment or a sublease of the leases or negotiate new leases for all Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures leased by the Failed Bank and located thereon, and (ii) if applicable, accept an assignment or a sublease of any ground lease or negotiate a new ground lease with respect to any land on which such Bank Premises are located; <u>provided, that</u> the Receiver shall not have disposed of such Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures or repudiated the leases specified in clause (i) or (ii).

(f) <u>Vacating Premises</u>. If the Assuming Bank elects not to accept an assignment of the lease or sublease any leased Bank Premises, the notice of such election in accordance with Section 4.6(a) shall specify the date upon which the Assuming Bank's occupancy of such leased Bank Premises shall terminate, which date shall not be later than the date which is one hundred eighty (180) days after Bank Closing. Upon vacating such premises, the Assuming Bank shall relinquish and release to the Receiver such premises and the Fixtures located thereon in the same

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 19

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Č,

đ.

G

C

6

6

Confidential

condition as at Bank Closing, normal wear and tear excepted. By failing to provide notice of its intention to vacate such premises prior to the expiration of the option period specified in Section 4.6(a), or by occupying such premises after the one hundred eighty (180)-day period specified above in this paragraph, the Assuming Bank shall, at the Receiver's option, (x) be deemed to have assumed all leases, obligations and liabilities with respect to such premises (including any ground lease with respect to the land on which premises are located), and leased Furniture and Equipment and leased Fixtures located thereon in accordance with this Section 4.6 (unless the Receiver previously repudiated any such lease), and (y) be required to purchase all Fixtures owned by the Failed Bank and located on such premises as of Bank Closing.

#### (g) <u>Omitted</u>.

)

)

J

)

3

3

# 4.7 Agreement with Respect to Leased Data Processing Equipment

(a) The Receiver hereby grants to the Assuming Bank an exclusive option for the period of ninety (90) days commencing the day after Bank Closing to accept an assignment from the Receiver of any or all Data Processing Leases to the extent that such Data Processing Leases can be assigned.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall (i) give written notice to the Receiver within the option period specified in Section 4.7(a) of its intent to accept an assignment or sublease of any or all Data Processing Leases and promptly accept an assignment or sublease of such Data Processing Leases, and (ii) give written notice to the appropriate lessor(s) that it has accepted an assignment or sublease of any such Data Processing Leases.

(c) The Receiver agrees to facilitate the assignment or sublease of Data Processing Leases or the negotiation of new leases or license agreements by the Assuming Bank; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> neither the Receiver nor the Corporation shall be obligated to engage in litigation or make payments to the Assuming Bank or to any third party in connection with facilitating any such assumption, assignment, sublease or negotiation.

(d) The Assuming Bank agrees, during its period of use of any property subject to a Data Processing Lease, to pay to the Receiver or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of the applicable Data Processing Leases entered into by the Failed Bank, including without limitation the timely payment of all rent, taxes, fees, charges, utilities, insurance and assessments.

(e) The Assuming Bank shall, not later than fifty (50) days after giving the notice provided in Section 4.7(b), (i) relinquish and release to the Receiver all property subject to the relevant Data Processing Lease, in the same condition as at Bank Closing, normal wear and tear excepted, or (ii) accept an assignment or a sublease thereof or negotiate a new lease or license agreement under this Section 4.7.

# 4.8 Agreement with Respect to Certain Existing Agreements.

(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 4.8(b), with respect to agreements existing as of Bank Closing which provide for the rendering of services by or to the Failed Bank, within one

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 20

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada hundred twenty (120) days after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank shall give the Receiver written notice specifying whether it elects to assume or not to assume each such agreement. Except as may be otherwise provided in this Article IV, the Assuming Bank agrees to comply with the terms of each such agreement for a period commencing on the day after Bank Closing and ending on: (i) in the case of an agreement that provides for the rendering of services by the Failed Bank, the date which is ninety (90) days after Bank Closing, and (ii) in the case of an agreement that provides for the rendering of services to the Failed Bank, the date which is thirty (30) days after the Assuming Bank has given notice to the Receiver of its election not to assume such agreement; provided, that the Receiver can reasonably make such service agreements available to the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall be deemed by the Receiver to have assumed agreements for which no notification is timely given. The Receiver agrees to assign, transfer, convey, and deliver to the Assuming Bank all right, title and interest of the Receiver, if any, in and to agreements the Assuming Bank assumes hereunder. In the event the Assuming Bank elects not to accept an assignment of any lease (or sublease) or negotiate a new lease for leased Bank Premises under Section 4.6 and does not otherwise occupy such premises, the provisions of this Section 4.8(a) shall not apply to service agreements related to such premises. The Assuming Bank agrees, during the period it has the use or benefit of any such agreement, promptly to pay to the Receiver or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of such agreement.

(b) The provisions of Section 4.8(a) shall not apply to (i) agreements pursuant to which the Failed Bank provides mortgage servicing for others or mortgage servicing is provided to the Failed Bank by others, (ii) agreements that are subject to Sections 4.1 through 4.7 and any insurance policy or bond referred to in Section 3.5(a) or other agreement specified in Section 3.5, and (iii) consulting, management or employment agreements, if any, between the Failed Bank and its employees or other Persons. Except as otherwise expressly set forth elsewhere in this Agreement, the Assuming Bank does not assume any liabilities or acquire any rights under any of the agreements described in this Section 4.8(b).

4.9 <u>Informational Tax Reporting</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to perform all obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to Federal and State income tax informational reporting related to (i) the Assets and the Liabilities Assumed, (ii) deposit accounts that were closed and loans that were paid off or collateral obtained with respect thereto prior to Bank Closing, (iii) miscellaneous payments made to vendors of the Failed Bank, and (iv) any other asset or liability of the Failed Bank, including, without limitation, loans not purchased and Deposits not assumed by the Assuming Bank, as may be required by the Receiver.

4.10 <u>Insurance</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to obtain insurance coverage effective from and after Bank Closing, including public liability, fire and extended coverage insurance acceptable to the Receiver with respect to owned or leased Bank Premises that it occupies, and all owned or leased Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures and leased data processing equipment (including hardware and software) located thereon, in the event such insurance coverage is not already in force and effect with respect to the Assuming Bank as the insured as of Bank Closing. All such insurance shall, where appropriate (as determined by the Receiver), name the Receiver as an additional insured.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 21

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ÷.

1

G

C

Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00136

4.11 Office Space for Receiver and Corporation. For the period commencing on the day following Bank Closing and ending on the one hundred eightieth (180th) day thereafter, the Assuming Bank agrees to provide to the Receiver and the Corporation, without charge, adequate and suitable office space (including parking facilities and vault space), furniture, equipment (including photocopying and telecopying machines) and utilities (including local telephone service) at the Bank Premises occupied by the Assuming Bank for their use in the discharge of their respective functions with respect to the Failed Bank. In the event the Receiver and the Corporation determine that the space provided is inadequate or unsuitable, the Receiver and the Corporation may relocate to other quarters having adequate and suitable space and the costs of relocation and any rental and utility costs for the balance of the period of occupancy by the Receiver and the Corporation shall be borne by the Assuming Bank.

# 4.12 <u>Agreement with Respect to Continuation of Group Health Plan Coverage for</u> Former Employees of the Failed Bank.

The Assuming Bank agrees to assist the Receiver, as provided in this Section (a) 4.12, in offering individuals who were employees or former employees of the Failed Bank, or any of its Subsidiaries, and who, immediately prior to Bank Closing, were receiving, or were eligible to receive, health insurance coverage or health insurance continuation coverage from the Failed Bank ("Eligible Individuals"), the opportunity to obtain health insurance coverage in the Corporation's FIA Continuation Coverage Plan which provides for health insurance continuation coverage to such Eligible Individuals who are qualified beneficiaries of the Failed Bank as defined in Section 607 of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (respectively, "qualified beneficiaries" and "ERISA"). The Assuming Bank shall consult with the Receiver and not later than five (5) Business Days after Bank Closing shall provide written notice to the Receiver of the number (if available), identity (if available) and addresses (if available) of the Eligible Individuals who are qualified beneficiaries of the Failed Bank and for whom a "qualifying event" (as defined in Section 603 of ERISA) has occurred and with respect to whom the Failed Bank's obligations under Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA have not been satisfied in full, and such other information as the Receiver may reasonably require. The Receiver shall cooperate with the Assuming Bank in order to permit it to prepare such notice and shall provide to the Assuming Bank such data in its possession as may be reasonably required for purposes of preparing such notice.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall take such further action to assist the Receiver in offering the Eligible Individuals who are qualified beneficiaries of the Failed Bank the opportunity to obtain health insurance coverage in the Corporation's FIA Continuation Coverage Plan as the Receiver may direct. All expenses incurred and paid by the Assuming Bank (i) in connection with the obligations of the Assuming Bank under this Section 4.12, and (ii) in providing health insurance continuation coverage to any Eligible Individuals who are hired by the Assuming Bank and such employees' qualified beneficiaries shall be borne by the Assuming Bank.

(c) This Section 4.12 is for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties to this Agreement, and for the benefit of no other Person (including any former employee of the Failed Bank or any Subsidiary thereof or qualified beneficiary of such former employee). Nothing in this Section 4.12 is intended by the parties, or shall be construed, to give any Person (including

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 22

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

)

)

)

)

)

3

)

any former employee of the Failed Bank or any Subsidiary thereof or qualified beneficiary of such former employee) other than the Corporation, the Receiver and the Assuming Bank any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to the provisions of this Section.

### 4.13 <u>Omitted</u>.

### ARTICLE V

# DUTIES WITH RESPECT TO DEPOSITORS OF THE FAILED BANK

5.1 <u>Payment of Checks, Drafts and Orders</u>. Subject to Section 9.5, the Assuming Bank agrees to pay all properly drawn checks, drafts and withdrawal orders of depositors of the Failed Bank presented for payment, whether drawn on the check or draft forms provided by the Failed Bank or by the Assuming Bank, to the extent that the Deposit balances to the credit of the respective makers or drawers assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement are sufficient to permit the payment thereof, and in all other respects to discharge, in the usual course of conducting a banking business, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to the Deposit balances due and owing to the depositors of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement.

5.2 <u>Certain Agreements Related to Deposits</u>. Subject to Section 2.2, the Assuming Bank agrees to honor the terms and conditions of any written escrow or mortgage servicing agreement or other similar agreement relating to a Deposit liability assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement.

# 5.3 <u>Notice to Depositors</u>.

(a) Within seven (7) days after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank shall give (i) notice to depositors of the Failed Bank of its assumption of the Deposit liabilities of the Failed Bank, and (ii) any notice required under Section 2.2, by mailing to each such depositor a notice with respect to such assumption and by advertising in a newspaper of general circulation in the county or counties in which the Failed Bank was located. The Assuming Bank agrees that it will obtain prior approval of all such notices and advertisements from counsel for the Receiver and that such notices and advertisements shall not be mailed or published until such approval is received.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall give notice by mail to depositors of the Failed Bank concerning the procedures to claim their deposits, which notice shall be provided to the Assuming Bank by the Receiver or the Corporation. Such notice shall be included with the notice to depositors to be mailed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to Section 5.3(a).

(c) If the Assuming Bank proposes to charge fees different from those charged by the Failed Bank before it establishes new deposit account relationships with the depositors of the Failed Bank, the Assuming Bank shall give notice by mail of such changed fees to such depositors.

## ARTICLE VI RECORDS

23

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 2

1

3

G

G

Ć

ĺ,

Ć

# 6.1 <u>Transfer of Records</u>.

7

Э

)

3

)

)

3

)

(a) In accordance with Section 3.1, the Receiver assigns, transfers, conveys and delivers to the Assuming Bank the following Records pertaining to the Deposit liabilities of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement, except as provided in Section 6.4:

- (i) signature cards, orders, contracts between the Failed Bank and its depositors and Records of similar character;
- (ii) passbooks of depositors held by the Failed Bank, deposit slips, cancelled checks and withdrawal orders representing charges to accounts of depositors;

and the following Records pertaining to the Assets:

- (iii) records of deposit balances carried with other banks, bankers or trust companies;
- (iv) Loan and collateral records and Credit Files and other documents;
- (v) deeds, mortgages, abstracts, surveys, and other instruments or records of title pertaining to real estate or real estate mortgages;
- (vi) signature cards, agreements and records pertaining to Safe Deposit Boxes, if any; and
- (vii) records pertaining to the credit card business, trust business or safekeeping business of the Failed Bank, if any.

(b) The Receiver, at its option, may assign and transfer to the Assuming Bank by a single blanket assignment or otherwise, as soon as practicable after Bank Closing, any other Records not assigned and transferred to the Assuming Bank as provided in this Agreement, including but not limited to loan disbursement checks, general ledger tickets, official bank checks, proof transactions (including proof tapes) and paid out loan files.

6.2 <u>Delivery of Assigned Records</u>. The Receiver shall deliver to the Assuming Bank all Records described in (i) Section 6.1(a) as soon as practicable on or after the date of this Agreement, and (ii) Section 6.1(b) as soon as practicable after making any assignment described therein.

6.3 <u>Preservation of Records</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees that it will preserve and maintain for the joint benefit of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank, all Records of which it has custody for such period as either the Receiver or the Corporation in its discretion may require, until directed otherwise, <u>in writing</u>, by the Receiver or Corporation. The

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 24

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Assuming Bank shall have the primary responsibility to respond to subpoenas, discovery requests, and other similar official inquiries with respect to the Records of which it has custody.

6.4 <u>Access to Records: Copies</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to permit the Receiver and the Corporation access to all Records of which the Assuming Bank has custody, and to use, inspect, make extracts from or request copies of any such Records in the manner and to the extent requested, and to duplicate, in the discretion of the Receiver or the Corporation, any Record in the form of microfilm or microfiche pertaining to Deposit account relationships; <u>provided</u>, that in the event that the Failed Bank maintained one or more duplicate copies of such microfilm or microfiche Records, the Assuming Bank hereby assigns, transfers, and conveys to the Corporation one such duplicate copy of each such Record without cost to the Corporation, and agrees to deliver to the Corporation all Records assigned and transferred to the Corporation under this Article VI as soon as practicable on or after the date of this Agreement. The party requesting a copy of any Record shall bear the cost (based on standard accepted industry charges to the extent applicable, as determined by the Receiver) for providing such duplicate Records. A copy of each Record requested shall be provided as soon as practicable by the party having custody thereof.

# ARTICLE VII BID; INITIAL PAYMENT

# [\*\*\*NOTE TO ACQUIRER: The following will be modified to reflect the transaction consummated.]

The Assuming Bank has submitted to the Receiver a [positive] [negative] bid of [\_\_\_\_\_] for the Assets purchased and Liabilities Assumed hereunder (the "Bid Amount"). On the Payment Date, the Assuming Bank will pay to the Corporation, or the Corporation will pay to the Assuming Bank, as the case may be, the Initial Payment, together with interest on such amount (if the Payment Date is not the day following the day of Bank Closing) from and including the day following Bank Closing to and including the day preceding the Payment Date at the Settlement Interest Rate.

#### ARTICLE VIII PRO FORMA

The Assuming Bank, as soon as practical after Bank Closing, in accordance with the best information then available, shall provide to the Receiver a pro forma balance sheer statement indicating all assets and liabilities of the Failed Bank as shown on the Failed Bank's books and records as of Bank Closing and reflecting which assets and liabilities are passing to the Assuming Bank and which assets and liabilities are to be retained by the Receiver. In addition, the Assuming Bank is to provide to the Receiver, in a form acceptable to the Receiver, an electronic database of all loans and deposits of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing.

# ARTICLE IX CONTINUING COOPERATION

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 25

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 14

G

]

(1

(

Ç.

Ĝ

 $I_{s}^{*}$ 

Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00140

9.1 <u>General Matters</u>. The parties hereto agree that they will, in good faith and with their best efforts, cooperate with each other to carry out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to effect the purposes hereof.

9.2 <u>Additional Title Documents</u>. The Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank each agree, at any time, and from time to time, upon the request of any party hereto, to execute and deliver such additional instruments and documents of conveyance as shall be reasonably necessary to vest in the appropriate party its full legal or equitable title in and to the property transferred pursuant to this Agreement or to be transferred in accordance herewith. The Assuming Bank shall prepare such instruments and documents of conveyance (in form and substance satisfactory to the Receiver) as shall be necessary to vest title to the Assets in the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall be responsible for recording such instruments and documents of conveyance at its own expense.

# 9.3 <u>Claims and Suits</u>.

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

(a) The Receiver shall have the right, in its discretion, to (i) defend or settle any claim or suit against the Assuming Bank with respect to which the Receiver has indemnified the Assuming Bank in the same manner and to the same extent as provided in Article XII, and (ii) defend or settle any claim or suit against the Assuming Bank with respect to any Liability Assumed, which claim or suit may result in a loss to the Receiver arising out of or related to this Agreement, or which existed against the Failed Bank on or before Bank Closing. The exercise by the Receiver of any rights under this Section 9.3(a) shall not release the Assuming Bank with respect to any of its obligations under this Agreement.

(b) In the event any action at law or in equity shall be instituted by any Person against the Receiver and the Corporation as codefendants with respect to any asset of the Failed Bank retained or acquired pursuant to this Agreement by the Receiver, the Receiver agrees, at the request of the Corporation, to join with the Corporation in a petition to remove the action to the United States District Court for the proper district. The Receiver agrees to institute, with or without joinder of the Corporation as coplaintiff, any action with respect to any such retained or acquired asset or any matter connected therewith whenever notice requiring such action shall be given by the Corporation to the Receiver.

9.4 <u>Payment of Deposits</u>. In the event any depositor does not accept the obligation of the Assuming Bank to pay any Deposit liability of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement and asserts a claim against the Receiver for all or any portion of any such Deposit liability, the Assuming Bank agrees on demand to provide to the Receiver funds sufficient to pay such claim in an amount not in excess of the Deposit liability reflected on the books of the Assuming Bank at the time such claim is made. Upon payment by the Assuming Bank to the Receiver of such amount, the Assuming Bank shall be discharged from any further obligation under this Agreement to pay to any such depositor the amount of such Deposit liability paid to the Receiver.

9.5 <u>Withheld Payments</u>. At any time, the Receiver or the Corporation may, in its discretion, determine that all or any portion of any deposit balance assumed by the Assuming

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 26

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Bank pursuant to this Agreement does not constitute a "Deposit" (or otherwise, in its discretion, determine that it is the best interest of the Receiver or Corporation to withhold all or any portion of any deposit), and may direct the Assuming Bank to withhold payment of all or any portion of any such deposit balance. Upon such direction, the Assuming Bank agrees to hold such deposit and not to make any payment of such deposit balance to or on behalf of the depositor, or to itself, whether by way of transfer, set-off, or otherwise. The Assuming Bank agrees to maintain the "withheld payment" status of any such deposit balance until directed in writing by the Receiver or the Corporation as to its disposition. At the direction of the Receiver or the Corporation, the Assuming Bank shall return all or any portion of such deposit balance to the Receiver or the Corporation, as appropriate, and thereupon the Assuming Bank shall be discharged from any further liability to such depositor with respect to such returned deposit balance. If such deposit balance has been paid to the depositor prior to a demand for return by the Corporation or the Receiver, and payment of such deposit balance had not been previously withheld pursuant to this Section, the Assuming Bank shall not be obligated to return such deposit balance to the Receiver or the Corporation. The Assuming Bank shall be obligated to reimburse the Corporation or the Receiver, as the case may be, for the amount of any deposit balance or portion thereof paid by the Assuming Bank in contravention of any previous direction to withhold payment of such deposit balance or return such deposit balance the payment of which was withheld pursuant to this Section.

# 9.6 Proceedings with Respect to Certain Assets and Liabilities.

(a) In connection with any investigation, proceeding or other matter with respect to any asset or liability of the Failed Bank retained by the Receiver, or any asset of the Failed Bank acquired by the Receiver pursuant to this Agreement, the Assuming Bank shall cooperate to the extent reasonably required by the Receiver.

(b) In addition to its obligations under Section 6.4, the Assuming Bank shall provide representatives of the Receiver access at reasonable times and locations without other limitation or qualification to (i) its directors, officers, employees and agents and those of the Subsidiaries acquired by the Assuming Bank, and (ii) its books and records, the books and records of such Subsidiaries and all Credit Files, and copies thereof. Copies of books, records and Credit Files shall be provided by the Assuming Bank as requested by the Receiver and the costs of duplication thereof shall be borne by the Receiver.

(c) Not later than ten (10) days after the Put Notice pursuant to Section 3.4 or the date of the notice of transfer of any Loan by the Assuming Bank to the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.6, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver such documents with respect to such Loan as the Receiver may request, including without limitation the following: (i) all related Credit Documents (other than certificates, notices and other ancillary documents), (ii) a certificate setting forth the principal amount on the date of the transfer and the amount of interest, fees and other charges then accrued and unpaid thereon, and any restrictions on transfer to which any such Loan is subject, and (iii) all Credit Files, and all documents, microfiche, microfilm and computer records (including but not limited to magnetic tape, disc storage, card forms and printed copy) maintained by, owned by, or in the possession of the Assuming Bank or any Affiliate of the Assuming Bank relating to the transferred Loan.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 27

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 2

 $\sqrt{2}$ 

्रौ

3

Ċ

Ċ

Ĉ

Ĝ

9.7 Information. The Assuming Bank promptly shall provide to the Corporation such other information, including financial statements and computations, relating to the performance of the provisions of this Agreement as the Corporation or the Receiver may request from time to time, and, at the request of the Receiver, make available employees of the Failed Bank employed or retained by the Assuming Bank to assist in preparation of the pro forma statement pursuant to Section 8.1.

# ARTICLE X CONDITION PRECEDENT

The obligations of the parties to this Agreement are subject to the Receiver and the Corporation having received at or before Bank Closing evidence reasonably satisfactory to each of any necessary approval, waiver, or other action by any governmental authority, the board of directors of the Assuming Bank, or other third party, with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, the closing of the Failed Bank and the appointment of the Receiver, the chartering of the Assuming Bank, and any agreements, documents, matters or proceedings contemplated hereby or thereby.

# ARTICLE XI REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE ASSUMING BANK

The Assuming Bank represents and warrants to the Corporation and the Receiver as follows:

(a) <u>Corporate Existence and Authority</u>. The Assuming Bank (i) is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its Chartering Authority and has full power and authority to own and operate its properties and to conduct its business as now conducted by it, and (ii) has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. The Assuming Bank has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) <u>Third Party Consents</u>. No governmental authority or other third party consents (including but not limited to approvals, licenses, registrations or declarations) are required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Assuming Bank of this Agreement, other than such consents as have been duly obtained and are in full force and effect.

(c) <u>Execution and Enforceability</u>. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Assuming Bank and when this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Corporation and the Receiver, this Agreement will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Assuming Bank, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

# (d) <u>Compliance with Law</u>.

(i) Neither the Assuming Bank nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any statute, regulation, order, decision, judgment or decree of, or any restriction imposed by, the United States of America, any State, municipality or other political subdivision or any agency of

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 28

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

Ĵ

٦

)

)

٢

)

)

)

any of the foregoing, or any court or other tribunal having jurisdiction over the Assuming Bank or any of its Subsidiaries or any assets of any such Person, or any foreign government or agency thereof having such jurisdiction, with respect to the conduct of the business of the Assuming Bank or of any of its Subsidiaries, or the ownership of the properties of the Assuming Bank or any of its Subsidiaries, which, either individually or in the aggregate with all other such violations, would materially and adversely affect the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Assuming Bank or the ability of the Assuming Bank to perform, satisfy or observe any obligation or condition under this Agreement.

(ii) Neither the execution and delivery nor the performance by the Assuming Bank of this Agreement will result in any violation by the Assuming Bank of, or be in conflict with, any provision of any applicable law or regulation, or any order, writ or decree of any court or governmental authority.

e) <u>Representations Remain True</u>. The Assuming Bank represents and warrants that it has executed and delivered to the Corporation a Purchaser Eligibility Certification and Confidentiality Agreement and that all information provided and representations made by or on behalf of the Assuming Bank in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, but not limited to, the Purchaser Eligibility Certification and Confidentiality Agreement (which are affirmed and ratified hereby) are and remain true and correct in all material respects and do not fail to state any fact required to make the information contained therein not misleading.

# ARTICLE XII INDEMNIFICATION

12.1 Indemnification of Indemnitees. From and after Bank Closing and subject to the limitations set forth in this Section and Section 12.6 and compliance by the Indemnitees with Section 12.2, the Receiver agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnitees against any and all costs, losses, liabilities, expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred prior to the assumption of defense by the Receiver pursuant to paragraph (d) of Section 12.2, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with claims against any Indemnitee based on liabilities of the Failed Bank that are not assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank for which indemnification is provided hereunder in (a) of this Section 12.1, subject to certain exclusions as provided in (b) of this Section 12.1:

# (a)

(1) claims based on the rights of any shareholder or former shareholder as such of (x) the Failed Bank, or (y) any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank;

(2) claims based on the rights of any creditor as such of the Failed Bank, or any creditor as such of any director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank, with respect to any indebtedness or other obligation of the Failed Bank arising prior to Bank Closing;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 29

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 5

Ċ

1

Č

(3) claims based on the rights of any present or former director, officer, employee or agent as such of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank;

(4) claims based on any action or inaction prior to Bank Closing of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as such, or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, or the directors, officers, employees or agents as such of such Subsidiary or Affiliate;

(5) claims based on any malfeasance, misfeasance or nonfeasance of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents with respect to the trust business of the Failed Bank, if any;

(6) claims based on any failure or alleged failure (not in violation of law) by the Assuming Bank to continue to perform any service or activity previously performed by the Failed Bank which the Assuming Bank is not required to perform pursuant to this Agreement or which arise under any contract to which the Failed Bank was a party which the Assuming Bank elected not to assume in accordance with this Agreement and which neither the Assuming Bank nor any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank has assumed subsequent to the execution hereof;

(7) claims arising from any action or inaction of any Indemnitee, including for purposes of this Section 12.1(a)(7) the former officers or employees of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank that is taken upon the specific written direction of the Corporation or the Receiver, <u>other than</u> any action or inaction taken in a manner constituting bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct; and

(8) claims based on the rights of any depositor of the Failed Bank whose deposit has been accorded "withheld payment" status and/or returned to the Receiver or Corporation in accordance with Section 9.5 and/or has become an "unclaimed deposit" or has been returned to the Corporation or the Receiver in accordance with Section 2.3;

(b) <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u>, with respect to this Agreement, except for paragraphs (7) and (8) of Section 12.1(a), no indemnification will be provided under this Agreement for any:

(1) judgment or fine against, or any amount paid in settlement (without the written approval of the Receiver) by, any Indemnitee in connection with any action that seeks damages against any Indemnitee (a "counterclaim") arising with respect to any Asset and based on any action or inaction of either the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as such prior to Bank Closing, unless any such judgment, fine or amount paid in settlement exceeds the greater of (i) the Repurchase Price of such Asset, or (ii) the monetary recovery sought on such Asset by the Assuming Bank in the cause of action from which the counterclaim arises; and in such event the Receiver will provide indemnification only in the amount of such excess; and no indemnification will be provided for any costs or expenses other than any costs or expenses (including attorneys' fees) which, in the determination of the Receiver, have been actually and reasonably incurred by such Indemnitee in connection with the defense of any such counterclaim; and it is expressly agreed that the Receiver reserves the right to intervene, in its

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 30

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

्रे

)

)

)

)

3

)

discretion, on its behalf and/or on behalf of the Receiver, in the defense of any such counterclaim;

(2) claims with respect to any liability or obligation of the Failed Bank that is expressly assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(3) claims with respect to any liability of the Failed Bank to any present or former employee as such of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, which liability is expressly assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(4) claims based on the failure of any Indemnitee to seek recovery of damages from the Receiver for any claims based upon any action or inaction of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as fiduciary, agent or custodian prior to Bank Closing;

(5) claims based on any violation or alleged violation by any Indemnitee of the antitrust, branching, banking or bank holding company or securities laws of the United States of America or any State thereof;

(6) claims based on the rights of any present or former creditor, customer, or supplier as such of the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(7) claims based on the rights of any present or former shareholder as such of the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank regardless of whether any such present or former shareholder is also a present or former shareholder of the Failed Bank;

(8) claims, if the Receiver determines that the effect of providing such indemnification would be to (i) expand or alter the provisions of any warranty or disclaimer thereof provided in Section 3.3 or any other provision of this Agreement, or (ii) create any warranty not expressly provided under this Agreement;

(9) claims which could have been enforced against any Indemnitee had the Assuming Bank not entered into this Agreement;

(10) claims based on any liability for taxes or fees assessed with respect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including without limitation any subsequent transfer of any Assets or Liabilities Assumed to any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(11) except as expressly provided in this Article XII, claims based on any action or inaction of any Indemnitee, and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to provide indemnification for (i) the Failed Bank, (ii) any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, or (iii) any present or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver, in its discretion, may provide indemnification hereunder for any present or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank or its

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 31

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 3

(å

ų.

Ą

Subsidiaries or Affiliates who is also or becomes a director, officer, employee or agent of the Assuming Bank or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates;

(12) claims or actions which constitute a breach by the Assuming Bank of the representations and warranties contained in Article XI;

(13) claims arising out of or relating to the condition of or generated by an Asset arising from or relating to the presence, storage or release of any hazardous or toxic substance, or any pollutant or contaminant, or condition of such Asset which violate any applicable Federal, State or local law or regulation concerning environmental protection; and

(14) claims based on, related to or arising from any asset, including a loan, acquired or liability assumed by the Assuming Bank, other than pursuant to this Agreement; and

(15) claims based on, related to or arising from any liability specifically not assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to Section 2.5 of this Agreement.

12.2 <u>Conditions Precedent to Indemnification</u>. It shall be a condition precedent to the obligation of the Receiver to indemnify any Person pursuant to this Article XII that such Person shall, with respect to any claim made or threatened against such Person for which such Person is or may be entitled to indemnification hereunder:

(a) give written notice to the Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch) of the Corporation in the manner and at the address provided in Section 13.7 of such claim as soon as practicable after such claim is made or threatened; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> notice must be given on or before the date which is six (6) years from the date of this Agreement;

(b) provide to the Receiver such information and cooperation with respect to such claim as the Receiver may reasonably require;

(c) cooperate and take all steps, as the Receiver may reasonably require, to preserve and protect any defense to such claim;

(d) in the event suit is brought with respect to such claim, upon reasonable prior notice, afford to the Receiver the right, which the Receiver may exercise in its sole discretion, to conduct the investigation, control the defense and effect settlement of such claim, including without limitation the right to designate counsel and to control all negotiations, litigation, arbitration, settlements, compromises and appeals of any such claim, all of which shall be at the expense of the Receiver; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver shall have notified the Person claiming indemnification in writing that such claim is a claim with respect to which the Person claiming indemnification is entitled to indemnification under this Article XII;

(e) not incur any costs or expenses in connection with any response or suit with respect to such claim, unless such costs or expenses were incurred upon the written direction of the Receiver; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver shall not be obligated to reimburse the amount of any such costs or expenses unless such costs or expenses were incurred upon the written direction of the Receiver;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 32

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

)

)

)

3

)

3

(f) not release or settle such claim or make any payment or admission with respect thereto, unless the Receiver consents in writing thereto, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver shall not be obligated to reimburse the amount of any such settlement or payment unless such settlement or payment was effected upon the written direction of the Receiver; and

(g) take reasonable action as the Receiver may request in writing as necessary to preserve, protect or enforce the rights of the indemnified Person against any Primary Indemnitor.

12.3 <u>No Additional Warranty</u>. Nothing in this Article XII shall be construed or deemed to (i) expand or otherwise alter any warranty or disclaimer thereof provided under Section 3.3 or any other provision of this Agreement with respect to, among other matters, the title, value, collectibility, genuineness, enforceability or condition of any (x) Asset, or (y) asset of the Failed Bank purchased by the Assuming Bank subsequent to the execution of this Agreement by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank, or (ii) create any warranty not expressly provided under this Agreement with respect thereto.

12.4 <u>Indemnification of Receiver and Corporation</u>. From and after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Corporation and the Receiver and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents from and against any and all costs, losses, liabilities, expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any of the following:

(a) claims based on any and all liabilities or obligations of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank, whether or not any such liabilities subsequently are sold and/or transferred, other than any claim based upon any action or inaction of any Indemnitee as provided in paragraph (7) or (8) of Section 12.1(a); and

(b) claims based on any act or omission of any Indemnitee (including but not limited to claims of any Person claiming any right or title by or through the Assuming Bank with respect to Assets transferred to the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.4 or 3.6), other than any action or inaction of any Indemnitee as provided in paragraph (7) or (8) of Section 12.1(a).

12.5 <u>Obligations Supplemental</u>. The obligations of the Receiver, and the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, to provide indemnification under this Article XII are to supplement any amount payable by any Primary Indemnitor to the Person indemnified under this Article XII. Consistent with that intent, the Receiver agrees only to make payments pursuant to such indemnification to the extent not payable by a Primary Indemnitor. If the aggregate amount of payments by the Receiver, or the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, and all Primary Indemnitors with respect to any item of indemnification under this Article XII exceeds the amount payable with respect to such item, such Person being indemnified shall notify the Receiver thereof and, upon the request of the Receiver, shall promptly pay to the Receiver, or the Corporation as appropriate, the amount of the Receiver's (or Corporation's) payments to the extent of such excess.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 33

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

Ć

Confidential

12.6 <u>Criminal Claims</u>. Notwithstanding any provision of this Article XII to the contrary, in the event that any Person being indemnified under this Article XII shall become involved in any criminal action, suit or proceeding, whether judicial, administrative or investigative, the Receiver shall have no obligation hereunder to indemnify such Person for liability with respect to any criminal act or to the extent any costs or expenses are attributable to the defense against the allegation of any criminal act, unless (i) the Person is successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense against any such action, suit or proceeding, or (ii) such action, suit or proceeding is terminated without the imposition of liability on such Person.

12.7 <u>Limited Guaranty of the Corporation</u>. The Corporation hereby guarantees performance of the Receiver's obligation to indemnify the Assuming Bank as set forth in this Article XII. It is a condition to the Corporation's obligation hereunder that the Assuming Bank shall comply in all respects with the applicable provisions of this Article XII. The Corporation shall be liable hereunder only for such amounts, if any, as the Receiver is obligated to pay under the terms of this Article XII but shall fail to pay. Except as otherwise provided above in this Section 12.7, nothing in this Article XII is intended or shall be construed to create any liability or obligation on the part of the Corporation, the United States of America or any department or agency thereof under or with respect to this Article XII, or any provision hereof, it being the intention of the parties hereto that the obligations undertaken by the Receiver under this Article XII are the sole and exclusive responsibility of the Receiver and no other Person or entity.

12.8 <u>Subrogation</u>. Upon payment by the Receiver, or the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, to any Indemnitee for any claims indemnified by the Receiver under this Article XII, the Receiver, or the Corporation as appropriate, shall become subrogated to all rights of the Indemnitee against any other Person to the extent of such payment.

#### ARTICLE XIII MISCELLANEOUS

13.1 <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement embodies the entire agreement of the parties hereto in relation to the subject matter herein and supersedes all prior understandings or agreements, oral or written, between the parties.

13.2 <u>Headings</u>. The headings and subheadings of the Table of Contents, Articles and Sections contained in this Agreement, except the terms identified for definition in Article I and elsewhere in this Agreement, are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

13.3 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the duly authorized representative of a different party hereto on separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.

13.4 <u>GOVERNING LAW</u>. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FEDERAL LAW OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 34

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

3

)

)

)

3

)

AND IN THE ABSENCE OF CONTROLLING FEDERAL LAW, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE IN WHICH THE MAIN OFFICE OF THE FAILED BANK IS LOCATED.

13.5 <u>Successors</u>. All terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding on the successors and assigns of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, nothing expressed or referred to in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give any Person other than the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to this Agreement or any provisions contained herein, it being the intention of the parties hereto that this Agreement, the obligations and statements of responsibilities hereunder, and all other conditions and provisions hereof are for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank and for the benefit of no other Person.

13.6 <u>Modification: Assignment</u>. No amendment or other modification, rescission, release, or assignment of any part of this Agreement shall be effective except pursuant to a written agreement subscribed by the duly authorized representatives of the parties hereto.

13.7 <u>Notice</u>. Any notice, request, demand, consent, approval or other communication to any party hereto shall be effective when received and shall be given in writing, and delivered in person against receipt therefor, or sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, courier service, telex or facsimile transmission to such party (with copies as indicated below) at its address set forth below or at such other address as it shall hereafter furnish in writing to the other parties. All such notices and other communications shall be deemed given on the date received by the addressee.

## Assuming Bank

.

Attention: \_\_\_\_\_

with a copy to:

**Receiver and Corporation** 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Receiver of Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada 1601 Bryan St., Suite 1700 Dallas, Texas 75201

Attention: Deputy Director (DRR-Field Operations Branch)

with copy to: Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch)

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 35

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ....

ų.

ġ.

3

Confidential

# and with respect to notice under Article XII:

3

Э

)

)

)

)

)

7

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Receiver of Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada 1601 Bryan St., Suite 1700 Dallas, Texas 75201 Attention: Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch)

13.8 <u>Manner of Payment</u>. All payments due under this Agreement shall be in lawful money of the United States of America in immediately available funds as each party hereto may specify to the other parties; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> in the event the Receiver or the Corporation is obligated to make any payment hereunder in the amount of \$25,000.00 or less, such payment may be made by check.

13.9 <u>Costs, Fees and Expenses</u>. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, each party hereto agrees to pay all costs, fees and expenses which it has incurred in connection with or incidental to the matters contained in this Agreement, including without limitation any fees and disbursements to its accountants and counsel; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Assuming Bank shall pay all fees, costs and expenses (other than attorneys' fees incurred by the Receiver) incurred in connection with the transfer to it of any Assets or Liabilities Assumed hereunder or in accordance herewith.

13.10 <u>Waiver</u>. Each of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank may waive its respective rights, powers or privileges under this Agreement; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> such waiver shall be in writing; <u>and further provided</u>, <u>that</u> no failure or delay on the part of the Receiver, the Corporation or the Assuming Bank to exercise any right, power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor will any single or partial exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege by the Receiver, the Corporation, or the Assuming Bank under this Agreement, nor will any such waiver operate or be construed as a future waiver of such right, power or privilege under this Agreement.

13.11 <u>Severability</u>. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid or unenforceable, then, to the extent possible, all of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall be binding upon the parties hereto.

13.12 <u>Term of Agreement</u>. This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until the sixth (6th) anniversary of Bank Closing; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the provisions of Section 6.3 and 6.4 shall survive the expiration of the term of this Agreement. Provided, however, the receivership of the Failed Bank may be terminated prior to the expiration of the term of this Agreement; in such event, the guaranty of the Corporation, as provided in and in accordance with the provisions of Section 12.7 shall be in effect for the remainder of the term. Expiration of the term of this Agreement shall not affect any claim or liability of any party with respect to any (i) amount which is owing at the time of such expiration, regardless of when such amount becomes payable, and (ii) breach of this Agreement occurring prior to such expiration, regardless of when such breach is discovered.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 36

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

13.13 <u>Survival of Covenants, Etc</u>. The covenants, representations, and warranties in this Agreement shall survive the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder.

[Signature Page Follows]

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 37

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada  $\left\{ \begin{array}{c} 1\\ 2\end{array} \right\}$ 

 $\frac{1}{2}$ 

Ç,

ć

# Confidential

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives as of the date first above written.

FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, RECEIVER OF:

WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK,

# HENDERSON, NEVADA

BY:\_\_\_\_\_

| NAME: |          |  |
|-------|----------|--|
|       | <u> </u> |  |

TITLE:\_\_\_\_\_

# FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

| BY: | <br> | <br> |
|-----|------|------|
|     |      |      |

| NAME: |
|-------|
|-------|

TITLE:\_\_\_\_\_

Attest:

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

1

# [ASSUMING BANK - INSERT NAME]

BY:\_\_\_\_\_

NAME:\_\_\_\_\_

TITLE:\_\_\_\_\_

Attest:

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 38

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

# SCHEDULE 2.1 - Certain Liabilities Assumed

39

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM

.

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ]

÷.,

1

4

 $\langle ;$ 

Confidential

# SCHEDULE 3.1 - Certain Assets Purchased

# SEE ATTACHED LIST

THE LIST(S) ATTACHED TO THIS SCHEDULE (OR SUBSCHEDULE(S)) AND THE INFORMATION THEREIN, IS AS OF BANK CLOSING. THE LIST(S) MAY NOT INCLUDE ALL LOANS AND ASSETS (E.G., CHARGED OFF LOANS). THE LIST(S) MAY BE REPLACED WITH A MORE ACCURATE LIST POST CLOSING.

•

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 40

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

3

3

# SCHEDULE 3.2 - Purchase Price of Assets or assets

# [[\*\*\*NOTE TO ACQUIRER: The following will be modified to reflect the transaction consummated.]]

| (a)     | cash and receivables from depository<br>institutions, including cash items in the<br>process of collection, plus<br>interest thereon: | Book Value   |
|---------|---|--|
| (b)     | securities (exclusive of the capital stock of Acquired Subsidiaries), plus interest thereon:  | As provided in Section 3.2(b)  |
| (c)     | federal funds sold and repurchase<br>agreements, if any, including interest<br>thereon:   | Book Value   |
| (d)     | Loans:  | Book Value   |
| (e)     | Other Real Estate:  | Book Value   |
| (f)     | credit card business, if any, including all outstanding extensions of credit:   | Book Value   |
| (g)     | Safe Deposit Boxes and related business,<br>safekeeping business and trust business, if<br>any:                                       | Book Value   |
| (h)     | Records and other documents:  | Book Value   |
| (i)     | capital stock of any Acquired Subsidiaries:   | Book Value   |
| (j)     | amounts owed to the Failed Bank by any Acquired Subsidiary:   | Book Value   |
| (k)     | assets securing Deposits of public money,<br>to the extent not otherwise purchased<br>hereunder:                                      | Book Value   |
| (1)     | Overdrafts of customers:  | Book Value   |
| (m)     | rights, if any, with respect to Qualified Financial Contracts.  | As provided in Section 3.2(c)  |
| Whole P | & A 991022 41   | Washington Mutua   |
| Contomb |   | The association of the second se |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 3

1

14-30

ų

ŕ,

!

| ( | (n) | rights of the Failed Bank to provide<br>mortgage servicing for others and to have<br>mortgage servicing provided to the Failed<br>Bank by others and related contracts. | Book Value |
|---|-----|---|------------|
| ( | (0) | Bank Premises:  | Book Value |
| ( | (p) | Furniture and Equipment:  | Book Value |
| ( | (q) | Fixtures:   | Book Value |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 42

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

.

Confidential

)

)

Э

3

)

)

)

)

2

•

#### SCHEDULE 3.5 - Certain Assets Not Purchased

(1) Any financial institution bonds, banker's blanket bonds, or public liability, fire, or extended coverage insurance policy or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank, or premium refund, unearned premium derived from cancellation, or any proceeds payable with respect to any of the foregoing;

(2) any interest, right, action, claim, or judgment against (i) any officer, director, employee, accountant, attorney, or any other Person employed or retained by the Failed Bank or any Subsidiary of the Failed Bank on or prior to Bank Closing arising out of any act or omission of such Person in such capacity, (ii) any underwriter of financial institution bonds, banker's blanket bonds or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank, (iii) any shareholder or holding company of the Failed Bank, or (iv) any other Person whose action or inaction may be related to any loss (exclusive of any loss resulting from such Person's failure to pay on a Loan made by the Failed Bank) incurred by the Failed Bank; <u>provided, that</u> for the purposes hereof, the acts, omissions or other events giving rise to any such claim shall have occurred on or before Bank Closing, regardless of when any such claim is discovered and regardless of whether any such claim is made with respect to a financial institution bond, banker's blanket bond, or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank Closing;

(3) leased Bank Premises and leased Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures and data processing equipment (including hardware and software) located on leased or owned Bank Premises, if any; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Assuming Bank does obtain an option under Section 4.6, Section 4.7 or Section 4.8, as the case may be, with respect thereto; and

(4) any criminal/restitution orders issued in favor of the Failed Bank;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 43

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ł

1

Q

Confidential

# EXHIBIT 3.2(c) -- VALUATION OF CERTAIN QUALIFIED FINANCIAL CONTRACTS

#### A. <u>Scope</u>

)

)

)

3

)

3

ì

)

)

Interest Rate Contracts - All interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, interest rate futures, caps, collars and floors, whether purchased or written.

Option Contracts - All put and call option contracts, whether purchased or written, on marketable securities, financial futures, foreign currencies, foreign exchange or foreign exchange futures contracts.

Foreign Exchange Contracts - All contracts for future purchase or sale of foreign currencies, foreign currency or cross currency swap contracts, or foreign exchange futures contracts.

## B. <u>Exclusions</u>

All financial contracts used to hedge assets and liabilities that are acquired by the Assuming Bank but are not subject to adjustment from Book Value.

## C. Adjustment

The difference between the Book Value and market value as of Bank Closing.

## D. <u>Methodology</u>

- 1. The price at which the Assuming Bank sells or disposes of Qualified Financial Contracts will be deemed to be the fair market value of such contracts, if such sale or disposition occurs at prevailing market rates within a predefined timetable as agreed upon by the Assuming Bank and the Receiver.
- 2. In valuing all other Qualified Financial Contracts, the following principles will apply:
  - (i) All known cash flows under swaps or forward exchange contracts shall be present valued to the swap zero coupon interest rate curve.
  - (ii) All valuations shall employ prices and interest rates based on the actual frequency of rate reset or payment.
  - (iii) Each tranche of amortizing contracts shall be separately valued. The total value of such amortizing contract shall be the sum of the values of its component tranches.
  - (iv) For regularly traded contracts, valuations shall be at the midpoint of the bid and ask prices quoted by customary sources (e.g., <u>The Wall Street</u>

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 44

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Journal, Telerate, Reuters or other similar source) or regularly traded exchanges.

(v) For all other Qualified Financial Contracts where published market quotes are unavailable, the adjusted price shall be the average of the bid and ask price quotes from three (3) securities dealers acceptable to the Receiver and Assuming Bank as of Bank Closing. If quotes from securities dealers cannot be obtained, an appraiser acceptable to the Receiver and the Assuming Bank will perform a valuation based on modeling, correlation analysis, interpolation or other techniques, as appropriate.

45

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada **1** × •

į

(]

Ą

## PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT

#### WHOLE BANK

## AMONG

## FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, RECEIVER OF WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK, HENDERSON, NEVADA

#### FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

and

#### **DATED AS OF**

\_\_\_\_\_, 2008

ATTENTION PROSPECTIVE ACQUIRERS: Certain words, clauses and Sections within bold brackets and which may be accompanied by "[NOTE TO ACQUIRER]" in this form Agreement are alternative provisions which will be included, stricken or modified in the final agreement to conform to the transaction consummated.

٤

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ARTICLE I   | DEFINITIONS  | 5     |
|-------------|--|-------|
| ARTICLE II  | ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES  | 11    |
| 2.1         | Liabilities Assumed by Assuming Bank                             | 11    |
| 2.2         | Interest on Deposit Liabilities                                  |       |
| 2.3         | Unclaimed Deposits   | 13    |
| 2.4         | Employee Benefit Plans   | 13    |
| 2.5         | Borrower Claims  | 13    |
| ARTICLE III | PURCHASE OF ASSETS   | 13    |
| 3.1         | Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank                                | 13    |
| 3.2         | Asset Purchase Price   | 13    |
| 3.3         | Manner of Conveyance; Limited Warranty;                          |       |
|             | Nonrecourse; Etc   | 14    |
| 3.4         | Puts of Assets to the Receiver                                   | 14    |
| 3.5         | Assets Not Purchased by Assuming Bank                            |       |
| 3.6         | Assets Essential to Receiver                                     | 16    |
| ARTICLE IV  | ASSUMPTION OF CERTAIN DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS.                    | 17    |
| 4.1         | Continuation of Banking Business                                 | 17    |
| 4.2         | Agreement with Respect to Credit Card Business                   |       |
| 4.3         | Agreement with Respect to Safe Deposit Business                  |       |
| 4.4         | Agreement with Respect to Safekeeping Business                   | 18    |
| 4.5         | Agreement with Respect to Trust Business                         | 18    |
| 4.6         | Agreement with Respect to Bank Premises                          | 18    |
| 4.7         | Agreement with Respect to Leased Data                            |       |
|             | Processing Equipment   | 20    |
| 4.8         | Agreement with Respect to Certain                                |       |
|             | Existing Agreements  | 20    |
| 4.9         | Informational Tax Reporting                                      | 21    |
| 4.10        | Insurance  | 21    |
| 4.11        | Office Space for Receiver and Corporation                        | 22    |
| 4.12        | Agreement with Respect to Continuation of Group Health Plan Cove | erage |
|             | for Former Employees of the Failed Bank                          | 22    |
| 4.13        | Omitted  | 23    |
|             |  |       |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM

.

1

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada j

Č,

44

 $\zeta_{4}^{4}$ 

Ĵ.

Ų

| <b>ARTICLE V</b> | DUTIES WITH RESPECT TO DEPOSITORS<br>OF THE FAILED BANK       | 23 |
|------------------|---|----|
| 5.1              | Payment of Checks, Drafts and Orders                          | 23 |
| 5.2              | Certain Agreements Related to Deposits                        |    |
| 5.3              | Notice to Depositors  | 23 |
| ARTICLE VI       | RECORDS   | 23 |
| 6.1              | Transfer of Records   | 24 |
| 6.2              | Delivery of Assigned Records                                  | 24 |
| 6.3              | Preservation of Records                                       | 24 |
| 6.4              | Access to Records; Copies                                     | 24 |
| ARTICLE VII      | BID; INITIAL PAYMENT  |    |
| ARTICLE VIII     | PRO FORMA   | 25 |
| ARTICLE IX       | CONTINUING COOPERATION  | 25 |
| 9.1              | General Matters   |    |
| 9.2              | Additional Title Documents                                    |    |
| 9.3              | Claims and Suits  |    |
| 9.4              | Payment of Deposits   |    |
| 9.5              | Withheld Payments   |    |
| 9.6              | Proceedings with Respect to Certain Assets<br>and Liabilities | 27 |
| 9.7              | Information   |    |
| ARTICLE X        | CONDITION PRECEDENT   |    |
| ARTICLE XI       | REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE<br>ASSUMING BANK        | 28 |
| ARTICLE XII      | INDEMNIFICATION   |    |
| 12.1             | Indemnification of Indemnitees                                | 29 |
| 12.2             | Conditions Precedent to Indemnification                       |    |
| 12.3             | No Additional Warranty  |    |
| 12.4             | Indemnification of Corporation and Receiver                   |    |
| 12.5             | Obligations Supplemental                                      |    |
| 12.6             | Criminal Claims   | 34 |
| 12.7             | Limited Guaranty of the Corporation                           |    |
| 12.8             | Subrogation   |    |
| ARTICLE XIII     | MISCELLANEOUS   |    |
|                  | 2   |    |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

3

)

7

>

)

)

3

)

.

л. с. 1

| 13.1  | Entire Agreement            | 34 |
|-------|-----------------------------|----|
| 13.2  | Headings                    |    |
| 13.3  | Counterparts                | 34 |
| 13.4  | Governing Law               | 34 |
| 13.5  | Successors                  |    |
| 13.6  | Modification; Assignment    |    |
| 13.7  | Notice                      |    |
| 13.8  | Manner of Payment           | 36 |
| 13.9  | Costs, Fees and Expenses    |    |
| 13.10 | Waiver                      |    |
| 13.11 | Severability                |    |
| 13.12 | Term of Agreement           |    |
| 13.13 | Survival of Covenants, Etc. |    |

# **SCHEDULES**

| 2.1   | Certain Liabilities Assumed        |                              |
|-------|------------------------------------|------------------------------|
| 3.1   | Certain Assets Purchased           |                              |
| 3.2   | Purchase Price of Assets or Assets |                              |
| 3.5 · | Certain Assets Not Purchased       | Error! Bookmark not defined. |

# EXHIBIT

| 3.2(c) | Valuation of Certain Qualified Financial Contracts | 44 |
|--------|--|----|
|--------|--|----|

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada .

ą

Ç,

ê

10.0

11

#### **PURCHASE AND ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT**

#### WHOLE BANK

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of the \_\_\_\_\_\_\_, 2008, by and among the FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, RECEIVER of WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK, HENDERSON, NEVADA (the "Receiver"), [Assuming Bank]\_\_\_\_\_, organized under the laws of \_\_[the United States of America] [State]\_\_, and having its principal place of business in [City], [State]\_\_ (the "Assuming Bank"), and the FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION, organized under the laws of the United States of America and having its principal office in Washington, D.C., acting in its corporate capacity (the "Corporation").

#### WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, on Bank Closing, the Chartering Authority closed Washington Mutual Bank (the "Failed Bank") pursuant to applicable law and the Corporation was appointed Receiver thereof; and

WHEREAS, the Assuming Bank desires to purchase certain assets and assume certain deposit and other liabilities of the Failed Bank on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, pursuant to 12 U.S.C. Section 1823(c)(2)(A), the Corporation may provide assistance to the Assuming Bank to facilitate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, which assistance may include indemnification pursuant to Article XII; and

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors of the Corporation (the "Board") has determined to provide assistance to the Assuming Bank on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Board has determined pursuant to 12 U.S.C. Section 1823(c)(4)(A) that such assistance is necessary to meet the obligation of the Corporation to provide insurance coverage for the insured deposits in the Failed Bank and is the least costly to the deposit insurance fund of all possible methods for meeting such obligation.

**NOW THEREFORE**, in consideration of the mutual promises herein set forth and other valuable consideration, the parties hereto agree as follows:

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 4

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

3

)

)

)

)

#### ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS

Capitalized terms used in this Agreement shall have the meanings set forth in this Article I, or elsewhere in this Agreement. As used herein, words imparting the singular include the plural and vice versa.

"<u>Accounting Records</u>" means the general ledger and subsidiary ledgers and supporting schedules which support the general ledger balances.

"Acquired Subsidiaries" means Subsidiaries of the Failed Bank acquired pursuant to Section 3.1.

"Adversely Classified" means, with respect to any Loan or security, a Loan or security which has been designated in the most recent report of examination as "Substandard," "Doubtful" or "Loss" by the Failed Bank's appropriate Federal or State Chartering Authority or regulator.

"<u>Affiliate</u>" of any Person means any director, officer, or employee of that Person and any other Person (i) who is directly or indirectly controlling, or controlled by, or under direct or indirect common control with, such Person, or (ii) who is an affiliate of such Person as the term "affiliate" is defined in Section 2 of the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956, as amended, 12 U.S.C. Section 1841.

"<u>Agreement</u>" means this Purchase and Assumption Agreement by and among the Assuming Bank, the Corporation and the Receiver, as amended or otherwise modified from time to time.

"<u>Assets</u>" means all assets of the Failed Bank purchased pursuant to Section 3.1. Assets owned by Subsidiaries of the Failed Bank are not "Assets" within the meaning of this definition.

"Assumed Deposits" means Deposits.

"<u>Bank Closing</u>" means the close of business of the Failed Bank on the date on which the Chartering Authority closed such institution.

"<u>Bank Premises</u>" means the banking houses, drive-in banking facilities, and teller facilities (staffed or automated) together with appurtenant parking, storage and service facilities and structures connecting remote facilities to banking houses, and land on which the foregoing are located, that are owned or leased by the Failed Bank and that are occupied by the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing.

"Bid Amount" has the meaning provided in Article VII.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 5

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada à

ुं

1

ςŤ

Confidential

"Book Value" means, with respect to any Asset and any Liability Assumed, the dollar amount thereof stated on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank. The Book Value of any item shall be determined as of Bank Closing after adjustments made by the Receiver for differences in accounts, suspense items, unposted debits and credits, and other similar adjustments or corrections and for setoffs, whether voluntary or involuntary. The Book Value of a Subsidiary of the Failed Bank acquired by the Assuming Bank shall be determined from the investment in subsidiary and related accounts on the "bank only" (unconsolidated) balance sheet of the Failed Bank based on the equity method of accounting. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (i) the Book Value of a Liability Assumed shall include all accrued and unpaid interest thereon as of Bank Closing, and (ii) the Book Value of a Loan shall reflect adjustments for earned interest, or unearned interest (as it relates to the "rule of 78s" or add-on-interest loans, as applicable), if any, as of Bank Closing, adjustments for the portion of earned or unearned loan-related credit life and/or disability insurance premiums, if any, attributable to the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, and adjustments for Failed Bank Advances, if any, in each case as determined for financial reporting purposes. The Book Value of an Asset shall not include any adjustment for loan premiums, discounts or any related deferred income or fees, or general or specific reserves on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank.

"Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, Federal legal holiday or legal holiday under the laws of the State where the Failed Bank is located, or a day on which the principal office of the Corporation is closed.

"<u>Chartering Authority</u>" means (i) with respect to a national bank, the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, (ii) with respect to a Federal savings association or savings bank, the Office of Thrift Supervision, (iii) with respect to a bank or savings institution chartered by a State, the agency of such State charged with primary responsibility for regulating and/or closing banks or savings institutions, as the case may be, (iv) the Corporation in accordance with 12 U.S.C. Section 1821(c), with regard to self appointment, or (v) the appropriate Federal banking agency in accordance with 12 U.S.C. 1821(c)(9).

"<u>Commitment</u>" means the unfunded portion of a line of credit or other commitment reflected on the books and records of the Failed Bank to make an extension of credit (or additional advances with respect to a Loan) that was legally binding on the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, other than extensions of credit pursuant to the credit card business and overdraft protection plans of the Failed Bank, if any.

"Credit Documents" mean the agreements, instruments, certificates or other documents at any time evidencing or otherwise relating to, governing or executed in connection with or as security for, a Loan, including without limitation notes, bonds, loan agreements, letter of credit applications, lease financing contracts, banker's acceptances, drafts, interest protection agreements, currency exchange agreements, repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agreements, guarantees, deeds of trust, mortgages, assignments, security agreements, pledges, subordination or priority agreements, lien priority agreements, undertakings, security instruments, certificates, documents, legal opinions, participation agreements and intercreditor agreements, and all amendments, modifications, renewals, extensions, rearrangements, and substitutions with respect to any of the foregoing.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 6

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

3

)

)

3

`،

)

"<u>Credit File</u>" means all Credit Documents and all other credit, collateral, or insurance documents in the possession or custody of the Assuming Bank, or any of its Subsidiaries or Affiliates, relating to an Asset or a Loan included in a Put Notice, or copies of any thereof.

"Data Processing Lease" means any lease or licensing agreement, binding on the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, the subject of which is data processing equipment or computer hardware or software used in connection with data processing activities. A lease or licensing agreement for computer software used in connection with data processing activities shall constitute a Data Processing Lease regardless of whether such lease or licensing agreement also covers data processing equipment.

"Deposit" means a deposit as defined in 12 U.S.C. Section 1813(l), including without limitation, outstanding cashier's checks and other official checks and all uncollected items included in the depositors' balances and credited on the books and records of the Failed Bank; provided, that the term "Deposit" shall not include all or any portion of those deposit balances which, in the discretion of the Receiver or the Corporation, (i) may be required to satisfy it for any liquidated or contingent liability of any depositor arising from an unauthorized or unlawful transaction, or (ii) may be needed to provide payment of any liability of any depositor to the Failed Bank or the Receiver, including the liability of any depositor as a director or officer of the Failed Bank, whether or not the amount of the liability is or can be determined as of Bank Closing.

"<u>Failed Bank Advances</u>" means the total sums paid by the Failed Bank to (i) protect its lien position, (ii) pay ad valorem taxes and hazard insurance, and (iii) pay credit life insurance, accident and health insurance, and vendor's single interest insurance.

"<u>Fixtures</u>" means those leasehold improvements, additions, alterations and installations constituting all or a part of Bank Premises and which were acquired, added, built, installed or purchased at the expense of the Failed Bank, regardless of the holder of legal title thereto as of Bank Closing.

"<u>Furniture and Equipment</u>" means the furniture and equipment (other than Safe Deposit Boxes, motor vehicles, and leased data processing equipment, including hardware and software), leased or owned by the Failed Bank and reflected on the books of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, including without limitation automated teller machines, carpeting, furniture, office machinery (including personal computers), shelving, office supplies, telephone, surveillance and security systems, and artwork.

"Indemnitees" means, except as provided in paragraph (11) of Section 12.1(b), (i) the Assuming Bank, (ii) the Subsidiaries and Affiliates of the Assuming Bank other than any Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Failed Bank that are or become Subsidiaries or Affiliates of the Assuming Bank, and (iii) the directors, officers, employees and agents of the Assuming Bank and its Subsidiaries and Affiliates who are <u>not</u> also present or former directors, officers, employees or agents of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 7

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Ç

1

3

đ

é

Confidential

"Initial Payment" means the payment made pursuant to Article VII (based on the best information available as of Bank Closing), the amount of which shall be either (i) if the Bid Amount is positive, the aggregate Book Value of the Liabilities Assumed <u>minus</u> the sum of the aggregate purchase price of the Assets and assets purchased and the positive Bid Amount, or (ii) if the Bid Amount is negative, the sum of the aggregate Book Value of the Liabilities Assumed and the negative Bid Amount <u>minus</u> the aggregate purchase price of the Assets and assets purchased. The Initial Payment shall be payable by the Corporation to the Assuming Bank if (i) the Liabilities Assumed are greater than the sum of the positive Bid Amount and the Assets and assets purchased, or if (ii) the sum of the Liabilities Assumed and the negative Bid Amount are greater than the Assets and assets purchased. The Initial Payment shall be payable by the Assuming Bank to the Corporation if (i) the Liabilities Assumed are less than the sum of the positive Bid Amount and the Assets and assets purchased, or if (ii) the sum of the Liabilities Assumed and the negative Bid Amount is less than the Assets and assets purchased. Such Initial Payment shall be subject to adjustment as provided in Article VIII.

"Legal Balance" means the amount of indebtedness legally owed by an Obligor with respect to a Loan, including principal and accrued and unpaid interest, late fees, attorneys' fees and expenses, taxes, insurance premiums, and similar charges, if any.

"Liabilities Assumed" has the meaning provided in Section 2.1.

"<u>Lien</u>" means any mortgage, lien, pledge, charge, assignment for security purposes, security interest, or encumbrance of any kind with respect to an Asset, including any conditional sale agreement or capital lease or other title retention agreement relating to such Asset.

"Loans" means all of the following owed to or held by the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing:

(i) loans (including loans which have been charged off the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank in whole or in part), participation agreements, interests in participations, overdrafts of customers (including but not limited to overdrafts made pursuant to an overdraft protection plan or similar extensions of credit in connection with a deposit account), revolving commercial lines of credit, home equity lines of credit, Commitments, United States and/or State-guaranteed student loans, and lease financing contracts;

(ii) all Liens, rights (including rights of set-off), remedies, powers, privileges, demands, claims, priorities, equities and benefits owned or held by, or accruing or to accrue to or for the benefit of, the holder of the obligations or instruments referred to in clause (i) above, including but not limited to those arising under or based upon Credit Documents, casualty insurance policies and binders, standby letters of credit, mortgagee title insurance policies and binders, payment bonds and performance bonds at any time and from time to time existing with respect to any of the obligations or instruments referred to in clause (i) above; and

(iii) all amendments, modifications, renewals, extensions, refinancings, and refundings of or for any of the foregoing;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 8

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

3

)

)

7

٦

)

)

provided, that there shall be excluded from the definition of "Loans" amounts owing under Qualified Financial Contracts.

"<u>Obligor</u>" means each Person liable for the full or partial payment or performance of any Loan, whether such Person is obligated directly, indirectly, primarily, secondarily, jointly, or severally.

"<u>Other Real Estate</u>" means all interests in real estate (other than Bank Premises and Fixtures), including but not limited to mineral rights, leasehold rights, condominium and cooperative interests, air rights and development rights that are owned by the Failed Bank.

"Payment Date" means the first Business Day after Bank Closing.

"<u>Person</u>" means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization, or government or any agency or political subdivision thereof, excluding the Corporation.

"<u>Primary Indemnitor</u>" means any Person (other than the Assuming Bank or any of its Affiliates) who is obligated to indemnify or insure, or otherwise make payments (including payments on account of claims made against) to or on behalf of any Person in connection with the claims covered under Article XII, including without limitation any insurer issuing any directors and officers liability policy or any Person issuing a financial institution bond or banker's blanket bond.

"Put Date" has the meaning provided in Section 3.4.

"Put Notice" has the meaning provided in Section 3.4.

"Qualified Financial Contract" means a qualified financial contract as defined in 12 U.S.C. Section 1821(e)(8)(D).

"<u>Record</u>" means any document, microfiche, microfilm and computer records (including but not limited to magnetic tape, disc storage, card forms and printed copy) of the Failed Bank generated or maintained by the Failed Bank that is owned by or in the possession of the Receiver at Bank Closing.

"<u>Related Liability</u>" with respect to any Asset means any liability existing and reflected on the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing for (i) indebtedness secured by mortgages, deeds of trust, chattel mortgages, security interests or other liens on or affecting such Asset, (ii) ad valorem taxes applicable to such Asset, and (iii) any other obligation determined by the Receiver to be directly related to such Asset.

"<u>Related Liability Amount</u>" with respect to any Related Liability on the books of the Assuming Bank, means the amount of such Related Liability as stated on the Accounting Records of the Assuming Bank (as maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles) as of the date as of which the Related Liability Amount is being determined. With respect to a liability that relates to more than one asset, the amount of such Related Liability shall

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 9

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 6

d.

ų,

UĨ.

Ç,

1

be allocated among such assets for the purpose of determining the Related Liability Amount with respect to any one of such assets. Such allocation shall be made by specific allocation, where determinable, and otherwise shall be pro rata based upon the dollar amount of such assets stated on the Accounting Records of the entity that owns such asset.

"<u>Repurchase Price</u>" means with respect to any Asset or asset, which shall be determined by the Receiver, the <u>lesser</u> of (a) or (b):

(a) (i) in the event of a negative Bid Amount, the amount paid by the Assuming Bank, discounted by a percentage equal to the quotient produced by dividing the Assuming Bank's Bid Amount by the aggregate Book Value of the Risk Assets of the Failed Bank;

(ii) in the event of a negative Bid Amount, the amount resulting from (a)(i), above, or in the event of a positive Bid Amount, the amount paid by the Assuming Bank, (x) for a Loan, shall be decreased by any portion of the Loan classified "loss" and by one-half of any portion of the Loan classified "doubtful" as of the date of Bank Closing, and (y) for any Asset or asset, including a Loan, decreased by the amount of any money received with respect thereto since Bank Closing and, if the Asset is a Loan or other interest bearing or earning asset, the resulting amount shall then be increased or decreased, as the case may be, by interest or discount (whichever is applicable) accrued from and after Bank Closing at the lower of: (i) the contract rate with respect to such Asset, or (ii) the Settlement Interest Rate; net proceeds received by or due to the Assuming Bank from the sale of collateral, any forgiveness of debt, or otherwise shall be deemed money received by the Assuming Bank; or

(b) the dollar amount thereof stated on the Accounting Records of the Assuming Bank as of the date as of which the Repurchase Price is being determined, as maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and, if the asset is a Loan, regardless of the Legal Balance thereof and adjusted in the same manner as the Book Value of a Failed Bank Loan would be adjusted hereunder.

Provided, however, (b), above, shall not be applicable and the Bid Amount shall be considered to have been positive for Loans repurchased pursuant to Section 3.4(a).

"<u>Risk Assets</u>" means (i) all Loans purchased hereunder, excluding (a) New Loans and (b) Loans to the extent secured by Assumed Deposits (and not included in (i)(a)), plus (ii) the Accrued Interest Receivable, Prepaid Expense, and Other Assets.

"<u>Safe Deposit Boxes</u>" means the safe deposit boxes of the Failed Bank, if any, including the removable safe deposit boxes and safe deposit stacks in the Failed Bank's vault(s), all rights and benefits (other than fees collected prior to Bank Closing) under rental agreements with respect to such safe deposit boxes, and all keys and combinations thereto.

"<u>Settlement Date</u>" means the first Business Day immediately prior to the day which is one hundred eighty (180) days after Bank Closing, or such other date prior thereto as may be agreed upon by the Receiver and the Assuming Bank. The Receiver, in its discretion, may extend the Settlement Date.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 10

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

)

3

)

"<u>Settlement Interest Rate</u>" means, for the first calendar quarter or portion thereof during which interest accrues, the rate determined by the Receiver to be equal to the equivalent coupon issue yield on twenty-six (26)-week United States Treasury Bills in effect as of Bank Closing as published in <u>The Wall Street Journal</u>; provided, that if no such equivalent coupon issue yield is available as of Bank Closing, the equivalent coupon issue yield for such Treasury Bills most recently published in <u>The Wall Street Journal</u> prior to Bank Closing shall be used. Thereafter, the rate shall be adjusted to the rate determined by the Receiver to be equal to the equivalent coupon issue yield on such Treasury Bills in effect as of the first day of each succeeding calendar quarter during which interest accrues as published in <u>The Wall Street</u> <u>Journal</u>.

"Subsidiary" has the meaning set forth in Section 3(w)(4) of the Federal Deposit Insurance Act, 12 U.S.C. Section 1813(w)(4), as amended.

## ARTICLE II ASSUMPTION OF LIABILITIES

2.1 <u>Liabilities Assumed by Assuming Bank</u>. The Assuming Bank expressly assumes at Book Value (subject to adjustment pursuant to Article VIII) and agrees to pay, perform, and discharge all of the following liabilities of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, except as otherwise provided in this Agreement (such liabilities referred to as "Liabilities Assumed"):

(a) Assumed Deposits; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> as to any Deposits of public money which are Assumed Deposits, the Assuming Bank agrees to properly secure such Deposits with such of the Assets as appropriate which, prior to Bank Closing, were pledged as security therefor by the Failed Bank, or with assets of the Assuming Bank, if such securing Assets, if any, are insufficient to properly secure such Deposits;

(b) liabilities for indebtedness secured by mortgages, deeds of trust, chattel mortgages, security interests or other liens on or affecting any Assets, if any; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the assumption of any liability pursuant to this paragraph shall be limited to the market value of the Assets securing such liability as determined by the Receiver;

(c) overdrafts, debit balances, service charges, reclamations, and adjustments to accounts with the Federal Reserve Banks as reflected on the books and records of any such Federal Reserve Bank within ninety (90) days after Bank Closing, if any;

(d) ad valorem taxes applicable to any Asset, if any; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the assumption of any ad valorem taxes pursuant to this paragraph shall be limited to an amount equal to the market value of the Asset to which such taxes apply as determined by the Receiver;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 11

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

đ

1

đ

(e) liabilities, if any, for federal funds purchased, repurchase agreements and overdrafts in accounts maintained with other depository institutions (including any accrued and unpaid interest thereon computed to and including Bank Closing); provided, that the assumption of any liability pursuant to this paragraph shall be limited to the market value of the Assets securing such liability as determined by the Receiver;

(f) United States Treasury tax and loan note option accounts, if any;

(g) liabilities for any acceptance or commercial letter of credit (other than "standby letters of credit" as defined in 12 C.F.R. Section 337.2(a)); provided, that the assumption of any liability pursuant to this paragraph shall be limited to the market value of the Assets securing such liability as determined by the Receiver;

(h) duties and obligations assumed pursuant to this Agreement including without limitation those relating to the Failed Bank's credit card business, overdraft protection plans, safe deposit business, safekeeping business or trust business, if any;

(i) liabilities, if any, for Commitments;

(j) liabilities, if any, for amounts owed to any Subsidiary of the Failed Bank acquired under Section 3.1; and

(k) duties and obligations under any contract pursuant to which the Failed Bank provides mortgage servicing for others, or mortgage servicing is provided to the Failed Bank by others.

Schedule 2.1 attached hereto and incorporated herein sets forth certain categories of Liabilities Assumed and the aggregate Book Value of the Liabilities Assumed in such categories. Such schedule is based upon the best information available to the Receiver and may be adjusted as provided in Article VIII.

2.2 Interest on Deposit Liabilities. The Assuming Bank agrees that, from and after Bank Closing, it will accrue and pay interest on Deposit liabilities assumed pursuant to Section 2.1 at a rate(s) it shall determine; provided, that for nontransaction Deposit liabilities such rate(s) shall not be less than the lowest rate offered by the Assuming Bank to its depositors for nontransaction deposit accounts. The Assuming Bank shall permit each depositor to withdraw, without penalty for early withdrawal, all or any portion of such depositor's Deposit, whether or not the Assuming Bank elects to pay interest in accordance with any deposit agreement formerly existing between the Failed Bank and such depositor; and further provided, that if such Deposit has been pledged to secure an obligation of the depositor or other party, any withdrawal thereof shall be subject to the terms of the agreement governing such pledge. The Assuming Bank shall give notice to such depositors as provided in Section 5.3 of the rate(s) of interest which it has determined to pay and of such withdrawal rights.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 12

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

3

1

)

3

7

٦,

2.3 Unclaimed Deposits. If, within eighteen (18) months after Bank Closing, any depositor of the Failed Bank does not claim or arrange to continue such depositor's Deposit assumed pursuant to Section 2.1 at the Assuming Bank, the Assuming Bank shall, within fifteen (15) Business Days after the end of such eighteen (18)-month period, (i) refund to the Corporation the full amount of each such Deposit (without reduction for service charges), (ii) provide to the Corporation a schedule of all such refunded Deposits in such form as may be prescribed by the Corporation, and (iii) assign, transfer, convey and deliver to the Receiver all right, title and interest of the Assuming Bank in and to Records previously transferred to the Assuming Bank and other records generated or maintained by the Assuming Bank pertaining to such Deposits. During such eighteen (18)-month period, at the request of the Corporation, the Assuming Bank promptly shall provide to the Corporation schedules of unclaimed deposits in such form as may be prescribed by the Corporation (18)-month period, at the request of unclaimed deposits in such form as may be prescribed by the Corporation.

2.4 <u>Employee Benefit Plans</u>. Except as provided in Section 4.12, the Assuming Bank shall have no liabilities, obligations or responsibilities under the Failed Bank's health care, bonus, vacation, pension, profit sharing or stock purchase plans or similar plans, if any, unless the Receiver and the Assuming Bank agree otherwise subsequent to the date of this Agreement.

2.5 <u>Borrower Claims</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any liability associated with borrower claims for payment of or liability to any borrower for monetary relief, or that provide for any other form of relief to any borrower, whether or not such liability is reduced to judgment, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed or undisputed, legal or equitable, judicial or extra-judicial, secured or unsecured, whether asserted affirmatively or defensively, related in any way to any loan or commitment to lend made by the Failed Bank prior to failure, or to any loan made by a third party in connection with a loan which is or was held by the Failed Bank, or otherwise arising in connection with the Failed Bank's lending or loan purchase activities are specifically not assumed by the Assuming Bank.

#### ARTICLE III PURCHASE OF ASSETS

**3.1** Assets Purchased by Assuming Bank. Subject to Sections 3.5 and 3.6, the Assuming Bank hereby purchases from the Receiver, and the Receiver hereby sells, assigns, transfers, conveys, and delivers to the Assuming Bank, all right, title, and interest of the Receiver in and to all of the assets (real, personal and mixed, wherever located and however acquired) of the Failed Bank whether or not reflected on the books of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing, as set forth in Schedule 3.1 attached hereto and incorporated herein. Schedule 3.1 sets forth certain categories of Assets. Such schedule is based upon the best information available to the Receiver and may be adjusted as provided in Article VIII. Assets are purchased hereunder by the Assuming Bank subject to all liabilities for indebtedness collateralized by Liens affecting such Assets to the extent provided in Section 2.1.

## 3.2 Asset Purchase Price.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 13

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ű

Confidential

(a) All Assets and assets of the Failed Bank subject to an option to purchase by the Assuming Bank shall be purchased for the amount, or the amount resulting from the method specified for determining the amount, as specified on Schedule 3.2, except as otherwise may be provided herein. Any Asset, asset of the Failed Bank subject to an option to purchase or other asset purchased for which no purchase price is specified on Schedule 3.2 or otherwise herein shall be purchased at its Book Value. Loans or other assets charged off the Accounting Records of the Failed Bank prior to the date of Bank Closing shall be purchased at a price of zero.

(b) The purchase price for securities (other than the capital stock of any Acquired Subsidiary) purchased under Section 3.1 by the Assuming Bank shall be the market value thereof as of Bank Closing, which market value shall be (i) the "Mid/Last", or "Trade" (as applicable), market price for each such security quoted at the close of the trading day effective on Bank Closing as published electronically by <u>Bloomberg, L.P.;</u> (ii) <u>provided, that</u> if such market price is not available for any such security, the Assuming Bank will submit a bid for each such security within three days of notification/bid request by the Receiver (unless a different time period is agreed to by the Assuming Bank and the Receiver) and the Receiver, in its sole discretion will accept or reject each such bid; and (iii) <u>further provided</u> in the absence of an acceptable bid from the Assuming Bank, each such security shall not pass to the Assuming Bank and shall be deemed to be an excluded asset hereunder.

(c) Qualified Financial Contracts shall be purchased at market value determined in accordance with the terms of Exhibit 3.2(c). Any costs associated with such valuation shall be shared equally by the Receiver and the Assuming Bank.

3.3 <u>Manner of Conveyance; Limited Warranty; Nonrecourse; Etc</u>. THE CONVEYANCE OF ALL ASSETS, INCLUDING REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY INTERESTS, PURCHASED BY THE ASSUMING BANK UNDER THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE MADE, AS NECESSARY, BY RECEIVER'S DEED OR RECEIVER'S BILL OF SALE, "AS IS", "WHERE IS", WITHOUT RECOURSE AND, EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE SPECIFICALLY PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, WITHOUT ANY WARRANTIES WHATSOEVER WITH RESPECT TO SUCH ASSETS, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WITH RESPECT TO TITLE, ENFORCEABILITY, COLLECTIBILITY, DOCUMENTATION OR FREEDOM FROM LIENS OR ENCUMBRANCES (IN WHOLE OR IN PART), OR ANY OTHER MATTERS.

3.4 Puts of Assets to the Receiver.

#### (a) <u>Omitted</u>.

(b) <u>Puts Prior to the Settlement Date</u>. During the period from Bank Closing to and including the Business Day immediately preceding the Settlement Date, the Assuming Bank shall be entitled to require the Receiver to purchase any Asset which the Assuming Bank can establish is evidenced by forged or stolen instruments as of Bank Closing. The Assuming Bank shall transfer all such Assets to the Receiver without recourse, and shall indemnify the Receiver against any and all claims of any Person claiming by, through or under the Assuming Bank with respect to any such Asset, as provided in Section 12.4.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 14

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

Ą.

3

1

)

)

(c) <u>Notices to the Receiver</u>. In the event that the Assuming Bank elects to require the Receiver to purchase one or more Assets, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver a notice (a "Put Notice") which shall include:

- (i) a list of all Assets that the Assuming Bank requires the Receiver to purchase;
- (ii) a list of all Related Liabilities with respect to the Assets identified pursuant to (i) above; and
- (iii) a statement of the estimated Repurchase Price of each Asset identified pursuant to (i) above as of the applicable Put Date.

Such notice shall be in the form prescribed by the Receiver or such other form to which the Receiver shall consent. As provided in Section 9.6, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver such documents, Credit Files and such additional information relating to the subject matter of the Put Notice as the Receiver may request and shall provide to the Receiver full access to all other relevant books and records.

(d) <u>Purchase by Receiver</u>. The Receiver shall purchase Loans that are specified in the Put Notice and shall assume Related Liabilities with respect to such Loans, and the transfer of such Loans and Related Liabilities shall be effective as of a date determined by the Receiver which date shall not be later than thirty (30) days after receipt by the Receiver of the Credit Files with respect to such Loans (the "Put Date").

(e) <u>Purchase Price and Payment Date</u>. Each Loan purchased by the Receiver pursuant to this Section 3.4 shall be purchased at a price equal to the Repurchase Price of such Loan less the Related Liability Amount applicable to such Loan, in each case determined as of the applicable Put Date. If the difference between such Repurchase Price and such Related Liability Amount is positive, then the Receiver shall pay to the Assuming Bank the amount of such difference; if the difference between such amounts is negative, then the Assuming Bank shall pay to the Receiver the amount of such difference. The Assuming Bank or the Receiver, as the case may be, shall pay the purchase price determined pursuant to this Section 3.4(e) not later than the twentieth (20th) Business Day following the applicable Put Date, together with interest on such amount at the Settlement Interest Rate for the period from and including such Put Date to and including the day preceding the date upon which payment is made.

(f) <u>Servicing</u>. The Assuming Bank shall administer and manage any Asset subject to purchase by the Receiver in accordance with usual and prudent banking standards and business practices until such time as such Asset is purchased by the Receiver.

(g) <u>Reversals</u>. In the event that the Receiver purchases an Asset (and assumes the Related Liability) that it is not required to purchase pursuant to this Section 3.4, the Assuming Bank shall repurchase such Asset (and assume such Related Liability) from the Receiver at a price computed so as to achieve the same economic result as would apply if the Receiver had never purchased such Asset pursuant to this Section 3.4.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 15

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

1

ē

6

4

3.5 <u>Assets Not Purchased by Assuming Bank</u>. The Assuming Bank does not purchase, acquire or assume, or (except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement) obtain an option to purchase, acquire or assume under this Agreement the assets or Assets listed on the attached Schedule 3.5.

## 3.6 Assets Essential to Receiver.

3

2

)

)

2

1

)

(a) The Receiver may refuse to sell to the Assuming Bank, or the Assuming Bank agrees, at the request of the Receiver set forth in a written notice to the Assuming Bank, to assign, transfer, convey, and deliver to the Receiver all of the Assuming Bank's right, title and interest in and to, any Asset or asset essential to the Receiver as determined by the Receiver in its discretion (together with all Credit Documents evidencing or pertaining thereto), which may include any Asset or asset that the Receiver determines to be:

- (i) made to an officer, director, or other Person engaging in the affairs of the Failed Bank, its Subsidiaries or Affiliates or any related entities of any of the foregoing;
- the subject of any investigation relating to any claim with respect to any item described in Section 3.5(a) or (b), or the subject of, or potentially the subject of, any legal proceedings;
- (iii) made to a Person who is an Obligor on a loan owned by the Receiver or the Corporation in its corporate capacity or its capacity as receiver of any institution;
- (iv) secured by collateral which also secures any asset owned by the Receiver; or
- (v) related to any asset of the Failed Bank not purchased by the Assuming Bank under this Article III or any liability of the Failed Bank not assumed by the Assuming Bank under Article II.

(b) Each such Asset or asset purchased by the Receiver shall be purchased at a price equal to the Repurchase Price thereof less the Related Liability Amount with respect to any Related Liabilities related to such Asset or asset, in each case determined as of the date of the notice provided by the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.6(a). The Receiver shall pay the Assuming Bank not later than the twentieth (20th) Business Day following receipt of related Credit Documents and Credit Files together with interest on such amount at the Settlement Interest Rate for the period from and including the date of receipt of such documents to and including the day preceding the day on which payment is made. The Assuming Bank agrees to administer and manage each such Asset or asset in accordance with usual and prudent banking standards and business practices until each such Asset or asset is purchased by the Receiver. All transfers with respect to Asset or assets under this Section 3.6 shall be made as provided in Section 9.6. The Assuming Bank shall transfer all such Asset or assets and Related Liabilities to the Receiver without recourse, and shall indemnify the Receiver against any and all claims of any Person

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 16

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada claiming by, through or under the Assuming Bank with respect to any such Asset or asset, as provided in Section 12.4.

## ARTICLE IV ASSUMPTION OF CERTAIN DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS

The Assuming Bank agrees with the Receiver and the Corporation as follows:

4.1 <u>Continuation of Banking Business</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to provide full service banking in the trade area of the Failed Bank commencing on the first banking business day (including a Saturday) after Bank Closing. At the option of the Assuming Bank, such banking services may be provided at any or all of the Bank Premises, or at other premises within such trade area.

4.2 <u>Agreement with Respect to Debit and Credit Card Business</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to honor and perform, from and after Bank Closing, all duties and obligations with respect to the Failed Bank's debit and credit card business, and/or processing related to debit and credit cards, if any, and assumes all outstanding extensions of credit with respect thereto. Fees related to the debit and credit card business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

4.3 <u>Agreement with Respect to Safe Deposit Business</u>. The Assuming Bank assumes and agrees to discharge, from and after Bank Closing, in the usual course of conducting a banking business, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to all Safe Deposit Boxes, if any, of the Failed Bank and to maintain all of the necessary facilities for the use of such boxes by the renters thereof during the period for which such boxes have been rented and the rent therefor paid to the Failed Bank, subject to the provisions of the rental agreements between the Failed Bank and the respective renters of such boxes; provided, that the Assuming Bank may relocate the Safe Deposit Boxes of the Failed Bank to any office of the Assuming Bank located in the trade area of the Failed Bank. Fees related to the safe deposit business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

4.4 <u>Agreement with Respect to Safekeeping Business</u>. The Receiver transfers, conveys and delivers to the Assuming Bank and the Assuming Bank accepts all securities and other items, if any, held by the Failed Bank in safekeeping for its customers as of Bank Closing. The Assuming Bank assumes and agrees to honor and discharge, from and after Bank Closing, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to such securities and items held in safekeeping. The Assuming Bank shall be entitled to all rights and benefits heretofore accrued or hereafter accruing with respect thereto; provided, that, fees related to the safe keeping business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall provide to the Receiver written verification of all assets held by the Failed Bank for safekeeping within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 17

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 4

1

**(** )

 $\mathcal{C}$ 

# 4.5 Agreement with Respect to Trust Business.

(a) The Assuming Bank shall, without further transfer, substitution, act or deed, to the full extent permitted by law, succeed to the rights, obligations, properties, assets, investments, deposits, agreements, and trusts of the Failed Bank under trusts, executorships, administrations, guardianships, and agencies, and other fiduciary or representative capacities, all to the same extent as though the Assuming Bank had assumed the same from the Failed Bank prior to Bank Closing; provided, that any liability based on the misfeasance, malfeasance or nonfeasance of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents with respect to the trust business is not assumed hereunder. Fees related to the trust business collected prior to Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Receiver and fees collected after Bank Closing shall be for the benefit of the Assuming Bank.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall, to the full extent permitted by law, succeed to, and be entitled to take and execute, the appointment to all executorships, trusteeships, guardianships and other fiduciary or representative capacities to which the Failed Bank is or may be named in wills, whenever probated, or to which the Failed Bank is or may be named or appointed by any other instrument.

(c) In the event additional proceedings of any kind are necessary to accomplish the transfer of such trust business, the Assuming Bank agrees that, at its own expense, it will take whatever action is necessary to accomplish such transfer. The Receiver agrees to use reasonable efforts to assist the Assuming Bank in accomplishing such transfer.

(d) The Assuming Bank shall provide to the Receiver written verification of the assets held in connection with the Failed Bank's trust business within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing.

# 4.6 Agreement with Respect to Bank Premises.

(a) **Option to Lease.** The Receiver hereby grants to the Assuming Bank an exclusive option for the period of ninety (90) days commencing the day after Bank Closing to cause the Receiver to assign to the Assuming Bank any or all leases for leased Bank Premises, if any, which have been continuously occupied by the Assuming Bank from Bank Closing to the date it elects to accept an assignment of the leases with respect thereto to the extent such leases can be assigned; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the exercise of this option with respect to any lease must be as to all premises or other property subject to the lease. If an assignment cannot be made of any such leases, the Receiver may, in its discretion, enter into subleases with the Assuming Bank containing the same terms and conditions provided under such existing leases for such leased Bank Premises or other property. The Assuming Bank shall give notice to the Receiver within the option period of its election to accept or not to accept an assignment of any or all leases (or enter into subleases or new leases in lieu thereof). The Assuming Bank agrees to assume all leases assigned (or enter into subleases in lieu thereof) pursuant to this Section 4.6.

(b) **Facilitation.** The Receiver agrees to facilitate the assumption, assignment or sublease of leases or the negotiation of new leases by the Assuming Bank; provided, that neither

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 18

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

3

)

)

٦,

)

the Receiver nor the Corporation shall be obligated to engage in litigation, make payments to the Assuming Bank or to any third party in connection with facilitating any such assumption, assignment, sublease or negotiation or commit to any other obligations to third parties.

(c) <u>Occupancy</u>. The Assuming Bank shall give the Receiver fifteen (15) days' prior written notice of its intention to vacate prior to vacating any leased Bank Premises with respect to which the Assuming Bank has not exercised the option provided in Section 4.6(a). Any such notice shall be deemed to terminate the Assuming Bank's option with respect to such leased Bank Premises.

# (d) <u>Occupancy Costs</u>.

(i) The Assuming Bank agrees, during the period of any occupancy by it of leased Bank Premises, to pay to the Receiver, or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver, all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of applicable leases entered into by the Failed Bank, including without limitation the timely payment of all rent, taxes, fees, charges, utilities, insurance and assessments.

(ii) The Assuming Bank agrees during the period of occupancy by it of leased Bank Premises to pay to the Receiver rent for the use of all leased Furniture and Equipment and all owned or leased Fixtures located on such Bank Premises for the period of such occupancy. Rent for such property owned by the Failed Bank shall be the market rental value thereof, as determined by the Receiver within sixty (60) days after Bank Closing. Rent for such leased property shall be an amount equal to any and all rent and other amounts which the Receiver incurs or accrues as an obligation or is obligated to pay for such period of occupancy pursuant to all leases and contracts with respect to such property. If the Assuming Bank purchases any owned Fixtures in accordance with Section 4.6(e), the amount of any rents paid by the Assuming Bank with respect thereto shall be applied as an offset against the purchase price thereof.

(e) <u>Certain Requirements as to Furniture, Equipment and Fixtures</u>. If the Assuming Bank accepts an assignment of the lease (or enters into a sublease or a new lease in lieu thereof) for leased Bank Premises, or if the Assuming Bank does not exercise such option but within twelve (12) months following Bank Closing obtains the right to occupy such premises (whether by assignment, lease, sublease, purchase or otherwise), other than in accordance with Section 4.6(a), the Assuming Bank shall (i) accept an assignment or a sublease of the leases or negotiate new leases for all Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures leased by the Failed Bank and located thereon, and (ii) if applicable, accept an assignment or a sublease of any ground lease or negotiate a new ground lease with respect to any land on which such Bank Premises are located; provided, that the Receiver shall not have disposed of such Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures or repudiated the leases specified in clause (i) or (ii).

(f) <u>Vacating Premises</u>. If the Assuming Bank elects not to accept an assignment of the lease or sublease any leased Bank Premises, the notice of such election in accordance with Section 4.6(a) shall specify the date upon which the Assuming Bank's occupancy of such leased Bank Premises shall terminate, which date shall not be later than the date which is one hundred eighty (180) days after Bank Closing. Upon vacating such premises, the Assuming Bank shall relinquish and release to the Receiver such premises and the Fixtures located thereon in the same

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 19

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada ÷

C

6

Ű.

(

Č.

(.7

condition as at Bank Closing, normal wear and tear excepted. By failing to provide notice of its intention to vacate such premises prior to the expiration of the option period specified in Section 4.6(a), or by occupying such premises after the one hundred eighty (180)-day period specified above in this paragraph, the Assuming Bank shall, at the Receiver's option, (x) be deemed to have assumed all leases, obligations and liabilities with respect to such premises (including any ground lease with respect to the land on which premises are located), and leased Furniture and Equipment and leased Fixtures located thereon in accordance with this Section 4.6 (unless the Receiver previously repudiated any such lease), and (y) be required to purchase all Fixtures owned by the Failed Bank and located on such premises as of Bank Closing.

## (g) <u>Omitted</u>.

)

Э

3

3

3

)

)

)

# 4.7 Agreement with Respect to Leased Data Processing Equipment

(a) The Receiver hereby grants to the Assuming Bank an exclusive option for the period of ninety (90) days commencing the day after Bank Closing to accept an assignment from the Receiver of any or all Data Processing Leases to the extent that such Data Processing Leases can be assigned.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall (i) give written notice to the Receiver within the option period specified in Section 4.7(a) of its intent to accept an assignment or sublease of any or all Data Processing Leases and promptly accept an assignment or sublease of such Data Processing Leases, and (ii) give written notice to the appropriate lessor(s) that it has accepted an assignment or sublease of any such Data Processing Leases.

(c) The Receiver agrees to facilitate the assignment or sublease of Data Processing Leases or the negotiation of new leases or license agreements by the Assuming Bank; provided, that neither the Receiver nor the Corporation shall be obligated to engage in litigation or make payments to the Assuming Bank or to any third party in connection with facilitating any such assumption, assignment, sublease or negotiation.

(d) The Assuming Bank agrees, during its period of use of any property subject to a Data Processing Lease, to pay to the Receiver or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of the applicable Data Processing Leases entered into by the Failed Bank, including without limitation the timely payment of all rent, taxes, fees, charges, utilities, insurance and assessments.

(e) The Assuming Bank shall, not later than fifty (50) days after giving the notice provided in Section 4.7(b), (i) relinquish and release to the Receiver all property subject to the relevant Data Processing Lease, in the same condition as at Bank Closing, normal wear and tear excepted, or (ii) accept an assignment or a sublease thereof or negotiate a new lease or license agreement under this Section 4.7.

# 4.8 Agreement with Respect to Certain Existing Agreements.

(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 4.8(b), with respect to agreements existing as of Bank Closing which provide for the rendering of services by or to the Failed Bank, within one

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 20

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada hundred twenty (120) days after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank shall give the Receiver written notice specifying whether it elects to assume or not to assume each such agreement. Except as may be otherwise provided in this Article IV, the Assuming Bank agrees to comply with the terms of each such agreement for a period commencing on the day after Bank Closing and ending on: (i) in the case of an agreement that provides for the rendering of services by the Failed Bank, the date which is ninety (90) days after Bank Closing, and (ii) in the case of an agreement that provides for the rendering of services to the Failed Bank, the date which is thirty (30) days after the Assuming Bank has given notice to the Receiver of its election not to assume such agreement; provided, that the Receiver can reasonably make such service agreements available to the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall be deemed by the Receiver to have assumed agreements for which no notification is timely given. The Receiver agrees to assign, transfer, convey, and deliver to the Assuming Bank all right, title and interest of the Receiver, if any, in and to agreements the Assuming Bank assumes hereunder. In the event the Assuming Bank elects not to accept an assignment of any lease (or sublease) or negotiate a new lease for leased Bank Premises under Section 4.6 and does not otherwise occupy such premises, the provisions of this Section 4.8(a) shall not apply to service agreements related to such premises. The Assuming Bank agrees, during the period it has the use or benefit of any such agreement, promptly to pay to the Receiver or to appropriate third parties at the direction of the Receiver all operating costs with respect thereto and to comply with all relevant terms of such agreement.

(b) The provisions of Section 4.8(a) shall not apply to (i) agreements pursuant to which the Failed Bank provides mortgage servicing for others or mortgage servicing is provided to the Failed Bank by others, (ii) agreements that are subject to Sections 4.1 through 4.7 and any insurance policy or bond referred to in Section 3.5(a) or other agreement specified in Section 3.5, and (iii) consulting, management or employment agreements, if any, between the Failed Bank and its employees or other Persons. Except as otherwise expressly set forth elsewhere in this Agreement, the Assuming Bank does not assume any liabilities or acquire any rights under any of the agreements described in this Section 4.8(b).

**4.9** Informational Tax Reporting. The Assuming Bank agrees to perform all obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to Federal and State income tax informational reporting related to (i) the Assets and the Liabilities Assumed, (ii) deposit accounts that were closed and loans that were paid off or collateral obtained with respect thereto prior to Bank Closing, (iii) miscellaneous payments made to vendors of the Failed Bank, and (iv) any other asset or liability of the Failed Bank, including, without limitation, loans not purchased and Deposits not assumed by the Assuming Bank, as may be required by the Receiver.

4.10 <u>Insurance</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees to obtain insurance coverage effective from and after Bank Closing, including public liability, fire and extended coverage insurance acceptable to the Receiver with respect to owned or leased Bank Premises that it occupies, and all owned or leased Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures and leased data processing equipment (including hardware and software) located thereon, in the event such insurance coverage is not already in force and effect with respect to the Assuming Bank as the insured as of Bank Closing. All such insurance shall, where appropriate (as determined by the Receiver), name the Receiver as an additional insured.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 21

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada (]

6

G

4

(î

1

4

ć.

4.11 Office Space for Receiver and Corporation. For the period commencing on the day following Bank Closing and ending on the one hundred eightieth (180th) day thereafter, the Assuming Bank agrees to provide to the Receiver and the Corporation, without charge, adequate and suitable office space (including parking facilities and vault space), furniture, equipment (including photocopying and telecopying machines) and utilities (including local telephone service) at the Bank Premises occupied by the Assuming Bank for their use in the discharge of their respective functions with respect to the Failed Bank. In the event the Receiver and the Corporation determine that the space provided is inadequate or unsuitable, the Receiver and the Corporation may relocate to other quarters having adequate and suitable space and the costs of relocation and any rental and utility costs for the balance of the period of occupancy by the Receiver and the Corporation shall be borne by the Assuming Bank.

# 4.12 <u>Agreement with Respect to Continuation of Group Health Plan Coverage for</u> <u>Former Employees of the Failed Bank</u>.

(a) The Assuming Bank agrees to assist the Receiver, as provided in this Section 4.12, in offering individuals who were employees or former employees of the Failed Bank, or any of its Subsidiaries, and who, immediately prior to Bank Closing, were receiving, or were eligible to receive, health insurance coverage or health insurance continuation coverage from the Failed Bank ("Eligible Individuals"), the opportunity to obtain health insurance coverage in the Corporation's FIA Continuation Coverage Plan which provides for health insurance continuation coverage to such Eligible Individuals who are qualified beneficiaries of the Failed Bank as defined in Section 607 of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (respectively, "qualified beneficiaries" and "ERISA"). The Assuming Bank shall consult with the Receiver and not later than five (5) Business Days after Bank Closing shall provide written notice to the Receiver of the number (if available), identity (if available) and addresses (if available) of the Eligible Individuals who are qualified beneficiaries of the Failed Bank and for whom a "qualifying event" (as defined in Section 603 of ERISA) has occurred and with respect to whom the Failed Bank's obligations under Part 6 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA have not been satisfied in full, and such other information as the Receiver may reasonably require. The Receiver shall cooperate with the Assuming Bank in order to permit it to prepare such notice and shall provide to the Assuming Bank such data in its possession as may be reasonably required for purposes of preparing such notice.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall take such further action to assist the Receiver in offering the Eligible Individuals who are qualified beneficiaries of the Failed Bank the opportunity to obtain health insurance coverage in the Corporation's FIA Continuation Coverage Plan as the Receiver may direct. All expenses incurred and paid by the Assuming Bank (i) in connection with the obligations of the Assuming Bank under this Section 4.12, and (ii) in providing health insurance continuation coverage to any Eligible Individuals who are hired by the Assuming Bank and such employees' qualified beneficiaries shall be borne by the Assuming Bank.

(c) This Section 4.12 is for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties to this Agreement, and for the benefit of no other Person (including any former employee of the Failed Bank or any Subsidiary thereof or qualified beneficiary of such former employee). Nothing in this Section 4.12 is intended by the parties, or shall be construed, to give any Person (including

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 22

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

)

)

)

)

)

any former employee of the Failed Bank or any Subsidiary thereof or qualified beneficiary of such former employee) other than the Corporation, the Receiver and the Assuming Bank any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to the provisions of this Section.

## 4.13 <u>Omitted</u>.

# ARTICLE V DUTIES WITH RESPECT TO DEPOSITORS OF THE FAILED BANK

5.1 <u>Payment of Checks, Drafts and Orders</u>. Subject to Section 9.5, the Assuming Bank agrees to pay all properly drawn checks, drafts and withdrawal orders of depositors of the Failed Bank presented for payment, whether drawn on the check or draft forms provided by the Failed Bank or by the Assuming Bank, to the extent that the Deposit balances to the credit of the respective makers or drawers assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement are sufficient to permit the payment thereof, and in all other respects to discharge, in the usual course of conducting a banking business, the duties and obligations of the Failed Bank with respect to the Deposit balances due and owing to the depositors of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement.

5.2 <u>Certain Agreements Related to Deposits</u>. Subject to Section 2.2, the Assuming Bank agrees to honor the terms and conditions of any written escrow or mortgage servicing agreement or other similar agreement relating to a Deposit liability assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement.

# 5.3 <u>Notice to Depositors</u>.

(a) Within seven (7) days after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank shall give (i) notice to depositors of the Failed Bank of its assumption of the Deposit liabilities of the Failed Bank, and (ii) any notice required under Section 2.2, by mailing to each such depositor a notice with respect to such assumption and by advertising in a newspaper of general circulation in the county or counties in which the Failed Bank was located. The Assuming Bank agrees that it will obtain prior approval of all such notices and advertisements from counsel for the Receiver and that such notices and advertisements shall not be mailed or published until such approval is received.

(b) The Assuming Bank shall give notice by mail to depositors of the Failed Bank concerning the procedures to claim their deposits, which notice shall be provided to the Assuming Bank by the Receiver or the Corporation. Such notice shall be included with the notice to depositors to be mailed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to Section 5.3(a).

(c) If the Assuming Bank proposes to charge fees different from those charged by the Failed Bank before it establishes new deposit account relationships with the depositors of the Failed Bank, the Assuming Bank shall give notice by mail of such changed fees to such depositors.

# ARTICLE VI RECORDS

23

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Q.

(1)

Çľ.

C.

1

Confidential

# 6.1 <u>Transfer of Records</u>.

)

)

>

)

)

ិ

)

(a) In accordance with Section 3.1, the Receiver assigns, transfers, conveys and delivers to the Assuming Bank the following Records pertaining to the Deposit liabilities of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank under this Agreement, except as provided in Section 6.4:

- (i) signature cards, orders, contracts between the Failed Bank and its depositors and Records of similar character;
- (ii) passbooks of depositors held by the Failed Bank, deposit slips, cancelled checks and withdrawal orders representing charges to accounts of depositors;

and the following Records pertaining to the Assets:

- (iii) records of deposit balances carried with other banks, bankers or trust companies;
- (iv) Loan and collateral records and Credit Files and other documents;
- (v) deeds, mortgages, abstracts, surveys, and other instruments or records of title pertaining to real estate or real estate mortgages;
- (vi) signature cards, agreements and records pertaining to Safe Deposit Boxes, if any; and
- (vii) records pertaining to the credit card business, trust business or safekeeping business of the Failed Bank, if any.

(b) The Receiver, at its option, may assign and transfer to the Assuming Bank by a single blanket assignment or otherwise, as soon as practicable after Bank Closing, any other Records not assigned and transferred to the Assuming Bank as provided in this Agreement, including but not limited to loan disbursement checks, general ledger tickets, official bank checks, proof transactions (including proof tapes) and paid out loan files.

6.2 <u>Delivery of Assigned Records</u>. The Receiver shall deliver to the Assuming Bank all Records described in (i) Section 6.1(a) as soon as practicable on or after the date of this Agreement, and (ii) Section 6.1(b) as soon as practicable after making any assignment described therein.

6.3 <u>Preservation of Records</u>. The Assuming Bank agrees that it will preserve and maintain for the joint benefit of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank, all Records of which it has custody for such period as either the Receiver or the Corporation in its discretion may require, until directed otherwise, <u>in writing</u>, by the Receiver or Corporation. The

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 24

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Assuming Bank shall have the primary responsibility to respond to subpoenas, discovery requests, and other similar official inquiries with respect to the Records of which it has custody.

6.4 Access to Records; Copies. The Assuming Bank agrees to permit the Receiver and the Corporation access to all Records of which the Assuming Bank has custody, and to use, inspect, make extracts from or request copies of any such Records in the manner and to the extent requested, and to duplicate, in the discretion of the Receiver or the Corporation, any Record in the form of microfilm or microfiche pertaining to Deposit account relationships; <u>provided</u>, that in the event that the Failed Bank maintained one or more duplicate copies of such microfilm or microfiche Records, the Assuming Bank hereby assigns, transfers, and conveys to the Corporation one such duplicate copy of each such Record without cost to the Corporation, and agrees to deliver to the Corporation all Records assigned and transferred to the Corporation under this Article VI as soon as practicable on or after the date of this Agreement. The party requesting a copy of any Record shall bear the cost (based on standard accepted industry charges to the extent applicable, as determined by the Receiver) for providing such duplicate Records. A copy of each Record requested shall be provided as soon as practicable by the party having custody thereof.

# ARTICLE VII BID; INITIAL PAYMENT

# [\*\*\*NOTE TO ACQUIRER: The following will be modified to reflect the transaction consummated.]

The Assuming Bank has submitted to the Receiver a [positive] [negative] bid of [\_\_\_\_\_] for the Assets purchased and Liabilities Assumed hereunder (the "Bid Amount"). On the Payment Date, the Assuming Bank will pay to the Corporation, or the Corporation will pay to the Assuming Bank, as the case may be, the Initial Payment, together with interest on such amount (if the Payment Date is not the day following the day of Bank Closing) from and including the day following Bank Closing to and including the day preceding the Payment Date at the Settlement Interest Rate.

# ARTICLE VIII PRO FORMA

The Assuming Bank, as soon as practical after Bank Closing, in accordance with the best information then available, shall provide to the Receiver a pro forma balance sheer statement indicating all assets and liabilities of the Failed Bank as shown on the Failed Bank's books and records as of Bank Closing and reflecting which assets and liabilities are passing to the Assuming Bank and which assets and liabilities are to be retained by the Receiver. In addition, the Assuming Bank is to provide to the Receiver, in a form acceptable to the Receiver, an electronic database of all loans and deposits of the Failed Bank as of Bank Closing.

# ARTICLE IX CONTINUING COOPERATION

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 25

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 4

 $\epsilon^{+}$ 

Ć

(]

0

6

Confidential

**9.1** <u>General Matters</u>. The parties hereto agree that they will, in good faith and with their best efforts, cooperate with each other to carry out the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to effect the purposes hereof.

**9.2** <u>Additional Title Documents</u>. The Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank each agree, at any time, and from time to time, upon the request of any party hereto, to execute and deliver such additional instruments and documents of conveyance as shall be reasonably necessary to vest in the appropriate party its full legal or equitable title in and to the property transferred pursuant to this Agreement or to be transferred in accordance herewith. The Assuming Bank shall prepare such instruments and documents of conveyance (in form and substance satisfactory to the Receiver) as shall be necessary to vest title to the Assets in the Assuming Bank. The Assuming Bank shall be responsible for recording such instruments and documents of conveyance at its own expense.

# 9.3 <u>Claims and Suits</u>.

}

)

)

)

)

)

)

(a) The Receiver shall have the right, in its discretion, to (i) defend or settle any claim or suit against the Assuming Bank with respect to which the Receiver has indemnified the Assuming Bank in the same manner and to the same extent as provided in Article XII, and (ii) defend or settle any claim or suit against the Assuming Bank with respect to any Liability Assumed, which claim or suit may result in a loss to the Receiver arising out of or related to this Agreement, or which existed against the Failed Bank on or before Bank Closing. The exercise by the Receiver of any rights under this Section 9.3(a) shall not release the Assuming Bank with respect to any of its obligations under this Agreement.

(b) In the event any action at law or in equity shall be instituted by any Person against the Receiver and the Corporation as codefendants with respect to any asset of the Failed Bank retained or acquired pursuant to this Agreement by the Receiver, the Receiver agrees, at the request of the Corporation, to join with the Corporation in a petition to remove the action to the United States District Court for the proper district. The Receiver agrees to institute, with or without joinder of the Corporation as coplaintiff, any action with respect to any such retained or acquired asset or any matter connected therewith whenever notice requiring such action shall be given by the Corporation to the Receiver.

9.4 <u>Payment of Deposits</u>. In the event any depositor does not accept the obligation of the Assuming Bank to pay any Deposit liability of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement and asserts a claim against the Receiver for all or any portion of any such Deposit liability, the Assuming Bank agrees on demand to provide to the Receiver funds sufficient to pay such claim in an amount not in excess of the Deposit liability reflected on the books of the Assuming Bank at the time such claim is made. Upon payment by the Assuming Bank to the Receiver of such amount, the Assuming Bank shall be discharged from any further obligation under this Agreement to pay to any such depositor the amount of such Deposit liability paid to the Receiver.

9.5 <u>Withheld Payments</u>. At any time, the Receiver or the Corporation may, in its discretion, determine that all or any portion of any deposit balance assumed by the Assuming

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 26

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Bank pursuant to this Agreement does not constitute a "Deposit" (or otherwise, in its discretion, determine that it is the best interest of the Receiver or Corporation to withhold all or any portion of any deposit), and may direct the Assuming Bank to withhold payment of all or any portion of any such deposit balance. Upon such direction, the Assuming Bank agrees to hold such deposit and not to make any payment of such deposit balance to or on behalf of the depositor, or to itself, whether by way of transfer, set-off, or otherwise. The Assuming Bank agrees to maintain the "withheld payment" status of any such deposit balance until directed in writing by the Receiver or the Corporation as to its disposition. At the direction of the Receiver or the Corporation, the Assuming Bank shall return all or any portion of such deposit balance to the Receiver or the Corporation, as appropriate, and thereupon the Assuming Bank shall be discharged from any further liability to such depositor with respect to such returned deposit balance. If such deposit balance has been paid to the depositor prior to a demand for return by the Corporation or the Receiver, and payment of such deposit balance had not been previously withheld pursuant to this Section, the Assuming Bank shall not be obligated to return such deposit balance to the Receiver or the Corporation. The Assuming Bank shall be obligated to reimburse the Corporation or the Receiver, as the case may be, for the amount of any deposit balance or portion thereof paid by the Assuming Bank in contravention of any previous direction to withhold payment of such deposit balance or return such deposit balance the payment of which was withheld pursuant to this Section.

# 9.6 Proceedings with Respect to Certain Assets and Liabilities.

(a) In connection with any investigation, proceeding or other matter with respect to any asset or liability of the Failed Bank retained by the Receiver, or any asset of the Failed Bank acquired by the Receiver pursuant to this Agreement, the Assuming Bank shall cooperate to the extent reasonably required by the Receiver.

(b) In addition to its obligations under Section 6.4, the Assuming Bank shall provide representatives of the Receiver access at reasonable times and locations without other limitation or qualification to (i) its directors, officers, employees and agents and those of the Subsidiaries acquired by the Assuming Bank, and (ii) its books and records, the books and records of such Subsidiaries and all Credit Files, and copies thereof. Copies of books, records and Credit Files shall be provided by the Assuming Bank as requested by the Receiver and the costs of duplication thereof shall be borne by the Receiver.

(c) Not later than ten (10) days after the Put Notice pursuant to Section 3.4 or the date of the notice of transfer of any Loan by the Assuming Bank to the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.6, the Assuming Bank shall deliver to the Receiver such documents with respect to such Loan as the Receiver may request, including without limitation the following: (i) all related Credit Documents (other than certificates, notices and other ancillary documents), (ii) a certificate setting forth the principal amount on the date of the transfer and the amount of interest, fees and other charges then accrued and unpaid thereon, and any restrictions on transfer to which any such Loan is subject, and (iii) all Credit Files, and all documents, microfiche, microfilm and computer records (including but not limited to magnetic tape, disc storage, card forms and printed copy) maintained by, owned by, or in the possession of the Assuming Bank or any Affiliate of the Assuming Bank relating to the transferred Loan.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 27

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada  $\Box$ 

1

3

Č

G

(È

÷

Confidential

9.7 <u>Information</u>. The Assuming Bank promptly shall provide to the Corporation such other information, including financial statements and computations, relating to the performance of the provisions of this Agreement as the Corporation or the Receiver may request from time to time, and, at the request of the Receiver, make available employees of the Failed Bank employed or retained by the Assuming Bank to assist in preparation of the pro forma statement pursuant to Section 8.1.

# ARTICLE X CONDITION PRECEDENT

The obligations of the parties to this Agreement are subject to the Receiver and the Corporation having received at or before Bank Closing evidence reasonably satisfactory to each of any necessary approval, waiver, or other action by any governmental authority, the board of directors of the Assuming Bank, or other third party, with respect to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, the closing of the Failed Bank and the appointment of the Receiver, the chartering of the Assuming Bank, and any agreements, documents, matters or proceedings contemplated hereby or thereby.

# ARTICLE XI REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE ASSUMING BANK

The Assuming Bank represents and warrants to the Corporation and the Receiver as follows:

(a) <u>Corporate Existence and Authority</u>. The Assuming Bank (i) is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of its Chartering Authority and has full power and authority to own and operate its properties and to conduct its business as now conducted by it, and (ii) has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder. The Assuming Bank has taken all necessary corporate action to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the performance of the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) <u>Third Party Consents</u>. No governmental authority or other third party consents (including but not limited to approvals, licenses, registrations or declarations) are required in connection with the execution, delivery or performance by the Assuming Bank of this Agreement, other than such consents as have been duly obtained and are in full force and effect.

(c) <u>Execution and Enforceability</u>. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by the Assuming Bank and when this Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Corporation and the Receiver, this Agreement will constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of the Assuming Bank, enforceable in accordance with its terms.

# (d) <u>Compliance with Law</u>.

(i) Neither the Assuming Bank nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation of any statute, regulation, order, decision, judgment or decree of, or any restriction imposed by, the United States of America, any State, municipality or other political subdivision or any agency of

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 28

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

2

)

)

)

)

)

)

 $\left( \right)$ 

any of the foregoing, or any court or other tribunal having jurisdiction over the Assuming Bank or any of its Subsidiaries or any assets of any such Person, or any foreign government or agency thereof having such jurisdiction, with respect to the conduct of the business of the Assuming Bank or of any of its Subsidiaries, or the ownership of the properties of the Assuming Bank or any of its Subsidiaries, which, either individually or in the aggregate with all other such violations, would materially and adversely affect the business, operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Assuming Bank or the ability of the Assuming Bank to perform, satisfy or observe any obligation or condition under this Agreement.

(ii) Neither the execution and delivery nor the performance by the Assuming Bank of this Agreement will result in any violation by the Assuming Bank of, or be in conflict with, any provision of any applicable law or regulation, or any order, writ or decree of any court or governmental authority.

e) <u>Representations Remain True</u>. The Assuming Bank represents and warrants that it has executed and delivered to the Corporation a Purchaser Eligibility Certification and Confidentiality Agreement and that all information provided and representations made by or on behalf of the Assuming Bank in connection with this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, including, but not limited to, the Purchaser Eligibility Certification and Confidentiality Agreement (which are affirmed and ratified hereby) are and remain true and correct in all material respects and do not fail to state any fact required to make the information contained therein not misleading.

# ARTICLE XII INDEMNIFICATION

12.1 Indemnification of Indemnitees. From and after Bank Closing and subject to the limitations set forth in this Section and Section 12.6 and compliance by the Indemnitees with Section 12.2, the Receiver agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Indemnitees against any and all costs, losses, liabilities, expenses (including attorneys' fees) incurred prior to the assumption of defense by the Receiver pursuant to paragraph (d) of Section 12.2, judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with claims against any Indemnitee based on liabilities of the Failed Bank that are not assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank for which indemnification is provided hereunder in (a) of this Section 12.1, subject to certain exclusions as provided in (b) of this Section 12.1:

(a)

(1) claims based on the rights of any shareholder or former shareholder as such of (x) the Failed Bank, or (y) any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank;

(2) claims based on the rights of any creditor as such of the Failed Bank, or any creditor as such of any director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank, with respect to any indebtedness or other obligation of the Failed Bank arising prior to Bank Closing;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 29

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Ĵ

\*\*\*

1

(3) claims based on the rights of any present or former director, officer, employee or agent as such of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank;

(4) claims based on any action or inaction prior to Bank Closing of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as such, or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, or the directors, officers, employees or agents as such of such Subsidiary or Affiliate;

(5) claims based on any malfeasance, misfeasance or nonfeasance of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents with respect to the trust business of the Failed Bank, if any;

(6) claims based on any failure or alleged failure (not in violation of law) by the Assuming Bank to continue to perform any service or activity previously performed by the Failed Bank which the Assuming Bank is not required to perform pursuant to this Agreement or which arise under any contract to which the Failed Bank was a party which the Assuming Bank elected not to assume in accordance with this Agreement and which neither the Assuming Bank nor any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank has assumed subsequent to the execution hereof;

(7) claims arising from any action or inaction of any Indemnitee, including for purposes of this Section 12.1(a)(7) the former officers or employees of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank that is taken upon the specific written direction of the Corporation or the Receiver, <u>other than</u> any action or inaction taken in a manner constituting bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct; and

(8) claims based on the rights of any depositor of the Failed Bank whose deposit has been accorded "withheld payment" status and/or returned to the Receiver or Corporation in accordance with Section 9.5 and/or has become an "unclaimed deposit" or has been returned to the Corporation or the Receiver in accordance with Section 2.3;

(b) <u>provided</u>, that, with respect to this Agreement, except for paragraphs (7) and (8) of Section 12.1(a), no indemnification will be provided under this Agreement for any:

(1) judgment or fine against, or any amount paid in settlement (without the written approval of the Receiver) by, any Indemnitee in connection with any action that seeks damages against any Indemnitee (a "counterclaim") arising with respect to any Asset and based on any action or inaction of either the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as such prior to Bank Closing, unless any such judgment, fine or amount paid in settlement exceeds the greater of (i) the Repurchase Price of such Asset, or (ii) the monetary recovery sought on such Asset by the Assuming Bank in the cause of action from which the counterclaim arises; and in such event the Receiver will provide indemnification only in the amount of such excess; and no indemnification will be provided for any costs or expenses other than any costs or expenses (including attorneys' fees) which, in the determination of the Receiver, have been actually and reasonably incurred by such Indemnitee in connection with the defense of any such counterclaim; and it is expressly agreed that the Receiver reserves the right to intervene, in its

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 30

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

)

3

Э

)

)

)

)

discretion, on its behalf and/or on behalf of the Receiver, in the defense of any such counterclaim;

(2) claims with respect to any liability or obligation of the Failed Bank that is expressly assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(3) claims with respect to any liability of the Failed Bank to any present or former employee as such of the Failed Bank or of any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, which liability is expressly assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(4) claims based on the failure of any Indemnitee to seek recovery of damages from the Receiver for any claims based upon any action or inaction of the Failed Bank, its directors, officers, employees or agents as fiduciary, agent or custodian prior to Bank Closing;

(5) claims based on any violation or alleged violation by any Indemnitee of the antitrust, branching, banking or bank holding company or securities laws of the United States of America or any State thereof;

(6) claims based on the rights of any present or former creditor, customer, or supplier as such of the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(7) claims based on the rights of any present or former shareholder as such of the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank regardless of whether any such present or former shareholder is also a present or former shareholder of the Failed Bank;

(8) claims, if the Receiver determines that the effect of providing such indemnification would be to (i) expand or alter the provisions of any warranty or disclaimer thereof provided in Section 3.3 or any other provision of this Agreement, or (ii) create any warranty not expressly provided under this Agreement;

(9) claims which could have been enforced against any Indemnitee had the Assuming Bank not entered into this Agreement;

(10) claims based on any liability for taxes or fees assessed with respect to the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including without limitation any subsequent transfer of any Assets or Liabilities Assumed to any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank;

(11) except as expressly provided in this Article XII, claims based on any action or inaction of any Indemnitee, and nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to provide indemnification for (i) the Failed Bank, (ii) any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Failed Bank, or (iii) any present or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver, in its discretion, may provide indemnification hereunder for any present or former director, officer, employee or agent of the Failed Bank or its

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 31

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

4

 $(\frac{1}{4})$ 

Subsidiaries or Affiliates who is also or becomes a director, officer, employee or agent of the Assuming Bank or its Subsidiaries or Affiliates;

(12) claims or actions which constitute a breach by the Assuming Bank of the representations and warranties contained in Article XI;

(13) claims arising out of or relating to the condition of or generated by an Asset arising from or relating to the presence, storage or release of any hazardous or toxic substance, or any pollutant or contaminant, or condition of such Asset which violate any applicable Federal, State or local law or regulation concerning environmental protection; and

(14) claims based on, related to or arising from any asset, including a loan, acquired or liability assumed by the Assuming Bank, other than pursuant to this Agreement; and

(15) claims based on, related to or arising from any liability specifically not assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to Section 2.5 of this Agreement.

12.2 <u>Conditions Precedent to Indemnification</u>. It shall be a condition precedent to the obligation of the Receiver to indemnify any Person pursuant to this Article XII that such Person shall, with respect to any claim made or threatened against such Person for which such Person is or may be entitled to indemnification hereunder:

(a) give written notice to the Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch) of the Corporation in the manner and at the address provided in Section 13.7 of such claim as soon as practicable after such claim is made or threatened; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> notice must be given on or before the date which is six (6) years from the date of this Agreement;

(b) provide to the Receiver such information and cooperation with respect to such claim as the Receiver may reasonably require;

(c) cooperate and take all steps, as the Receiver may reasonably require, to preserve and protect any defense to such claim;

(d) in the event suit is brought with respect to such claim, upon reasonable prior notice, afford to the Receiver the right, which the Receiver may exercise in its sole discretion, to conduct the investigation, control the defense and effect settlement of such claim, including without limitation the right to designate counsel and to control all negotiations, litigation, arbitration, settlements, compromises and appeals of any such claim, all of which shall be at the expense of the Receiver; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Receiver shall have notified the Person claiming indemnification in writing that such claim is a claim with respect to which the Person claiming indemnification is entitled to indemnification under this Article XII;

(e) not incur any costs or expenses in connection with any response or suit with respect to such claim, unless such costs or expenses were incurred upon the written direction of the Receiver; provided, that the Receiver shall not be obligated to reimburse the amount of any such costs or expenses unless such costs or expenses were incurred upon the written direction of the Receiver;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 32

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

(f) not release or settle such claim or make any payment or admission with respect thereto, unless the Receiver consents in writing thereto, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld; provided, that the Receiver shall not be obligated to reimburse the amount of any such settlement or payment unless such settlement or payment was effected upon the written direction of the Receiver; and

(g) take reasonable action as the Receiver may request in writing as necessary to preserve, protect or enforce the rights of the indemnified Person against any Primary Indemnitor.

12.3 <u>No Additional Warranty</u>. Nothing in this Article XII shall be construed or deemed to (i) expand or otherwise alter any warranty or disclaimer thereof provided under Section 3.3 or any other provision of this Agreement with respect to, among other matters, the title, value, collectibility, genuineness, enforceability or condition of any (x) Asset, or (y) asset of the Failed Bank purchased by the Assuming Bank subsequent to the execution of this Agreement by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank, or (ii) create any warranty not expressly provided under this Agreement with respect thereto.

12.4 <u>Indemnification of Receiver and Corporation</u>. From and after Bank Closing, the Assuming Bank agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Corporation and the Receiver and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents from and against any and all costs, losses, liabilities, expenses (including attorneys' fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred in connection with any of the following:

(a) claims based on any and all liabilities or obligations of the Failed Bank assumed by the Assuming Bank pursuant to this Agreement or subsequent to the execution hereof by the Assuming Bank or any Subsidiary or Affiliate of the Assuming Bank, whether or not any such liabilities subsequently are sold and/or transferred, other than any claim based upon any action or inaction of any Indemnitee as provided in paragraph (7) or (8) of Section 12.1(a); and

(b) claims based on any act or omission of any Indemnitee (including but not limited to claims of any Person claiming any right or title by or through the Assuming Bank with respect to Assets transferred to the Receiver pursuant to Section 3.4 or 3.6), other than any action or inaction of any Indemnitee as provided in paragraph (7) or (8) of Section 12.1(a).

12.5 <u>Obligations Supplemental</u>. The obligations of the Receiver, and the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, to provide indemnification under this Article XII are to supplement any amount payable by any Primary Indemnitor to the Person indemnified under this Article XII. Consistent with that intent, the Receiver agrees only to make payments pursuant to such indemnification to the extent not payable by a Primary Indemnitor. If the aggregate amount of payments by the Receiver, or the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, and all Primary Indemnitors with respect to any item of indemnification under this Article XII exceeds the amount payable with respect to such item, such Person being indemnified shall notify the Receiver thereof and, upon the request of the Receiver, shall promptly pay to the Receiver, or the Corporation as appropriate, the amount of the Receiver's (or Corporation's) payments to the extent of such excess.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 33

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada -9 -14

(fi

Č

12.6 <u>Criminal Claims</u>. Notwithstanding any provision of this Article XII to the contrary, in the event that any Person being indemnified under this Article XII shall become involved in any criminal action, suit or proceeding, whether judicial, administrative or investigative, the Receiver shall have no obligation hereunder to indemnify such Person for liability with respect to any criminal act or to the extent any costs or expenses are attributable to the defense against the allegation of any criminal act, unless (i) the Person is successful on the merits or otherwise in the defense against any such action, suit or proceeding, or (ii) such action, suit or proceeding is terminated without the imposition of liability on such Person.

12.7 Limited Guaranty of the Corporation. The Corporation hereby guarantees performance of the Receiver's obligation to indemnify the Assuming Bank as set forth in this Article XII. It is a condition to the Corporation's obligation hereunder that the Assuming Bank shall comply in all respects with the applicable provisions of this Article XII. The Corporation shall be liable hereunder only for such amounts, if any, as the Receiver is obligated to pay under the terms of this Article XII but shall fail to pay. Except as otherwise provided above in this Section 12.7, nothing in this Article XII is intended or shall be construed to create any liability or obligation on the part of the Corporation, the United States of America or any department or agency thereof under or with respect to this Article XII, or any provision hereof, it being the intention of the parties hereto that the obligations undertaken by the Receiver under this Article XII are the sole and exclusive responsibility of the Receiver and no other Person or entity.

12.8 <u>Subrogation</u>. Upon payment by the Receiver, or the Corporation as guarantor in accordance with Section 12.7, to any Indemnitee for any claims indemnified by the Receiver under this Article XII, the Receiver, or the Corporation as appropriate, shall become subrogated to all rights of the Indemnitee against any other Person to the extent of such payment.

# ARTICLE XIII MISCELLANEOUS

13.1 <u>Entire Agreement</u>. This Agreement embodies the entire agreement of the parties hereto in relation to the subject matter herein and supersedes all prior understandings or agreements, oral or written, between the parties.

13.2 <u>Headings</u>. The headings and subheadings of the Table of Contents, Articles and Sections contained in this Agreement, except the terms identified for definition in Article I and elsewhere in this Agreement, are inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

13.3 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the duly authorized representative of a different party hereto on separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same Agreement.

# 13.4 <u>GOVERNING LAW</u>. THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FEDERAL LAW OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 34

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

)

}

)

7

3

3

)

AND IN THE ABSENCE OF CONTROLLING FEDERAL LAW, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE IN WHICH THE MAIN OFFICE OF THE FAILED BANK IS LOCATED.  $\checkmark$ 

13.5 <u>Successors</u>. All terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be binding on the successors and assigns of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank. Except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement, nothing expressed or referred to in this Agreement is intended or shall be construed to give any Person other than the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to this Agreement or any provisions contained herein, it being the intention of the parties hereto that this Agreement, the obligations and statements of responsibilities hereunder, and all other conditions and provisions hereof are for the sole and exclusive benefit of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank and for the benefit of no other Person.

13.6 <u>Modification; Assignment</u>. No amendment or other modification, rescission, release, or assignment of any part of this Agreement shall be effective except pursuant to a written agreement subscribed by the duly authorized representatives of the parties hereto.

13.7 <u>Notice</u>. Any notice, request, demand, consent, approval or other communication to any party hereto shall be effective when received and shall be given in writing, and delivered in person against receipt therefor, or sent by certified mail, postage prepaid, courier service, telex or facsimile transmission to such party (with copies as indicated below) at its address set forth below or at such other address as it shall hereafter furnish in writing to the other parties. All such notices and other communications shall be deemed given on the date received by the addressee.

# Assuming Bank

Attention: \_\_\_\_\_

with a copy to: \_\_\_\_\_

**Receiver and Corporation** 

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, Receiver of Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada 1601 Bryan St., Suite 1700 Dallas, Texas 75201

Attention: Deputy Director (DRR-Field Operations Branch)

with copy to: Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch)

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 35

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

#### and with respect to notice under Article XII:

3

)

)

3

3

)

)

Ì

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation Receiver of Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, Nevada 1601 Bryan St., Suite 1700 Dallas, Texas 75201 Attention: Regional Counsel (Litigation Branch)

13.8 <u>Manner of Payment</u>. All payments due under this Agreement shall be in lawful money of the United States of America in immediately available funds as each party hereto may specify to the other parties; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> in the event the Receiver or the Corporation is obligated to make any payment hereunder in the amount of \$25,000.00 or less, such payment may be made by check.

13.9 <u>Costs, Fees and Expenses</u>. Except as otherwise specifically provided herein, each party hereto agrees to pay all costs, fees and expenses which it has incurred in connection with or incidental to the matters contained in this Agreement, including without limitation any fees and disbursements to its accountants and counsel; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Assuming Bank shall pay all fees, costs and expenses (other than attorneys' fees incurred by the Receiver) incurred in connection with the transfer to it of any Assets or Liabilities Assumed hereunder or in accordance herewith.

13.10 <u>Waiver</u>. Each of the Receiver, the Corporation and the Assuming Bank may waive its respective rights, powers or privileges under this Agreement; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> such waiver shall be in writing; <u>and further provided</u>, <u>that</u> no failure or delay on the part of the Receiver, the Corporation or the Assuming Bank to exercise any right, power or privilege under this Agreement shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor will any single or partial exercise of any right, power or privilege under this Agreement preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege by the Receiver, the Corporation, or the Assuming Bank under this Agreement, nor will any such waiver operate or be construed as a future waiver of such right, power or privilege under this Agreement.

13.11 <u>Severability</u>. If any provision of this Agreement is declared invalid or unenforceable, then, to the extent possible, all of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect and shall be binding upon the parties hereto.

13.12 <u>Term of Agreement</u>. This Agreement shall continue in full force and effect until the sixth (6th) anniversary of Bank Closing; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the provisions of Section 6.3 and 6.4 shall survive the expiration of the term of this Agreement. Provided, however, the receivership of the Failed Bank may be terminated prior to the expiration of the term of this Agreement; in such event, the guaranty of the Corporation, as provided in and in accordance with the provisions of Section 12.7 shall be in effect for the remainder of the term. Expiration of the term of this Agreement shall not affect any claim or liability of any party with respect to any (i) amount which is owing at the time of such expiration, regardless of when such amount becomes payable, and (ii) breach of this Agreement occurring prior to such expiration, regardless of when such breach is discovered.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 36

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 13.13 <u>Survival of Covenants, Etc</u>. The covenants, representations, and warranties in this Agreement shall survive the execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereunder.

[Signature Page Follows]

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 37

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1.44

0 2

N. M.

4

3

÷

# Confidential

|         | FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION<br>RECEIVER OF: |
|---------|---|
|         | WASHINGTON MUTUAL BANK,                               |
|         | HENDERSON, NEVADA                                     |
|         | BY:   |
|         | NAME:   |
|         | TITLE:  |
|         |   |
|         | FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION                 |
|         | BY:   |
|         | NAME:   |
|         | TITLE:  |
| Attest: |   |
|         |   |
|         | [ASSUMING BANK - INSERT NAME]                         |
|         | BY:   |
|         | NAME:   |
|         | TITLE:  |
| Attest: |   |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 38

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Э

)

>

)

Э

)

)

)

)

# SCHEDULE 2.1 - Certain Liabilities Assumed

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 39

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 1

• 1

- 40°

Confidential

# SCHEDULE 3.1 - Certain Assets Purchased

# SEE ATTACHED LIST

THE LIST(S) ATTACHED TO THIS SCHEDULE (OR SUBSCHEDULE(S)) AND THE INFORMATION THEREIN, IS AS OF BANK CLOSING. THE LIST(S) MAY NOT INCLUDE ALL LOANS AND ASSETS (E.G., CHARGED OFF LOANS). THE LIST(S) MAY BE REPLACED WITH A MORE ACCURATE LIST POST CLOSING.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 40

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

Confidential

)

)

>

Э

)

)

્રે

)

# SCHEDULE 3.2 - Purchase Price of Assets or assets

# [[\*\*\*NOTE TO ACQUIRER: The following will be modified to reflect the transaction consummated.]]

| (a)   | cash and receivables from depository<br>institutions, including cash items in the<br>process of collection, plus<br>interest thereon: | Book Value                    |
|-------|---|-------------------------------|
| (b)   | securities (exclusive of the capital stock of Acquired Subsidiaries), plus interest thereon:  | As provided in Section 3.2(b) |
| (c)   | federal funds sold and repurchase<br>agreements, if any, including interest<br>thereon:   | Book Value                    |
| (d)   | Loans:  | Book Value                    |
| (e)   | Other Real Estate:  | Book Value                    |
| (f)   | credit card business, if any, including all outstanding extensions of credit:   | Book Value                    |
| (g)   | Safe Deposit Boxes and related business,<br>safekeeping business and trust business, if<br>any:                                       | Book Value                    |
| (h)   | Records and other documents:  | Book Value                    |
| (i)   | capital stock of any Acquired Subsidiaries:   | Book Value                    |
| (j)   | amounts owed to the Failed Bank by any Acquired Subsidiary:   | Book Value                    |
| (k)   | assets securing Deposits of public money,<br>to the extent not otherwise purchased<br>hereunder:                                      | Book Value                    |
| (1)   | Overdrafts of customers:  | Book Value                    |
| (m)   | rights, if any, with respect to Qualified Financial Contracts.  | As provided in Section 3.2(c) |
| Whole | P & A 991022  | Washington Mutual             |
|       |   |                               |

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada j

1

e B

14

4

, i

ţ

| (n) | rights of the Failed Bank to provide<br>mortgage servicing for others and to have<br>mortgage servicing provided to the Failed<br>Bank by others and related contracts. | Book Value |
|-----|---|------------|
| (0) | Bank Premises:  | Book Value |
| (p) | Furniture and Equipment:  | Book Value |
| (q) | Fixtures:   | Book Value |

42

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada

# Confidential

)

3

)

)

Y

)

1

)

s. ¥

# **SCHEDULE 3.5 - Certain Assets Not Purchased**

(1) Any financial institution bonds, banker's blanket bonds, or public liability, fire, or extended coverage insurance policy or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank, or premium refund, unearned premium derived from cancellation, or any proceeds payable with respect to any of the foregoing;

(2) any interest, right, action, claim, or judgment against (i) any officer, director, employee, accountant, attorney, or any other Person employed or retained by the Failed Bank or any Subsidiary of the Failed Bank on or prior to Bank Closing arising out of any act or omission of such Person in such capacity, (ii) any underwriter of financial institution bonds, banker's blanket bonds or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank, (iii) any shareholder or holding company of the Failed Bank, or (iv) any other Person whose action or inaction may be related to any loss (exclusive of any loss resulting from such Person's failure to pay on a Loan made by the Failed Bank) incurred by the Failed Bank; provided, that for the purposes hereof, the acts, omissions or other events giving rise to any such claim shall have occurred on or before Bank Closing, regardless of when any such claim is discovered and regardless of whether any such claim is made with respect to a financial institution bond, banker's blanket's blanket bond, or any other insurance policy of the Failed Bank Closing;

(3) leased Bank Premises and leased Furniture and Equipment and Fixtures and data processing equipment (including hardware and software) located on leased or owned Bank Premises, if any; <u>provided</u>, <u>that</u> the Assuming Bank does obtain an option under Section 4.6, Section 4.7 or Section 4.8, as the case may be, with respect thereto; and

(4) any criminal/restitution orders issued in favor of the Failed Bank;

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM 43

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada 4

: ;

i?

Confidential

# **EXHIBIT 3.2(c) -- VALUATION OF CERTAIN QUALIFIED FINANCIAL CONTRACTS**

#### <u>Scope</u> Α.

)

)

)

3

3

Э

3

)

Interest Rate Contracts - All interest rate swaps, forward rate agreements, interest rate futures, caps, collars and floors, whether purchased or written.

Option Contracts - All put and call option contracts, whether purchased or written, on marketable securities, financial futures, foreign currencies, foreign exchange or foreign exchange futures contracts.

Foreign Exchange Contracts - All contracts for future purchase or sale of foreign currencies, foreign currency or cross currency swap contracts, or foreign exchange futures contracts.

#### В. **Exclusions**

All financial contracts used to hedge assets and liabilities that are acquired by the Assuming Bank but are not subject to adjustment from Book Value.

#### С. **Adjustment**

The difference between the Book Value and market value as of Bank Closing.

#### D. Methodology

- 1. The price at which the Assuming Bank sells or disposes of Qualified Financial Contracts will be deemed to be the fair market value of such contracts, if such sale or disposition occurs at prevailing market rates within a predefined timetable as agreed upon by the Assuming Bank and the Receiver.
- 2. In valuing all other Qualified Financial Contracts, the following principles will apply:
  - All known cash flows under swaps or forward exchange contracts shall be (i) present valued to the swap zero coupon interest rate curve.
  - 'ii) All valuations shall employ prices and interest rates based on the actual frequency of rate reset or payment.
  - (iii) Each tranche of amortizing contracts shall be separately valued. The total value of such amortizing contract shall be the sum of the values of its component tranches.
  - For regularly traded contracts, valuations shall be at the midpoint of the (iv) bid and ask prices quoted by customary sources (e.g., The Wall Street

September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM

Whole P & A 991022

44

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada Journal, Telerate, Reuters or other similar source) or regularly traded exchanges.

(v) For all other Qualified Financial Contracts where published market quotes are unavailable, the adjusted price shall be the average of the bid and ask price quotes from three (3) securities dealers acceptable to the Receiver and Assuming Bank as of Bank Closing. If quotes from securities dealers cannot be obtained, an appraiser acceptable to the Receiver and the Assuming Bank will perform a valuation based on modeling, correlation analysis, interpolation or other techniques, as appropriate.

Whole P & A 991022 September 23, 2008; 2:48 PM Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, Nevada • 2

1

ł

đ

Confidential

JPMCD\_000001550.00206

# FDIC Institution Sales Frequently Asked Questions

)

)

)

)

3

)

1. How will FHLB Advances be treated in the proposed transaction? Will the acquirer assume the advances at the existing rates without penalty or adjustment, and take the corresponding assets?

Answer: Bids should be submitted assuming that all FHLB advances will be assumed without penalty or adjustment. All assets pledged to secure the advances will convey in the transaction.

2. How will the Undrawn Lines be treated in the proposed transaction? Will the FDIC use its powers to allow the acquirer to cut off undrawn lines of credit in the home equity portfolio?

Answer: All assets and loan funding obligations will pass to the acquirer in the transaction.

3. How will the REIT preferred and associated assets be treated in the proposed transaction? Can the REIT preferred be treated similarly with the trust preferred, and left behind with the associated assets supporting the REIT preferred?

Answer: The REIT preferred shares will not be assumed in the transaction. However, the associated assets will pass to the acquirer.

4. How will the Covered Bonds be treated in the proposed transaction? Will the covered bonds and associated assets pass to the acquirer, similar to the FHLB Advances?

Answer: All secured liabilities, including the covered bonds, and associated assets will pass to the acquirer.

5. How will the Repurchase Agreements (Repos) be treated in the proposed transaction? Will the repurchase obligations and associated assets pass to the acquirer?

Answer: All Repos and associated assets will pass to the acquirer.

Page 1 of 4

6. How will the Utah subsidiary be treated in the proposed transaction? Would the FDIC be willing to use the cross guarantee liability or some other authority to place the Utah subsidiary into receivership to eliminate contingent liabilities and facilitate integration? Can the FDIC provide more information regarding this institution, particularly on non deposit liabilities?

Answer: The Utah subsidiary will pass to the acquirer as a going concern and will not be placed into receivership.

7. Will the FDIC provide additional time in order to accept or reject leases and other contracts? Given the complexity of the target, would the FDIC be willing to allow the acquirer to determine whether to affirm or repudiate contracts closer to the 180 day period the FDIC would enjoy for this power instead of 90 days?

Answer:Although we prefer that most agreements be reviewed within 90 days, the FDIC as receiver will work with the acquirer on a case-by-case basis for up to five months following the acquisition to determine whether to affirm or repudiate leases and other contracts retained in receivership.

8. What are your expectations about the treatment of employees in connection with the transaction? What is the length of time during which we would need to decide whether or not to hire employees? Will their be an opportunity to use receivership powers to optimize pension and other benefit plans?

Answer: Employees of the bank will pass to the acquirer. The receivership will retain individual-specific employment contracts as well as any benefit plans to which the bank is a party. These agreements will continue until such time that the acquirer has reviewed and informed the receiver of its decision to assume or not assume the contract.

9. Are the off-balance sheet credit card portfolio and mortgage securitizations included in the transaction? Do you expect the acquirer to assume the servicing obligations? If there are pricing issues associated with the contracts (e.g., the pricing is disadvantageous to the assuming institution), can we take advantage of the FDIC's repudiation powers to effect a repricing?

Page 2 of 4

Answer: The bank's interests and obligations associated with the off-balance sheet credit card portfolio and mortgage securitizations pass to the acquirer. Only contracts and obligations remaining in the receivership are subject to repudiation powers.

10. Can you provide greater clarity on whether there is a deferred tax asset at the thrift level, and if so, would it pass to the acquirer?

Answer: If there is a deferred tax asset at the thrift level, it relates to the entity itself and can not pass in a purchase and assumption transaction to the acquirer.

11. There is a number of class action and other lender liability matters brought by borrowers or that may be asserted by borrowers against Washington Mutual. Would the Assuming Bank be required to assume these liabilities?

Answer: The Purchase and Assumption Agreement provides that the Assuming Bank does not assume liability for claims for payment or other monetary relief that have been or may in the future be asserted by borrowers. Such liabilities are intended to remain liabilities of the FDIC as receiver of Washington Mutual. We recognize, however, that certain borrowers may attempt to assert lender liability claims against the Assuming Bank. We believe, based on the provisions of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement, that such claims are likely to be found to be liabilities of the receiver and not of the Assuming Bank. However, neither the FDIC in its Corporate Capacity, nor as Receiver of the failed institution, warrants such a result or indemnifies the Assuming Bank against any losses it may suffer as a result of the assertion of such claims against it.

12. How do I find out who won, how many bids were received and the amount of the bids?

Answer: Information about the winning bid will be available in the FDIC's press release immediately after closing. Any other bid information is available through the Freedom of Information Act. You can make a FOIA request from FDIC.gov.

3.

)

•

)

)

3

13. How are uninsured depositors treated in an insured deposit only transaction?

Answer: The acquiring bank receives the insured portion of an uninsured depositor's account. In some instances, the FDIC will fund a percentage of the uninsured portion (advance dividend) to the depositor as well. A Receivership Certificate will be issued to any depositor for the unfunded amount of their deposit(s).

14. Are deposits valued in any way? Do they play a role in the FDIC's cost test?

Answer: Deposits are not valued by the FDIC; however, the uninsured portion does play a role in the cost test. The FDIC will compare "all deposits" bids to the "insured deposits" bids and the cost of a deposit payout. An "all deposits" bid will be more costly than an insured deposits bid, because in the insured deposits bid or the deposit payout, the uninsured depositors share (with the FDIC) in the ultimate losses experienced on loans and other assets liquidated by the FDIC as Receiver.

15. What are the specific bid evaluation mechanics of the FDIC's cost test?

Answer: The FDIC's least cost test calculations are considered proprietary and are not offered to bidders.

16. What if the assuming bank's attorneys are uncomfortable with the language contained in the Purchase & Assumption Agreements? Is the final agreement language negotiable?

Answer: No the Purchase & Assumption agreement language is not negotiable.

17. Is the Assuming Bank required to maintain the existing rates on certificates of deposit?

Answer: No, the Assuming Bank can change deposit rates immediately after closing as long as the rates are not below the rates offered by the Assuming Bank to other customers.

Page 4 of 4

ł

1.5

# FDIC Institution Sales Frequently Asked Questions

ì

>

>

3

)

3

3

A change was made to #8 to conform to the P&A Agreements already posted to the Intralinks site.

1. How will FHLB Advances be treated in the proposed transaction? Will the acquirer assume the advances at the existing rates without penalty or adjustment, and take the corresponding assets?

Answer: Bids should be submitted assuming that all FHLB advances will be assumed without penalty or adjustment. All assets pledged to secure the advances will convey in the transaction.

2. How will the Undrawn Lines be treated in the proposed transaction? Will the FDIC use its powers to allow the acquirer to cut off undrawn lines of credit in the home equity portfolio?

Answer: All assets and loan funding obligations will pass to the acquirer in the transaction.

3. How will the REIT preferred and associated assets be treated in the proposed transaction? Can the REIT preferred be treated similarly with the trust preferred, and left behind with the associated assets supporting the REIT preferred?

Answer: The REIT preferred shares will not be assumed in the transaction. However, the associated assets will pass to the acquirer.

4. How will the Covered Bonds be treated in the proposed transaction? Will the covered bonds and associated assets pass to the acquirer, similar to the FHLB Advances?

Answer: All secured liabilities, including the covered bonds, and associated assets will pass to the acquirer.

5. How will the Repurchase Agreements (Repos) be treated in the proposed transaction? Will the repurchase obligations and associated assets pass to the acquirer?

Answer: All Repos and associated assets will pass to the acquirer.

6. How will the Utah subsidiary be treated in the proposed transaction? Would the FDIC be willing to use the cross guarantee liability or some other authority to place the Utah subsidiary into receivership to eliminate contingent liabilities and facilitate integration? Can the FDIC provide more information regarding this institution, particularly on non deposit liabilities?

Answer: The Utah subsidiary will pass to the acquirer as a going concern and will not be placed into receivership.

7. Will the FDIC provide additional time in order to accept or reject leases and other contracts? Given the complexity of the target, would the FDIC be willing to allow the acquirer to determine whether to affirm or repudiate contracts closer to the 180 day period the FDIC would enjoy for this power instead of 90 days?

Answer: Although we prefer that most agreements be reviewed within 90 days, the FDIC as receiver will work with the acquirer on a case-by-case basis for up to five months following the acquisition to determine whether to affirm or repudiate leases and other contracts retained in receivership.

8. What are your expectations about the treatment of employees in connection with the transaction? What is the length of time during which we would need to decide whether or not to hire employees? Will there be an opportunity to use receivership powers to optimize pension and other benefit plans?

Answer: Employees of the bank will pass to the acquirer. The receivership will retain individual-specific employment contracts. Any benefit plans to which the bank is a party will be retained by the Receiver in transactions 4 and 5.

9. Are the off-balance sheet credit card portfolio and mortgage securitizations included in the transaction? Do you expect the acquirer to assume the servicing obligations? If there are pricing issues associated with the contracts (e.g., the pricing is disadvantageous to the assuming institution), can we take advantage of the FDIC's repudiation powers to effect a repricing?

Page 2 of 4

đ

ii.

Ģ

V

٢.

Answer: The bank's interests and obligations associated with the off-balance sheet credit card portfolio and mortgage securitizations pass to the acquirer. Only contracts and obligations remaining in the receivership are subject to repudiation powers.

10. Can you provide greater clarity on whether there is a deferred tax asset at the thrift level, and if so, would it pass to the acquirer?

Answer: If there is a deferred tax asset at the thrift level, it relates to the entity itself and can not pass in a purchase and assumption transaction to the acquirer.

11. There is a number of class action and other lender liability matters brought by borrowers or that may be asserted by borrowers against Washington Mutual. Would the Assuming Bank be required to assume these liabilities?

Answer: The Purchase and Assumption Agreement provides that the Assuming Bank does not assume liability for claims for payment or other monetary relief that have been or may in the future be asserted by borrowers. Such liabilities are intended to remain liabilities of the FDIC as receiver of Washington Mutual. We recognize, however, that certain borrowers may attempt to assert lender liability claims against the Assuming Bank. We believe, based on the provisions of the Purchase and Assumption Agreement, that such claims are likely to be found to be liabilities of the receiver and not of the Assuming Bank. However, neither the FDIC in its Corporate Capacity, nor as Receiver of the failed institution, warrants such a result or indemnifies the Assuming Bank against any losses it may suffer as a result of the assertion of such claims against it.

12. How do I find out who won, how many bids were received and the amount of the bids?

Answer: Information about the winning bid will be available in the FDIC's press release immediately after closing. Any other bid information is available through the Freedom of Information Act. You can make a FOIA request from FDIC.gov.

)

)

3

5

3

13. How are uninsured depositors treated in an insured deposit only transaction?

Answer: The acquiring bank receives the insured portion of an uninsured depositor's account. In some instances, the FDIC will fund a percentage of the uninsured portion (advance dividend) to the depositor as well. A Receivership Certificate will be issued to any depositor for the unfunded amount of their deposit(s).

14. Are deposits valued in any way? Do they play a role in the FDIC's cost test?

Answer: Deposits are not valued by the FDIC; however, the uninsured portion does play a role in the cost test. The FDIC will compare "all deposits" bids to the "insured deposits" bids and the cost of a deposit payout. An "all deposits" bid will be more costly than an insured deposits bid, because in the insured deposits bid or the deposit payout, the uninsured depositors share (with the FDIC) in the ultimate losses experienced on loans and other assets liquidated by the FDIC as Receiver.

15. What are the specific bid evaluation mechanics of the FDIC's cost test?

Answer: The FDIC's least cost test calculations are considered proprietary and are not offered to bidders.

16. What if the assuming bank's attorneys are uncomfortable with the language contained in the Purchase & Assumption Agreements? Is the final agreement language negotiable?

Answer: No the Purchase & Assumption agreement language is not negotiable.

Page 4 of 4

2

÷

é

#### ESCROW AGREEMENT

THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT made and entered into by and between the undersigned acquirer (the "Acquirer"), and the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC"), hereinafter collectively the "Parties."

WHEREAS, Washington Mutual Bank, Henderson, NV (the "Bank") may be closed by the appropriate governmental authority on \_\_\_\_\_\_, 2008; and

WHEREAS, it is contemplated that the FDIC will be appointed Receiver of the Bank; and

WHEREAS, in contemplation of the closing of the Bank, the appointment of the FDIC as Receiver thereof, and the consummation of a certain transaction (the "Transaction"), the Acquirer and the FDIC have this date executed a certain **Purchase and Assumption Agreement** (the "Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the parties to the Agreement desire that the Agreement and any ancillary documents be held in escrow in accordance herewith.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, it is hereby agreed by and between the Parties as follows:

1. The Parties hereby appoint and constitute below designated person as Escrow Agent and herewith deposit the Agreement and the ancillary documents, if any, in escrow with the Escrow Agent subject to the following instructions:

(a) The Escrow Agent shall hold the Agreement and any other ancillary documents pending the closing of the Bank and the appointment of FDIC as Receiver.

(b) At the direction of the Regional Director Field Operations Branch (or designee) of the FDIC's Division of Resolutions and Receiverships, upon the closing of the Bank and appointment of FDIC as Receiver, the Escrow Agent shall release and distribute the escrowed documents to the appropriate parties in order to consummate the Transaction, which consummation is conditioned upon the receipt of requisite regulatory or other approval(s) as provided in the Agreement.

(c) In the event that: (i) the required regulatory or other approval(s) is/are not granted, or (ii) the closing of the Bank and appointment of FDIC as Receiver have not taken place within two (2) days following the originally contemplated date and time for such closing, it is understood and agreed by the Parties that the Agreement and any ancillary documents deposited in escrow shall become null and void, without further action by any Party or the Escrow Agent. Provided, however, such two (2) day period may be extended by the FDIC, in its sole discretion, for up to an additional twelve (12) days beyond such two days. The Acquirer agrees that the FDIC may in its discretion alter the Agreement to reflect the appropriate effective or closing date in the event the Transaction is completed; in such event, the Acquirer further agrees to initial any such alteration(s), reexecute the Agreement and/or otherwise affirm any such alterations in writing, as may be required by the FDIC.

(d) The Escrow Agent expressly shall have the power to appoint a successor Escrow Agent, in writing or otherwise, as the same shall become necessary or convenient, in the course of performing the duties of Escrow Agent hereunder.

ESCA 991022 September 23, 2008, 10:20 AM

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV

Confidential

2

Ĵ

)

`}

)

2. The Parties agree to indemnify and hold harmless the Escrow Agent hereby appointed and any successor Escrow Agent appointed pursuant to paragraph 1(d) from and against any cause, suit or action, or claim made by any person in any manner predicated upon the Escrow Agent's exercise of his or her powers or performance of his or her duties pursuant hereto.

3. This Escrow Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts and by different Parties hereto on separate counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same Escrow Agreement.

4. THIS ESCROW AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS HEREUNDER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE FEDERAL LAW OF THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, AND IN THE ABSENCE OF CONTROLLING FEDERAL LAW, IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE STATE WHERE THE MAIN OFFICE OF THE BANK IS LOCATED.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have caused this Escrow Agreement to be executed by their duly authorized representatives on this \_\_\_\_\_ day of \_\_\_\_\_, 2008.

## ACQUIRER

Printed Name of Acquirer

FEDERAL DEPOSIT INSURANCE CORPORATION

.

| By:<br>(signature) | By:    |
|--------------------|--------|
| Name:              | Name:  |
| Title:             | Title: |

# ACCEPTANCE BY ESCROW AGENT

The undersigned hereby accepts the appointment to act as Escrow Agent in accordance with the foregoing Escrow Agreement effective as of the date of such Agreement.

Printed Name of Escrow Agent

(signature)

Title: \_\_\_\_\_

2

Washington Mutual Bank Henderson, NV Ę.

# JPMCD\_000001550.00216

# Confidential

# BIDDER'S INFORMATION SHEET from FDIC'S DIVISION OF SUPERVISION AND CONSUMER PROTECTION

If you are considering submitting a bid, it is imperative that you advise the Division of Supervision and Consumer Protection (DSC) of your plans. Make submissions to DSC, your chartering authority and other regulators as early as possible (especially in the case of a De Novo transaction). <u>The Capital and Financing Plans form and Computation of the Tier 1 Capital Ratio form should be faxed to one of the following DSC contacts prior to bid acceptance. Otherwise, your bid may not be considered.</u>

Contacts: Tim Hubby DSC, Assistant Regional Director

> Stan Ivie DSC, Regional Director San Francisco Regional Office

Telephone: (202) 898-6798 THubby@fdic.gov

Telephone: (415) 808-8052 sivie@fdic.gov

# **Requirements for Bidding:**

)

3

`}

)

)

- A. All bidders must, prior to the submission of bids, contact all appropriate regulators, including the State Authority, FDIC, FRB, OCC, and/or OTS, as appropriate. All bidders must make certain they obtain all necessary regulatory approvals required to accomplish the transaction. At the time the bids are received, the FDIC will ask each regulatory authority involved if it will approve the transaction. If not, the bid will not be accepted.
  - B. In addition to any requirements established by other regulators, the FDIC DSC will require that certain minimum capital requirements be met. In any transaction, the resultant institution must be no less than "well capitalized," in accordance with Part 325 of the FDIC's Rules and Regulations. In addition, the institution must have a fully funded allowance for loan and lease losses (ALLL). The ALLL and intangibles (except for certain allowable mortgage servicing rights and purchased credit card relationships) are not included in Tier I capital. If your chartering authority makes more stringent requirements (i.e. greater capital), those will be enforced. Briefly, the definition of "well capitalized" includes:

Tier I leverage capital ratio of 5% or greater; and Tier 1 risk based capital ratio of 6% or greater; and Total risk based capital ratio of 10% or greater.

C. Parties who expect to bid should submit to the FDIC DSC a copy of the most recent available quarterly financial statement on any holding company involved, as well as the bidding bank.

# D. BRANCH OF OPERATING BANK:

• For proposals in which the acquisition will be a branch (or branches) of an operating bank, the resultant institution must be no less than "well capitalized" in accordance with Part 325, and have a fully funded ALLL.

- Identify by name and location(s) branch sites, if any, those that will be closed in the near term.
- E. Accounting for any premium or discount related to this transaction will be done in accordance with GAAP and regulatory reporting requirements. Regulatory capital treatment for such premiums/discounts will be consistent with Part 325 of the FDIC's Rules and regulations.
- G. Bidders will be responsible for seeing that all of the above requirements are adequately resolved <u>prior</u> to the submission of bids.
- H. FDIC DSC officials will be available, as needed, to discuss requirements and provide forms necessary for obtaining the necessary regulatory approvals. You should contact the appropriate primary regulator for their respective forms.

ţ.

ć

ł

Ķ.

i.

Ċ

í.

| <b>CAPITAL AND</b> | FINANCING | PLAN |
|--------------------|-----------|------|
|--------------------|-----------|------|

(Bidder Name)

| А.   | Full legal name under which institution will be operated.  |  |  |
|------|--|--|--|
| B.   | The acquisition will be structured as a (check as applicable):   |  |  |
|      | 1 new institution<br>branch(es)  |  |  |
|      | <ul> <li>2 state-chartered nonmember bank</li> <li> state-chartered savings bank</li> <li> member of the Federal Reserve</li> <li> National bank</li> <li> Federal thrift</li> <li> state-chartered thrift.</li> </ul> |  |  |
|      | 3 subsidiary of a holding company.<br>Name and location of holding<br>company:   |  |  |
| C.   | We intend to inject (Fill in amount) in additional capita  |  |  |
| D.   | Borrowing plans in connection with this proposal are as follows:   |  |  |
|      | Lender: Amount: \$<br>Name of Borrower (s):  |  |  |
| FDIC | capital plans have been approved by our chartering authority and will clearly meet the C's capital guidelines after the transaction. (Note: Pro forma capital calculations are ched.)                                  |  |  |
| Weh  | have our primary regulator's permission to bid.  |  |  |
| Sign | ed:  |  |  |
|      | resenting:   |  |  |

2

)

)

)

)

)

)

)

}

3

# COMPUTATION OF THE TIER I CAPITAL RATIO\*

| Comm   | on Stock S   | \$            | Total Consolidated Assets \$      |
|--------|--|---------------|-----------------------------------|
| Surplu | S  |               | Plus Liabilities assumed in       |
| Undivi | ded Profits  |               | this transaction                  |
| appre  | not include securities<br>ciation/depreciation on<br>AFS securities) |               |                                   |
| Plus:  | Minority interests in consolidated subsidiaries                      |               |                                   |
| Plus:  | Non-cumulative perpetual preferred stock                             |               | Less: Disallowed intangibleassets |
| Less:  | Disallowed intangible asse   | ets           | Less: Loss not charged off        |
| Less:  | Loss not charged off   | ·             | Less: Premium for this            |
| Less:  | Premium for this transactio  | n             | transaction                       |
| Tier I | Capital:   |               | (divided by) Adjusted assets:     |
|        |  | Tier I Capita | Il Ratio:%                        |

For holding companies or chain banking groups, the overall financial strength of the organization will be analyzed, including the consolidated capital positions thereof. Where the level of risk in a system is abnormal or does not meet the minimum capital requirements of the Federal Reserve System, the FDIC may require a written capital plan.

\* Refer to FDIC Rules and Regulations Part 325

č,

Ų

Ç,

6

Û

é